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PREFACE 

The origins of this study date from the early 1980s, from an international 
situation completely different from the one we are experiencing today. 
Then, the Soviet Union had invaded Afghanistan; Ronald 'evil empire' 
Reagan had just been elected president of the United States; and the world 
was on the threshold of what Fred Halliday has termed the Second Cold 
War. NATO's avowed raison d'etre seemed to be as viable as it had never 
been before. Now, as we near the end of our research more than ten years 
later, the Cold War has been declared dead (some claim it has even been 
won by the United States); East and West have entered a new stage in 
their relationship; and NATO, having lost its former enemy, is still 
searching for a new role. 

Likewise, the approach of the study we now present differs 
considerably from the one we envisaged almost ten years ago. In the final 
paragraph of our Master's thesis 'A Star is Born' (1983) we proposed to 
present a definitive account of the creation of NATO based on Daniel 
Yergin's concept of the national security state. We now present such a 
definitive account from a comparative Belgian and Dutch perspective. 

Our study forms part of a still growing body of literature on NATO's 
origins. Among all those involved in the reconstruction of NATO's early 
history, Larry Kaplan has been our main source of inspriration. Ever since 
we met at a conference in Oslo in August 1983, he has been an unfailing 
supporter of our NATO research and he has provided us several 
opportunities to present our findings to an American audience. We hope 
that this final result of our endeavours lives up to his expectations. We 
deeply regret that we did not conclude our project before the untimely 
death of Han Boon. For a long time he was a most perceptive critic and 
supporter of our study, commenting on drafts and opening doors that 
otherwise would have remained closed. We therefore dedicate this study to 
his memory. 

We gratefully acknowledge the financial assistance provided by the 
Harry S. Truman Library Institute (Independence, Mo.), the United States 
Information Service at the US Embassy in The Hague, the Canadian 
Embassy, The Hague, and the Netherlands Organization for the 
Advancement of Pure Research (Z.W.O.). 
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IX 

Throughout the book 'Benelux countries' and 'Benelux' refer to Belgium 
and the Netherlands combined, to the exclusion of Luxembourg. 
In Part II we use 'mutual assistance clause' and 'pledge' interchangeably. 

Documents are referred to by repository, collection, box and/or file 
number, document number (if available) and the title and date of each 
document. Books, articles and other (un)published studies are referred to 
by author's last name and short title. All bibliographic details can be found 
in the comprehensive Bibliography. 

All quotations from documents, printed sources, books and articles in 
languages other than English, have been translated in English (our 
translation). 
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CHAPTER 1 

INTRODUCTION 

In the morning of 6 July 1948 the Belgian ambassador to the United States, 
Baron Robert Silvercruys, and his Dutch colleague, Eelco N. van Kleffens, 
entered the Department of State building in Washington, D.C. The purpose of 
their visit was a meeting, at the invitation of the US government, with their 
British, Canadian and French colleagues (Oliver Franks, Hume H. Wrong and 
Henri Bonnet), presided over by Robert A. Lovett, the US Under-Secretary of 
State, to discuss possible future arrangements for Western defence. As a 
consequence of this meeting, nine months later, on 4 April 1949, twelve 
Western nations signed the North Atlantic Treaty. 

Since its creation in 1949 the North Atlantic Treaty Organization 
(NATO) has played a crucial role in the foreign policy of its member states, 
the proverbial linchpin of Western defence. Yet, basic facts regarding its 
creation, initial membership and the role of Belgium and the Netherlands are 
misrepresented time and again. We will give just a few examples including, to 
be fair, an American, a Belgian, a British and a Dutch one. NATO itself still 
denies the existence of the so-called Pentagon negotiations in March 1948 
during which the idea of an Atlantic alliance was effectively conceived; the 
reputable American commentator Theodore Draper simply forgets to mention 
Belgium when he lists the countries that signed the treaty on 4 April 1949; the 
author of one of the classics of Belgian political history, Theo Luykx, even 
claims that the North Atlantic Treaty was signed on that day in Brussels; in the 
Macmillan Dictionary of British and European History since 1914 France 
has disappeared from the list of signatories to the treaty; and in the 
authoritative Algemene Geschiedenis der Nederlanden Albert Kersten fails to 
list Iceland and Italy as original signatories.^ 

. Cf. NATO. Facts and Figures, pp. 9-11; Draper, 'The Western Misalliance', p. 59; 
Luykx in: Repertorium van de Sociale Wetenschappen, p. 349; Stevenson, Macmillan 
Dictionary of British and European History, p. 287; and Kersten, 'Nederland en de buitenlandse 
politick na 1945', p. 388. 
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While trying to prevent these kind of misrepresentations, this study 
intends to fill a gap in the historiography on the origins of NATO, i.e. to 
examine the role of Belgium and the Netherlands in the diplomatic negotiations 
leading up to the signature of the North Atlantic Treaty and its predecessor, 
the Treaty of Brussels signed on 17 March 1948, in the framework of an 
analysis of Belgian and Dutch security policy in the 1940s. Thus we intend to 
substantiate our claim in our contribution to a volume commemorating the 
fortieth anniversary of the signature of the North Atlantic Treaty, namely that 
a comprehensive and definitive account of the creation of NATO will never be 
written unless "the views and actions of these two small countries bordering 
the North Sea (are) taken full account of. "̂  

§ 1.1 Origins of NATO historiography. 
Initially the North Atlantic Treaty was a simple paper guarantee of mutual 
assistance in the case of armed aggression, a traditional (military) alliance.^ 
However, within two years after the signature the treaty had evolved into the 
North Atlantic Treaty Organization. NATO was the first in a series of US-led 
or US-godfathered alliances designed to encircle, i.e. to contain, the Soviet 
Union from Murmansk to Wladiwostok. It was soon followed by the Pacific 
Security Pact (better known as ANZUS, the Australia, New Zealand and 
United States-treaty signed on 1 September 1951), the South East Asian Treaty 
Organization (SEATO, concluded by Australia, France, Britain, New Zealand, 
Pakistan, the Philippines, Thailand and the United States on 8 September 1954 
in Manilla), the Balkan Pact (signed on 9 August 1954 by Greece, Turkey and 
Yugoslavia), and the Baghdad Pact or Middle East Treaty Organization 
(METO, concluded by Britain, Iran, Iraq, Pakistan and Turkey on 24 February 
1955 in Baghdad; known as Central Treaty Organization, CENTO, after Iraq's 
withdrawal in 1958). Within ten years after the first step containment reached 
its zenith; worldwide it had been jammed, in George Kennan's words, as close 
as possible to the Soviet border. 

NATO was by no means the first of its kind in the post-war era. Its 
creation was preceded in 1948 by the establishment of the Western Union 
Defence Organization (WUDO), based on the Treaty of Brussels signed on 17 
March 1948 by Belgium, France, Britain, Luxembourg and the Netherlands. 
The Brussels Treaty itself was also preceded by an old-fashioned bilateral 
alliance between France and Britain, signed on 4 March 1947 in Dunkirk. In 
the western hemisphere the American states concluded on 2 September 1947 in 
Rio de Janeiro the Inter-American Treaty of Reciprocal Assistance. Seven 
months later, building on the Rio Treaty foundations, the Organization of 
American States (OAS) came into being. As to importance, however, NATO 
outclassed and still outclasses all its predecessors and successors, even in the 
present international situation, and has already outlived most of them. 

. Wiebes & Zeeman, 'The Origins of Western Defense', p. 143. 
3 

. We define an alliance, following Stephen Walt, as a formal or informal relationship of 
security cooperation between two or more sovereign states. See: Walt, The Origins of Alliances, 
p. 1. 
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Before 1974 accounts of NATO's origins were primarily based on 
reflections of participants in its creation'* and/or published contemporary 
sources.^ The publication of the Foreign Relations of the United States, 
1948 and 1949-volumes on Western Europe in 1974-1975, and the 
simultaneous opening to the public of these US diplomatic records, presented a 
major watershed in this respect. 'Origins of NATO'-historiography entered a 
new phase, characterized by an ever-growing application of archival records; 
first only those of the United States, but subsequently also those of Canada, 
Britain, the Netherlands, Belgium, France, Norway and Italy. The availability 
of contemporary documents led to a tremendous upsurge in research (still 
termed in 1984 "a modest current of publications" by one of the leading 
commentators on NATO's origins, Lawrence S. Kaplan^). A 1990-survey 
identified 163 individual titles published between 1974 and 1990 dealing 
specifically with the (diplomatic history of the) origins of NATO and its 
predecessors. Sparked especially by the commemoration of NATO's fortieth 
anniversary in 1989, this list must be supplemented with 39 titles published in 
the last three years.^ Kaplan's prediction in 1984, "the early years of NATO 
will come alive as a subject of much more careful study", has certainly come 
true.^ 

A critical examination of the 202 studies published thus far reveals 
several characteristics of 'origins of NATO'-historiography. First, after a very 
modest start in 1974 research gained momentum in the late seventies, early 
eighties. The FRUS-volumes and the US archives repositories (federal as well 
as presidential) were thoroughly mined for relevant material, leading to a first 
wave of publications in the years 1979-1983 (52 studies). After a very short 
relapse in 1984, a second wave rose in the late eighties, early nineties. Since 
1985 more than 100 individual studies on NATO's prehistory have been 
published as books, articles or contributions to collective volumes. The 
explanation for this second upsurge must surely be sought in the opening to 
research of other archives repositories than just the American. 

Second, relatively few book-length manuscripts have been published on 
the origins of NATO. The 1990-survey lists 16 of them. Among these 
publications we find rather popular and superficial accounts such as Maria 
Schlosser's Die Entstehungsgeschichte der NATO bis zum Beitritt der 
Bundesrepublik Deutschland (1985) and Don Cook's Forging the Alliance 
(1989), the latter aptly characterized 'Indiana Jones and the North Atlantic 
Treaty' by one commentator. Four accounts outclass the rest; three published 

. Cf. for instance the memoirs of Truman, Acheson, Kennan, Bohlen, Vandenberg, Lord 
Gladwyn, Pearson, Bidault, Spaak and Stikker listed in section C. of the Bibliography. 

. Such as parliamentary debates, government white papers, US Senate hearings and official 
press releases. 

^. Kaplan, The United States and NATO, p. 204. 

. Zeeman, 'The Origins of NATO', pp. 209-217 and the update in appendix 1. 

^. Kaplan, The United States and NATO, p. 221. 
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shortly before or during the first wave and one published in the low of 1984. 
Escott Reid's Time of Fear and Hope (1977) stands out as a shining example. 
Masterfully using the published sources, the Canadian records and his own 
personal recollections, his study is still the best that has been written. Geir 
Lundestad's America, Scandinavia and the Cold War (1980) is a successful 
attempt to examine the security dilemma of the Nordic countries in the early 
Cold War years and the different solutions they opted for in the winter of 
1948/49. In Creating the Entangling Alliance (1981) Timothy Ireland, on the 
basis of the FRUS-volumes, skillfully sketches the twin US objective of 
NATO: to contain both the Soviet Union and Germany. Lawrence Kaplan's 
The United States and NATO (1984) is a detailed study by a long-time 
NATO-expert. Weaving together previous research, Kaplan documents in 
greater historical detail than Ireland the evolution of US foreign policy towards 
the unpossible, an entangling alliance with Western Europe. Apart from these 
four, two other studies need to be mentioned here. With regard to two of 
NATO's predecessors, the 1947 Treaty of Dunkirk and the 1948 Treaty of 
Brussels, two Italian studies stand out. Both Danilo Ardia's AUe Origini 
dell'Alleanza Occidentale (1983) and Antonio Varsori's II Patto di Bruxelles 
(1988) are fine examples of multi-archival research. 

Third, the study of the actual negotiations of both the North Atlantic 
and the Brussels Treaty is dominated by the great power-approach. Especially 
with regard to the negotiations in Washington on the Atlantic pact, the role of 
the lesser allies is almost universally considered insignificant. The United 
States, Britain and Canada dominate the scene, France only being relegated an 
important role as the eternal troublemaker. The other, smaller Western 
European countries, even if they participated in the actual negotiations like 
Belgium and the Netherlands, are often only mentioned as 'quantites 
negligeables' who were only tolerated to be present at the creation, but not in a 
constructive sense. Richard Best's "Co-operation with Like-Minded Peoples" 
(1986) is a typical case in point. To some extent this great power-perspective 
is mirrored in the use of archival sources. Whereas researchers from smaller 
countries involved tend to broaden their archival base as much as possible 
through multi-archival research, Anglo-Saxon researchers restrict themselves 
almost exclusively to the sources present in their country of origin (sometimes 
supplemented by records from their Anglo-Saxon partners). 

Fourth, generally studies on the origins of NATO and its predecessors 
analyse the alliances in an East-West context, as intrinsic elements of the 
emerging Cold War, almost to the exclusion of other approaches. In this East-
West context the alliances are interpreted as the logical by-product of a process 
initiated in 1947 by Truman Doctrine and Marshall Plan, galvanized by the 
'Coup de Prague' and the Berlin Blockade in 1948 and crowned by the 
detonation of the first Soviet atomic bomb in 1949. With a few notable 
exceptions, such as Kaplan and Kent^, other developments like the movement 
towards closer European cooperation, the search for an independent Third 

. Kaplan, 'Toward the Brussels Pact', pp. 73-86; Kent, 'Bevin's Imperialism', pp. 47-76; 
and Kent & Young, 'British Policy Overseas', pp. 41-61. 



5 

Force in Western Europe or the colonial entanglements of several Western 
European countries are almost universally neglected. 

Fifth, there is a great difference in the number of studies devoted to the 
connection between NATO and the individual member states. Despite 
numerous shorter studies, we still lack a comprehensive account of the British 
role in NATO's creation; a remarkable observation given the primary role 
generally attributed to Britain. In the case of France, we have one (British) 
extensive study, John Young's France, the Cold War and the Western 
Alliance (1990), but French historians and political scientists, for one reason 
or another, have refrained from addressing France's contribution to the 
creation of NATO squarely. The inaccessibility of most of the French records 
on the Brussels and North Atlantic Treaty talks is only a partial explanation for 
this anomaly.^° 

Of the smaller nations the Scandinavian members and Italy have been 
the subject of a great number of studies. Immediately after the publication of 
the FRUS-volumes a debate erupted in Norway in 1976-1977, partly triggered 
by the competition of a rival Nordic solution to its security dilemma. In later 
years the debate revived from time to time.^^ From the mid-1980s onwards a 
steadily increasing number of studies on Italy's adherence to the Atlantic Pact 
has been published, the end of which is still not in sight. ̂ ^ The importance 
of Italy's adherence is considered of such traumatic magnitude that the debates 
in the Italian parliament were even published in full on the occasion of 
NATO's fortieth anniversary! On the other hand the Benelux countries have 
received far less attention. Apart from our own contributions, only Jean 
Stengers and Luc De Vos in Belgium and Herman Schaper in the Netherlands 
have dealt in a systematic way with the documentary record of the fundamental 
choices made shortly after the end of the Second World War. 

Sixth, the origins of NATO have primarily been studied from the 
historian's point of view, trying to reconstruct in a descriptive way 'wie es 
eigentlich gewesen war' (Ranke). From a theoretical point of view, the number 
of studies is relatively insignificant. The Danish political scientist Nikolaj 
Petersen stands out in this respect. In a number of studies he has subjected 
theoretical generalizations derived from political science (especially 
international relations) theory to the so-called 'acid test of history'. In an 
article published in 1979 he tried to explain the different preference structure 
of the Danish and Norwegian governments during the simultaneous 
negotiations for a North Atlantic Treaty and the Scandinavian Defence Union 
(SDU) by using an analytical framework distinguishing between the operational 
and the psychological environment of decision makers. The latter was 

. Significantly the only other comprehensive study on France's role in the creation of the 
Atlantic alliance is based on the private papers of individuals involved in the negotiations, not on 
the Quai d'Orsay archives. Cf. Bagnato, 'France and the Origins of the Adantic Pact', pp. 79-110. 

. The articles by Eriksen, Forland, Lundestad, Petersen, Pharo, Riste, Vaerno and 
Wahlback listed in the 1990-survey. 

12 
. Cf. the studies of Barie, Breccia, De Cleva, Formigoni, Nuti, Ortona, Pastorelli, 

Rainero, Smith, Varsori and Vigezzi listed in ibid. 
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considered decisive in explaining Danish preference for a Scandinavian 
solution as opposed to Norway's Atlantic aspirations.^^ 

Two years later he reproached Robert Rothstein for claiming in 
Alliances and Small Powers (1968) that the decision of the smaller states to 
join NATO "has little theoretical interest, as they possessed few, if any, viable 
alternatives." Instead, he showed that despite their common background of 
smallness, neutrality and the failure thereof, the road of Belgium, Denmark, 
the Netherlands and Norway toward alignment differed fundamentally in some 
respects. Whereas for Belgium and the Netherlands alliance membership 
symbolized a continuity of wartime and post-war policies, for Norway and 
Denmark alignment represented a sharp discontinuity primarily motivated by 
an acute sense of military insecurity.̂ '* 

In 1986 Petersen published another two studies, one on the usefulness 
of the 'bargaining power' concept in an empirical analysis of the North 
Atlantic Treaty negotiations^^ and another on the abandonment vs. 
entrapment dilemma faced by a small power (in this case Denmark) when 
joining a military alliance.̂ ^ In both cases he was able to show the mutual 
beneficial effect of his undertakings: the bare, historical facts gaining in 
explanatory strength by their systematic, categorized presentation; the 
theoretical generalizations becoming more attuned to reality by their strict 
application to a well-defined, well-documented series of events. 

To sum up, the literature on the origins of NATO has grown 
considerably in the past two decades, but at an uneven pace for different sub­
categories. Descriptive studies dominate the field. Multi-archival research is 
gaining ground (especially in the smaller NATO countries) as more and more 
governments open their archives to public scrutiny. The Brussels Treaty and 
North Atlantic Treaty negotiations are mostly studied from a great power-
perspective in a straightforward East-West context. The influence of the 
smaller states on the alliance-creating process is neglected or simply negated. 
When they are taken into account, it is either as the object of great(er) power 
policy or from a parochial, national point of view. Comparative studies are 
wanting. Given this state of affairs, it is not a very bold prophecy to state that 
Kaplan's 1984-prediction is as valid today as it was almost ten years ago. 

§ 1.2 Belgian and Dutch alliance historiography. 
A more-detailed examination of the literature on the Belgian and Dutch 
contributions to the Brussels Treaty and the North Atlantic Treaty presents 
both similarities and differences with the general historiographical and 
theoretical background provided above. As in all the other countries 

. Petersen, 'Danish and Norwegian AlUance Policies', pp. 193-210. 

^^. Ibid., 'The Alliance Policies of the Smaller NATO Countries', pp. 83-106. 

. Ibid., 'Bargaining power among potential allies', pp. 187-203. 

. Ibid., 'Abandonment vs. Entrapment', pp. 169-186. For a thorough theoretical expose on 
this subject: Snyder, 'The Security Dilemma in Alliance Polities', pp. 461-495. 
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concerned, before 1975 accounts of their respective road towards alignment 
were exclusively based on memoirs and printed contemporary sources. S.I.P. 
van Campen's The Quest for Security (1958), for a long time considered the 
classic on Dutch foreign policy in the first five post-war years, is the prime 
example. Analyzing official government policy as documented in white papers, 
official memoranda and parliamentary debates, his is a rather traditional study 
of Dutch security policy. Van Campen's account is dominated by the 'German 
problem' and he considers Dutch membership in the Brussels Treaty rather 
than its adherence to the Atlantic pact as the turning point in Dutch foreign 
policy. The North Atlantic Treaty negotiations therefore receive only limited 
attention. 

Van Campen's categorical conclusion, the Netherlands had to align with 
its Western European and North Atlantic neighbours in order to preserve the 
security of the kingdom in the face of a potentially aggressive Soviet Union, is 
exemplary for 1950s and 1960s literature. Omer De Raeymaeker's much more 
modest study, published almost simultaneously with Van Campen's volume, 
concludes with an almost identical observation: despite attempts to foster 
universal cooperation, the aggressive policies of the Soviet Union forced the 
Belgian government of the time to opt for regional alignment. Based as his 
account is on the contemporary parliamentary debates, one is suprised by De 
Raeymaeker's presentation of these facts as "less known aspects" of Belgian 
foreign policy.^^ 

Other studies published before 1975 are based on the same material 
(sometimes supplemented by the memoirs of leading participants published in 
the intervening years) and generate the same conclusions. Three of them need 
to be mentioned here. In 1971 Fernand Van Langenhove, the then Secretary-
General of the Belgian foreign ministry, published La Securite de la Belgique 
on Belgian foreign policy in the 1940s, blending a rare combination of 
professional involvement and academic detachment. Van Langenhove printed a 
number of (at that moment) still classified papers regarding Belgian post-war 
plaiming, but his study, as informative as it was regarding the war-period, was 
disappointing as far as post-war foreign policy was concerned. Especially with 
regard to the Brussels Treaty negotiations, which he presided over. La 
Securite de la Belgique failed to live up to expectations. 

Frans Govaerts's comparative study of Belgian and Dutch alliance 
policy, itself a part of a larger study involving also the other smaller NATO 
allies, published in 1974, covered also by now familiar ground.^^ Based on 
the parliamentary debates and the studies of Van Campen and Van 
Langenhove, Govaerts walked the beaten path. The Brussels Treaty takes a 
more prominent place than the North Atlantic Treaty, the latter being 
considered a logical side effect of the former. Without having studied the 
negotiations in any detail, the similarities rather than the differences in Belgian 
and Dutch policies are highlighted. Two years later (after the publication of the 

. De Raeymaeker, 'Regionale accoordenen wettige zelfverdediging', pp. 193-213. 

. Govaerts, 'Belgium, Holland and Luxembourg', pp. 291-389. 
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FRUS-volumes!) Luc Van Depoele followed in Govaerts's footsteps. His 
principal conclusion, Belgium became a member of NATO because the 
government "feared an armed attack"^^, may be termed the article of faith of 
the Cold War-generation. 

Initially, Belgium remained largely unaffected by the renewed interest 
in NATO's origins sparked by the opening of the US archives. Her only 
contribution to the first wave of publications is the laudatory expose of one of 
Spaak's collaborators. Baron Robert Rothschild, to the series of essays 
solicited by the NATO Review between 1979 and 1983.^^ Its only 
significance lies in Rothschild's public attack on the Canadian contributor to 
the series, Escott Reid, for claiming that Spaak questioned the necessity of an 
Atlantic pact during the summer of 1948. 

Whereas Van Campen, the Dutch contributor to the same series, simply 
offered a rehash of the main arguments of his The Quest for Security, 
Herman Schaper made a significant contribution to the first wave in three 
contributions published between 1978 and 1981. His studies, based on recently 
declassified Dutch records, were the first to document Dutch security policy in 
the late 1940s in detail.^^ Especially his article on the creation of the 
Brussels Treaty was pathbreaking; however with regard to the North Atlantic 
Treaty much remained in the dark. As a genuine 'child of the first wave' 
Schaper failed to use the other archival material already available. Kersten 
added a historical dimension with his study on wartime Dutch ideas about 
regional alliances in the post-war world.-^^ 

Belgian and Dutch contributions to the second wave are almost non­
existent. Of the few exceptions, Jean Stengers's paper on Paul-Henri Spaak 
and the Brussels Treaty published in 1986 is of paramount importance, in more 
than one sense.•̂ ^ His was the first Belgian contribution based on 
contemporary Belgian records which up till then had been considered 
impenetrable. Moreover, Stengers documented in a convincing way the 
important role of Belgium and the Netherlands in the Brussels Treaty 
negotiations. Unfortunately, his study did not have a successor on the North 
Atlantic Treaty. The only contribution which touches on the subject, by Luc 
De Vos, is primarily noteworthy for the fact that De Vos in one of his 
footnotes has to thank his Dutch colleague Jan Schulten for providing him 
documentation on the Belgian-Dutch military treaty of 10 May 1948. In 
Belgium this documentation is still classified and inaccessible.-^^ Small 

. Depoele, Belgian-American Relations, p. 32. 
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. Published subsequently as: De Staercke, NATO's Anxious Birth. 
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. Schaper, 'Van afzijdigheid naar bondgenootschappelijkheid', pp. 324-336; 'The Security 

Policy of the Netherlands', pp. 89-116; 'Het Nederlandse veiligheidsbeleid', pp. 277-299. 

^^. Kersten, 'Van Kleffens plan', pp. 157-164. 

^^. Stengers, 'Paul-Henri Spaak', pp. 119-142. 

. De Vos, 'Belgie en het streven naar militaire integratie', p. 288. 
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wonder that De Vos's contribution is still largely based on the same published 
contemporary sources used by De Raeymaeker, Govaerts and Van Depoele. To 
be fair, the few Dutch contributions to the second wave do not add much 
either to our knowledge of the period here under review. Manning and 
Schulten render only superficial observations on the Dutch role in the alliance 
making process and, contrary to their Belgian colleagues, they can not blame 
this on a lack of contemporary archival records.^^ In general, without 
detailed study of their true role in the alliance making process, Belgium and 
the Netherlands still are swept together into a pile without due regard being 
given to their own peculiarities.^^ 

Therefore, in a comparative perspective Belgian and Dutch 
contributions to the historiography of NATO's origins, and especially 
regarding the Belgian and Dutch role in the creative process, do not distinguish 
themselves in a positive way. The number of studies in both countries is 
relatively small; the opening to research of contemporary records has not led 
to a systematic reappraisal of long time assumptions like the Soviet threat-
hypothesis; the Brussels Treaty creation still outshines the genesis of the North 
Atlantic Treaty; and the decision to align itself is given far more attention than 
the means and tactics to achieve certain well-defined objectives during the 
actual negotiations. A gap needs to be filled. 

§ 1.3 Questions to be discussed. 
In essence this study is about the origins of NATO from a small power-
perspective.^^ Two questions have guided us throughout our research: 
1) in what way did the Belgian and Dutch government intend to preserve their 
national security in the first decade after the German attack on their countries 
in May 1940? 
2) in what way did they contribute to the successful outcome of, first, the 
Brussels Treaty negotiations in March 1948 and, subsequently, the North 
Atlantic Treaty negotiations in 1948-1949? 
In answering these questions we intend to apply a combination of primary 
historical documents and conceptions derived from political science theory. 

The first question deals with the issue why nations join alliances; a 
subject discussed widely in academic literature. Apart from the distinction 
between historical (case-) studies and those based primarily on statistical 
analyses, Conybeare distinguishes at least three categories of studies: those that 
focus on alliances as a means to enhance power or security; those that consider 
different alliance strategies in the pursuit of security; and those that look at the 
way in which countries use alliances to trade-off various objectives, including 

. Manning, 'Les Pays-Bas face a I'Europe', pp. 419-444; and Schulten, 'Die militarische 
Integration', pp. 89-101. 

^^. Cf. Joffe, 'The "Scandilux" Connection', pp. 231-233. 

27 
. Given the absence of a definitional consensus, the fact that such a definition is not 

pertinent to our argument and the fact that Belgium and the Netherlands as small states are included 
in most current definitions of small powers, we refrain from such a definition. 
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security. The first two categories, of which the second is a special case of 
the first, present the dominant view regarding the origins of alliances. 
According to James Morrow this 

"dominant view sees alliances as tools for aggregating capabilities against a 
threat; nations form alliances to increase their security by massing their 
capabilities against a common enemy". 

He calls this view the 'capability aggregation model of alliances'.^^ 
In the capability aggregation model countries consider alliances perfect 

tools to counter the expansionist threat of a hostile power. Firmly grounded in 
balance of power theory, alliances are in Hans Morgenthau's words, "a 
necessary function of the balance of power operating within a multiple-state 
system." Faced by (the perception of) external threat, countries negotiate 
alliances when this threat cannot be met by their own resources. With regard 
to NATO, in their classic survey on alliance formation Ole Holsti, Terrence 
Hopmann and John Sullivan capture the classical essence of the capability 
aggregation model when they list the primary motive for accession: 

"The Berlin blockade, combined with the Communist-aided insurrection in 
Greece and Turkey and the Communist coup d'etat in Czechoslovakia in 1948, 
led to widespread fear in many nations of Western Europe of a Communist threat 
to their security. "•''' 

The capability aggregation model is thus a monocausal, or: single objective, 
model. 

We consider such a model to be incomplete. Fear of an external threat 
(in this particular case: fear of the Soviet Union) cannot be assumed a priori 
the sole or primary motive for alliance formation and cannot explain in a 
satisfactory way specific choices and specific negotiation strategies in the 
alliance-making process. Other political and economic factors have to be taken 
into account for a full discussion of the issues why Belgium and the 
Netherlands aligned and why they chose for specific, and different, solutions. 
We endorse Morrow's observations that "Alliances can advance diverse, but 
compatible, interests.", that nations use alliances to trade-off miscellaneous 
objectives; in other words we propose a multiple objectives model or 
framework of analysis (Conybeare's third category) in which security is one of 
the factors in play. 

In itself this is not a novel approach. In Small Powers in Alignment 
Omer De Raeymaeker et al. analyzed the (de)alignment policies of nine 
Western European states using an operational framework of analysis in which 

. Conybeare, 'A Portfolio Diversification Model', p. 54. 

29 
. Morrow, 'Alliances and Asymmetry', pp. 904-905. 
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security, prestige, domestic stability, economic aid and military assistance, and 
ideology were considered the guiding motives.^^ More recently, in his prize 
winning The Origins of Alliances, Stephen Walt examined the effects of threat 
perception (leading to either balancing or bandwagoning), ideology, foreign aid 
and transnational penetration in alliance formation in the Middle East. Despite 
the fact that both studies took other factors into account, the preeminence of 
the security issue is nevertheless almost a priori accepted. 

In what is primarily a historical-descriptive account of Belgian and 
Dutch security policy in the period 1940-1949 we have been inspired analyti­
cally by the theoretical framework provided by Nikolaj Petersen in his research 
on the North Atlantic Treaty negotiations, especially his use of the concepts 
preference structure, and operational and psychological environment.^^ By 
preference structure we mean the hierarchy in the desirable and undesirable 
solutions the Belgian and Dutch governments contemplated to preserve their 
national security in the post-war world. We will argue that their search for an 
alternative to a return to neutrality produced different solutions at different 
times between 1940 and 1949. Essentially, they were faced with three 
alternatives: collective security offered by the United Nations or seeking an 
alliance in either a European or an Atlantic framework. Although in the end 
both nations joined the Atlantic alliance, we will argue that, for several 
reasons, the Belgian and Dutch preference structures differed both in order of 
ranking and in time. 

In explaining these different and changing preference structures of 
Belgium and the Netherlands (which basically are the more and less desirable 
foreign policy options) we apply the concepts of operational and psychological 
environment as our multiple objectives model. The operational environment 
pertains to the external and internal environment of the decision makers as they 
really are, independently of the perception of the decision-making unit, 
whereas the psychological environment consists of the so-called attitudinal 
prism of the decision-making unit. 

The external operational environment includes primarily the intentions 
and capabilities of potentially hostile powers (Germany and the Soviet Union) 
and developments on the international scene. The internal operational 
environment includes those military and economic capabilities which decision 
makers have at their disposal but also to factors in the domestic political 
system which surrounds the decision-making unit. In the case of Belgium these 
were for instance: the favourable economic situation compared to other 
nations; no real need for financial assistance; a slow military build-up; unstable 
coalitions governments plagued by the Royal Question and, from 1947 
onwards, vehement opposition from a considerable communist party. In the 
case of the Netherlands the internal operational environment was characterized 
by factors such as: economic recovery had to start from scratch; a massive 
need for financial assistance from abroad; slow defence build-up; rather stable 

. See: De Raeymaeker, Small Powers in Alignment, passim and De Raeymaeker, 
'Signification de I'appartenance', pp. 5-35. 

32 
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coalition cabinets; large communist party albeit with no dominant political 
influence and an absorbing colonial conflict in the Netherlands East Indies 
which signified a heavy financial drain and resulted in many Dutch troops 
being deployed in Indonesia. 

Factors in the operational environment can only be used to explain 
Belgian and Dutch policies to the extent that they are (correctly) perceived by 
decision makers. In other words, how did they sense the overall atmosphere 
and how did they act in relation to it? This process is partly determined by the 
quality of the information which the Benelux countries received, especially 
regarding the external environment. Was there in this respect a difference 
between Belgium and the Netherlands and, more importantly, was there a 
difference in the perception of a military or political threat between the 
Benelux countries? Most important in this connection are of course the 
respective attitudes towards the formation of alliances. Did the more 
continental attitude or European outlook of the Belgians play a commanding 
role; their diplomatic relations with France or their option for a small power 
status? Did the more Atlanticist outlook; the strong-held views about a middle 
power status or the colonial dispute have any influence on the shaping of the 
Dutch attitude towards alliances? Petersen correctly observes that the 
respective security policy horizons of the smaller, even neighbouring, powers 
may not even intersect. 

The view that considers alliances as tools for aggregating capabilities 
against a threat alone is thus subsumed in a more general framework in which 
threat perception (and balancing) is one, albeit an important one, factor among 
other factors. Thus we intend to show how two similar states in similar 
circumstances behaved differently and thus we seek to explain the precise 
arrangements that Belgium and the Netherlands entered into.̂ ^ 

In explaining their particular behaviour special attention is focused on 
the abandonment vs. entrapment dilemma inherent in alliance making.-̂ ^ 
Abandonment is the fear of (especially) smaller powers of being left 'alone' 
and to remain unprotected against a perceived threat as the immediate 
consequence of the decision not to join the new alliance. However, there was 
also another specific form of fear of abandonment which played a role during 
the North Atlantic Treaty negotiations. During the talks almost all parties 
involved struggled with the anxiety that the United States might "fail to 
provide support in contingencies where support is expected".^^ In other 
words: would the mutual assistance pledge in the future treaty be strong 
enough in order to eliminate this fear? We will see that this apprehension also 
troubled larger allies like France and Britain. 

. Petersen, 'The Alliance Policies of the Smaller NATO Countries', p. 85. 

. Cf. Walt, The Origins of Alliances, pp. 8 and 13. 
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Entrapment is the fear of (especially) smaller powers of being dragged 
into a great power conflict in any region of the world as a direct consequence 
of the alliance with a Great Power, in this case Britain and/or the United 
States. This worry about extraregional entrapment was a recurrent theme in the 
Benelux countries' thinking. In general, this phenomenon is a more profound 
dilemma for the smaller powers than for the larger ones and must, in this 
particular case, be assessed against the background of their pre-war alignment 
and (return to) neutrality. However, during the North Atlantic Treaty talks the 
Americans also displayed recurrently a certain fear of some sort of 
extraregional entrapment regarding the European colonial adventures. 
Especially the Dutch intervention in Indonesia proved a continuing concern. 

As far as the second question is concerned, i.e. their contribution to the 
alliance-making process, we analyse - given their respective preference 
structures - the objectives of the Belgian and Dutch governments in the 
Brussels Treaty negotiations in March 1948 and, subsequently, the North 
Atlantic Treaty negotiations in 1948-1949 and the ways in which they tried to 
realize their objectives in negotiations in which they were clearly the junior 
partners at the negotiation table. In answering this question Petersen's use of 
the 'bargaining power' concept has been our primary inspiration.^^ 

We define the bargaining power of the Benelux countries as their 
capabilities in a negotiating situation to make the other participants behave in a 
manner they otherwise would not have done. Were Belgium and the 
Netherlands able to apply positive or negative sanctions in order to improve 
their bargaining position; were they capable to exploit the weaknesses of the 
other delegations and what were their influence capabilities? We will especially 
show that they influenced the course of the negotiations as soon as their larger 
future allies were in disagreement. 

Various methods were used to improve their bargaining leverage and 
principally the Dutch were active in secretly cementing deals and coalitions 
between the various interested parties in order to improve their overall 
negotiating stance vis-a-vis the Americans. Coalitions against the US 
delegation were in some cases victorious because "the nature of the game 
placed important restrictions on how openly and also to what extent the United 
States could exploit its theoretically supreme bargaining position". ̂ ^ 
However, the United States was also sometimes successful through coalitions 
to prevail over other future allies. In this respect we will show that the North 
Atlantic Treaty talks were not held in such a strictly non-antagonistic or 
cooperative negotiadon context as so often is portrayed. 

Our analysis is based on the archival records of five of the six (seven if 
we include Luxembourg) countries involved in the negotiations on the Brussels 
and North Atlantic Treaties, i.e. Belgian, British, Canadian, Dutch and United 
States sources. In four of these countries we have had almost unrestricted 
access to all the pertinent documentation, the only exception being Belgium. 

. Petersen, 'Bargaining power among potential allies', pp. 187-190. 

. Ibid., p. 200. 
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Access to Belgian governmental records (in theory according to the Belgian 
public records act after a 100 year-lapse, in practice a thirty year-rule is 
applied) is still rather complicated especially for non-residents. We have been 
able to consult part of the ministry of foreign affairs records, but the 
documentation on the North Atlantic Treaty is still largely classified. Personal 
papers are even more difficult to consult. For instance, the papers of the long 
time Prime and Foreign Minister, Paul-Henri Spaak, deposited at the 
Fondation Paul-Henri Spaak in Brussels, are closed to the public and 
researchers as well.^^ As far as the French records are concerned, as John 
Young has noted (albeit only in a footnote), most French papers on both the 
Brussels and the North Atlantic Treaty talks are still unreleased.^^ The 
archival material is supplemented by general and specialised studies regarding 
Belgian and Dutch foreign or security policy, the Cold War, and the origins of 
the Brussels Treaty and the North Atlantic Treaty. 

§ 1.4 Structure of the study. 
Our study consists of two parts, divided into seven chapters, with a conclusion. 
Although Belgium and the Netherlands are the central object of this study, we 
will pay in every chapter ample attention to the relevant developments in the 
international political setting. Part I, Setting the Stage, discusses the evolution 
of Belgian and Dutch foreign policy during the Second World War and the 
early Cold War years. Chapter 2 (Plaiming for the Unknown) deals with a 
critical period in both countries' existence. Exiled in London their governments 
developed new foreign policy orientations with a strong regional emphasis. 
However, the realization of these orientations foundered on the universalism of 
the newly created United Nations Organization. Chapter 3 (Post-War 
Searching) demonstrates that in the first two years after the end of the war 
collective security, as embodied in the UN Charter, was strictly adhered to, 
although from time to time Belgian and Dutch preferences for a regionalist 
solution clearly surfaced. The fundamental changes in the East-West 
relationship in 1947 paved the way for such regional solutions after the final 
demise of universalism. 

Part II, Creating Entangling Alliances, is a critical examination of the 
Belgian and Dutch contribution to the creation of the two regional alliances, 
the Brussels Treaty-based Western Union and the North Atlantic Treaty. 
Chapter 4 (Wartime Dreams Come True) presents the first comprehensive 
account of the negotiations leading up to the Treaty of Brussels from the 
beginning of January 1948 until 17 March 1948. The Belgian and Dutch 
governments, acting in unison with the Luxembourg government as a Benelux 
pressure group, fundamentally influenced the outcome of the talks with their 
British and French partners. Simultaneously with these Western European 
deliberations, the British government opened discussions with the US 

. The Research and Study Centre for the History of the Second World War (Navorsings- en 
Studiecentrum voor de Geschiedenis van de Tweede Wereldoorlog) in Brussels is a favourable 
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'^^. See: Young, France, the Cold War, p. 289 (fn. 189). 
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Administration on a wider, Atlantic pact. Chapter 5 (The Pentagon 
Negotiations) examines the early British attempts to entangle the United States 
in the first six months of 1948, crowned by the ultra-secret Pentagon discussi­
ons in March 1948. In this tug-of-war the Belgian and Dutch governments only 
indirectly influenced the final outcome through their championship of closer 
Western European military cooperation. After the adoption of the Vandenberg 
Resolution official negotiations between Belgium, Britain, Canada, France, the 
Netherlands and the United States were finally opened on 6 July 1948. 

There were three stages in the six-power intergovernmental discussions 
known as the Washington Exploratory Talks on Security (WETS). Chapter 6 
(A Peach With a Hard Kernel) analyses the first stage of these talks, lasting 
from 6 July until 10 September 1948. The governments concerned 
fundamentally discussed the options open to them, the Belgian and Dutch 
governments finding themselves in opposite camps. At the end of August the 
differences were more or less bridged, leading to the adoption of the so-called 
Washington Paper: a joint report from the participants to their governments 
suggesting the possible content of a North Atlantic Treaty. 

After a three-months' interlude, primarily owing to the US presidential 
elections, the second stage of the negotiations started on 10 December 1948. 
During a very productive fortnight the delegations concerned negotiated a draft 
treaty for submission to the participating governments. Chapter 7 (The 
Drafting of a Landmark) studies both the preparations for and the actual 
negotiations of the draft. Belgians and Dutch contributed actively, both 
individually and as members of the Western Union, to the success. 

The successful conclusion of this stage coincided with United Nations 
condemnation of the Dutch military action in Indonesia. During the final, third 
stage of the negotiations, lasting from 10 January to 4 April 1949, this colonial 
venture seriously interfered with the negotiations in Washington. Therefore in 
Chapter 8 (Dear Joe) not only the senatorial misgivings in the United States, 
but also the Dutch attempts to bolster its colonial stance through the North 
Atlantic Treaty negotiations (including a desperate attempt to blackmail the US 
government) are critically examined. In the final chapter the main conclusions, 
both historical and theoretical, are brought together. 
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CHAPTER 2 

PLANNING FOR THE UNKNOWN 

(1940-1945) 

Post-war planning was never the prime occupation of the allied governments 
engaged in a fight to the bitter end against enemies bent on world domination. 
The day to day conduct of the war demanded that all energy be devoted to the 
overriding objective of victory over Germany and Japan. A British diplomat 
therefore observed in February 1942 that "we should wait to lay eggs for post­
war hatching until the incubator is less distant than it appears to be at the 
moment". Prune Minister Winston Churchill's comment of October 1942 must 
be considered illustrative for all those with more pressing problems on their 
mind: "I hope that these speculative studies will be entrusted mainly to those 
on whose hands time hangs heavy, and that we shall not overlook Mrs Glass's 
Cookery Book recipe for Jugged Hare - 'First catch your hare'."^ 

Nevertheless planning was embarked upon, if only because the outbreak 
of the war itself had proven that the system of collective security created after 
World War I, as embodied by the League of Nations, had utterly failed. After 
the present war was over a new international security system had to be created 
and all allied governments involved in the war contemplated, some more active 
than others, their stake in such a post-war system. Although the issue of 
international security loomed large in the discussions, post-war planning was 
by no means restricted to it. For instance, post-war rehabilitation and 
reconstruction was another prominent issue, leading in the course of 1943 to 
the creation of the United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration 
(UNRRA), and in the field of air transport discussions in 1944 led to the 
establishment of the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO). The 
Belgian as well as the Dutch government, both exiled in London after the 
German occupation of their countries in May 1940, participated in these 
plaiming exercises. 

. PRO, FO 371/30802, C 1714/1200/4, Bland to Eden, No. 15, 12/02/42; and Churchill to 
Eden, 18/10/42, as quoted by Lewis, Changing Direction, p. 335. 
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From early 1941 onwards the study of post-war problems was instigated 
for instance by the Belgian government-in-exile through the creation of a 
special governmental committee, whereas in the Dutch case the main impetus 
came from the exiled (civilian) community in London. At first planning took 
place more or less in a vacuum. The British government, host to some 10 
governments-in-exile, stayed aloof and consequently most of the discussions in 
1941/42 remained confined to these exiles. An important role was reserved for 
the Polish prime minister. General Wladyslaw Sikorski, an active proponent of 
continental European cooperation. 

In the course of 1942 the British government became more interested in 
the activities of its guests. Partly instigated by pertinent questions about their 
plaiming by some of the exiled governments; partly as a consequence of the 
entry of the Soviet Union and the United States in the war; and partly because 
of internal bureaucratic pressures, civilian as well as military planning bodies 
were created with an eye to the post-war international situation. During the 
summer of 1942, Gladwyn Jebb, head of the newly created Economic and 
Reconstruction Department of the Foreign Office, developed the first notions 
of a scheme whereby "the world after the war should be run by the United 
Nations as a whole, but in practice major decisions should be taken by a small 
'policy committee' of the four Great Powers."^ In embryonic form the 
foundation of the post-war United Nations Organization had been laid. 

From then onwards, Belgian and Dutch post-war planning had to adjust 
itself to the plan for a universal world organization as advocated by the greater 
powers. Given the priority attached to this plan by US President Franklin D. 
Roosevelt, and to a lesser extent by Churchill, all other plans for a 
restructuring of post-war international relations were judged on their 
(in)compatibility with the Anglo-American propositions. Especially after the 
Dumbarton Oaks conference of August-September 1944, when the Soviet and 
Chinese governments endorsed the somewhat amended propositions, any 
failure to comply with the so-called Four Power Plan was tantamount to certain 
collapse for dissenting designs. 

The ideas developed by both governments with regard to post-war 
international security and the degree to which they were able to conform these 
plans to those developed by their larger allies will be the central items of this 
chapter.-^ What use did the Belgians and Dutch make of the opportunities 
offered by their exile in London and to what extent did they intend to embark 
on a new course in the post-war world? What plans did they develop, at 
departmental and Cabinet level, for the post-war period and how do these fit in 

. Ibid., p. 35. Following the London Declaration of 12 June 1941 and the Adantic Charter 
of 14 August 1941, on 1 January 1942 most of the non-axis states signed in Washington the United 
Nations Declaration, expressing their belief in the principles embodied in the Atlantic Charter; their 
resolve to unite their efforts in the war against Germany, Japan and Italy; and their pledge not to 
seek a separate peace. 

3 
. Cf. also: Wiebes & Zeeman, 'Nederland, Belgie en de sovjet-dreiging, pp. 469-471; 

Wiebes, 'The National Security Policy', pp. 127-130; and Wiebes & Zeeman, 'The Origins of 
Western Defense', pp. 144-148. 



21 

with the post-war planning by the larger allies? Attention will be focused on 
four, interrelated, issues: the nature of the post-war security threat; the need 
for cooperation with other, like-minded nations; regional versus universal 
cooperation; and the scope of post-war international cooperation (political 
and/or military and/or economic). 

Belgian post-war planning will be dealt with in § 2.2. This paragraph 
consists of three subparagraphs. The first one presents some general 
information about the Belgian government, from the moment Germany invaded 
the country in May 1940 through the exile-period in London until the 
liberation of Brussels in September 1944. The second concentrates on the 
planning process, from the institutional side and as regards content. Given his 
pivotal role both during the war and in the post-war period, this subparagraph 
includes a short biographical sketch of Paul-Henri Spaak. In the third 
subparagraph attention is focused on Belgian foreign policy from the liberation 
onwards until VJ-Day. The (lack of) adjustment of post-war planning to the 
realities of the projected world organization is discussed as well as the viability 
of the plans that had been developed. 

The paragraph on Dutch post-war planning (§ 2.3) is roughly along the 
same lines. The first subparagraph gives the general background from May 
1940 until the liberation of the country five years later. The second deals with 
post-war planning itself. On the Dutch side there was also a dominant figure, 
Eelco van Kleffens, whose role will also be highlighted in a short biography. 
In the final subparagraph Dutch post-war planning is set alongside the plans of 
the Big Four and judged on its merits. 

The paragraphs on Belgium and the Netherlands are preceded by one 
dealing with planning regarding post-war international security in general. 
Those plans are discussed that either contemplated the active participation of 
Belgium and/or the Netherlands, or influenced the planning process taking 
place in governmental circles in London as well as the occupied territories on 
the Continent. Attention is focused on the nature of these plans 
(universal/global, regional or bilateral) as well as the intended scope. There is 
no intention to deal with these plans in an exhaustive way. The only objective 
is to give the necessary frame of reference to put Belgian and Dutch post-war 
planning in its proper perspective. In the discussion of these more general 
plans, British post-war planning will be taken as leitmotif. On the one hand the 
British were among the most active in the field of post-war planning and on 
the other their role as host to both exiled governments placed them in a special 
position. The gradual emergence of the projected United Nations Organization 
as the prime force in the establishment of post-war security will be sketched, 
as well as the relationship between the role of this universal world organization 
and the more limited (at least as regards membership) regional associations. 
The final paragraph of this chapter (§ 2.4) presents a balance sheet of Belgian 
and Dutch post-war planning in the field of international security. 
Characteristics of the ideas developed by either side are illustrated by means of 
their attitude towards post-war bilateral cooperation between the two countries, 
culminating in September 1944 in the signing of the Benelux agreement. 
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§ 2.1 The road to the United Nations Organization. 
British involvement in planning for post-war international security can be 
conveniently considered in three phases. The first, lasting from the summer of 
1940 to December 1941, was the period before the creation of the Grand 
Alliance. In this phase Britain was the main protagonist in the war against 
Hitler-Germany and the primus inter pares in the anti-Hitler coalition 
consisting primarily of exiled governments. Post-war planning was practised 
mainly by the latter governments, the British reacting to proposals put before 
them. The second, transitional phase, covering the year 1942, saw the gradual 
emergence of the multilateral alliance dominated by two other great powers 
besides Britain. Post-war planning was profoundly affected in two ways. The 
prospects of liberation (although still rather remote) added a sense of 
seriousness to the planning exercises that had been lacking thusfar, and the 
future role of the smaller powers (as opposed to the larger ones) became more 
problematic. During the third phase, beginning in the winter of 1942/43, post­
war planning adapted itself to the realities of an international system likely to 
be dominated in both short and long term by the United States and the Soviet 
Union. Especially from the Moscow conference of the foreign ministers of the 
United States, the United Kingdom and the Soviet Union in October 1943 
onwards, the Big Three were very much in control of post-war planning.'^ 

The first one to approach the British with a well-defined proposal for 
post-war international security was Trygve Lie, Foreign Minister of the exiled 
Norwegian government. In November 1940 he confronted them for the first 
time with plans for a post-war security system, the main elements of which he 
made public in a speech on 15 December 1940.^ Lie suggested the creation of 
an Atlantic security organization founded on the principle of US and/or British 
bases on Norwegian (and other Atlantic countries') territory in order to 
safeguard the security of the western world. Lie's approach was essentially 
regional, emphasizing especially the politico-military aspects, without giving 
too much consideration to the global nature of post-war international security. 
In January 1941 his thoughts had crystallized into a joint defence arrangement 
for the Northern Atlantic region consisting of US and British bases in Norway, 
with all three countries enjoying facilities in Greenland, Iceland and the Faroe 
Islands. 

Although Lie's proposal received a certain amount of attention, both in 
the Foreign and War Office, the British government did not act upon his 
initiatives. There was simply no time to deal with such distant subjects yet. 
Nevertheless, at the official level Lie's ideas were welcomed, more in the 
Foreign than in the War Office, and for instance Assistant Under-Secretary of 
State Orme Sargent commented in April 1941 that the application of Lie's 
ideas outside the Northern Atlantic region might offer a practical means of 
achieving the post-war involvement of the United States in European affairs. 
Encouraged by the favourable albeit unofficial British endorsement of his 

. Cf. Peter Ludlow, 'Britain, Norway and the Adantic Community', pp. 1-2 and 10-11. 

. Cf. Lewis, Changing Direction, pp. 1-2; Ludlow, 'Britain, Norway and the Adantic 
Community', pp. 7-8; and Riste, 'Norway's "Adantic policy"', pp. 19-22. 
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ideas. Lie discussed them also with US officials and elaborated them in a 
lecture in Oxford in October 1941. Firmly rejecting any kind of continental 
European bloc and claiming that as far as Norway was concerned "the sea does 
not divide but links together", he again advocated post-war cooperation among 
the nations bordering the Atlantic. At this stage in the war Lie by no means 
stood alone in his advocacy of closer post-war North Atlantic cooperation. In 
May 1941 similar ideas were developed in public by the Prime Minister of 
South Africa (and close friend of Churchill), Jan Christian Smuts. 

The British however did not feel free to discuss such far-reaching 
proposals with their smaller allies. After the German attack on the Soviet 
Union in June 1941 Britain had to take the feelings of the leader of the Soviet 
Union, Joseph Stalin, into account. Sargent, clearly sympathetic to Lie's 
suggestions, warned for possible Soviet misgivings and Foreign Secretary 
Anthony Eden therefore advised Lie to proceed with caution. The same dual 
attitude of benevolent, unofficial endorsement and governmental reluctance and 
evasiveness characterized the British stance towards the only other significant 
proposal for post-war renewal developed in this first phase, the reorganization 
of continental Europe as advocated by the Polish Prime Minister Sikorski. 

Already early in the war Sikorski resuscitated the idea of federations or 
confederations of small and medium-sized nations to secure the future 
independence of Poland. In the first instance he advocated the creation of a 
Central European confederation, made up of Poland, Czechoslovakia, and 
other interested countries, in order to act as a counterpoist to Germany and a 
check on renewed German expansionism. Sikorski discussed this idea with the 
Czechoslovakian President Eduard Benes and in November 1940 they reached 
agreement about some sort of post-war association between their two countries. 
Sikorski's vision, however, was more grandiose. He imagined closer 
cooperation among all the smaller and medium-sized continental European 
powers as the ideal solution to Europe's security imbroglio. 

In November 1940 Sikorski also submitted a detailed memorandum 
outlining his views on the future of Europe to the British government.^ He 
argued that on the one hand the continental European powers, faced by 
German expansionism, were dependent upon Britain as a counter-weight and 
on the other hand that British security could not be separated from that of the 
continent of Europe. Given this reciprocal dependence Sikorski proposed a 
long term relationship between Britain and future continental European 
federations. Eden, however, reacted cautiously, refusing to commit Britain to 
any definite plans and even discouraging Sikorski and others from going 
beyond general discussions about the post-war future of Europe. 

The entry into the war of, first, the Soviet Union (May 1941) and 
subsequently the United States (December 1941) fundamentally altered the 
post-war planning debate. The somewhat noncommittal atmosphere, the pivotal 
position of the British government, and the status of the smaller exiled 
governments were seriously affected by the creation of the Grand Alliance. 

. See: Shlaim, Britain and the Origins, pp. 35-38. Benes favoured the creation of several 
larger federal blocs in Europe. Benes, 'The Organization of Postwar Europe', pp. 226-242. 
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The British as well as their exiled guests had to adjust themselves to a new 
situation. As Ludlow correctly notes, the tenor and content of the discussions 
were profoundly influenced by the new balance of forces in the anti-Hitler 
coalition, although the fundamental assumptions which had been formed during 
the first phase in post-war planning were not yet called into question.'^ The 
year 1942 was a year of adjustment and transition with regard to post-war 
planning. 

In the course of 1942 the British War Cabinet created the first two 
governmental bodies specifically to deal with post-war planning, the Military 
Sub-Committee (subordinated to the Chiefs of Staff, CoS) and the Foreign 
Office Economic and Reconstruction Department (headed by Gladwyn Jebb).^ 
One of their first tasks was to recommend on a general scheme of international 
bases for post-war European security developed as a consequence of Lie's 
demarches. The War Cabinet examined the pros and cons of such a scheme on 
3 November 1942, only to decide to delay discussion until the submission of a 
memorandum outlining the wider issues of post-war international security. This 
decision was more or less provoked by the drafting by Jebb of the so-called 
'Four Power Plan', an "attempt to formulate general (foreign) policy in the 
light of such indications as we have of US and Soviet intentions during and 
after the war. "̂  

The essential feature of the plan was the desirability of a universal post­
war world organization whose direction and leadership would be entrusted to 
the four Great Powers: Britain, the United States, the Soviet Union and (on US 
insistence) China. The Four Power Plan assumed continued Great Power 
cooperation after the war (as evidenced for instance by the 20-year Anglo-
Soviet treaty of alliance concluded on 26 May 1942) in order to hold down 
Germany and Japan for as long a period as necessary. Within the framework 
of such a global security system Jebb still envisioned the creation of regional 
arrangements to enforce post-war peace, thinking especially of confederations 
of smaller powers in Eastern Europe and a Western European association 
under British leadership, but regionalism was decidedly relegated to a 
somewhat ancillary concept. 

Jebb's ideas were generally in line with those developed at the 
departmental level in the United States. In July 1942 Secretary of State Cordell 
Hull publicly stated the gist of US post-war thinking: "It is plain that some 
international agency must be created which can - by force, if necessary - keep 
the peace among nations in the future. "̂ ^ The primary role awarded to the 
four Great Powers reflected as yet unspoken thoughts of President Roosevelt 

. Cf. Ludlow, 'Britain, Norway and the Adantic Community', p. 2. 
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about the Four Policemen governing the post-war world. On 27 November 
1942 the War Cabinet expressed general approval to Eden's suggestion that the 
conception of the Four Powers working within the general framework of the 
United Nations would be considered the present basis of British post-war 
planning. 

In the Four Power Plan the regional approach was clearly subordinated 
to the global/universal approach. The gradual ascendency of the latter at the 
expense of the former, is reflected in the fate of the earlier plans of Lie and 
Sikorski. Although officials at the Foreign Office continued to support Lie's 
idea of a Northwest European/North Atlantic community and the Norwegian 
Cabinet fully endorsed the concept in May 1942, the tide was turning. The 
British gave priority to bringing their own ideas in line with US designs and 
consequently, from autumn 1942 onwards, the Atlantic policy was played 
down and the Norwegians concentrated their efforts on adjusting to policy 
developments determined by the Great Powers.^^ Sikorski's endeavours to 
create a European caucus also came to naught. His suggestion in January 1942 
to issue a joint declaration by the exiled governments in London on the post­
war international order in Europe foundered on British and Norwegian 
opposition. A few months later, on Sikorski's initiative, the exiled 
governments decided to hold regular meetings of their foreign secretaries in 
London to discuss the future of Europe and to develop the habit of working 
together. Regional federations were among the issues discussed, but as Spaak 
commented afterwards in his memoirs: never a conclusion reached by one of 
the subcommittees was endorsed by the ministerial group. The importance the 
non-Poles attached to this initiative can be measured from the fact that the 
group soon disintegrated in 1943 after the untimely death of Sikorski.^^ The 
European idea continued to be discussed during the war, both within and 
among the exiled communities in London and on the European continent, but it 
never became a major theme in the discussions about post-war security 
again. ̂ ^ 

From the beginning of 1943 onwards the Four Power Plan dominated 
(and remained to dominate until the end of the war) all discussions about post­
war international security.^'* Renamed the United Nations Plan in January 
1943, Foreign Office planning based itself on the premise of a universal 
organization dominated by the Big Four. Occassional outbursts of Churchill in 
favour of a pan-European Council (alongside a Pacific and an ail-American 

. See: Riste, 'Norway's "Atlantic Policy"', p. 24. Soviet opposidon also played a minor 
role. Cf. Holtsmark, 'Adantic Orientation or Regional Groupings', pp. 315-316. 

12 . Cf. Spaak, Combats Inacheves, T. 1., pp. 154-156 and Pomian, Joseph Retinger, pp. 
100-107. 
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Council) were sabotaged time and again because they were not thought-out and 
considered quite impracticable by the Foreign Office.^^ After internal 
differences of opinion between Roosevelt and Hull about the relative weight of 
the universal security organization and the 'four policemen' had been decided 
in favour of Hull, the US government took the initiative during the Quebec 
conference of August 1943 to present the British the draft of the Four Nation 
(Power) Declaration. In this the two governments recognized 

"the necessity of establishing at the earliest practicable date a general 
international organization, based on the principle of the sovereign equality of all 
states and open to membership by all such states, large and small, for the 
maintenance of international peace and security. "̂ ^ 

With the addition of 'peace-loving' between all and states, the Soviet 
government also endorsed the declaration two months later during the Moscow 
conference of the foreign ministers of Britain, the United States and the Soviet 
Union. China followed suit, thus assuring the leading role of the Big Four in 
post-war planning for international security. The Moscow conference was 
significant in yet another aspect. By creating, at British instigation, the 
European Advisory Commission (EAC) the Big Three assured their controlling 
status with regard to the post-war ftiture of Europe, and especially of 
Germany, as well. 

The endorsement of the Anglo-American proposals by the leading 
powers in the anti-Hitler coalition clearly underscored the now dominant 
position of the principle of universalism in discussions about the post-war 
international order. According to the US government the principle should also 
be adopted in the field of economics and finance to prevent the misery of the 
interwar years. Thus a politically and economically free and open world could 
be created, liberated from the interwar closed economic blocs and the remnants 
of European colonialism. Nevertheless, as an alliance with the smaller 
European powers was still regarded by many as an asset of particular value to 
the British, "the strong underlying trend"^^ of regionalism never ceased to 
exist. In November 1943, for instance, in a widely publicized and discussed 
speech. Smuts again advocated the virtues of regional Western European 
cooperation, especially from the British point of view. The issue surfaced 
again more forcefully in the spring of 1944 as the British government tried to 
formulate its views regarding the post-war security organization. In more detail 
than ever before, British planners developed plans for post-war Western 
European cooperation in the field of international security. 

The main impetus again came from Jebb in the Foreign Office. In May 
1944 he strongly advocated the creation of a Western European regional 
grouping. Thus Britain would improve its strategical position and increase its 

. See for instance: Shlaim, Britain and the Origins, pp. 43-49; and Hughes, 'Winston 
Churchill', p. 179. 

. Quoted in: Luard, A History of the United Nations, Vol. 1, p. 23. 
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27 

military potential "so definitely as to leave no doubt as to its capacity to hold 
its own on a footing of equality with the United States and the Soviet Union in 
the task of enforcing the peace against all comers. "̂ ^ Jebb's proposition, 
which should be seen in the light of Anglo-American rivalry over who should 
assume a hegemonial role in Western Europe rather than against the 
background of an emerging conflict with the Soviet Union^^, reintroduced 
the regional (security) approach embedded safely within the global/universal 
organization. 

Jebb's views were endorsed by the Post-Hostilities Planning Staff 
(PHPS), in which Foreign Office and Chiefs of Staff had pooled their planning 
experience, in a report prepared specifically for the forthcoming negotiations in 
Dumbarton Oaks in August 1944 about the future world organization. The 
report, entitled 'Security in Western Europe and the North Atlantic', 
considered on the one hand the success of the future world organization "of 
vital consequence" to the British and advocated on the other the creation of a 
military regional group in Western Europe. However, such a group should 
only be brought about "without prejudicing American participation in the 
World Organization and, above all, without detriment to the Anglo-Soviet 
Alliance. "20 

Shortly after completion of the report, the British received the 
'Tentative Proposals for an International Organization' prepared by the US 
government. In December 1943 the Americans had assumed prime responsibi­
lity for preparing these detailed proposals. They finally consisted of the 
proposal to create a General Assembly open to all members of the future 
organization; the creation of an Executive Council consisting of the four major 
nations and seven others elected by the General Assembly, as well as an 
International Court of Justice and the office of Director General.^^ The 
proposals regarding regional organizations were rather minimal. The US 
government opposed the creation of economically or politically closed blocs. 
Regional arrangements should therefore be subordinated to the world 
organization and their primary usefulness was seen in the context of peaceful 
settlements of regional disputes. 

Given this secondary role for regional arrangements in the US 
proposals, the British delegation advocated a bigger role for the regional 
organizations during the Dumbarton Oaks conference in August-September 

^°. PRO, CAB 21/1614, FO Memo 'Western Europe', 09/05/44. Cf. Woodward, British 
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1944. Accepting the primary responsibility of the World Organization in 
conflict situations, they proposed that provision be made for regional bodies, 
perhaps as part of the enforcement machinery. The Americans at first doubted 
the wisdom of such a provision, but in the end a compromise was reached 
which stipulated that the Executive Council would encourage the settlement of 
local disputes by regional agencies and use them also for enforcement action 
where appropriate. More specifically, chapter VIII of the final Dumbarton 
Oaks conclusions stipulated that nothing in the projected Charter of the new 
organization would preclude the existence of regional arrangements or 
agencies, provided they operated within the spirit of the Charter. If this was 
not a full-fledged endorsement of regional arrangements, at least it kept all 
options open to those who were interested to pursue the regional venue.^^ 

However, all attempts by Eden and his Foreign Office during the final 
year of the war to give effect to their plans for regional cooperation were 
stillborn. Churchill proved to be an almost insurmountable obstacle in the way 
towards Western European cooperation. He aborted all of Eden's attempts to 
get the issue before the full War Cabinet.^^ In Churchill's opinion the 
Western European continental powers were liabilities rather than assets and for 
the time being he staged all his hopes on the continued alliance with the United 
States, matched by his personal contacts with Stalin. Moreover, the 
government of the country considered to be the linchpin of any Western 
European regional grouping, i.e. France, conditioned its participation in such a 
grouping on British concessions with regard to the Levant and the future of 
Germany. Even the most staunch supporter of Western European cooperation 
in the Foreign Office was not prepared to accept these French conditions. 

Churchill's unwillingness to commit Britain to any regional. Western 
European association contrasts starkly with the eagerness of the French 
provisional government under the leadership of General Charles de Gaulle to 
conclude such an entente in Western Europe, without British participation. 
This eagerness was based on plans developed in London and Algiers by the 
Free French regarding the post-war future of a resurrected France.^'^ Caught, 
as so many others, by the optimism regarding post-war international 
cooperation on the one hand and French security and economic needs in the 
post-war world on the other, French planners envisioned the creation of a 
customs union in Western Europe consisting of France and the Benelux 
countries (but possibly also including the German Rhineland) and subsequently 
the political alignment of the smaller Western European countries under French 
guidance. Thus the international position of France vis-a-vis the Big Four 
would be greatly strengthened. If France would be able to discuss the future of 
Germany with the backing and on behalf of these smaller nations, the chances 
that its demands regarding Germany would be met seemed to be much better. 

. Hilderbrand, Dumbarton Oaks, passim. 
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From the spring of 1944 onwards French governmental officials therefore 
pressed their Belgian, and to a lesser extent Dutch, interlocutors to open 
negotiations on a Franco-Belgian-Dutch customs union as a first step towards 
the larger goal of a Western European grouping under French leadership. 

The stage continued, however, to be dominated by the future world 
organization. After the success of the Dumbarton Oaks conference, matched by 
the equally successful negotiations in Bretton Woods regarding the creation of 
the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) and the 
International Monetary Fund (IMF), the most important differences of opinion 
between the Great Powers were settled during the Yalta conference in 
February 1945. Subsequently invitations were sent to most of the non-Axis 
states to participate in the San Francisco conference. During this conference, 
which started on 25 April 1945, the principal elements of the future world 
organization as suggested by the Great Powers were accepted with little 
discussion or dispute.-̂ ^ There was to be a new world organization, to be 
named the United Nations Organization (UNO), to replace the still existing 
League of Nations. Each individual member of the UNO was to be represented 
in the General Assembly, but the main instrument in enforcing post-war peace, 
the Security Council, would only consist of five permanent members (Britain, 
China, France, the Soviet Union and the United States) and six non-permanent 
members. Each of the permanent members would have veto power on action to 
be taken by the Security Council (except in procedural matters). 

The use and aim of regional arrangements were delineated in Articles 
52-54 of the new Charter. The countries participating in such arrangements 
were called upon to settle their disputes by peaceful means and the Security 
Council was advised to use these regional arrangements for enforcement 
action. Article 53 strictly forbade the use of enforcement action by regional 
arrangements without the express permission of the Security Council, with the 
exception of measures against (former) enemy states and measures by 

"regional arrangements directed against a renewal of aggressive policy on the 
part of any such state, until such time as the organization may, on request of the 
governments concerned, be charged with the responsibility for preventing further 
aggressions by such a state." 

The articles on regional arrangements presented already a serious qualification 
of the prerogatives of the Security Council in all security matters. Under the 
pressure of the Latin American countries present in San Francisco, aided by 
the Western Europeans and some of the US delegates, another, and even 
bigger, loophole for enforcement action without Security Council authorization 
was created via Article 51, which stipulates: 

"Nothing in the present Charter shall impair the inherent right of individual or 
collective self-defence if an armed attack occurs against a member of the United 

. See for the San Francisco conference for instance: Luard, History of the United 
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Nations, until the Security Council has taken the measures necessary to maintain 
international peace and security. "̂ ^ 

On 26 June 1945 representatives of 51 nations signed the Charter, thereby 
creating the United Nations Organization. The signature of the Charter 
presented the final victory of universalism over regionalism and legitimized the 
role of the five permanent members of the Security Council as primus inter 
pares in the post-war international community. The conference in San 
Francisco confirmed (as the wartime conferences of the Big Three in Tehran 
and Yalta had already shown) the second-class position of the lesser powers 
vis-a-vis their larger allies. The results of San Francisco were therefore hard to 
swallow for those smaller powers, like Belgium and the Netherlands, which 
had developed their own scheme for post-war international security, suited to 
their own needs and interests. 

§ 2.2 Belgium: Britain's Baby? 
§ 2.2.1 Exile in London 
After World War I Belgium had tried to combine a universal and a regional 
approach to ensure its future security: it became a founding member of the 
League of Nations and it sought to entangle France and Britain in an alliance 
vis-a-vis Germany. Initially only France was willing to conclude such an 
alliance (in 1920). Five years later though, through the Locarno agreements, 
Belgium's frontiers were guaranteed both by France and Britain, and by 
Germany as well. The Locarno Pact strengthened the League of Nations and 
rectified the imbalance exhibited by the accords with France. However, 
Belgium had become not only the guarantee, but also a guarantor. 

The rise of Hitler-Germany and the failure of the larger European 
powers to face up to this challenge forced the Belgian government after the 
reoccupation of the Rhineland to change tack. It sought, and accomplished in 
1937, the abrogation of its obligations under the Locarno Pact vis-a-vis France, 
Britain and Germany, whereas these three countries continued to guarantee the 
inviolability of its territory. The new security policy, known as policy of 
independence or 'hands free'-policy, secured nation-wide support for the 
necessary rearmament programs. It reinforced Belgium's rapprochement with 
the Netherlands and the Scandinavian countries, a group known as the Oslo-
states.^^ 

In accordance with its new posture, the government officially declared 
its neutrality as war erupted in September 1939. King Leopold initiated, in 
cooperation with Queen Wilhelmina of the Netherlands, several attempts to 
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mediate, all to no avail. In spite of the warnings of the previous months, 
including the unexpected capture of the German war plans in January 1940, the 
government was caught unaware by the German attack of 10 May 1940. 
Within a few hours after the attack, however, the army took up its defensive 
position along the Albert Canal, Leopold personally took command of his 
troops, and the government put forward its request for British and French 
military aid. Twenty years of careful manoeuvring to prevent a repetition of 
the misery of World War I trench warfare were crushed by the German 
invasion. Spaak voiced his indignation in his "Moi d'abord" (Me first)-tirade 
against the German ambassador when the latter presented the German 
ultimatum for surrender.^^ 

This time Belgium was not to be a major battleground. The Belgian 
army, even with the assistance of French and British troops, was not equipped 
to halt the German 'Blitzkrieg'. Their position was made even more precarious 
by the early Dutch surrender. Nevertheless, the combined force of Belgian, 
French and British troops was able to put up protracted defence in the first two 
weeks after the invasion. The German advance could not be stopped, however, 
and on 28 May Leopold and his army surrendered to German troops. The 
Eighteen Days Campaign had come to an end.^ 

While Leopold was made prisoner of war and interned at his palace in 
Laeken, the government fled to France. Three days before the capitulation, the 
King and his government had fought their last battle in the first act of the 
drama which would come to be known as the Royal Question.̂ ^ After an 
acrimoneous meeting King and government parted ways. The King, unwilling 
(like his father King Albert) to leave his troops and fully convinced of the fact 
that Belgium had honoured its obligations towards France and Britain, refused 
to leave the country. In his opinion Belgium had lost the war and the country 
had to capitulate. The government, on the other hand, intended to continue the 
struggle in exile, like the Dutch, alongside France and Britain. While legally 
not bound to those countries in any way, the government considered itself, at 
the least, morally committed to continue the struggle until the final liberation 
of the country. 

The break between King and government was to lead to what the 
Belgian historian Jean Stengers has termed "the two Belgian policies" of the 
summer of 1940 and a period of six months in which friend and foe were 
unable to deal with a government of any sort. In the weeks between the 
Belgian and French surrender to the Nazis, King and government opposed each 
other fundamentally. After the French surrender became imminent, however, 
cabinet unity crumbled fast. Defeatism gained the upperhand.- '̂ Marcel-Henri 
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Jaspar, Minister of Health, was the first to leave the continent for Britain in 
order to organize a national committee and to continue the war against 
Germany. Two weeks later, on 4 July, he was joined by Albert De Vleeschau­
wer, Minister of Colonies. Both ministers claimed to represent the 
government, but the British preferred to deal with the De Vleeschauwer as he 
had been appointed Adminstrator-General of the Belgian Congo just before he 
left for London. They began to press him to persuade his colleagues in the 
unoccupied territory of Vichy-France to join him in London.-'^ 

On 1 August 1940 De Vleeschauwer met Prime Minister Hubert 
Pierlot, Spaak and Finance Minister Camille Gutt on the Franco-Spanish 
border. He was able to convince his colleagues that the government had to 
continue the struggle alongside Britain and the other governments-in-exile. Gutt 
joined De Vleeschauwer immediately in London, while Pierlot and Spaak 
returned to Vichy to convince the remainder of the cabinet. After fierce 
deliberations Pierlot and Spaak were able to assure their colleagues of the 
rightness of their decision. Pierlot accepted the resignation of those who 
preferred to stay behind in Vichy and on 27 August he and Spaak left for 
London. After an eventful trip through France, Spain and Portugal - including 
the escape from Spanish police - Pierlot and Spaak finally arrived in London 
on 22 October 1940.^^ The fate of the government was sealed: it was to fight 
the war on the side of the allies. The four-men government took command 
from 31 October onwards. De Vleeschauwer, ably assisted by the Belgian 
ambassador in London Emile de Cartier de Marchienne, and the British threat 
to take its chance with Jaspar's rival group had rescued the government from a 
deplorable predicament. 

Despite the awkward period of defeatism and not knowing which side 
to choose, the government quite easily took up a prominent position among the 
governments-in-exile. Two factors will explain this. On the one hand, the 
government was still in possession of its colony, the Congo, with its rich and 
much needed resources of copper, cobalt and uranium. One of the objectives 
of the Belgians' host, the British Cabinet, was to deny these resources to Nazi-
Germany, which placed the Belgians in a comfortable position. This position 
was reinforced by the fact that most of its gold reserves had been transferred 
before the Nazi attack to British and US banks. The British government was 
desperately in need of gold to be able to finance its purchases in the United 
States. Gold and the Congo assured the government of a steady inflow of 
revenues and it therefore never came in a debtor-position during the 
exile-period.^"* As a token of their prominent position Belgians chaired a 
number of important inter-allied commissions created during the war in 
London. 
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In stark contrast with this relatively strong and privileged posture vis-a­
vis the other exiled governments, was the position of the government vis-a-vis 
the Belgian community in London. First of all, Pierlot had to deal with the 
rival group led by Jaspar and the socialist parliamentarian Camille Huysmans. 
This group, primarily consisting of members of the Senate and the Chamber 
who had arrived in London before Pierlot and Spaak, had to accept the fact 
that Pierlot's 'gang of four' was regarded by the British as the one and only 
Belgian government, but they tried hard to make Pierlot broaden the 
composition of the cabinet. Pierlot, however, did not budge. In his opinion, 
only ministers who had been part of his government on the 10th of May were 
eligible to his cabinet. 

Relations between government and parliamentarians therefore remained 
tense during the first years in London, although Pierlot finally gave way, a 
little, in October 1942 when three ministers of his pre-war cabinet finally also 
reached London. Antoine Delfosse, August De Schrijver and August Balthazar 
were all three included in his government. The government, however, kept 
being criticized by members of the Belgian community and on numerous 
occasions government and community in exile clashed.^^ Only from the 
summer of 1943 onwards mutual relations improved considerably, but 
cordiality was never restored. And despite these internal battles, the 
government was pretty much able to steer its own course. The opposition was 
first of all impotent. 

Outside observers concluded that Gutt and Spaak "undoubtedly" were 
the strong men in Pierlot's government. The Prime Minister himself was 
considered "a steady, uninspired man without striking qualities" and lacking 
authority. Gutt, on the other hand, represented the financial interests vested in 
the financial trust Societe Generale. Created in the 19th century, this trust 
dominated Belgian financial and political circles by controlling almost half of 
all Belgian bank deposits, more than half of Belgian industry and an even 
bigger percentage of Congolese industrial capacity.^^ Georges Theunis, the 
Belgian ambassador at large in Washington, also belonged to the Societe 
Generale and he was considered Gutt's right hand. 

The Londoners, government and opposition, were only united in their 
condemnation of Leopold's decision to remain in Belgium. In this they were 
clearly not in line with their population, which in the first few months of the 
occupation rallied around their prisoner-king. There was a change of mood, 
however, in the following years. First because of Leopold's meeting with 
Hitler in Berchtesgaden in November 1940 and secondly because of his 

. Unfortunately there is no Belgian equivalent to Louis de Jong's history of the Netherlands 
in the Second World War and, consequently, no official study of the Belgian exile in London. 
Some information in: Schepens, De Belgen in Groot-Brittannie; and Balthazar & Gotovitch, 
Camille Huysmans, dl. VII. 
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marriage in September 1941 to Liliane Baels, a commoner.^^ The 
government resumed contact with Leopold in the course of the war, but the 
two parties were not able to bridge their differences. The government as well 
as Leopold stuck to their original positions of May 1940, although Pierlot was 
more forthcoming than Leopold. As a consequence republicanism gained more 
and more adherents and a successor to Leopold, if he had to abdicate, seemed 
not to be at hand. His brother Charles was not considered fit to replace him 
and his oldest son, Baudouin, was still too young.^^ Therefore, when the 
Pierlot government returned to Belgium after the liberation of Brussels in 
September 1944, a constitutional crisis was in the offing. The final solution of 
the crisis would not prove to be an easy one either, amongst other things 
because of the deportation of Leopold with his family to Germany in the spring 
of 1944. 

§ 2.2.2 Regionalism in extremis 
Despite its relatively late arrival in London, compared to the other 
governments-in-exile, post-war planning was taken up at an early hour and 
quite energetically. Five months after its reconstitution in London, in March 
1941, the government created the Commission pour I'Etude des Problemes 
d'Apres-Guerre (CEPAG, Committee for the Study of Post-War Problems), 
consisting of several sections. CEPAG was headed by former prime minister 
Paul Van Zeeland; the section on international politics was chaired by Spaak. 
Two major considerations motivated the government to constitute the CEPAG. 
In the first place, having in mind the ravages caused to Belgium in World War 
I, the government deemed it necessary to prepare for the liberation, no matter 
how uncertain the future seemed to be at that particular moment. In the second 
place, by creating a commission consisting mainly of the exiled politicians in 
London, dedicated to the study of post-war problems and the drawing up of 
reports, the government created for itself the desired freedom of action.^^ 
Therefore an American section of CEPAG was organized in New York to 
integrate the Belgian community in the United States. CEPAG was given 
official status in July 1942. Hundreds of reports on specific issues were 
produced in the three years of its existence, leading to five published overall 
reports, the last one in July 1943. The importance of CEPAG should, 
however, not be overestimated. It was meant to be, by the government at least, 
primarily a sop and it therefore acquired a striking nickname: "committee of 
illusion".^^ Gotovitch rightly concludes that never a Belgian government has 
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experienced so much freedom of action and such a lack of democratic control 
as the London government.^^ 

CEPAG's international policy-section consisted mainly of socialists 
(Max Buset, Louis De Brouckere, Huysmans) and liberals (Victor De 
Laveleye, Jaspar, Julius Hoste), supported by officials of the ministry of 
Foreign Affairs (Fernand Van Langenhove, Charles de Romree de Vichenet, 
E. Le Ghait) and Jef Rens, the secretary-general of CEPAG. Spaak, naturally, 
took the chair of the section, placing him in an ideal position to influence the 
course of the discussions; to keep him informed about the opinions of the 
Belgian community in London; and to acquire the maximum freedom of action 
in post-war planning. This is not to say that CEPAG had no influence on 
post-war planning whatsoever; we must stress, however, the central role of 
Spaak, supported by his secretary general Van Langenhove, in the post-war 
planning process. 

Paul-Henri Spaak was born in Schaarbeek-Brussels on 25 January 1899. 
His father was director of the Brussels Opera; his mother, bom Janson, was 
Belgium's first female senator and an active member of the Belgian Workers 
Party (Belgische Werklieden Partij, BWP). Spaak was 15 years old when the 
world plunged into World War I. The last two years of the war he was 
interned after having been caught by the Germans while trying to cross the 
Dutch-Belgian border in order to reach the Belgian army on the Yzer. One of 
his fellow prisoners was the future prime minister Paul Van Zeeland."^^ 

After the war, Spaak enrolled in law school and finished his education 
in 1921. He entered the Brussels Bar, specialized in the defence of workers 
and unions and joined the BWP. His party was one of the first socialist or 
social democratic parties in Europe to become a party of government, already 
in 1918, and the party had strong reformist tendencies. Spaak acted on the 
left-wing of the party using his oratorial talents in the educational organization 
of the party. In 1925, when the BWP once more joined the government, Spaak 
became Chef de Cabinet of the Minister of Labour and Industry. After barely 
eight months, however, he quit the job and resumed his law practice. He 
founded a socialist, left-wing, weekly ('Bataille Socialiste'), visited in 1931 the 
Soviet Union and was elected to the Chamber as a socialist deputy for Brussels 
in 1932. Spaak was just 33. 

Two years later his career nearly came to an end. Opposition within his 
own party tabled a motion of expulsion after his latest in a long row of attacks 
on the right-wing leadership of the party. Spaak, however, was triumphant and 
startled his fellow left-wing socialists when he joined in March 1935 the three 
party government led by Van Zeeland as Minister of Transports and 
Communication. Under the strong influence of the reformist ideas of Hendrik 
de Man, Spaak abandoned his left-wing ideas. From now on he would operate 
right of centre in the BWP. 
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Spaak's career progressed rapidly. In June 1936 he became Minister of 
Foreign Affairs, a post he was to occupy almost continuously until 1949, and 
in May 1938 Prime Minister. He came to be known, in Belgium as well as in 
Europe, as the embodiment of the new policy of independence in foreign 
affairs and as the proponent of authoritarian democracy in internal affairs. 
According to Spaak, both concepts were essential if Belgium wanted to 
preserve its independence in the tense situation of the late thirties. After a 
short period out of office in 1939, he became again Foreign Secretary in the 
national cabinet under Hubert Pierlot, which was formed after the Nazi attack 
on Poland. 

Spaak, "a chubby, cherub-faced man, partly bold" and starkly 
resembling Churchill, soon became one of the two central elements in the 
government, the other being Gutt. The two of them formed a peculiar team. 
Spaak, a one-time firebrand of the working class movement, and Gutt, the 
representative of Belgian 'haute finance'. Indeed, a peculiar team, but one 
quite typical for pre-war Belgian politics. In this respect, the war had not made 
its influence felt yet. 

Contemporaries considered Spaak first of all "a shrewd and wise 
politician (...) Spaak generally acts on the spur of an inspiration which, like 
the weather forecasts by metereologists, fails only in fifty per cent of cases." 
He was able to "trim his sails to any wind" and "there is no politician in 
Belgium who has a keener eye than he for his political future and the best 
means of furthering it."^^ One of his war-time collaborators, Jef Rens, 
considered him first of all a 'political anunal'. Questioning Spaak about his 
unexpected participation in Van Zeeland's government in 1935, he told Rens: 
"I think man is only given a lunited number of chances. It is a question of 
taking advantage of them, at the risk of never having them again. ""̂"̂  Spaak 
rarely committed his own thoughts to paper, leaving the paperwork to his civil 
servants at the ministry (which fits in neatly with Gutt's comment that Spaak 
preferred listening to reading). Originality, according to George, was not his 
strong point; Spaak took his ideas from others. This gave him considerable 
leeway in his dealings with diplomats and colleagues from other countries who 
were not always able to grasp the ways and means of Spaak's diplomacy. 
Nevertheless, all were impressed by his political instinct and abilities, which is 
captured best, perhaps, in the diary of US ambassador Charles Sawyer after 
his first meeting with Spaak: "He is quite alert and not by any means as stupid 
as some people have suggested. In fact, he is not stupid at all."^^ 

The task of putting Spaak's thoughts on paper fell prunarily to his 
secretary-general, Fernand Van Langenhove. His role in the evolution of 
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Spaak's, and consequently Belgian, foreign policy should not be 
underestimated.'*^ A life-time civil servant and academic. Van Langenhove 
occupied senior posts in the ministries of Economic and Foreign Affairs in the 
interwar period and was secretary-general of the ministry when Spaak became 
Foreign Secretary for the first time in 1936. As such he was the chief architect 
of Belgium's return to independence. When Spaak reached London in October 
1940, he already found Van Langenhove in charge of a rump foreign office. 
The Nazi attack only temporarily separated the two men. 

But what about foreign policy, what influence did the war have on 
Belgium's future policy and its post-war planning? On the surface it looks 
quite clear: during the war Spaak chose for alignment with Great Britain and 
other Western European countries after the war. The contrast with the pre-war 
policy of independence, of 'hands free', is obvious and therefore the 
importance of the war seems paramount. However, before we can give a 
definite answer to this question, we first have to deal in depth with Belgian 
post-war planning, with the central features of that planning, with the role 
attributed to the greater powers and with the self-image of and the role 
assigned to Belgium itself. 

To start with the last issue, Belgium's inter-war experiences had had a 
salutory effect on Spaak and his chief civil servants. Three experiences had 
come to the fore very strongly. First, collective security, as embodied by the 
League of Nations, was not the best method to ensure world peace. 
Ineffectiveness in imposing sanctions on aggressor-nations was just one of 
many imperfections of a universal organization. Second, by becoming a 
member of the Locarno-system, Belgium had grasped beyond its reach. It had 
become involved with the greater powers in European power politics without 
having any freedom of action. Belgium, however, was a small European power 
with limited interests which had to be guaranteed in a way suited to her, not 
European, needs. Third, foreign policy orientations towards a single other 
European power were to be avoided. They threatened the country's internal 
cohesion as well as its freedom of action. Looked upon retrospectively, in the 
years 1936-1939, the policy of independence years, Belgium's political leaders 
adjusted their foreign policy to these three experiences. 

Simultaneously a new foreign policy orientation came to fruition based 
on 1) Belgium's geographical position in Western Europe; 2) its economic 
needs as an exporting nation (for both Belgian and Congolese products!); 3) 
the lingual division in the country between French-speaking Walloons and 
Dutch-speaking Flemish; and 4) the above-mentioned experiences of the 
interwar period. Essentially the new orientation boiled down to the formation 
of a regional Western European association, consisting of Britain, France, 
Belgium, Luxembourg and the Netherlands. The association would have to 
deal with political, economic as well as military matters and Britain should be 
its leader. All relevant post-war planning in the field of foreign policy started 
from this principle. 
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Spaak himself writes in his memoires: "if my diplomatic activity in 
1942 was particularly aimed at this idea of a European entente (see later), in 
1943, 1944 and 1945 my efforts were aimed at the organization of Western 
Europe, under the protection of Great Britain. ""̂^ This is undoubtedly true, 
but not at all exhaustive. It is possible to trace back Spaak's preference to an 
even earlier date than 1943. His biographer, Jacques Willequet, relates in 
'Paul-Henri Spaak' a meeting of Spaak with a close friend of the French Prime 
Minister Edouard Daladier in November 1939, two months after World War II 
had erupted. His interlocutor asked Spaak to sound Berlin about a possible 
peace on the westfront by giving Hitler a free hand in Eastern Europe. Spaak 
answered indignant and presented his vision of a lasting peace in Western 
Europe: 

"Western European security? I see it, in the future, in the organization of a joint 
defence system for the democratic, sea-bordering nations, that is, France, Great 
Britain, Belgium and the Netherlands.'"** 

Four years of post-war planning can be summarized shortly in eight basic 
tenets: 
1) Belgium was a small Western European country, situated at a strategically 
important position, with limited security interests and wider economic 
interests. 
2) Belgian colonial possessions in Africa (the most important one being 
Belgian Congo) were to remain under Belgian sovereignty for an indefinite 
period. 
3) the only country directly threatening Belgium was Germany, twice invader 
in 30 years. Therefore, any organization aimed at the security of Belgium had 
to be directed against Germany. 
4) the pre-war policy of independence had been tried and found wanting; a 
revival of such a policy was out of the question. 
5) the optimum solution to Belgian security needs was a regional association of 
Western European nations, i.e. Britain, France, the Netherlands and Belgium 
(Luxembourg, tied economically to Belgium in the BLEU, was taken for 
granted^^). 
6) any Western European association had to deal with economic and political 
matters as well; a purely military alliance had to be avoided. 
7) wider associations were both impractical and not in Belgium's essential 
interests. The smaller, limited association in Western Europe should have 
priority over any other project. 
8) cordial relations between the United States, Great Britain and the Soviet 
Union were essential. Not only for world peace, but also for the welfare of 

. Spaak, Combats Inacheves, T. 1, p. 157. 

^^. Willequet, Paul-Henri Spaak, p. 93. 

49 
In 1920 Belgium and Luxembourg created a customs union entitled Belgian-

Luxembourger Economic Union (BLEU). 



39 

Western Europe. Belgium might be ideally suited to act as a kind of honest 
broker. 
It would be a gross exaggeration to suppose that all eight tenets figured 
prominently and unequivocally in all post-war planning and diplomacy between 
1940 and 1944. It is, however, a fact that most tenets figured, one way or 
another, in all major plans and actions formulated and executed by the relevant 
politicians and diplomats. By tracing chronologically these plans and actions in 
some detail significant deviations will also come to the fore, but most of all the 
crucial status of the regional Western European association in Belgian thinking 
and the reluctance to accept the primacy of the projected world organization. 
Planning was conditioned by internal stimuli rather than by external pressures. 

Even before Spaak had arrived in London in the fall of 1940, Gutt had 
already embarked on a pro-British course. In discussions with Treasury 
officials, British interest in Belgian gold was voiced and on 11 October 1940 
Chancellor of the Exchequer Kingsley Wood made a formal request for the 
immediate sale of all Belgian gold reserves in Britain and the United States. 
Gutt replied, five days later, that the government was prepared to lend gold to 
the Bank of England and he sought a significant quid pro quo. In exchange, 
Gutt wrote, Belgium expected "to obtain in Great Britain, for Belgian and 
Belgian Congo products, the same treatment as her Dominions, and in the 
Dominions and Colonies, the same treatment as Great Britain." 

The British were not prepared yet to extend such farreaching 
commitments to a country which hardly was headed by a government and at a 
moment when its own existence was at stake in the Battle of Britain. The 
Belgians, however, did not give in. Gutt reiterated his request several times 
and he was seconded by Spaak after his arrival in London. On the last day of 
1940 Spaak met Eden for the first time to discuss the gold-issue. He repeated 
Belgian willingness to lend its gold and he added a significant observation 
regarding Belgian post-war foreign policy: "after this war Belgians would no 
longer be interested in neutrality. They would like the closest possible political 
association with ourselves (i.e. the British)." This observation was elaborated 
upon in the definite, positive, reply of the government to the British 
gold-request. On 17 January 1941 they presented a note which stated that 
Western Europe had to be organized in such a way that it could resist 
effectively German aggression and Belgium was prepared to accept the 
necessary obligations. Such an organization could, however, only be effective 
if it was extended to the economic field. In this respect, Gutt's request was 
brought to the fore again.^^ The British government accepted the loan of 
gold, instead of the sale, graciously, but was not prepared to give the Belgians 
the preferential treatment they asked for. In this respect they were only 
prepared to pour a cold douche on the Belgian plans. On the other hand, on 21 
January both governments also signed an agreement which made the Congo a 
member of the sterling bloc for the duration of the war.^^ The British 
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government carefully weighed its immediate needs against future commitments 
and was not ready yet to commit itself for the post-war period. 

Spaak's course, however, was clear and publicity not only confined to 
his British patrons. In a public speech on 20 February 1941 he spelled out his 
conviction that a return to the League of Nations was impossible. Groups of 
states with natural affinity and probable homogeneity had to be formed, for 
instance in Western, or Atlantic, Europe. "Strict obligations in military and in 
economic affairs have to be drawn up. The plan can only succeed if it is built 
upon economic agreements." A league of such groups of states at the global 
level might be the ultimate goal.^^ 

His thinking was, of course, in line with the official planning of 
CEPAG, which he was in a position, as chairman of the foreign policy section, 
to influence considerably. In its first report, CEPAG pictured an international 
order based on four layers: the national state, groups of states ("regional 
groups are the kind which will more often correspond to realities" and "seas 
often unite more than they divide"), inter-regional groupings and a universal 
organization. CEPAG's ideas were most pronounced in the economic sphere, 
for instance at the second layer customs unions had to be forged, and less clear 
in political respects. Significantly, military affairs were only mentioned in 
relation to the universal organization, although other layers might also be 
suitable to fulfil certain functions in this respect.^^ 

This were not just idle words. In the spring and summer of 1941 the 
first conversations with other European governments (in exile) were broached. 
On 7 February 1941 Spaak was informed by Sikorski about his ideas for a 
European federation which were to lead to intensive inter-allied discussions in 
1942 and 1943.̂ "̂  Spaak plunged himself enthusiastically in these discussions, 
which were quite controversial among the Belgians themselves. Opinions 
differed sharply as to the desirability of Belgium becoming a member of a 
continental federation. Some, like the counsellor at the embassy in 
Washington, Herve de Gruben, advocated such a European federation, 
consisting of groups of states. These groups would have to be "united either by 
language, like Germany and France, or by equally real though less obvious 
links." De Gruben advocated for instance the formation of a Danubian 
federation, a Slav group, a Scandinavian group and a group comprising the 
Low Countries.^^ Others, like the catholic parliamentarian Frans Van 
Cauwelaert spumed such ideas and Spaak's chief advisor Van Langenhove also 
voiced serious objections. Both men, at roughly the same time, elaborated in 
reaction to the talks about a European federation fundamental reservations 
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against a continental course in Belgian foreign policy. According to Van 
Cauwelaert, Belgium's independence and security could only be guaranteed in 
an international organization including both Britain and the United States. Its 
economic needs even reinforced this tendency. Echoing sentiments expressed 
by Lie, he claimed that the sea offered wider vistas than the land and "We are 
not simply a Belgian frontier province on a continent. We are, like Holland, a 
door that opens wide upon the ocean." Without expressing the same preference 
for Atlantic cooperation. Van Langenhove also stressed Belgium's maritime 
interests: 

"Belgium, like Holland and Norway, is situated on the border of the sea. Its 
interests are oriented towards the countries with which it is united by the sea as 
much as, if not more than, towards the continent." 

All involved in these discussions agreed, however, that in any case relations 
with the Netherlands had to be tightened. Five months after his first 
discussions with Sikorski, in July 1941, Spaak and his Dutch colleague Van 
Kleffens discussed for the first time the idea of a Belgo-Dutch customs union 
after Gutt and one of the leading Dutch industrialists, J. van den Broek, had 
exchanged some preliminary thoughts.^^ Practical steps were not taken yet; 
the precarious situation of Britain vis-a-vis the German advances in North 
Africa did not influence positively the planning for a still uncertain post-war 
situation. 

In November discussions with the Netherlands were resumed. This time 
Van Kleffens took the initiative and he also extended an invitation to their 
Norwegian colleague Lie. Gutt, representing Spaak, put forward in their first 
meeting on 27 November the right of Belgium to claim a part of the left bank 
of the Rhineland. A harsh peace had to be imposed on the Germans.̂ ^ 
Several meetings were held in the winter of 1941/42, but the conferees were 
not able to bridge all their differences regarding the post-war future of Europe. 
While Van Kleffens kept stressing the security issue and the need for an 
Atlantic approach, Spaak insisted on the equally important economic affairs 
and the primacy of a European orientation.^^ 

Matters came to a head when Van Kleffens put down his thoughts on 
paper in the end of May 1942 and forwarded his memorandum to Spaak. It 
took six months before Spaak was able to send his colleague the reaction of the 
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^^. Ibid., Meeting of Van Kleffens, Spaak, Gutt and Lie, 30/03/42; SIWD, Collection Van 
Kleffens, Report on conversation with Spaak, Gutt and Lie, 01/04/42; and Smets, La Pensee 
Europeenne et Atlantique, p. 11. 
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Belgian government to his ideas.^^ Without giving any clue as to the reason 
for the long delay, Spaak, without rejecting Van Kleffens's scheme outright, 
poured cold water over his plans. In his reply, conceived in the form of a 
number of questions to clarify his thoughts, Spaak again attacked the purely 
strategic premises of Van Kleffens. Political and economic developments 
influenced each other fundamentally, and concentrating all efforts on the 
political issues was, therefore, luniting oneself to a narrow objective. Political 
and economic issues should not be separated. A few months later he expressed 
the same sentiment in public. Discussing the post-war future Spaak advocated 
an all-encompassing solution to the whole problem: "When I say 'the whole 
problem' I mean political security and economic prosperity. Let us try not to 
dismember that problem, approaching one of the questions without the 
other. "̂ ^ As to Van Kleffens's specific plans with regard to international 
security, Spaak opposed his division between countries with limited and those 
with general interests. Expressing a sentiment that was to recur time and again, 
he stressed that those with limited interests (like Belgium) could be plunged 
into war by allies with general interests without having any possibility that 
their voices be heard. If neutrality was obsolete, nations had to accept binding 
commitments but only with concomitant rights. 

Spaak's answer - including the long delay - disappointed Van Kleffens. 
He voiced his disappointment in a conversation with Spaak's Chef de Cabinet 
and Spaak immediately reacted. He proposed Van Kleffens to discuss his 
memorandum and Spaak's reply in a private conversation. Van Kleffens 
accepted and on 4 March 1943 the two foreign secretaries convened to discuss 
their differences, but all to no avail. According to one official report "many 
common problems" were discussed; agreement on fundamentals proved, 
however, impossible. Van Kleffens apparently translated his disappointment 
over Spaak's views in a negative reaction to any bilateral agreements, which 
was clearly at variance with the conversations progressing between Gutt, Van 
den Broek and several financial experts over an economic and monetary 
union. ̂ ^ 

Two days before his meeting with Van Kleffens, Spaak met British 
ambassador Lawrence Oliphant. In this conversation he left no doubt as to his 
prime objectives. Lie (and consequently Van Kleffens) was 

"looking at post-war problems purely from the military point of view - an 
entirely wrong angle. He himself thought that for any post-war development the 
prime desideration was to lay a sound economic foundation, which might have a 
military storey added subsequendy." 

. NMFA, Legation London Secret Archives, Box 21, File O 7/3, Folder Memos Van 
Kleffens, Spaak to Van Kleffens, 30/11/42. Almost entirely printed in: Smets, La Pensee 
Europeenne et Atlantique, pp. 12-15. Van Kleffens's plan will be discussed in § 2.3.2. 

^ ^ Holborn, War and Peace Aims, 1943-1945, p. 970. 

. Kersten, 'Van Kleffens' plan', p. 164 and Smets, La Pensee Europeenne et Atlantique, 
p. 29. 
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Lie was also looking at the Atlantic question somewhat too parochially for the 
Atlantic coast extended to Spain and Portugal. In Spaak's opinion, the first step 
towards regional cooperation would have to be an economic agreement with 
Luxembourg and the Netherlands. Belgium needed of course a protector and 
this had to be Britain. The United States was not suited to perform that role. 
She would only look upon Belgium as a "mere speck" on the chart of Europe 
and "he had grave misgivings as to the wisdom of Belgium herself ever 
looking for help or support to the United States." (sic). In reaction to Smuts's 
speech of November 1943, Eden noted that Spaak "clearly liked" Smuts's 
conception "of a bloc in the West from Norway to the Iberian Peninsula" 
including Britain. ̂ ^ 

Foreign Office officials observed at the time that Spaak's negative 
stance towards the United States was probably motivated by US opposition to 
De Gaulle's Free French movement, but in reality he just presented his 
unvarying convictions. Britain first, as Van Langenhove would spell out to the 
British time and again. Explaining Belgian policy to them, Van Langenhove 
summarized Spaak's convictions as follows: 

"whilst American friendship would be very important, it could never be based on 
the same community of interests, political, cultural, historical and economic, as 
was Anglo-Belgian friendship. The United Kingdom and the British Empire 
would be as they always had been of the utmost importance to Belgium. And 
from the point of view of security it was obvious that Belgium must look 
primarily to the United Kingdom and must endeavour to base her policy on lines 
similar to those followed by this country." '̂* 

Taking for granted the close Belgian-British association, Belgian officials 
expected to be able to reestablish friendly contacts with the Soviet Union; "a 
bridge would in this way be built from London to Moscow. "̂ ^ 

As the plans of the Big Three with regard to post-war international 
security evolved in 1943/44 in the direction of a universal organization 
commanded by the Great Powers, the government hardened its position in 
favour of regional organizations. A Western European association led by the 
United Kingdom became the sheetanchor of its foreign policy, relegating any 
other scheme to a second-best solution at the most. The demise of Sikorski's 
pan-European schemes did not cause any regret in governmental circles and the 
recurring overtures from the French in particular to renounce the Britain-first 

"•'. PRO, FO 371/36867, N 1310/2/43, Oliphant to Eden, No. 22, 02/03/43; FO 371/38868, 
C 4394/44/4, Eden to Oliphant, No. 59, 23/03/44. Also Spaak in a speech in April 1942: "The 
United States seem to me too far away, Russia is different too much, in many ways, France is 
weakened too much and Germany hated too much." Britain had to be Belgium's guardian. Cf. 
Smets, La Pensee Europeenne et Atlantique, p. 19. 

^^. PRO, FO 371/38876, C 9447/526/4, Oliphant to Eden, No. 93, 18/07/44. 

^^. NA, RG 59, Main Decimal Files '40-'44, Box 4764, 855.00/871, Intelligence Report, 
12/10/43. 
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policy were turned down politely but steadfastly.°° Spaak, having been out of 
public life for a few months owing to acute appendicitis, met Eden on 23 
March 1944 for the first of a series of meetings devoted to post-war 
international cooperation. Spaak put down his thoughts on paper, presenting a 
far-seeing analysis of post-war events. 

Spaak signalled the rise in popularity among governments-in-exile of 
what he called "block thinking", which was inherently dangerous because it 
would end all hopes for a harsh policy against Germany. Both blocs would 
court Germany to tilt the European balance in their favour. This would lead, 
inevitably, to a clash between east and west which had to be avoided at any 
price. Trying to reconcile universalism and regionalism, Spaak advocated the 
integration of the Anglo- Soviet alliance, "essential element in the European 
authority", in the future world organization and the formation of a Western 
European association. Both elements were to be guiding principles for the 
months to come.̂ ^ 

Between March and June 1944, as Brouwer has pointed out, Belgian 
thinking on post-war international cooperation crystalized into a coherent 
whole.^^ In a number of memoranda Van Langenhove came to the 
conclusion that the creation of a Western European association including 
Britain, France and the Netherlands presented the optimum solution to Belgian 
political, economic and military needs. Because the British and the Dutch 
proved themselves reticent and the French too pushy. Van Langenhove opted 
for the short term for more restricted associations (both as to membership and 
scope) without losing sight of the overriding goal of a quadri- (or, including 
Luxembourg: quinti-) partite entente.^^ 

Meeting again on 13 July Eden pushed Spaak to proceed with his plans. 
Eden told him that the conference in Dumbarton Oaks would leave room for 
regional associations and he welcomed any suggestions the Belgians might 
have.^^ Spaak was delighted. Finally the British seemed to come round, and 
just in time. French pressure had begun to build up. Both the French National 
Committee and the French underground were rumoured to support Walloon 
separatists in order to incorporate Wallonia in France. Belgian officials, 
echoing sentiments expressed by Van Langenhove, communicated in 
conversations with Foreign Office officials the need for an alliance including 
Britain, the only neighbouring country not having unperialist designs and not 

°". Cf. for instance DEA, File l-Y(s), SecState Dominion Affairs to DEA, No. D128, 
20/01/44; and NMFA, Collection Van Kleffens, File III/A-Z, Gerth van Wijk to Van Kleffens, 
05/04/44. 
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endangering the country's internal unity.^^ Even more important, while Eden 
seemed to be prepared to conclude some kind of political Locarno-pact, De 
Gaulle rejected such an approach.^^ 

The sudden liberation of Belgium in the first week of September 1944 
and the return of the government on 8 September in Brussels temporarily 
pushed foreign policy to the background. Internal affairs proved more 
pressing. 

§ 2.2.3 Perseverance despite imminent defeat 
The first act of government and parliament after the liberation was to decide 
upon the position of Leopold, whose whereabouts were unknown. His brother, 
prince Charles, was appointed Prince Regent and Pierlot offered him 
immediately the resignation of his government. The 'Londoners' were not 
welcomed very heartily in Belgium and first of all politicians who had been in 
Belgium during the war were invited to form a new government. All failed 
however and therefore Pierlot was again appointed Prime Minister. Most of his 
former cabinet colleagues returned in the cabinet, but Pierlot also included two 
communist ministers and one representative of the Independence Front, the 
major resistance organization with distinct left-wing leanings. This was truly a 
national cabinet with strong elements of continuity. 

The situation faced by the cabinet was quite complex.^^ Only a part 
of the country had been liberated and allied troops dominated day to day life. 
The future of the monarchy hung in the balance. The Cabinet was faced with a 
large number of armed forces outside the national army, who were unwilling 
to lay down their arms. Economically Belgian needs were enormous, although 
the country had not suffered immensely. The loss of national capital was 
estimated at only 8% (compared to 33% in the Netherlands). The frontline, 
however, was only a few kilometers away and an early solution to, for 
instance, food and coal shortages therefore impossible. Black market operati­
ons flourished and the only positive contribution the government was able to 
make in the first weeks after the liberation was the introduction of monetary 
measures, prepared by Gutt in London, which prevented widespread 
inflation.^'* 

In the course of October, protests against the government grew 
stronger. A test of strength evolved between the cabinet, backed by Supreme 
Headquarters Allied Expeditionary Force (SHAEF), on the one side and the 

' . WNRC, RG 84, Brussels PF, Box 60, File BEL 715, Schoenfeld to SecState, No. 135, 
31/05/44; PRO, FO 371/ 38868, C 10455/44/4, FO Minute Roberts, 31/07/44; and Van 
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resistance movement and the communist party on the other. Focal point of the 
confrontation became the disarmament of the armed forces of the resistance. 
Matters came to a head in the third week of November. The government was 
unable to deal successfully with the food and energy supply; collaborators were 
not dealt with effectively and the Londoners lacked the necessary popular 
support. And to add to its problems, Pierlot finally issued a proclamation to 
disband the resistance forces. The two communist ministers and the 
representative of the Independence Front resigned immediately and the future 
of the whole government seemed at stake. The commander of SHAEF 
Belgium, the British General George Erskine, intervened. As a consequence 
the opposition forces backed down and governmental authority was reinforced. 
The communist ministers recalled their resignation.^^ 

In the meantime Spaak had had a new opportunity to press his thoughts 
upon Eden in the first of a series of meetings on 6 November 1944. Referring 
to the Dumbarton Oaks proposals and the possibilities these opened up for 
regional associations, Spaak again tried to obtain definite commitments from 
Eden. The Briton was forthcoming, without going into any detail and he finally 
suggested that the Belgians should put down their proposals on paper. Spaak 
commissioned Van Langenhove to execute this task and during their last 
meeting on 8 November Spaak was able to present to Permanent Under-
Secretary of State Alexander Cadogan a detailed plan. This plan should be 
considered, on the one hand, the result of four years of planning for the 
post-war world and, on the other hand, the blueprint for post-war foreign 
policy. ̂ ^ 

According to the paper, Anglo-Belgian cooperation had to be based on 
the Dumbarton Oaks proposals; had to take account of regional cooperation 
with the Netherlands, France and Luxembourg; had to be based on the 
war-time cooperation between the two countries; and should be pursued as of 
now. Noting that regional associations were dealt with in the Dumbarton Oaks 
proposals especially in relation to enforcement action ordered by the Security 
Council of the future United Nations Organization, the Belgians presented 
detailed proposals in the military field auning at the integration of Belgian and 
British forces, if not in name than at least in fact. True to their conviction that 
military affairs should not be dealt with in isolation, the paper also proposed 
cooperation in the political field (in the first place in relation to the occupation 
and post-war future of Germany) and in economics. Full employment had to be 
one of the goals of Anglo-Belgian economic cooperation. The note ended as 
follows: "Contacts had to be organized immediately in relation to a number of 
issues, following a programme agreed upon by the two governments; this 
contact should have a permanent character." 

This was too much for the British to swallow in one. When Spaak 
presented Cadogan Van Langenhove's memorandum, Cadogan asked some 

'^. NA, RG 59, Main Decimal Files '40-'44, Box 793, 855.00/10-2744, Reber to Dunn, 
No. 190, 27/10/44 and HSTL, Sawyer Papers, Box 55, Folder Nov 1944, Sawyer to SecState, 
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47 

general questions without committing himself in any way. Meeting with 
Churchill the same day, Spaak had one of the most disappointing days in his 
career, at least according to his memoirs.^^ Churchill was simply not 
interested in the Belgian Foreign Secretary and his ideas of Anglo-Belgian 
cooperation. Spaak had to leave London empty-handed. 

Empty-handed but not discouraged, and not prepared to drop his 
Britain-first policy. The road to Paris went via London and although Spaak and 
Van Langenhove visited Paris at the end of November to discuss their ideas 
with De Gaulle and French Foreign Minister Georges Bidault, they were not 
prepared to deal with the French before they had reached an agreement with 
Britain. Latent suspicion of France was fed by clumsy actions of French 
representatives in Brussels and Wallonia, and direct threats in conversations 
("The moment has come for you to choose between Britain and France" and if 
you choose the wrong side, we will work up the Walloon element to make 
trouble) between Belgian and French diplomats. France's efforts were not left 
unnoticed. American OSS-officials working in Brussels monitored these French 
manoeuvres in support of Walloon groups and anti-monarchists (a Belgian 
republic with a left-wing minority would lean towards France, at least that was 
the expectation.^^). 

Spaak's activities in the fall of 1944 attracted the attention of Moscow, 
and not in a positive way.̂ ^ The Soviet Union gave priority to the United 
Nations and regional associations had to wait for the creation of the UNO, 
according to Le Ghait, former Chef de Cabinet of Spaak and now ambassador 
in Moscow. He advised Spaak to keep the Soviets informed about his 
activities, which Spaak immediately did when he returned from his 
unsuccessful trip to London in November. He told the Soviet ambassador that 
his aim was to strengthen the projected world organization by creating regional 
associations directed at Germany within its framework. Belgian foreign policy 
was framed on collective security and he considered the 1942 Anglo-Soviet 
treaty of alliance "the cornerstone of world peace. "̂ ^ 

Notwithstanding these assurances, the Soviet press on numerous 
occasions accused Spaak of creating a western bloc, implying a bloc directed 
against the Soviet Union. To counter these accusations Spaak used his first 
speech to parliament dealing with foreign affairs, the first after four and a half 
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years, on 6 December 1944.**' After a broad tour d'horizon, in which he 
reviewed Belgium's war-time relations with Luxembourg, the Netherlands, 
France and Britain, Spaak discussed Belgium's future relations with the Soviet 
Union. These had entered a new era on 22 June 1941, the day Hitler invaded 
the Soviet Union. Spaak told the assembled parliamentarians that a durable 
peace could only be possible with the assistance of the Soviet Union and that 
the Soviet Union had to step into the role it was entitled to after its war-time 
sacrifices. 

In the same speech, Spaak also broached the future of Germany and the 
post-war world organization. As to Germany, Belgian views had not 
cristallized yet into a coherent whole. Economic and security considerations 
fought for primacy, with the latter temporarily (at least for the duration of the 
war) having the upperhand. On the one hand, Belgium had to be secure that a 
third invasion would not take place in the future, and on the other, the future 
of Belgian commerce and industry depended first and foremost on the German 
markets. Her economic interests required a sufficient level of economic activity 
in Germany to assure an adequate level of commercial and transit trade. 
Therefore, Belgian claims were two-sided. Spaak, in his speech, advocated a 
harsh peace, eliminating once and for all Germany's capacity to wage war. 
Belgium demanded the reconstitution of its pre-war frontiers, and if 
dismemberment would be the consequence of the war and if it was thought to 
contribute to European security, Belgium would accept such dismemberment. 
On the other hand, officials also stressed the need for a satisfactory level of 
economic activity in Germany after the war, in order to feed the population 
and to strengthen the Western European economies. Already in the summer of 
1943 public opinion in Belgium had been advocating "a very harsh peace on 
Germany in the political and military field - but very 'soft' and understanding 
at the economic plane. "̂ ^ 

As to the organization of world peace, Spaak exposed in his 
parliamentarian speech his celebrated idea of the three- storeyed peace. The 
top floor being collective security, embodied by the Dumbarton Oaks proposals 
and the future world organization; the first floor being the European alliance, 
based on the Anglo-Soviet treaty and Franco-Soviet treaty in the making; and 
the ground floor being regional associations. While paying lip-service to the 
idea of collective security (dubbed the 'official' Belgian foreign policy by 
Brouwer), Spaak's real preference was obvious: the ground floor was essential 

. Most important sections of the speech are printed in: Smets, La Pensee Europeenne et 
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to build the other floors (characterized the 'unofficial' but preferred foreign 
policy by Brouwer).^-' 

This preference was apparent to all who discussed the results of the 
Dumbarton Oaks conference with Spaak. Van Kleffens noted that Spaak, more 
than a month after the conference had closed, had not even bothered himself to 
read the results of the conference and he noticed that the Belgians seemed to 
be prepared to accept the results without any protests.^^ Repeated Dutch 
demarches led to the acceptance by Spaak of the need for consultations in 
order to change the Dumbarton Oaks proposals and a ready ear to Dutch 
misgivings about the veto-power. However, the Belgian way to make its 
influence felt on the world scene was not by trying to change the Dumbarton 
Oaks stipulations in favour of the smaller nations, but by the creation of 
regional associations. 

Spaak explained his tactics in a conversation with Sawyer, who asked 
him for the reasons of his diplomatic initiatives in November 1944, despite he 
rebuffs he had already encountered. Spaak answered: 

"A small country could not hope to have any influence in a world organization 
unless it had the backing of one of the major powers. It could have influence 
within a smaller regional association, and it could hope that by influencing the 
larger powers within such organization, it might have an indirect voice in the 
decisions of the world organization." 

And it was clear which larger power Spaak had in mind as porte-parole. 
Explicit sollicitations by Bidault to act as such, were instantly turned down by 
Spaak.^5 

Spaak also did not consider the United States suited for that role. 
Significantly, the United States were hardly referred to in his long tour 
d'horizon in parliament on 6 December. Relations with the United States were 
more or less taken for granted, without any urge to look for more intimate 
relations. As one press commentator was to conclude in the closing days of 
1944: "Belgium is Britain's Baby"; another part of the British Commonwealth 
in fact if not in name.^^ However, two reservations have to be added to these 
general observations regarding American-Belgian relations. 
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First, in one peculiar, and at the time ultra secret, way Belgium was 
very closely linked to the United States and this concerns the notorious 
uranium agreement of September 1944.̂ ^ By this agreement the government 
gave the United States and the United Kingdom a monopoly over the sale of all 
uranium ore from the Belgian Congo. Before this agreement had been 
negotiated, the director of the Manhattan Project, General Leslie Groves, had 
dealt directly with the director of the Congo mining company Union Miniere, 
Edgar Sengier. In order to ensure the monopoly for the post-war period, an 
agreement with the Belgian government was deemed essential. The government 
was quite willing to enter into such an agreement, without knowing at that 
moment the problems it would create in the future. The fact that they were 
approached by John Anderson, the British leader of the atomic bomb project, 
may have given them the impression that they were tying themselves first of 
all to Britain. 

Second, the lack of attention for the United States was not a universal 
feature of the Belgian community-in-exile. Two rather lonely, but vocal, 
voices, both from the catholic group, were heard in favour of closer relations 
not just with Britain, but also and especially with the United States. Van 
Zeeland and Van Cauwelaert were both looking to the United States as 
ultimate saviour of Belgium's future. Van Zeeland stressed especially the role 
of the United States in post-war economic relations, while Van Cauwelaert 
approached the US role more from a military point of view. Atlantic Union 
became for him the goal to be attained. In liberated Brussels these two 
catholics were soon to be joined by one of the leaders of the liberal party, 
Robert Gillon, who also advocated a coalition including the United States. 
These voices, although vocal, were however part of, at best, an undercurrent 
in Belgian thinking. Spaak's orientation towards Britain was supported from 
left to right across the political spectrum. One of the permanent features 
monitored during the occupation, from the very beginning until the bitter end, 
was the universal support among the Belgian population for a closer association 
with Britain. Anglophilia was article of faith no. 1. CEPAG also, in its final 
report dated August 1943, unequivocally supported the creation of a Western 
European regional association led by Britain.̂ ^ 

Therefore, the governmental crisis of February 1945 and the subsequent 
change of cabinet had no appreciable effect on foreign policy. The reasons for 
the crisis were purely of an internal nature. The Pierlot government had 
managed to survive the November stirrings, but there still was a lack of 
steadfast policy. Gutt's performance in the financial field was looked upon 
favourably, but otherwise the government was not able to point to successes. 
Left-wing criticism of the government grew and Pierlot, said to be 
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"characterised by a certain lack of vigorous initiative"'* ,̂ finally gave in 
when the socialist party withdrew its support for the government on 7 
February. The 'Londoners' had to give way to those politicians who had been 
in Belgium during the occupation, the only exception being Spaak. The 
socialist Achille Van Acker, minister of Labour under Pierlot and for a long 
time tipped as the new strong man, succeeded the catholic prime minister. 
Although the cabinet still represented the political spectrum from left to right, 
it was more left-wing than the Pierlot one. 

The essential difference between the Pierlot and Van Acker 
governments was the force with which the economic problems were tackled. 
Van Acker himself became, apart from being Prime Minister, Minister of Coal 
Supply to ensure the recovery of coal production. Miners were exempted from 
military service and German prisoners of war were used as forced labourers. 
Van Acker was rather successful. Coal production rose steadily and, 
consequently, economic activity stepped up. Finally the prediction of British 
ambassador Hughe Knatchbull Hugessen seemed to come true. He speculated 
in December 1944 that "Belgium has all the potentialities necessary for 
building up immense prosperity" and that she would be able to become "an 
island in the surrounding sea of distress and confusion. "̂ ^ 

Knatchbull had added one important caveat: "if this country settles 
down and there is no return to political agitation." Until 8 May 1945 this 
seemed to be attainable. However, on that date news broke loose that Leopold 
had been liberated in Austria by US troops and immediately public debate 
erupted as to his future. He was still considered unable, at least by a majority 
in government and parliament, to perform his duties. Belgium was plunged 
into a new act of the royal drama. It would take more than two months before 
a definite decision was taken as to the immediate future of the monarchy. In 
those months a truly Shakespearean (in the words of one observer^ ̂ ) drama 
was performed with ministers, dignitaries, high officials and charlatans flying 
to and fro Strobl in Austria. 

Until the middle of June a return of Leopold to Belgium seemed in the 
offing, but then Van Acker submitted his resignation because of internal 
difficulties in his cabinet as to the wisdom of Leopold's return. Socialists, 
communists and liberals sided against the catholics who supported Leopold 
steadfastly. Acrunonious debates started, in- and outside parliament, as to 
Leopold's behaviour in May 1940, his meeting with Hitler, his marriage and 
his other activities during the war. Van Acker's cabinet submitted its 
resignation on 16 June, resumed its functions on 15 July, only to split up two 
days later when the catholic ministers resigned collectively. The final decision 
was settled in parliament. The veteran catholic parliamentarian Henry Carton 

'^^. PRO, FO 371/48974, Z 1288/15/4, Knatchbull Hugessen to Eden, No. 18, 22/01/45. 

^^. PRO, FO 371/38870, C 17697/44/4, Knatchbull Hugessen to Harvey, No. 40/124/44, 
13/12/44. 

^ ^ NA, RG 59, Confidential Files '45-'49, Box C-609, 855.00/5-2245, Sawyer to SecState, 
No. 404, 22/05/45. 
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de Wiart tabled a bill in order to organize a plebiscite regarding the return of 
Leopold. The rump cabinet of socialists, communists and liberals counteracted 
by introducing a bill giving parliament the casting vote as to ending the 
Regency. Ten days of intensive and acrimonious parliamentary debate ended 
with the acceptance of the governmental bill and a vote of confidence for Van 
Acker's rump cabinet. For the time being Leopold was unable to return to his 
fatherland. The "unfortunate, inevitable, political V-3 liable to explode with 
devastating effect" had done just that.^^ 

One of the fields which was hardly affected by this act of the Royal 
Question was foreign policy. The only visible effect was Spaak's precipitated 
disappearance from the San Francisco conference. The moment the news of 
Leopold's liberation became public, Spaak returned to Belgium. For the rest, 
continuity reigned. Oriented towards Britain, detached towards France, 
forthcoming towards the Netherlands, indifferent towards the United States, 
conciliatory towards the Soviet Union and stem towards Germany, Spaak and 
his officials stuck to their preference of building a regional association in 
Western Europe under the guidance of Britain. Their faith in the United 
Nations was shaky, to say the least. 

A clear indication of the Belgian attitude towards the United Nations 
can be found in the official reaction to the Dumbarton Oaks proposals.^^ The 
Belgians stressed especially the paramount importance of the continued entente 
between the big powers. Contributing to that aim could be the most important 
result of the projected organization. Regular contacts with the Dutch regarding 
the Dumbarton Oaks proposals made itself felt in the opposition against the 
veto provisions and the expressed need for laying down the principles upon 
which the Security Council would decide. Van Langenhove, still in London, 
kept regular contact with Van Kleffens and was able to leave his imprint 
because Spaak was too much occupied with internal Belgian and party 
affairs.^'* Spaak only participated in the first two weeks of the conference. 
He returned disappointed because of the lack of unity among the Big Three. 
To the surprise of many observers, he sided several times with the Soviet 
delegation, for instance in relation to the representation of Argentina in San 
Francisco. Perhaps this was a vain attempt to show the Soviets that he was not 
Britain's baby and that the regional association he looked for was not directed 
at the Soviet Union. Le Ghait even proposed in March the conclusion of a 
defensive alliance with the Soviet Union in order to soften up relations with the 
Soviets.^^ 

^ .̂ HSTL, Sawyer Papers, Box 64, Folder Fortnightly Reports, No. 20, 26/06/45. 

93 
. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 19, Folder Dumbarton Oaks, 

Suggestions du gouvernment beige, 10/02/45. Also: Van Langenhove, La Securite de la Belgique, 
pp. 153-162. 

^^. NMFA, Collection Van Kleffens, Van Harinxma to Van Kleffens, 18/01/45; and HSTL, 
Sawyer Papers, Box 65, Folder San Francisco Conference, Reflections of a Belgian Delegate to 
San Francisco (OSS report), 11/04/45. 

^^. DEA, File 96-C(s), Wilgress to DEA, No. 130, 05/03/45. 
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After Spaak's departure, the socialist senator Henri Rolin became the 
principal Belgian delegate (not formally; Spaak's replacement as head of the 
delegation was the catholic representative De Schrijver). Afterwards Rolin was 
counted among the ten ablest delegates of the conference, sharing this honour 
with for instance the Australian Foreign Secretary Harold Evatt, British 
ambassador Lord Halifax and Smuts. Rolin protested vehemently against the 
lack of attention by the great powers for amendments tabled by the smaller 
ones and he supported all amendments to curb the veto power of the permanent 
members of the Security Council, without much result. Irritated by Belgian 
(and Australian) behaviour in this respect, the US delegation even advised 
them one moment to go home and not to ruin the United Nations for others. 
One tangible result was the addition of the O (for organization) to UN. As the 
Belgian delegate was to point out several times, the abbreviation of the French 
'Nations Unies' (NU) meant 'naked'. This was not found felicitous. Therefore 
the new organization was to be known as the United Nations Organization or, 
in French, Organisation des Nations Unies.^^ 

As De Schrijver put his signature on behalf of Belgium under the 
Charter, Spaak was still hoping to lure the British into a regional association. 
In view of London's reticent attitude, Belgium was put in an awkward 
position. French efforts to forge a Belgo-French union were stepped up in the 
winter of 1944-45 especially under the guidance of French ambassador 
Raymond Brugere. In order not to estrange the French, Spaak finally gave way 
in relation to the French wish for an economic consultative committee (for the 
harmonization of economic policy) on the condition that the Netherlands would 
become a member too. While appeasing the French in this way, the creation of 
the committee signified also a small step in the desired direction. Suggestions 
to enlarge the scope of the committee, however, were turned down politely by 
Van Langenhove as these would give the impression "that we were turning 
ourselves in a unilateral way towards France." The first discussions between 
the French, Belgians and Dutch took place in January 1945 and on 20 March 
1945 representatives of the three countries signed an agreement creating the 
tripartite Council on Economic Cooperation.^^ 

Dutch, and preferably also British, counterweight was thus used to 
counterbalance French obtrusiveness. This was felt most clearly in relation to 
French proposals for the future of Germany. Especially the French wish to 
occupy the left bank of the Rhine created suspicion in Brussels. From a 
security point of view such an occupation might be in the interest of Belgium, 
but from a political point of view it was hardly recommendable. France would 
encircle Belgium not only in the south but also in the east. Spaak preferred, 
instead, the creation of a bufferstate or the joint occupation of the Rhineland 

. Cf. HSTL, Darlington Papers, Box 4, Folder Daily Summary Reports, No. 9, 
11-12/05/45; No. 24, 30/05/45; Howard Papers, Box 9, Folder General, A Qualitative Analysis 
of Delegates to the United Nations Conference on International Organization, 20/06/45; and Sakon, 
Belgian-Allied Relations, p. 326. 

^^. BMFA, File 10957 bis Year 1945, Van Langenhove to Guillaume, 24/01/45; and 
Brouwer, 'Repondre a la Politique Europeenne Franfaise', pp. 67-69. 
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by the allied forces with a separate zone for Belgium and the Netherlands.̂ *̂  
Fear for French encroachments upon Belgian territorial integrity and 
commercial needs even led to the creation of the Belgian Committee of the 
Rhine, consisting mainly of right-wing politicians, businessmen and diplomats. 
Their only concern was to prevent French domination of the Rhine. Brugere's 
activities in support of Walloon separatists and his pressure on Spaak to choose 
for France, even led to diplomatic rumours that the government had asked 
Paris to recall its ambassador. Brugere kept his post for the time being, but the 
rumours were probably true.^^ 

As to Germany, a small but significant change took place in Belgian 
attitudes. Thusfar, although claiming a harsh peace, the government had not 
formulated explicit territorial claims and even in the end of February 1945 
Spaak stated that Belgium had no clauns except for a small stretch of land near 
Aix-la-Chapelle. In April the OSS-mission in Brussels already noted that 
"sticking pins into maps of Germany" had become a favourite passtime and on 
12 June, in a conversation with Sawyer, Spaak unfolded what he termed 
himself "Spaak's Imperialism", the Belgian claims for German territory. All in 
all he claimed a territory roughly the size of Luxembourg, inhabited by 
100.000 Germans, mostly woods but also containing two large hydro-electric 
stations. In a most striking way this 'imperialism' corresponded to similar 
Luxembourger imperialism. ̂ ^̂  For the time being, however, the 
government was not able to put forward these claims officially. 

The period from September 1944 onwards was a peculiar period from the 
Belgian point of view. The country itself had been liberated almost completely 
and government and parliament had resumed their regular tasks. However, it 
was not a regular period. War still raged over Europe and Asia, and Belgian 
concerns were not at all the same concerns as those of her allies. Claims for an 
increase in food supplies were justified, but a war was still being fought a few 
kilometres from her frontier. Sollicitations for a close association with Britain 
were quite understandable, but the British rejection even more. In a manner of 
speaking, the Royal Question was a godsend. It created an opportunity for 
political activity which otherwise would not have found a way of expression. 

The Belgian government greeted VE- and VJ-Day with a clear and 
coherent policy in mind. Economic, political and military facts forced the 
government to embark on the course of regional associations. Belgian products 
needed at least European-wide markets to ensure the future prosperity of the 

. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 4, Folder Visit Spaak to Paris, Van 
Harinxma to Van Kleffens, Pol. 1626/393, 27/02/45. 
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. HSTL, Sawyer Papers, Box 64, Folder Belgian government. The Belgian Committee of 
die Rhine (OSS report), 27/02/45. For Brugere: Box 55, Folder July 1945, Sawyer to State Dept, 
No. 930, 12/07/45. 

^^'^. Cf. HSTL, Sawyer Papers, Box 55, Folder Dispatches 1944-1945, Sawyer to 
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Eve of San Francisco, 01/04/45; Box 60, Folder Diary 1945, 12/06/45; and Box 55, Folder June 
1945, Sawyer to SecState, No. 793, 13/06/45. 
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country and to prevent the misery of the 1930s. Internal unity prohibited a 
foreign policy exclusively oriented towards either its northern or its southern 
neighbour. Security against a third German invasion necessitated a better 
instrument to enforce peace than the League of Nations. A regional association 
in Western Europe, consisting of Britain, France, Belgium, Luxembourg and 
the Netherlands, presented itself as the optimum solution to all Belgian 
problems. This ultimate goal might be realized by small but significant steps. 

The thesis might be advanced that the years 1936-1940 were more 
important in this respect than the exile period in London. The years 1936-1940 
witnessed the shortcomings of the system of collective security as embodied in 
the League of Nations; the need for policies supported by both the Flemish and 
Walloon communities and, in May 1940, the obsoleteness of neutrality in the 
face of aggression. Spaak's expression in November 1939 in favour of regional 
cooperation, although primarily seen at that moment in relation to Belgian 
security, was the first sign of a new foreign policy taking shape. Gutt's 
sollicitations in the summer of 1940 for Belgium becoming a member of the 
British Commonwealth should be seen in the same light. The exile-period 
merely reinforced a reorientation in foreign policy which essentially had 
already taken place; if not consciously, then at least under the surface. 

The Belgian government envisaged a world dominated by regional 
associations. Belgium's way of making its voice listened to and its interests 
looked after was becoming a member of the Western European regional 
association under British guidance. This association was ideally suited to act as 
trait d'union between the other centres of political, military and economic 
might, the United States and the Soviet Union. Thus a perfect balance would 
be created against resurgent German militarism. A universal organization, with 
all its defects, should not be pursued per se, but only as an ultimate objective. 
One should start with laying a firm foundation, regional associations, and only 
after these had been created wider organizations might come into the picture. 
Belgian hesitations regarding the United Nations perfectly show the chagrin felt 
by the government over the roof being built before a sound foundation had 
been laid. 

The role of Paul-Henri Spaak, supported by his chief advisor Fernand 
Van Langenhove, seems paramount. Under his responsibility Belgium freed 
itself of the interwar commitments, embarked first on the course of 'hands 
free' and subsequently developed a foreign policy suited to Belgian economic, 
political and security interests: Belgium had to become part of a regional 
association of Western European countries including all its immediate 
neighbours. Spaak's thinking was clearly supported by a majority of the 
Belgians, in London and in Belgium itself, although differences of course 
existed regarding the need to have also closer relations with either the Soviet 
Union or the United States. In the course of the war there was a clear shift in 
emphasis from the economic motives to embark on the course of regional 
associations to the military motives. As the discussions on the future United 
Nations Organization began to dominate the international scene, Spaak's 
post-war planning was clearly affected. He was not prepared, however, to 
stake all his hopes on the new world organization. 
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§ 2.3 Neither big nor small. 
§ 2.3.1 Exile in London 
Since the creation of the Kingdom of the Netherlands in 1815 the Dutch had 
not been involved in any kind of hostilities on their European territory. 
Aloofness from European power politics and strict neutrality seemed to have 
been vindicated by their fate in World War I: Dutch neutrality was recognized 
and observed by all warring parties. Departing from their traditional isolatio­
nism, the Netherlands became in 1920 a member of the League of Nations, but 
the government carefully refrained from entering into treaties with any power 
or group of powers against others. During the Washington Conference in 
1921-1922 it received unilateral, satisfactory assurances from the major powers 
regarding their colonial possessions. 

Dutch faith in the League of Nations was shaken severely by the 
League's inability to deal effectively in 1936 with the German reoccupation of 
the Rhineland and Italy's aggression against Abyssinia. The government 
reverted to its age-old policy of neutrality 'pure and simple'. The binding force 
of the League's resolutions regarding collective security was no longer 
accepted. As war seemed imminent in August 1939 the government made 
efforts, both through the Oslo group as with Belgium alone, to secure a 
peaceful settlement. However, these attempts were unsuccessful and, 
consequently, the government issued its declaration of neutrality after the 
German attack on Poland and the British and French declarations of war.̂ ^^ 

The government pursued a studiously correct neutral policy, hoping to 
repeat the miracle of World War I. The German invasion in the early hours of 
10 May 1940 therefore came as a shock to both government and people of the 
Netherlands. The ill-equipped army was no match for the well-trained German 
forces and within two days the Germans occupied large sections of Dutch 
territory. Faced by the imminent collapse Queen Wilhelmina and most of the 
members of her government left the country for Britain on Monday 13 May. 
Foreign Minister Eelco van Kleffens had already visited London and Paris to 
ask for British and French military assistance, but after the destruction of the 
town centre of Rotterdam by German bombers the army commander. General 
H.G. Winkelman, decided to lay down arms on 14 May. Within five days the 
Germans had achieved their first objective in the west.̂ ^^ 

After its arrival in London the government, a coalition of the four 
major political parties under the leadership of the 69 years-old D.J. de Geer, 
went through a months long phase of defeatism and discord. The government 
was profoundly shaken by the German attack and subsequent Dutch defeat. 
The policy of neutrality (practised with so much success in World War I) had 
utterly failed; the government was exiled to a country whose language some 

. For general surveys of Dutch foreign policy in the interwar period: Van der Klaauw, 
Politieke betrekkingen tussen Nederland en Belgie; Knapen, De lange weg naar Moskou; De 
Leeuw, Nederland in de wereldpolitiek; Van Roon, Kleine landen in crisistijd; Vandenbosch, 
Dutch Foreign Policy since 1815; and Wels, Aloofness & Neutrality. 

102 
. See for the military events of May 1940: De Jong, Het Koninkrijk der Nederlanden, 

Dl. 3; and Amersfoort & Kamphuis, Mei 1940. 
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members were unable to speak; and De Geer proved to be unable to give his 
colleagues the necessary leadership. He became an advocate of a separate 
peace agreement between Britain and the Netherlands on the one side and 
Germany on the other. Others, like Van Kleffens, also seriously doubted the 
ability of the British to withstand the expected German attack. The government 
and Queen therefore contemplated to flee to Canada. However, since the 
British did not show any sign of giving in, the Dutch (as their guests) felt 
obliged to stay. Van Kleffens tried to convince the British of the precarious-
ness of the situation, but as he told US ambassador Joseph Kennedy: "pride 
stops them from recognizing the truth and they see the whole picture in the 
wrong light. (...) England does not recognize what it is going to be up 
against. "̂ ^̂  

Unable yet to accept the ability and conviction of the British to continue 
the struggle, the government took great pains to show its independence. 
Despite the British declarations of war against Italy and Vichy-France, the 
government refused to declare war on the Italians and decided not to break off 
diplomatic relations with the Vichy government. ̂ ^̂  On the other hand the 
government also decided to take part in the allied war effort against Italy and 
consequently its Navy was allowed to attack Italian ships. The need to protect 
the financial interests of large Dutch companies (like Unilever, Philips and 
Shell) in Italy and the need to show the outside world that they did not blindly 
follow the British lead had to be weighed against the sensitivities and demands 
of their hosts. 

The period of defeatism and discord ended in the early fall of 1940. 
Queen Wilhelmina^^^ forced De Geer in the end of August 1940 to resign; 
ended discussions in the cabinet about a transfer of the government to the 
Netherlands East Indies (as an alternative to Canada); and asked the Minister 
of Justice, Pieter Sjoerds Gerbrandy, to head the new government. Gerbrandy 
accepted. The majority of the new government now recognized the 
undesirability and impracticability of a separate peace agreement with Germany 
and the need to throw in their lot with the British. Van Kleffens instructed all 
Dutch diplomatic posts in October that the restoration of Dutch independence 
was inextricably bound up with a final British victory. Suggestions in favour of 
a separate peace in the winter of 1941 by M.P.L. Steenberghe (Minister of 
Trade, Industry and Shipping) and Ch.J.I.M. Welter (Minister of Colonies) 
were this time firmly rejected by the other members of the government.^^^ 

^̂ .̂ Cf. NA, RG 59, Main Decimal Files '40-'45, Box 4774, 856.001 W 64/53 3/5, 
Kennedy to SecState, No. 1372, 25/05/40 and De Jong, Het Koninkrijk der Nederlanden, Dl. 9, 
pp. 51-55 and 64-65. 

. Ibid., pp. 46-50; and Manning, 'De Nederlandse regering in Londen', pp. 438-450. 

. For a comparison of Leopold's and Wilhelmina's role during the war (also paying 
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^^^. See: DBPN, C, Vol. I, pp. 521-523; SIWD, Van den Tempel Papers, Diarynotes, 
26/11/40 and 18/01/41; and De Jong, Het Koninkrijk der Nederlanden, Dl. 9, pp. 161-162. 
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The defeatist minority was eventually ousted from the cabinet in the 
course of 1941. The first victim was A.Q.H. Dijxhoorn, the Minister of War. 
He was forced to leave the cabinet (again under considerable pressure from 
Wilhelmina) in June 1941; Steenberghe and Welter suffered the same fate in 
November. They were replaced by P.A. Kerstens, H.J. van Mook and J. van 
den Broek. From then onwards the government remained relatively stable until 
the autumn of 1944. The demand by the Queen for the incorporation in the 
cabinet of new members from the liberated south of the Netherlands and a 
conflict between the Queen and the cabinet about the composition of the future 
parliament, led to the resignation of Gerbrandy's government. Eventually 
Gerbrandy returned as Prime Minister of a considerably changed government 
with Van Kleffens still as Foreign Minister. ̂ ^̂  This cabinet remained in 
power until 24 June 1945, when an entirely new cabinet was formed after the 
end of hostilities in Western Europe. 

Unlike its Belgian counterpart, the Dutch government did not have to 
deal with any rival faction; did not have to face the wrath of unsatisfied 
parliamentarians; and was able to preserve the unity of the Crown. To many, 
in London and in the occupied territory, Wilhelmina became the real 
personification of the Dutch determination to fight until the bitter end. Despite 
the image of outward unity, however, the Dutch community in London was 
considered by many a hornets' nest, fiill of gossip, rumours and accusations. 

Like the Belgian government the Dutch considered themselves to belong 
to the 'haves' among the exiled governments in London, as opposed to the 
'have nots' like Poland and Yugoslavia. This posture was based on the 
contribution the Dutch Navy and the merchant fleet (that had both in time been 
brought into safety) could make to the allied war effort; on the tunely transfer 
of almost the complete Dutch goldstocks (so badly needed by the British) to 
the Bank of England; and especially on the continued (and undisputed) 
sovereignty over the Netherlands East and West Indies. Many raw materials in 
these colonies, like oil and rubber from the East Indies and bauxite from 
Surinam, were essential contributions to the growing needs of the allied war 
industry. 

The colonies were the main asset of the government, but also its main 
worry. Shortly after their arrival in London the British presented them with a 
fait accompli by occupying several islands in the West Indies without asking 
permission. This unilateral British action fostered existing fears that the British 
might eventually be prepared to accept a compromise peace with Germany 
annexing the motherland and Britain acquiring her colonies. The demise of the 
defeatist attitudes in the fall of 1940 ended these fears, only to give way to a 
much more acute problem: the defence of Dutch sovereignty over its colonies 
in the East in the face of Japanese expansionism. 

"'. Cf. ibid., pp. 908-1016 and Van Esterik & Van Tijn, Jaap Burger, pp. 52-88. 
Wilhelmina wanted to get rid of Gerbrandy and put heavy pressure on Van Kleffens to take up his 
post. Van Kleffens however refused several times. See: Private collection Wiebes/Zeeman, letter 
Van Kleffens to De Jong, 25/01/70. 
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In South East Asia the government-in-exile was confronted by an 
almost insoluble dilemma. On the one hand they were eager to show their 
independence to the outside world, despite the German occupation of the 
motherland. They were therefore disinclined to follow openly and blindly the 
British in all matters, the more so since the latter clearly lacked the military 
power to defend their own Empire and uphold Dutch sovereignty in the East 
Indies as well. On the other hand, given US unwillingness in 1940/41 to 
confront Japanese expansionism squarely the Dutch had to face Japanese 
demands singlehandedly. They had no other choice but to try to appease the 
Japanese by way of economic concessions. 

The government's conviction that "the Japanese Government's aims in 
the Netherlands East Indies were restricted to economic objectives and that 
Japan had no present territorial designs on those islands "̂ ^̂  slowly gave 
way in the fall of 1940, partly as a consequence of the signature of the 
Tripartite Pact by Germany, Italy and Japan in September 1940. The 
government overcame its reluctance to gang up with the British and in 
November the first secret staff talks were held in Singapore between British 
and Netherlands East Indies military representatives. Three months later they 
were joined by representatives from Australia and New Zealand, and the US 
government sent observers. All countries involved recognized the need for 
military cooperation, but there was no political willingness to guarantee 
eachother's territory in the event of a Japanese attack. 

As the British were likely to be the first victim of such an attack the 
government accepted the priority of the defence of Singapore, but they were 
able to draw British attention to their possessions east of Singapore.^^^ 
Nevertheless a common allied approach vis-a-vis Japan on the political, 
military and economic level was never established; no other country was 
willing and/or able to provide fuUscale military support to the others. The staff 
conversations reinforced the erroneous Dutch belief that they were treated as 
an equal partner by their prospective allies, despite the cavalier treatment of 
the government by the Americans regarding the economic embargo of Japan in 
July 1941 and the subsequent American-Japanese conversations. ^̂ ^ 
Developments after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor on 7 December 1941 
would show that in reality the Dutch were very much in a dependent, 
subordinate position. 

After the Japanese attack the government declared war on Japan. A 
week later the first Japanese troops landed in the East Indies and three months 
later, after the disastrous battle of the Java Zee, the Dutch forces in the East 
Indies surrendered. During the three months of fighting the government had 
been able to secure representation in the London-based Pacific War Council. 

^"°. WNRC, RG 84, The Hague PF 1936-1949, Box 1, NET-123-Schoenfeld, Schoenfeld 
to SecState, No. 1, 15/08/40. 

^^^. Teitler, 'Anglo-Dutch Relations, 1936-1988', p. 73. 

. Kersten, 'Nederland in de Internationale politick', pp. 20-22; and Manning, 'De 
buitenlandse politick van de Nederlandse regering', pp. 55-64. 
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Considered by the Dutch as a recognition of their privileged position among 
the governments-in-exile in London^ ̂ ^ in reality their participation proved 
to be another sobering experience in allied diplomacy. The Dutch representa­
tives were never able to influence the military strategy as mapped out by the 
British and especially the Americans. As opposed to October 1940, the 
Netherlands government had become not just dependent upon a British victory 
over Germany in Europe, but equally on US victory over Japan in the Pacific. 

§ 2.3.2 Atlanticism avant-la-lettre 
Post-war planning only slowly dawned upon the government. Given the fact 
that an important part of the kingdom was still in its possession (but under a 
great threat) and the lack of an adequate staff in London, all available human 
resources were used in the defence of Dutch interests abroad. The loss of the 
East Indies in March 1942 must be considered a major watershed in this 
respect. It reduced the Netherlands definitely to the same rank as the other 
governments-in-exile and forced the government to reassess its international 
position. To coordinate the feeble and uncoordinated attempts at post-war 
planning that had been undertaken thusfar, in the spring of 1942 the Bureau 
Na-oorlogse Vraagstukken (BNOV, Post-War Planning Department) was 
created within the ministry of Foreign Affairs under the direction of J.W. de 
Beus. Slowly establishing itself as the primary agency dealing with post-war 
planning, the BNOV began to produce the vital background studies for Van 
Kleffens. Simultaneously Dutch government officials in New York organized 
themselves as the Dutch Studygroup for Post-War Problems. They also 
contributed to the work done in London. 

This is not to say that there was no attention in the Dutch community in 
London for the problems of post-war security before the creation of BNOV. 
From April 1941 onwards ministers, civil servants and businessmen addressed 
the issue on an informal basis. In the summer of 1941 the Studygroup for 
Reconstruction Problems was created under the chairmanship of Unilever-
president Paul Rijkens. This unofficial studygroup became very active in post­
war planning; in 1944 it even consisted of 25 committees and had a staff of 
over 200 experts (all on a voluntary basis). Attempts to coordinate the work of 
the studygroup with that done by governmental agencies were never successful, 
but given the fact that a number of ministers and a great number of civil 
servants participated in the studygroup-committees the government was able to 
reap the fruits of the activities of the so-called Rijkens Group.^^^ 

As with CEPAG, the Rijkens Group and other informal study groups on 
post-war problems did not have a direct impact on the planning taking place in 
the ministries. The work done by these groups provided however some sense 
of the direction in which policies had to go and a check on any wild 

. For PWC: Kersten, Buitenlandse Zaken in ballingschap, pp. 353-379. Especially Van 
Kleffens considered Dutch participation in the PWC proof of Dutch influence. See: Private 
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suggestion. As a consequence, as in the Belgian case, the foreign minister 
himself was very much able to give direction to the planning process and Van 
Kleffens, the diplomat who was parachuted into Dutch politics on the very eve 
of the outbreak of World War II, was as capable and as willing as Spaak to 
provide that lead. 

Eelco Nicolaas van Kleffens was bom in Heerenveen (in the northern 
province of Friesland) on 17 November 1894. His father was a public 
prosecutor serving in Heerenveen, Dokkum, Groningen and The Hague; his 
mother died when he was still young. Despite a feeble health Van Kleffens 
excelled in high school and at Ley den University. In 1919 he received his 
Ph.D. in law with a thesis on the legal history of the Dutch-Japanese relations 
since 1605.̂ ^^ 

In 1917 Van Kleffens passed the exams for the Dutch consular service, 
but after a short trainingperiod at the consulate general in London he chose a 
job in the legal section of the newly-created League of Nations. Within two 
years he returned to London as a member of the secretariat of the Royal 
Dutch/Shell group, serving the famous Sir Henry Deterding and a future prime 
minister of the Netherlands, Hendrik Colijn. He had not found his niche yet, 
because again two years later (in 1922) he accepted a new job in the 
Netherlands as Deputy Chief of the Legal Section of the ministry of Foreign 
Affairs. This time the choice was for good. In the next 37 years he was to 
serve his country in a number of high offices. 

After five years in the Legal Section, Van Kleffens became Deputy 
Chief of the Diplomatic Section in 1927, moving up to head the section two 
years later. In the next decade he became one of the most influential officials 
in the field of foreign affairs, directing for instance the thorough reexamination 
of the relationship between Belgium and the Netherlands. In the summer of 
1939 Van Kleffens's professional career was crowned by his appointment as 
the Dutch envoy to Switzerland and representative to the League of Nations. 
Before he had been able to leave the country, the Netherlands plunged into a 
governmental crisis as a consequence of which Van Kleffens, a non-party man 
with strong conservative leanings, was asked to accept the ministership of 
foreign affairs. He did so on 9 August 1939. 

Van Kleffens, "absurdly young looking, thin and with very narrow 
shoulders"^^^ and having "a large, round, domed head, sparsely covered 
with hair - he imparts the impression of being largely composed of brain", 
soon became, like Spaak, one of the two central elements in the government, 
the other one being Gerbrandy. ̂ ^̂  His position was never questioned by 
other cabinet members, the Dutch community in London or Queen 

. Primarily based on: Boon, 'Eelco Nicolaas van Kleffens', pp. 210-215; Kersten, 
'Kleffens, Eelco Nicolaas van', pp. 330-333; and 'Eelco (Nicolaas) van Kleffens', pp. 355-357. 

^^^. Reid, On Duty, p. 30. 

. Apart from Gerbrandy and Van Kleffens, American officials considered only Van Mook 
as "of more-than-ordinary ability". Cf. NA, Committee on Post-War Problems Records, Box 
88D, T-doc. 261, Postwar Political Problems of the Netherlands, 02/03/43. 



62 

Wilhelmina. On the contrary, in their opinion Van Kleffens was one of the few 
who really stood up against the critical predicament the government was facing 
and on more than one occasion he was asked to assume the premiership. Van 
Kleffens, however, proved unfailing in his loyalty towards Gerbrandy. 

As Minister of Foreign Affairs Van Kleffens proved himself the 
quintessential diplomat. Thanks to his previous appointments he spoke English 
and French fluently, thus greatly easing negotiations with the Dutch allies. An 
expert in international law, he was prone to emphasize the legal side of a 
dispute at the expense of the political issues involved. In the course of his 
ministership he was, however, able to develop a certain creativity in finding 
compromise solutions. He knew how to hold on to his staff, involving them 
fully in the process of policy planning and formulation, without ever losing the 
direction of Dutch foreign policy. In his contacts with outsiders he was 
considered somewhat arrogant and aloof, no doubt at least partly instigated by 
his physical appearance. 

Under the direction of Van Kleffens the government charted during the 
war the outlines of a new foreign policy, that is to say: a policy different from 
the one practiced in the previous 100 years, based on the Dutch experiences in 
the last years before the outbreak of World War II and the inter-allied 
discussions in London and Washington. The break with neutrality seems to be 
the most obvious, and at the same time the most elusive, consequence of the 
changes directed by Van Kleffens. A closer look at post-war planning, its 
central features, the role assigned to the great powers, and the self-image and 
role assigned to the Netherlands, will show both characteristics. 

The severity of the shock caused by the German invasion in May 1940 
can hardly be overestimated. Having lost its faith in the viability of the League 
of Nations after Hitler's repudiation of the Locarno Pact in March 1936, the 
then Dutch government had returned to its age-old aloofness pure et simple. As 
a member of the so-called Oslo States (Norway, Sweden, Finland, Denmark, 
Belgium, Luxembourg and the Netherlands) they declared themselves neutral 
in the emerging conflict in Europe. Shortly before the outbreak of the war 
Wilhelmina (in concert with Leopold of the Belgians) even tried to mediate and 
from September 1939 until May 1940 hopes remained high, despite the 
numerous alerts of the coming onslaught, that the Netherlands would remain 
outside the war just as it had done a quarter of a century before. When the 
Germans attacked, all these hopes were dashed at once. 

The ineffectiveness of both neutrality and a universal organization for 
collective security were two experiences not easily to be dismissed in the 
planning for the post-war world. Security against Germany therefore had to be 
organized in a different way, balancing Dutch security needs against its 
historical unwillingness to assume commensurate commitments. However, as 
Japanese aggression against the East Indies had made abundantly clear, the 
defence of the kingdom of the Netherlands could not be restricted to its 
territory in Europe. Given the assumption of the government that Dutch 
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sovereignty over the East Indies would be restored unrestricted^ ^ ,̂ a means 
had to be found that would guarantee not just the security of the kingdom in 
Europe but also that of its colonies in Asia (and the Caribbean). 

Inspired by the ideas expressed by Lie about an Atlantic defence 
system, the trend towards closer international cooperation, and the formal and 
informal discussions with his exiled colleagues in London, Van Kleffens 
developed his own schemes for international control of Germany and the 
creation of regional security arrangements in order to safeguard world peace. 
The latter, more important, scheme assumed the unique position of the 
Netherlands as one of the so-called middle powers and must be considered an 
original contribution to post-war planning. In the course of 1941/42 Van 
Kleffens's thoughts gradually evolved towards this scheme, leading to a 
fundamental elaboration in May 1942. Before and after other strategies were 
contemplated, discussed and frequently dismissed, but as in the Belgian case 
Dutch preferences were clear and unambiguous. 

Five years of post-war planning can be summarized shortly in eight 
basic tenets: 
1) the Netherlands was a strategically situated country in North West Europe 
and, given its colonial possessions in South East Asia and the Caribbean, 
having the status of a middle power with global security and economic 
interests. 
2) the restoration of Dutch sovereignty over the East Indies for an indefinite 
period was sunply assumed; 
3) the only country directly threatening the Netherlands in Europe was 
Germany, but Dutch national integrity was not confined to its territory in 
Europe. 
4) the policy of aloofness and neutrality, under the protection of the Pax 
Britannica, was dead and should not be revived. 
5) the optimum solution to Dutch security needs would be to entangle the 
United States in regional security arrangements clustered round the world's 
oceans. 
6) the Netherlands should be member not just of the Atlantic security 
arrangement, but also of those affecting its colonial possessions. 
7) the security issue was the primary issue in the post-war world to be dealt 
with and other, economic and political, issues could be handled separately. 
8) in order to safeguard peace in the post-war world, the Soviet Union should 
be welcomed as an equal and full member of the world community. 

Again, it would be a gross exaggeration to suppose that all eight tenets 
figured prominently and unequivocally in all post-war planning and diplomacy 
between 1940 and 1945. The planning process was gradual and sometunes 
even contradictory, but in the mainstream planning in London most of these 
tenets are clearly distinguishable. 

. An assumption universally shared by the Dutch, in Holland or in exile, civilian and 
military. The Dutch Royal Navy, for instance, also started from this premise. Cf. Bosscher, De 
Koninklijke Marine, dl. 3, pp. 277-285. 
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The element of uniqueness, i.e. the conviction that the Netherlands was 
not just one of the lesser allies but a very (or even: the most) important ally of 
Britain, is especially noticeable in the first year of the war. The role of the 
merchant fleet, the Navy and especially the colonies have already been 
mentioned and in Dutch opinion their special status was crowned by the 
privileged, fortnightly meetings granted to Van Kleffens by his British 
colleague Lord Halifax. Although these meetings hardly produced additional 
information for Van Kleffens and certainly no appreciable Dutch influence on 
British foreign policy, they reinforced the government's (and especially Van 
Kleffens's) conviction that the Dutch were the first among the exiled equals. 
As the Daily Telegraph observed in April 1941: "It is safe to go tiger-shooting 
with them".̂ ^^ 

The Belgian envoy to the Netherlands, Leon Nemry, concluded in the 
first months of 1941 that in spite of the German aggression the old policy of 
aloofness was not yet dead. The Dutch intended to keep all their options open, 
to avoid entangling arrangements in a still uncertain world, and certainly not to 
become involved in the British Commonwealth in the way the Belgians were 
trying.^^^ However, others already noticed some important shifts in Dutch 
thinking. During one of their regular meetings Van Kleffens handed Halifax's 
successor Eden in March 1941 a memorandum outlining some preliminary 
Dutch ideas regarding a defeated Germany (keeping her military potential 
under control, but no heavy economic demands), but also containing the 
observation that US security in the post-war world would ultimately depend on 
the security of Western Europe. In a conversation with Under-Secretary of 
State Sumner Welles Van Kleffens reiterated the importance of a US commit­
ment to Europe.̂ ^^ 

In the course of 1941 the indications of a new trend grew stronger. The 
future head of BNOV, De Beus, advocated in August 1941 the creation of a 
new world organization, including in any case the United States, coupled with 
the formation of politico-economic regional groups of states with natural 
affinity. As war in the Pacific loomed larger on the horizon, the importance 
attached to US involvement in post-war security became more outspoken. 
Although Gerbrandy certainly did not hope that US influence would become 
dominant in that region, the Dutch envoy in Washington, Alex Loudon, 
advised Van Kleffens in August to play the American 'ace' instead of the 
British 'king'. His suggestion did not fall upon deaf ears. Van Kleffens agreed, 
adding in his response to Loudon that he did not seek US assistance just for 

. Van Kleffens, Belevenissen, II, p. 28. 

^^^. BMFA, File 11582, Pays Bas 1941, Nemry to Spaak, No. 2-8/8, 08/01/41; and Nemry 
to Spaak, No. 2-183/157, 27/03/41. 

^^^. PRO, FO 238/289, Memo Eden to Bland, 10/02/41; and NMFA, Collection Van 
Bylandt, Box 1, No. 4, Van Bylandt to Van Boetzelaer, 18/02/41 and Embassy Washington 
Archives, Box 4, Folder A-7/41.3, Van Kleffens to Gerbrandy, 20/03/41. 
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the present tense situation in the Pacific, but also for the post-war future of the 
East Indies and the post-war security of Europe.'^^ 

Van Kleffens's response to Loudon is also interesting for some other 
observations. British reluctance to commit themselves to anything had been 
successful, because he complained for instance about the fact that the British 
only had very vague ideas about post-war security. He expressed the hope that 
the US and Dutch governments could work together in order to get some 
motion in "the small minds at the Foreign Office". Van Kleffens also rejected 
the British adherence to trade barriers, contingents and foreign exchange 
regulations, advocating instead the abolition of trade barriers and the virtues of 
free trade and an open world economy. Given its position as the chief trader of 
Western Europe and the profusion of raw materials in the East and West 
Indies, this comes hardly as a surprise. In his letter to Loudon, Van Kleffens 
also mentioned the still informal discussions with the Belgians and Norwegians 
in which the economic organization of the countries on the Atlantic seaboard 
had been discussed. 

Van Kleffens's frequent emphasis on the importance of US participation 
and his quest for Atlantic-oriented solutions to Dutch security and economic 
needs were mirrored in his rejection of continental-European ventures. 
Although others, like Kerstens, showed themselves enthusiastic supporters of 
the Europeanism propagated by Sikorski, Van Kleffens (and the government as 
a whole) never declared themselves in favour of strictly European solutions to 
the post-war problems. Van Kleffens joined the British and the Norwegians in 
their opposition against Sikorski's plan for a joint declaration on the post-war 
international order in Europe and, when he started to discuss post-war issues in 
earnest with Spaak and Lie, he opposed squarely the inclusion of Poles, 
Czechs or any other Eastern Europeans in the discussions. The Dutch view 
was clearly turned towards the Atlantic. 

From November 1941 onwards. Van Kleffens met regularly with Lie 
and Spaak to discuss post-war issues and in the course of these discussions his 
ideas came to full fruition. Before he put his thoughts on paper the question 
was discussed, and sanctioned, in cabinet^^^ and Van Kleffens used the 
opportunity of a visit to the United States to present his ideas before an 
American audience. In February 1942 he addressed a session of the Council on 
Foreign Relations in New York, presenting the following picture of post-war 
international relations: 

"Reliance, preferably, on a series of broad regional associations, each composed 
of interested United Nations. (...) Supplemented, if necessary, by some sort of 
worldwide body; each major association to control a joint military force and, 
perhaps, key strategic areas; member states to limit their sovereignty to extent 
necessary for successful ftmctioning of associations. Colonies and mandates 
which have been misused to be placed at the disposal of the United Nations; 

. NMD, Archives Netherlands Military Mission U.K., File AA:1, Speech by J.G. de 
Beus, 11/08/41; and NMFA, Collection Van Kleffens, Files III/A-Z, Loudon to Van Kleffens, 
10/09/41 and Van Kleffens to Loudon, 05/11/41. 

. See: DBPN, C, Vol. IV, pp. 508-510. 
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other colonies to be retained by former owners. Regional arrangements: the 
Netherlands not to participate in a Franco-Belgian-Dutch bloc, or alliance, or in 
any other narrow combination. "̂ ^̂  

Questioned by his hosts. Van Kleffens elaborated that in his opinion only 
countries which were directly interested in particular areas should participate in 
decisions affecting that area, since "Only countries directly concerned are in a 
position to act intelligently." When asked as to whether the limited associations 
he envisioned would be equivalent to alliances, he stressed they would not. 
The Netherlands was not interested to become involved in combinations of 
states directed against other combinations. Reiterating previous convictions 
Van Kleffens stated in no uncertain terms (a few weeks before the final 
Japanese victory in the East Indies) that the colonies "will remain a part of the 
Dutch Empire". 

The government was, however, sensitive to the prevalent mood of anti-
colonialism in the US government and it therefore used every opportunity to 
show off the beneficiality of continued Dutch sovereignty over the East and 
West Indies. When Wilhelmina and Van Kleffens visited the United States in 
the summer of 1942, during all their conversations with Roosevelt, his 
ministers and officials, they impressed the Americans with their conviction and 
determination to restore the kingdom of the Netherlands after the war not just 
in Europe but also in the Pacific. In a widely publicized speech in December 
1942, specifically orchestrated to appease US anti-colonialism, Wilhelmina 
promised an imperial conference after the war in order to confer on the 
changed circumstances and the possibilities for a restructuring of the relations 
between motherland and dependencies. She failed to promise self-determination 
to the overseas territories, but the speech served its goal very well: reception 
in the United States was overwhelmingly positive.̂ ^-^ 

During Whitweekend 1942 Van Kleffens put the finishing touches to a 
draft memorandum outlining his cristallized views. He noted the impossibility 
to dissociate planning in the international political field entirely from that in 
the field of international economics, but they could be dealt with separately. 
He therefore intended to present an answer to the question "how political order 
can best be assured after the war. "̂ '̂* Van Kleffens started from three 
premises. First, the inability of a universal organization like the League of 
Nations to deal effectively with the issue of war and peace. In the future such 
an organization might perhaps again be useful as a clearing station for minor 

'^^. See: WNRC, RG 165 Army Intelligence, G 2, Box 2906, Folder 3600, Memo 
Netherlands Peace Aims by H. Fish Armstrong, 16/02/42. In May Van Kleffens also consulted 
Eden. 
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political problems, but "no universal or quasi-universal organization can be the 
cornerstone of international order and its preservation." Secondly, the 
distinction between powers "of an aggressive temper" and those "who have no 
aggressive tendencies". Van Kleffens named only Germany and Japan 
explicitly as belonging to the first category. Thirdly, the distinction between 
greater powers (those with global interests) and smaller ones (those with 
limited interests). Furthermore, he assumed the participation of the United 
States in any future system given its permanent interest in the preservation of 
post-war peace and stability. 

On this basis. Van Kleffens advocated a solution in the direction of 
regional arrangements between powers of good will bordering the oceans of 
the world. Sea-power would be the binding element in arrangements for the 
North Atlantic, South Atlantic, Pacific, Indian, Baltic and Mediterranean 
regions. Ideally, the United States and the United Kingdom would become 
partners in all arrangements, whereas the smaller powers would only take a 
share in the sphere where their interests were at stake. As far as the latter were 
concerned. Van Kleffens listed for the North Atlantic: Belgium, the 
Netherlands, Norway, France, Spain and Portugal; for the South Atlantic: 
South American countries bordering that ocean (including the Caribbean), 
South Africa, Belgium, the Netherlands and Portugal; for the Pacific: 
Australia, China, the Netherlands and the Soviet Union ("if she desires it"); 
for the Indian Ocean: Australia, South Africa, India and the Netherlands; for 
the Baltic: Denmark, Poland, Sweden and the Soviet Union; and for the 
Mediterranean: at least Turkey. All participants in such a regional arrange­
ments should give free access, on a basis of reciprocity, to the naval forces of 
their partners. 

Acknowledging a shortcoming in his scheme as far as the peacekeeping 
in Eastern Europe and in the Balkans was concerned. Van Kleffens suggested 
complementary arrangements in those regions based on land-power. He saw no 
need for elaborate treaties, advocating instead simple working arrangements. 
Thus an effective safeguard of peace would be provided for the difficult period 
in which the aggressive powers, notably Germany and Japan, would have to 
adjust to the fact that aggression just did not pay. 

Van Kleffens's scheme, a global application of Lie's earlier ideas, was 
ideally suited to ensure the post-war protection of Dutch national interests. 
Because of its colonial possessions the Netherlands would become a member of 
four of the projected regional security arrangements (in the North Atlantic, the 
South Atlantic, the Pacific and Indian Ocean) alongside the United States and 
the United Kingdom, securing the continued existence of the kingdom.^^^ 
The need to preserve the colonial links necessitated an orientation on the 
Anglo-Saxon (or Atlantic) powers, as opposed to an orientation towards the 
European continent. Apart from Van Kleffens's personal belief that there was 

. In 1981 Kersten only mentioned Dutch membership of three regional security 
arrangements, probably disregarding the South Adantic Organization. Cf. Kersten, 'Van Kleffens' 
plan', p. 161. In a later contribution he amended his position. See: Kersten, 'Nederlandse rol 
bescheiden maar zeker niet ondergeschikt', pp. 2 and 4-5. 
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no common foundation to build a European federation^^ ,̂ Dutch security 
needs precluded such a limited approach. Besides, despite the premise of 
greater and smaller powers, by backdoor methods Van Kleffens reintroduced 
with his regional arrangements scheme the cherished notion of the 'middle 
power'. Because of her participation in more than one regional arrangement, 
the Netherlands would be able to avert the disgrace of being relegated to 'the 
rank of Denmark'. 

Van Kleffens's contribution to post-war planning is noteworthy for at 
least two other aspects. First, his treatment of the Soviet Union as one of the 
projected participants is remarkable given the fact that the government was still 
in the process of recognizing the Soviet Union. Ever since the Russian 
Revolution of 1917 there had been no official diplomatic relations between the 
two countries. The government refused on moral and political grounds (but 
also because of resistance by Queen Wilhelmina who was related to the 
murdered czarist family) to establish regular diplomatic relations. In the 
twenties and thirties only commercial relations existed between the Netherlands 
and the Soviet Union. ̂ ^̂  After the German attack on the Soviet Union in 
June 1941 allied pressure for recognition slowly mounted and eventually the 
Queen and the government gave way. On 10 July 1942 the government finally 
recognized the Soviet Union and regular diplomatic relations between the two 
countries were established.̂ ^^ Rather than to stress Van Kleffens's inability 
to allot the Soviet Union a role equal to that of the United States and Britain, 
as Kersten does^^ ,̂ the inclusion of the Soviet Union in Van Kleffens's 
scheme must be considered significant as another recognition by the Dutch of 
the fact that the Soviets simply could no longer be ignored. In early 1943 
Soviet participation in at least two or three regional security arrangements was 
contemplated. ̂ °̂ 

The other noteworthy aspect is Van Kleffens's outspoken preference for 
post-war international cooperation. If his plan were to be implemented, the 
days of neutrality were certainly numbered. His scheme for regional security 
arrangements was no exception, because with regard to the post-war future of 
Germany he developed plans originating from the same basic principle. In 
order to safeguard the world against another resort to aggression by Germany, 
Van Kleffens developed in the course of 1942, in association with a long-time 
friend Huntington Gilchrist, plans for international control over the import by 

. Cf. his comments during the CFR-session. 
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and production of iron, steel and nitrogen in Germany. Thus the international 
community would be able to contain Germany's capacity to wage war.̂ ^^ 

This plan, which never came beyond the preluninary stage, fitted in 
neatly with the general attitude of the government's towards post-war 
Germany, at least until the winter of 1943/44. Although there was from the 
beginning of the war a small majority in the government favouring 
dismemberment of Germany, deindustrialization and annexation of large parts 
of Germany by the Netherlands, a clear majority recognized the necessity of 
post-war German economic revival to ensure the reconstruction of the 
Netherlands. Germany's military danger therefore had to be wiped out, but 
economically it would have to remain sufficiently strong to support the Dutch, 
or even the Western European, economy. Again Van Kleffens advocated an 
international framework to ensure post-war peace and prosperity. 

His attitude changed considerably though in the spring of 1944 after the 
Germans started to inundate large sections of the western parts of the 
Netherlands. Van Kleffens slowly came round to Van den Brock's attitude that 
the Germans should pay for the damage inflicted on the Netherlands. He began 
to support claims for German territory similar in size to the area now under 
water in the Netherlands, for instance in an article in July 1944 in Foreign 
Affairs.̂ ^^ The supporters of a hard line gradually gained the upperhand 
and in an official memorandum presented to the allied governments in October 
1944 the government reserved the right to demand the annexation and/or 
economic control over German territory adjacent to the Netherlands as 
indemnity. Now only a minority objected against annexations. 

The stiffer attitude towards Germany was clearly in line with the 
feelings of Wilhelmina. In March 1943 she already suggested to Roosevelt the 
deportation of all Nazi's and their families to some remote region for the sake 
of world peace. After the Germans started to inundate Dutch territory she 
became even more outspoken. ̂ ^̂  Lunching with Churchill she now 
suggested the expulsion of the irredeemable elements in German society to the 
remotest parts of Siberia. Churchill told her that Stalin needed 'labour' and 
that the Soviet leader thought in terms of five million German forced 
labourers. The Queen considered this all right as a beginning (sic). Given the 
fact that the Big Three had not yet been able, in the EAC and in their bilateral 
dealings, to reach any kind of agreement on the future of Germany, Dutch 
suggestions hardly carried any weight. The government was free to develop 
these ideas, to discuss them with its fellow exiles and to suggest them to the 
Big Three, but the latter were the ones to decide one way or another. 

. See: NMFA, Embassy London Secret Archives, Box O 3/7, Memo Van Kleffens, 
??/12/42 and Van Kleffens, Belevenissen, II, pp. 112-113. 
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Van Kleffens's scheme for regional security arrangements suffered the 
same fate, but certainly not because of a lack of support in Dutch circles. 
Despite an initial negative reaction, Wilhelmina supported his ideas just like 
the majority of the government. Furthermore, his Atlantic orientation was 
supported by the Studygroup Rijkens, the planning section in New York and 
the larger Dutch community in London. Although Van Kleffens participated in 
the caucus organized by Sikorski, the government (except Kerstens) and 
community in London never became active supporters of the European idea. In 
the case of Dutch security interests Van Kleffens had already shown the 
imperative need to look beyond Europe, and in the field of economics and 
finance the Rijkens Group produced in March 1943 a report for post-war 
economic and financial cooperation among regional groups under a global 
organization that closely resembled Van Kleffens's scheme.^ '̂̂  

Van Kleffens's scheme foundered on his inability to rally his original 
interlocutors. Lie and Spaak, to his cause and the unstoppable advent of the 
Four Power (United Nations) Plan in the course of 1943. Immediately after 
completing his memorandum Van Kleffens sent a copy to both Lie and Spaak. 
Both responded only after quite a lapse of time. In the beginning of September 
Lie gave his reaction. ̂ ^̂  Supporting the basic assumption of the need for an 
Atlantic regional security arrangement. Lie questioned several elements in Van 
Kleffens's elaboration. He favoured for instance the participation of Canada, 
Iceland, Denmark and Sweden instead of Spain and Portugal and he passed 
over the principle of reciprocity with regard to access for naval forces. He 
continued to favour his own idea of the bigger allies sustaining their smaller 
partners. In Lie's opinion any agreement should consist of two elements: a 
political understanding to assist each other in case of aggression and a military 
pact outlining the details of military assistance. 

Essentially, the differences between Van Kleffens's scheme and Lie's 
own ideas were not insurmountable. Spaak's reaction, however, nullified all 
hopes for a common Belgian-Dutch-Norwegian front. After six months Spaak 
finally presented Van Kleffens his views, which basically came down to a 
rejection of Van Kleffens's idea of regional security arrangements. Spaak tried 
to soften the pill by being not very explicit and by couching his doubts in the 
form of a number of questions, but the general impression was clear. He 
criticized severely Van Kleffens's treatment of the security issue separately 
from the political and economic issues and the subordinate position the smaller 
allies would have to face.^^^ 

Initially his failure to rally Lie and Spaak to his cause, did not 
discourage Van Kleffens to continue to champion his scheme publicly and in 
conversations with the larger allies of the Dutch. He had also forwarded his 

. Cf. Mans, 'Ideas of Netherlands Exiles', pp. 453-456; and Kersten, 'Nederlandse 
opvattingen over Europese economische samenwerking', pp. 160-162. 
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plans to the Foreign Office, where they were received quite favourably. One of 
the chief advantages of the scheme lay in the fact that it would bring the 
United States into the post-war security system in the North Atlantic region, 
noted one Foreign Office official. Eden and the Foreign Office preferred, 
however, first to reach agreement with the Americans as regards post-war 
security before becoming embroiled in discussions with their exiled guests and 
they therefore decided to restrain any developments towards autonomous 
planning in this community. ̂ ^̂  During his visit widi Wilhelmina to the 
United States in the summer of 1942 Van Kleffens had the opportunity to 
discuss his scheme with Roosevelt, Hull and Welles. The latter expressed the 
need to subordinate the regional arrangements to a universal organization, to 
which Van Kleffens reacted favourably, but promises that the State Department 
planning groups would look further into the matter of Atlantic cooperation 
were the only results of his overtures. ̂ ^̂  

In the mean time Anglo-American planning gathered momentum and 
their approach started from the premises of a post-war universal organization 
and a leading and controlling role for the four Great Powers. The activities of 
the British and the Americans forced Van Kleffens, as it forced others like Lie 
and Sikorski, onto the defensive. Instead of consistently advancing the virtues 
of his own regional approach. Van Kleffens felt increasingly compelled 
zealously to defend the interests of the smaller powers in a world likely to be 
dominated by the Big Three or Four. In December 1943 in a public broadcast 
to the occupied Netherlands he was still able, as he had done a year before, to 
picture his fellow-countrymen a post-war foreign policy firmly grounded in 
Atlantic regionalism: 

"We would see a strong formation in the West with America, Canada and the 
other British Dominions as die arsenal and vast reservoir of power, with England 
as the base, especially for air power, and the West of the European mainland -
by which I mean the Nedierlands, Belgium and France - as die bridgehead." 

But in fact he was now already fighting a rearguard action; the allies he needed 
to fulfil his dreams had by now plans of their own giving priority to a 
completely different conception. 

§ 2.3.3 Fighting windmills 
The advent and subsequent dominance of the Four Power Plan, with its 
emphasis on the greater powers, presented a new challenge for Van Kleffens. 
If these greater powers were not interested in his plans for regional security 

^^'. Cf. DBPN, C, Vol. rV, pp. 599-600; PRO, FO 238/301, C 3906/175/6, Eden to 
Campbell, 14/08/42; FO 371/32832, N 5554/463/30, Memo by Eden, No. WP 42/480, 22/10/42 
and N 5716/463/30, Cabinet meeting, 03/11/42; and Eisen, Anglo-Dutch Relations and European 
Unity, pp. 11-15. 
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to the United States, 06-08/42; and Private collection Wiebes/Zeeman, Memo Van Kleffens of 
conversation widi Welles, 04/08/42. 
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arrangements, the least he could do was to defend the rights of the smaller 
ones in the plans that were brought to fruition. Doubts about the willingness of 
the greater powers to take the interests of the smaller ones into account gained 
momentum in the winter of 1942/43. For instance, in March 1943, in an 
editorial of the influential The Times, the United States, Britain and the Soviet 
Union were named as the guardians of the post-war order in Europe without 
any reference to the other nations. Van Kleffens reacted vehemently.̂ -̂ ^ In a 
letter to the editor he argued that "we can not proclaim democracy, and 
practice the rule of the few". He claimed for himself the position of spokesman 
for the smaller nations and he demanded a political role for these powers in the 
Four Power Plan as well as in other political bodies. 

Van Kleffens's quest for equality among nations proved, however, 
futile. For instance, the smaller powers were not involved in the Italian 
armistice negotiations. Van Kleffens asked Eden a seat for the smaller powers 
in the Mediterranean Commission: "It would certainly give much comfort to 
all the smaller powers to feel that one of their number was sharing this work 
with the Great Powers." Eden was unimpressed, especially since Van Kleffens 
suggested the Czech Foreign Minister Jan Masaryk as the representative of the 
smaller nations. When the Big Three decided during their Moscow conference 
in October 1943 to create the EAC, Van Kleffens aired his anxiety over the 
fact that again the smaller powers were not represented.̂ "̂ ^ The creation of 
the Central Committee of the UNRRA provided another case in point. The 
smaller powers were left out. Van Kleffens protested, describing the British 
attitude towards the smaller powers as "insufferably paternalistic." He told 
Canadian envoy Georges Vanier: "All appeared to be well when you spoke to 
them but later they relapsed into their old ways." He countered Spaak's 
expressed hope that the smaller powers might perhaps be able to whittle down 
the powers of the Central Committee by claiming "your attitude is dreadful; 
what of the principles involved? "̂ ^̂  

In May 1944 Van Kleffens again aired his grievances in The Times. He 

"did not believe an attempt would be made to place the control of post-war world 
affairs exclusively in the hands of Britain, America, China and Russia and, as 
was assumed, of France, when restored. No such step could count on the active 
support of the smaller Powers, which had an aggregate population of many 
scores of millions." 

He demanded that they should be heard by the greater powers and he noted 
with considerable satisfaction that his stance was supported by the South 
Africans, the Norwegians, the Belgians and the Czechs. On the other hand, his 
advocacy of the rights of the smaller nations was not well received by the 

^^^. See: De Jong, Het Koninkryk der Nederlanden, Dl. 9, pp. 651-658. 

^^^. PRO, FO 238/300, C 11343/642/29, Roberts to Bland, 19/09/43; and SIWD, 
Collection Van Kleffens, Van Kleffens to Loudon, 11/03/44. 

^^^. NAC, RG 25 G 2, Ace. 83-84/268, Box 274, File 5495-40C, Vanier to DEA, No. 19, 
06/12/43. 
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governments who were in charge. Cordell Hull, for instance, was particularly 
annoyed by Van Kleffens's accusation that the greater powers ignored their 
little brothers, adding "It is even more inappropriate on the part of a 
spokesman for a nation which was incapable of defending its colonial empire 
and which depends chiefly on the United States for recovering it." ̂ ^^ 

However, when he was presented with a copy of the Dumbarton Oaks 
proposals for the new world organization, Van Kleffens had not softened in 
any respect. His worst fears seemed to come true. He was doubtful about the 
special role of the great powers, the veto power and the subdued role for the 
middle and small powers. He rejected the proposals for their lack of subjection 
to the principles of international law. The Americans were told in no uncertain 
terms that 

"if great powers expect small powers to recognize in a 'juridical' form the 
special rights of decision of the great powers, Van Kleffens thought the Nether­
lands would be unable to join the United Nations Organization." '̂*-' 

Immediately Van Kleffens tried to organize a counteroffensive. He first tried to 
rally Spaak to his cause, but in his initial reaction the Belgian seemed to agree 
unconditionally with the Dumbarton Oaks proposals. A month later however, 
the Belgians had come round to the Dutch view and Van Kleffens also received 
support from the Canadians. They also considered themselves in a different 
league than say Denmark or Peru and consequently they put out a claim for the 
non-permanent seats in the Security Council on behalf of the so-called middle 
powers. The Netherlands seemed to have found an equally committed and 
vigorous ally. 

In the meantime Van Kleffens had begun to downgrade his primary 
dismissal. Some of his advisors, like Loudon in Washington, recommended 
him not to reject the proposals categorically, because it could well result in the 
Netherlands being left behind empty handed. Other smaller countries were 
simply not prepared to support the Netherlands. Instead they advocated to try 
to alter the Dumbarton Oaks proposals on specific points. The government 
should try to keep the International Court of Justice in The Hague and attempt 
to play a leading role in the newly formed (and to be formed) international 
agencies. Van Kleffens continued to express his scepticism about the proposals, 
but he also declared not to campaign against the proposals. In December 1944 

. De Jong, Het Koninkrijk der Nederlanden, Dl. 9, pp. 657-658; and NMFA, Embassy 
Washington Archives, Box 148, File P-1.8/43.24, article on Hull's press conference, 06/06/44. 
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Also: NMFA, Embassy Washington, Archives Box 151, File P-1.8/44.5, Van Vredenburch to 
Van Kleffens, No. 7897/2218, 17/11/44. 
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he had already come round to the view that he really believed in the new 
organization and that he urgently desired its creation. ̂ ^̂  

In January 1945, the government presented its 'Suggestions' on the 
Dumbarton Oaks proposals to the other allies. '̂̂ ^ Although their objections 
continued to be the same as those expressed immediately after publication of 
the Dumbarton Oaks proposals, the Dutch now had formulated specific 
counterproposals. They suggested the formation of an independent body of 
eminent men which would have to subject the decisions of the Security Council 
to a review procedure. This body should pronounce upon any matter in the 
framework of international law. The government furthermore claimed a special 
status in the United Nations Organization as one of the middle powers. It 
explicitly welcomed the establishment of the Economic and Social Council and 
the stipulation that regional arrangements or agencies were not excluded by the 
proposals. 

Van Kleffens's qualified positive stand was seriously shaken by the 
subsequent publication of the arrangements on the veto power as agreed upon 
in Yalta. He overreacted and immediately instructed Loudon to inform the 
State Department that given these arrangements Dutch public opinion would 
reject the United Nations Organization. The Netherlands would therefore not 
adhere to an organization which gave so little assurance to the smaller powers. 
Loudon tried to calm down Van Kleffens. He refused to inform the State 
Department since Dutch public opinion had not been consulted and because his 
attitude would only play into the hands of the American isolationists. Loudon 
reiterated the long-term Dutch goal of tying the United States to European 
security issues and he suggested that perhaps the projected United Nations 
would do the trick. He also thought that the present arrangements with regard 
to the veto power might prevent unworkable resolutions.^'^^ 

Loudon's arguments clearly impressed Van Kleffens, but his attitude 
towards the United Nations was more restrained than before. When 
ambassador Stanley K. Hombeck presented the formal invitation for the San 
Francisco conference to Van Kleffens, the latter repeated that parliament would 
find it difficult to swallow an arrangement wherein "vastly superior rights" 
were conceded to the great powers. His government accepted the invitation, 
but he kindly suggested that Hornbeck might call to the attention of his 
government that the Dutch "were not alone in hoping that there will be evolved 

. NMFA, Archives Embassy Washington, Box 155, File P-1.8/44.24, Memo Loudon, 
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provisions which will make the Charter more palatable to the smaller nati­
ons. "̂ ^̂  There was no trace of threats any longer. 

Van Kleffens himself headed the Dutch delegation to the San Francisco 
conference. He declined to go to San Francisco via Washington for he 
deliberately wanted the Soviet government not to think that by going through 
the US capital he was ganging up with the Americans. Instead he travelled via 
Ottawa and Vancouver. ̂ '̂ ^ Van Kleffens was elected in the Executive 
Committee which administered the conference. Since only 14 delegations, 
including the five permanent members of the Security Council, were included 
in this committee, the Dutch middle power claim seemed to receive a 
considerable boost. 

In fact the San Francisco conference turned out for the Netherlands, as 
for other smaller powers, a great disappointment. In the face of the united 
opposition of the great powers, only small changes could be achieved in the 
matter of the veto power. The only, minor, successes from the Dutch point of 
view were the acceptance of regional security arrangements in Chapter 8 
(although, as Kersten correctly notes, the delegation did not lobby actively in 
this respect̂ "̂ )̂ and the veiled endorsement of the eligibility of middle 
powers in article 23 on the composition of the Security Council. Van 
Kleffens's mixed feelings about the conference are aptly mirrored in his diary, 
which is full of frustration and talk of 'San Fiasco', on the one hand and his 
positive description in his memoirs and in his (contemporary) report to the 
cabinet on the other hand.̂ ^^ In the latter he claimed in front of his 
colleagues that "there is no longer talk of only small and great powers, but 
there is added a third category, those of the middle powers, to which we like 
the Canadians belong. "̂ ^̂  

In the meantime the European part of the Kingdom of the Netherlands 
had been completely liberated. For eight months, from September 1944 until 
May 1945, the country had been cut in two by the failure of the Market 
Garden-operation. The southern provinces were gradually liberated in the final 
months of 1944, but the northern part of the country experienced one of the 
harshest winters of the century, including large scale famine.̂ ^^ As the 

'̂̂ ^. WNRC, RG 84, The Hague PF, Box 5, Folder 500, 1945, Hornbeck to SecState, No. 
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allied troops slowly closed in on Berlin in the spring of 1945, the northern part 
of the Netherlands remained largely unaffected. Liberation only came with the 
final capitulation of all German troops on the Western front on 8 May 1945. 

Liberation of the Netherlands East Indies was yet another chapter. The 
government was dependent upon US decisions regarding the thrust of the allied 
advance. As the allied troops were mainly deployed on the Phillipines-
Okinawa-Japan-axis, the East Indies were passed by and downgraded, like the 
northern part of the Netherlands, to a military theatre of secondary importance. 
Consequently, the population of the East Indies had to wait for the final 
capitulation of Japan in August 1945 before British troops began to reoccupy 
the numerous islands. On British insistence the archipelago was transferred in 
late July 1945 from the military jurisdiction of general Douglas MacArthur's 
Southwest Pacific Area Command to that of the British admiral Louis 
Mountbatten's South East Asian Command.̂ ^-^ The need to dispose of 
theatres of operation which siphoned troops and supplies away from the main 
goal neatly coincided with the US wish to sidestep any post-war colonial 
entanglement in Southeast Asia. 

Because of the East Indies the government was able in the closing days 
of the war to show its loyalty to and belief in the western, Atlantic cause in a 
manifest and secret way. Just like the Belgians they were secretly approached 
by the Americans and British about the thorium deposits on some of the 
Indonesian islands. Thorium was considered by the directors of the Manhattan 
(atomic bomb) Project the only other element, besides uranium ore, capable to 
produce fissionable material. Anderson therefore questioned Van Kleffens in 
July 1945 about Dutch preparedness to conclude a secret tripartite agreement 
giving the British and US governments a veto over the sale of all thorium 
deposits on Dutch territory. Van Kleffens agreed to such a secret agreement 
which was finalized on 4 August 1945, two days before Hiroshima. ̂ ^̂  

As the war drew to a close, in May 1945 in Europe and three months later in 
Asia, the government had manoeuvred itself in an unenviable position, in an 
impasse. As Schaper summarizes succinctly: "What was possible was not 
wanted and what was wanted was impossible. "̂ ^̂  During the exile period in 
London Van Kleffens had formulated an unprecedented reorientation of Dutch 
foreign and security policy (from aloofness and neutrality all the way to 
alignment) and at the 'moment supreme' he was unable to bring planning into 
practice because the larger allies had, at least for the time being, put their 
stakes on the ill-conceived United Nations. The Dutch were forced to wait and 
see. 

Ideally, the government envisaged a world dominated by regional 
security arrangements, if necessary under the aegis of a universal organization 
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with limited powers. The Dutch way of making its voice listened to and its 
interests looked after was by stressing its distinctive role as a member of not 
just one, but of several of such regional arrangements. The Netherlands 
belonged to a special group of states, as for instance Canada and Australia, the 
so-called middle powers, who clearly did not belong to the Big Three, Four or 
Five, but who constituted a league of their own. By covering the globe with 
regional security arrangements based either on sea- or on land-power, the 
potentially aggressive states, i.e. Germany and Japan, could be held in check 
indefinitely. Interested nations united in a regional arrangement would be much 
more prepared, and much more capable, than a universal organization like the 
projected United Nations, to enforce post-war peace. Although Van Kleffens's 
approach was primarily a military one, the concept of regional arrangements 
had proven to be fmitful in the field of economics as well. 

The role of Eelco van Kleffens during the war seems dominant. He was 
able, competently aided by his officials in the BNOV but also by senior 
diplomats like Loudon and his colleague in London, E.F.M.J. Michiels van 
Verduynen, to give direction to the process of post-war planning. His 
conception, although not universally supported by the community in London 
and the population in the Netherlands, bore the promise of a post-war role for 
the Netherlands commensurate with its self-image of a European colonial 
power with worldwide interests. When it became clear in the course of 1943 
that his conception was at variance with post-war planning by the leading 
powers in the anti-Hitler coalition. Van Kleffens was unable to trim his sails to 
the new wind. He initiated a desperate battle in favour of the rights of the 
smaller nations and against a universal organization dominated by a few 
greater powers. Flexibility was not his forte. 

§ 2.4 Similar but different. 
A few years ago Michel Dumoulin without exaggeration observed that "we still 
most dearly lack studies on the elaboration of Belgian foreign policy during the 
Second World War."'^* Understandable as this may be given the restrictions 
on archival research in Belgium and the all-smothering reality of the Royal 
Question, it is sad to be forced to conclude that the study of this important 
phase in the evolution of 20th century Belgian foreign policy is still in its 
infancy. There is no official publication of governmental documents equivalent 
to the FRUS- or DBPO-series'" and the number of specialised studies is 
unusually modest. This state of affairs contrasts starkly with that regarding the 
study of Dutch foreign policy during the Second World War. Thanks to the 
still ongoing publication of the Documenten betreffende de Buitenlandse 
Politiek van Nederland 1940-1945 and the studies by, especially, Kersten, 
Manning, Brouwer and others in the Dutch case the 'zones de lumiere' clearly 
dominate the 'zones d'ombre'. 
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Nevertheless, on the basis of the available documentation it is possible 
to reconstruct both Dutch and Belgian security policy during their exile period 
in London, as we have tried to do in the previous paragraphs, and to draw 
conclusions regarding their respective vision of post-war international security. 

First of all, Belgian and Dutch post-war planning meets the general 
description of the three phases sketched in § 2.1. In the first stage, 1940/41, 
planning was mostly executed in an uncoordinated, piecemeal fashion. All kind 
of ideas were put forward (well thought-out or off the cuff, realistic and 
unrealistic), but this was surely a preliminary stage in the planning process. 
The British government consequently responded in a non-committal way. In 
1942, with the Soviet Union and the United States fully involved in the war, 
the parameters had changed, but the planners did not yet question the 
underlying assumptions of the plans brought forward in the previous phase. 
The British started to put the brakes on their exiled guests, at the same time 
that Van Kleffens came forward with a well-considered scheme for post-war 
security and Spaak was enthusiastically supporting Sikorski's European 
endeavours. The tide was turning, however; Belgians and Dutch were both 
heading towards a dead-end alley. From 1943 onwards the Four Power/world 
organization plan dominated the planning scene. Van Kleffens started a 
rearguard action on behalf of the smaller nations, whereas Spaak tried to lure 
the British into accepting a Western European association within the confines 
of the world organization. The role of the military in that process was in both 
cases insignificant; the diplomats were firmly in charge. 

Comparing Belgian and Dutch post-war planning, some important 
differences come to the fore. Dutch worldwide interests, as evidenced by their 
stress on the middle power concept and their desire to remain involved in 
regions outside Europe, distinctly contrasts with the Belgian preoccupation 
with its regional, European future. Spaak, for instance, opposed Van 
Kleffens's scheme for regional security arrangements because he feared that 
powers with limited interests, like Belgium, would risk to become involved in 
war because of the adventures of those with world-wide interests. This 
difference in attitude was acknowledged by their war-time allies. Already in 
February 1942 a Foreign Office official noted that the Netherlands view of 
collective security was rather wider than the Belgian. One of his colleagues 
dryly (and correctly) commented: "Dutch interests are wider. "̂ ^̂  

The difference in aspiration carried over in the way both governments 
intended to defend their interests in the post-war world. Whereas the Dutch 
expected to occupy a middle position between the Big haves and the small 
have-nots and thus to hold their own vis-a-vis the outside world, the Belgian 
government modestly decided to align itself with one of the Big Three in order 
to have some influence in the future world organization. Neither accepted that 
new organization with any sense of enthusiasm or optimism. The indifferent 
treatment of the smaller nations by the Big Three boded ill for the future; 
during the war both countries had stressed that in their opinion a universal 

'•'°. PRO, FO 371/30802, C 1240/1200/4, Marginal comments by Harrison and Makins, 
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organization did not provide the optimum solution to post-war international 
security; and what good could come from building the roof (the universal 
organization) as the groundfloor (the regional organizations) had not even left 
the drawing-board? 

In their choice of primary allies, the two countries also differed. Spaak 
pinned all his hopes on Britain whereas Van Kleffens expected salvation from 
the other side of the Atlantic. These choices were again a direct consequence 
of the different conclusions drawn from the interwar period and the differences 
in economic and strategic requirements. Although Gutt's attempts in 1940/41 
to make Belgium a new member of the British Commonwealth foundered on 
British restraint, the future course of Belgian policy had been set. Dutch fears 
that the Belgian government would align itself with France were, as Brouwer 
correctly notes, unfounded.̂ ^^ Fear for French encroachments on Belgian 
sovereignty inhibited Belgian aspirations to strengthen their ties with their 
southern neighbour. Only very cautiously did Spaak assent to French demands 
to negotiate an economic council, insisting right from the start on Dutch 
participation. The creation of the Tripartite Council was as far as he was 
prepared to go without Britain, on the one hand to appease the French 
government and on the other to take at least another small step towards the 
ultimate goal of a Western European regional entente. Van Kleffens was 
prepared to go along, for the sake of Dutch-Belgian rapprochement and to 
counterbalance the assumed Belgian francophilia, but in his perception France 
only played a secondary role in the field of post-war security.̂ ^^ The 
difference in attitude towards the Tripartite Council is noteworthy for still 
another feature: Belgian post-war planning was much more comprehensive than 
Dutch thinking. Van Kleffens was solely preoccupied by the security issue, 
whereas Spaak seemed to have a much keener eye for the interrelationship of 
economic, political and military issues. 

In their attitudes towards Germany and the Soviet Union the two 
countries gradually reached common ground. In their planning for the post-war 
period Germany was unquestionably considered the principal threat to post-war 
peace. Both Spaak's Western European regional association and Van Kleffens's 
regional security arrangements started from this premise. Both came to 
advocate towards the end of the war a stern peace settlement from the politico-
military side and a moderate agreement in the economic sphere. With regard to 
the Soviet Union, both countries evolved towards a realistic assessment of the 
post-war role of the Soviet Union. It is clearly incorrect to argue, as Schaper 
seems to do^^^ that fear of the Soviet Union lay at the heart of Van Klef­
fens's proposals. On the contrary, given interwar Dutch anti-communism, the 
change in attitude is significant, although the Soviets definitely continued to 
belong to another league than the Americans and British. Spaak was somewhat 
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less prejudiced by the past and, consequently, somewhat more forthcoming in 
his attitude towards the Soviets. 

Spaak's vision of and quest for a British-led Western European regional 
association has been characterized by Coolsaet as illusory, by George as 
paradoxical and as simply adjusting to the 'international trend' by his 
collaborator Van Langenhove. ̂ ^̂  All three observations are correct, to some 
extent. Spaak's solution to Belgian security needs was based on a realistic 
assessment of Belgian desiderata and only proved illusory (with the benefit of 
hindsight!) in the face of British intransigence. His advocacy of Western 
European cooperation can only be considered paradoxical if his actions before 
and after the war are taken out off their context. Of course Spaak was 
influenced by the 'international trend', but the specific solution he selected to 
solve the Belgian security dilemma can only be explained by bringing in other, 
national and international, considerations. The choice for Britain over France 
is just one case in point. 

With regard to Dutch foreign policy the war period has been termed an 
interregnum by Daalder, a passing phase between the pre-1940 aloofness and 
neutrality and the post-1948 alignment. *̂ ^ This conclusion seems to weigh 
too much on the negative, passive side, considering the originality of both the 
middle power concept and the notion of regional security arrangements on a 
global basis. The government tried from the very beginning of the war to get 
the larger allies to recognize the special status the government considered itself 
entitled to. All attempts failed, on the one hand because the Big Three were 
not prepared to differentiate between their smaller allies and on the other hand 
because its claims to a middle powers status lacked the necessary backing in 
terms of power, contribution to the war effort, etc.̂ '̂̂  

Setting aside the middle power claim. Van Kleffens's solution to post­
war international security was ideally suited to Dutch security needs. Given 
this conclusion it is surprising to observe, as Kersten has also done^^ ,̂ that 
from 1943 onwards until the San Francisco conference Dutch attempts to fit in 
its regional security arrangements in the plans for the world organization are 
almost non-existent. Van Kleffens's unrealistic 'all-or-nothing'-attitude, also 
evidenced in his primary all-out rejection of the Dumbarton Oaks and Yalta 
proposals, and inactivism contrasts sharply with Spaak's attempt to incorporate 
the world organization and regional associations in his three storeyed vision of 
post-war peace and his endeavours to achieve his primary aim by way of 
small, but significant steps. Spaak rather than Van Kleffens deserves the 
epitaph "the ultimate pragmatist' (or perhaps even opportunist).^^^ 
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Because of his scheme. Van Kleffens earns the title 'Atlanticist avant-
la-lettre'. Not in the sense that a direct line can be drawn from his (and Lie's) 
ideas to the 1949 North Atlantic treaty, but in the sense that his proposals 
constituted a distinct break away from aloofness and neutrality towards 
alignment in the Atlantic region. ̂ ^̂  Claims, like that by Govaerts^^ ,̂ that 
the government during the war "intensely (...) thought in terms of a Western 
European organization from the very beginning" are wide of the mark. The 
Dutch government favoured regionalism over universalism but only in an 
Atlantic, not in a European (continental) framework. 

Some of these conclusions can be further amplified by looking closer at 
the creation of Benelux, the customs union agreement between Belgium, 
Luxembourg and the Netherlands, concluded on 5 September 1944 in London. 
Discussions about Benelux were initiated in January 1943 by Gutt and his 
Dutch colleague Van den Broek. These two knew each other from their 
participation in the interwar International Tin Committee. Up till then Van 
Kleffens had aborted all attempts to open bilateral Belgian-Dutch discussions 
on post-war issues. Belgian suggestions to discuss and coordinate post-war 
planning bilaterally had been turned down. The Gutt-Van den Broek initiative 
provided something of a breakthrough that Spaak had been looking for during 
a long time.̂ ^^ 

Financial experts negotiated within a few months a monetary 
agreement, which was signed on 21 October 1943, but the two governments 
did not leave it at that. Simultaneously negotiations were conducted which had 
to lead to a customs union. Success proved to be much harder in this field, 
especially with regard to the common tariffs. Months long negotiations 
between financial experts in London resulted in the signature of a customs 
union agreement on 5 September 1944, a few days before the return of the 
Belgian government to Brussels. The agreement was to become effective as 
soon as both governments would again be in effective command in their 
respective countries. Given the (unexpected) different dates of liberation, the 
coming into force of the customs union agreement was deferred. The only 
thing that remained was the political deed. 

Rather than to stress the Spaak-Van Kleffens combination in the 
creation of Benelux, as Laurent does, it is necessary to stress the absence of 
Van Kleffens in the process leading up to Benelux. ̂ ^̂  He was clearly not as 
interested as Spaak in the improvement of bilateral Belgian-Dutch relations. He 
was prepared to give his economic and financial colleagues the freedom to 
negotiate an agreement with their Belgian counterparts, but when Belgian-
Dutch rapprochement seemed to enter his domain, his reaction was immediate 

. Kersten, 'Nederlandse rol bescheiden maar zeker niet ondergeschikt', pp. 2 and 4-5 and 
Neuman, Impasse te Londen, pp. 213-221. 
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169 

. Kersten, 'Nederland en Belgie in Londen', pp. 495-504. 
170 
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82 

and negative. All attempts between September 1944 and January 1945 to 
extend the cooperation with Belgium to the military and security plane were 
obstructed by Van Kleffens himself. ̂ ^̂  His attitude towards Belgian-Dutch 
cooperation in the field of security policy is summarized shortly in his 
comments on a press interview of Pierlot. In October 1944 the latter told the 
Observer that the Belgians had already reached agreement with the Dutch for 
the organization of their common defence. Van Kleffens's comment, "This is 
nonsense.", is succinct and telling; a suitable illustration of the differences in 
policies and conceptions between the two countries. 

Cf. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 54, Folder Dutch-Belgian 
Military Cooperation. 
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CHAPTER 3 

POST-WAR SEARCHING 

(1945-1947) 

The ascendancy of the universalist One World-concept over regionalism and 
the continuation of the wartime Grand Alliance as the basis for post-war 
international cooperation were both short-lived. Whereas Churchill (and 
subsequently Clement Attlee), Stalin and Roosevelt's successor Harry S. 
Truman were able to show outward unity during their final wartune conference 
in July-August 1945 in Potsdam, the seeds of discord surfaced immediately in 
the peace-making process. From 16 August until 27 October the UN 
preparatory committee, created to give substance to the Charter signed on 26 
June, met in London. As one of the members of the committee noted after­
wards, on most of the controversial issues which came before the committee, it 
was usually divided with the Soviets (and their allies) on one side and the rest 
of the (Western) world on the other. ̂  On 11 September the Council of 
Foreign Ministers (CFM), created in Potsdam, met for the first time, likewise 
in London. British Foreign Secretary Ernest Bevin hosted the conference. The 
session lasted only three weeks; the CFM broke up unable to agree on 
anything, not even a final communique. The meetings of the foreign ministers 
were characterized by sharp exchanges between Bevin and his US colleague 
James F. Byrnes on the one hand and their Soviet counterpart Vyacheslav 
Molotov on the other. 

In the course of 1946-1947 wartime unity slowly but steadily crumbled 
away thus paving the way for the demise of both universalism and the Grand 
Alliance. The Moscow meeting of Bevin, Byrnes and Molotov in December 
1945 was considered a mixed success after the London CFM failure, but in the 
first few months of 1946 the former allies clashed anew. In January they 
differed fundamentally over the choice of the first Secretary General of the 

. Reid, On Duty, pp. 85 and 99. 
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UN. They had to settle for a compromise figure, the Norwegian Trygve Lie.^ 
Then the battleground shifted towards Iran and Turkey. The Soviets failed to 
meet agreed deadlines for the withdrawal of their troops from northern Iran 
and reasserted their claims for control over the Dardanelles. In both instances 
they met with concerted British-US resistance and ultimately backed down. A 
new pattern of international relations slowly took shape, based on mutual 
mistrust, biased perceptions and worst-case analysis. 

Within a time-span of 30 months the break-up of the Grand Alliance 
was gradually effected. Apart from the milestones mentioned above, the 
process was marked by such familiar events as the Hiroshima and Nagasaki 
atomic bombs (6 and 9 August 1945), Churchill's Iron Curtain-speech (5 
March 1946), the creation of the Bizone in Germany (1 January 1947), the 
Truman Doctrine (12 March 1947), the unsuccessful Moscow CFM (March-
April 1947), the Marshall Plan (5 June 1947), the creation of Cominform (22 
September 1947) and the complete breakdown of Great Power cooperation 
during the London CFM (November-December 1947). The policy of 
collaboration based on the continuation of the wartime alliance in the post-war 
world had given way to mutual denunciation, confrontation and containment. 
Universalism was dead and regionalism was in for a new lease on life. In 
short: the Cold War had started. 

Inevitably a study dealing with one of the foremost manifestations of 
the Cold War, the military alliances in and between Western Europe and North 
America, cannot ignore the larger issues involved. The Treaty of Brussels and 
the North Atlantic Treaty came about as a direct consequence of the collapse 
of post-war cooperation between Britain, the United States and the Soviet 
Union. Having said this, it is not our intention, and certainly not within the 
scope of our study, to discuss the post-war years and the origins of the Cold 
War in any detail. Both are amply covered elsewhere in the academic 
literature. Suffice it to say here that we agree with British historians like David 
Reynolds, Geoffrey Warner and Donald Watt that, although the Cold War is 
essentially a post-World War II phenomenon beginning at some point between 
1945 and 1947, the origins of the Cold War surely should be sought before 
1945. The collaboration in the wartune alliance was a deviation from the trend 
rather than the trend itself.-̂  Furthermore, the Cold War was a global 
phenomenon, the confrontation of the United States and the Soviet Union in a 
world gravitating towards bipolarity. But the bipolar nature of post-war 
international relations should not blind us for the fact that in the immediate 
post-war world bipolarity was only slowly taking shape. In the period of 
gestation, before the war came out in the open, Britain played an important, 
sometimes crucial role in the break-up of the Grand Alliance. 

The Cold War was the inevitable outcome of World War II in the sense 
that the three main protagonists pursued conflicting goals that in the end did 
not satisfy the minimum requirements of (one of) the other side(s). Stalin's 

^. Cf. Barros, Trygve Lie and the Cold War, pp. 3-26. 

^. Reynolds, 'The "Big Three"', pp. 111-136; Warner, 'The Smdy of Cold War Origins', pp. 
13-15; and Watt, 'Rediinking the Cold War', pp. 446-456. 
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search for a security glacis along his western border and a permanent stake in 
the economic and political future of Germany ultimately foundered on Britain's 
European designs, and US inability to accept anything smacking of pre-war 
spheres of influences and its attempts to rebuild (Western) European 
democratic capitalism after its own image. 1947 witnessed the decisive turning 
points in the gradual demise of the wartime Grand Alliance; the Cold War took 
command. But as Reynolds has observed correctly, "the shape of cold war 
Europe was still not fully defined."^ Britain played a crucial role in defining 
that actual shape, as it had done in the period leading up to the break-up. 

Given this crucial role and its primary place in wartime and post-war 
plans for military alliances, Britain will figure prominently in § 3.1 dealing 
with the ebb and flow in post-war alliance making. The paragraph centres on 
the abortive attempts to forge an Anglo-French alliance in 1945 and 1946; the 
quite unexpected, but successful conclusion of the Treaty of Dunkirk on 4 
March 1947; and the planning to widen the scope of this bilateral alliance to 
their smaller neighbours in Western Europe, Belgium and the Netherlands. 
Thus a firm groundwork will be laid for the examination of Belgian and Dutch 
security policy in the period August 1945 until December 1947. 

As in the previous chapter, Belgian and Dutch security policy in this 
period is dealt with in separate paragraphs. In § 3.2.2 the continuity in Belgian 
foreign policy under the direction of Spaak is documented. Clinging desperate­
ly to their wartime projects, the Belgians experienced a long period of 
frustration, aborted hopes and failed overtures, but in the end light glimmered 
at the end of the tunnel. Gradually the Soviet Union came close to replace 
Germany as the most likely threat to Belgian security; Stalin's rejection of the 
Marshall plan offer is considered a watershed in this respect. The continuity in 
Spaak's foreign policy contrasts starkly with the instability of Belgian internal 
affairs. In § 3.2.1 the enduring influence of the Royal Question will be 
sketched as well as Belgium's own Cold War episode, the departure of the 
Belgian communists from the coalition government in March 1947 which will 
be set in a comparative European perspective. 

The continuity in Dutch security policy, although of an entirely 
different nature, is analysed in § 3.3.2. Dutch acquiescence in the UN, 
administered by Van Kleffens, endured in his final year as Foreign Minister 
and even acquired a positive connotation under his successor C.G.W.H. Baron 
van Boetzelaer van Oosterhout. All attempts to create bi-, tri- or multilateral 
treaties of alliance were pushed aside as premature, unnecessarily provocative 
and counter-productive. As in the Belgian case, the events in the summer of 
1947 were instrumental in bringing about a reorientation. Acquiescence and 
rejection of alliances both gave way; foreign policy was in for a fresh start. 
Strangely enough foreign policy figured low on the political agenda, which was 
dominated by the issue of the Indonesian independence struggle. In § 3.3.1 the 
most important elements in the evolution of this struggle and the wider 
economic and political repercussions of the issue are dealt with. 

. Reynolds, 'The "Big Three"', p. 131. 
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In the previous chapter we already pointed to the discrepancy in the 
number of studies devoted to Belgian and Dutch foreign policy during the 
Second World War. With regard to the post-war period the situation is not 
very different. Owing to the strict rules regarding access to archival material 
and the political susceptibilities connected with the Royal Question, the study 
of post-war Belgian (internal and foreign) policy is also still in its infancy. 
Given the almost total absence of literature on the subject in this period, 
especially the paragraphs on Belgium break new ground and are therefore of a 
fundamental, documentary nature. This, partly, explains the difference in 
attention paid in this chapter to Belgian and Dutch policy regarding the 
security of Western Europe. 

§ 3.1 The demise of the universalist conception. 
The issue of closer cooperation with its neighbours on the European continent 
was not among the most pressing issues that faced Bevin after he took office 
on 28 July 1945. His first assignment was to assist Attlee during the final days 
of the Potsdam conference and, after his return home, the conclusion of the 
war in the Pacific and getting to know the Foreign Office demanded all his 
attention.^ Nevertheless, the future of British relations with its continental 
neighbours was already the object of a high-level discussion chaired by Bevm 
on 13 August. He endorsed the Foreign Office plans about regional coopera­
tion in Western Europe that had been prepared the previous year in connection 
with British security vis-a-vis Germany. Bevin even extended the scope of such 
cooperation to cover all countries on the Mediterranean and Atlantic fringes of 
Europe and he added an economic dimension to the scheme. An internati­
onalized Ruhr should form an integral part of this model of European 
cooperation. He also reaffirmed the long-held view of the Foreign Office that 
such cooperation could only start with the conclusion of an Anglo-French 
treaty of alliance. However, like Churchill, Bevin was not prepared to accept 
any French conditions and therefore he ordered a passive attitude as long as 
the British and the French continued to quarrel over the future of Germany and 
British policy in the Levant. He also needed more time to consider possible 
Soviet reactions.^ 

In the months following the 13 August-meeting some of the obstacles 
on the road towards an Anglo-French treaty were cleared. Moscow expressed 
itself in favour of the conclusion of the treaty that would crown the Anglo-
Soviet-French treaty triangle.^ The Levant issue was defused in November by 
a preliminary compromise agreement (and formalized during the meeting of the 

^. Bullock, Ernest Bevin, pp. 3-118. 

^. Cf. DBPO, Ser. I, Vol. V, pp. 15-21; PRO, FO 371/50826, U 6302/445/70G, Memo of 
discussion, 13/08/45 and FO 371/49049, Z 9595/13/17G, FO Minute, 13/08/45; and Greenwood, 
'Ernest Bevin, France and "Western Union"', pp. 319-325. 
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UN General Assembly in London in February 1946). At the Foreign Office the 
Western department in the meantime prepared a draft treaty of alliance and 
Nigel Ronald, Assistant Under-Secretary of State, advised Bevin in December 
to take action with regard to both the Anglo-French treaty and the larger 
Western European group. Such a group, along with a Soviet-led Eastern 
European group and other regional groupings "would make up a world-wide 
security jigsaw under the auspices of the United Nations."^ In other words, 
regionalism within, and subordinated to, universalism. 

The resignation of De Gaulle as prime minister of France on 20 
January 1946 removed another important obstacle. De Gaulle had been 
particularly inflexible with regard to French demands in the Levant and 
Germany and his departure seemed to offer a definite break-through. However, 
the next French government, again a coalition of socialists, communists and 
christian democrats headed by the socialist Felix Gouin, persisted in De 
Gaulle's policies, i.e. security vis-a-vis Germany on French terms, and 
political and economic reconstruction. Foreign Minister Bidault proposed to 
use the apparent British wish to conclude a treaty of alliance as a means to 
bring the British government more in line with French thinking regarding 
Germany. If Britain expected France to ally itself with them, they should pay 
the price of supporting the French with regard to the future of Germany. 

The socialist ministers in the French government differed with their 
communist and christian democrat colleagues over this issue. They tried to 
force their hand. In March Gouin invited the British for discussions without 
any advance conditions. Bevin immediately sent Assistent Under-Secretary of 
State Oliver Harvey to Paris for consultations. Gouin proved very forthcoming, 
but Bidault was obstructive. The latter brought the issue before the French 
cabinet and the socialists came off worst. A majority of christian democrats 
and communists reaffirmed Bidault's line of conduct. The alliance issue could 
only be dealt with simultaneously with discussions over the future of Germany. 
If the British really wanted to conclude a treaty of alliance, they should be 
prepared to compromise with the French over Germany. In practice this meant 
the endorsement of the French desire of political separation of the Ruhr-
Rhineland region.^ 

As a consequence the alliance issue remained relatively dormant during 
most of 1946. Bevin was not prepared either to force the issue by proposing 
the French government outright a treaty of alliance or to give in to the their 
position. He considered the accession to demands for annexation or control of 
parts of Germany as an a priori condition of treaty negotiations unacceptable. 

°. Cf. PRO, FO 371/59952, Z 2411/20/17G, Brown to Sargent enclosing draft Cabinet 
Paper, 06/11/45. For Ronald: Baylis, 'Britain and die Dunkirk Treaty', pp. 240-241. 

^. Cf. PRO, FO 371/59952 and FO 371/59953. Also: Baylis, 'Britain and the Dunkirk 
Treaty', pp. 239-240; Young, France, the Cold War, pp. 108-109; Cooper, Old Men Forget, 
pp. 366-367 and Massigli, Une comedie des erreurs, pp. 81-83. 
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"We need not run after the French." concluded Harvey in the summer of 
1946.10 

The differences between Britain and France over policy toward 
Germany came out clear in the open during the second session of the CFM in 
Paris. Although the drafting of the peace treaties with the former enemy states 
(Italy, Rumania, Finland, Bulgaria and Hungary) was the main business of the 
sessions in April-May and June-July^^ Bidault secured the opportunity to 
state the French case regarding Germany in clear terms. French desiderata 
included a decentralized state, a politically separate Ruhr under an international 
regime, a politically separate Rhineland occupied by the Western European 
nations and the inclusion of the Saar in a monetary and economic union with 
France. 1̂  Bevin, however, was not prepared to discuss the French desiderata 
in isolation and since the four foreign ministers were unable to agree the 
German issue was moved up to a later CFM-meeting. 

The clashes in Paris between the Big Four over the future of Germany 
also frustrated progress over a proposal by Byrnes for a treaty between the 
occupying powers in Germany to guarantee the complete disarmament and 
demilitarization of Germany for a period of 25 years. Byrnes first broached the 
subject in August 1945 and after receiving favourable reactions by Bevin, 
Bidault and Molotov officially tabled the issue in February 1946. During the 
CFM-meeting on 29 April he even presented his colleagues with a draft 
treaty. 1̂  While Bevin and Bidault expressed their general willingness to 
discuss the issue, Molotov obstructed a full discussion. He considered a period 
of 25 years not long enough and feared the postponement of German 
disarmament until after the occupation. Even Byrnes' commitment to extend 
the duration of the treaty to forty years was not enough to placate the Soviets. 
In a dramatic speech on 10 July Molotov restated the Soviet aims in Germany: 
the prohibition of war industries, large scale reparations, inter-allied control 
over the Ruhr and a centralized all-German government. In return Byrnes and 
Bevin reiterated their willingness to fuse their occupation zone with any other 
zone in order to preserve German unity, but their offer, like the treaty issue 
and so many other issues concerning Germany, were not examined to the full 
in Paris. All continued to hang in the balance. As a consequence Anglo-French 
rapprochement was further away than before.̂ ^̂  

The sharp exchanges during the Paris CFM-sessions between especially 
Bevin and Byrnes on the one hand and Molotov on the other, were a clear 

''̂ . PRO, FO 371/59954, Z 6814/20/17G, FO Minute Harvey, 25/07/46. 
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expression of the deterioration in the East-West relationship. After the 
relatively successful meeting of Molotov, Byrnes and Bevin in Moscow in 
December 1945 relations had markedly hardened. The fight over the 
withdrawal of the Soviet troops from Iran; Soviet reassertion of its rights in the 
Turkish Dardanelles; the inability to agree on any substantial issue in the 
Allied Control Council (ACC) in Berlin (owing incidentally as much to French 
as to Soviet intransigence); the reinterpretation of Soviet long-term objectives 
by US and British diplomats in Moscow^ ;̂ all contributed to a steadily 
growing apart of the one-tune allies. The clashes in Paris merely reinforced the 
growing rift. 

In a clear response to Molotov's July-declaration, Byrnes in a speech in 
Stuttgart, on 6 September, marked the next stage in the emerging Cold War. 
He advocated the economic revival of Germany since "European recovery, 
particularly in Belgium, the Netherlands and other adjoining states will be slow 
indeed if Germany (...) is turned into a poorhouse."^^ Therefore Germany 
had to be treated as one economic and political unit. France's claims to the 
Saar could not be denied, but as far as the separation of the Ruhr and 
Rhineland was concerned "the United States will not support any encroachment 
on territory which is indisputably German". British-US negotiations quickly led 
to the decision to merge their occupation zones in Germany in the Bizone on 1 
January 1947. The Soviets and the French refused to follow suit. 

However, despite their differences over policy in Germany, the British 
and French were able to arrive at a break-through with regard to the projected 
treaty of alliance. Following the approval of the new constitution of the French 
Fourth Republic and a general election on 10 November 1946, France was 
faced by a political impasse. A majority in the French parliament was not 
prepared to accept a communist prime minister (the PCF had become the 
dominant party, commanding 28% of the electorate). Until a new president had 
been elected in January, the political parties therefore turned to an interim 
solution: a socialist minority government headed by the veteran leader Leon 
Blum. His government lasted only one month (from mid-December 1946 until 
mid-January 1947), but it took important decisions with regard to Germany 
and the alliance issue. ̂ ^ Taking advantage of the fact that communists and 
christian democrats were not represented (as opposed to the situation in March-
April), the socialist Blum reached agreement with his fellow socialists Attlee 
and Bevin to conclude the long-awaited treaty of alliance. 

Initially, it seemed unlikely that the issue would be brought to a 
successful conclusion. Shortly before Christmas, Permanent Under-Secretary of 
State Orme Sargent suggested Bevin to use the occasion of the installation of 
the first French government under the constitution of the Fourth Republic to 
conclude the Anglo-French alliance. Echoing sentiments expressed on and off 

•̂ . Cf. Greenwood, 'Frank Roberts and the "Other" Long Telegram', pp. 103-122 and 
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since 1944, Sargent intimated that the conclusion of such an alliance might 
prove the beginning of the creation of a Western European group "which will 
enable us to deal on a footing of equality with our two gigantic colleagues, the 
USA and USSR." Although Bevin expressed his agreement in principle, he 
considered the time not ripe: "I am in favour of waiting a little while 
longer. "̂ ^ 

A personal initiative by the British ambassador in Paris, Alfred Duff 
Cooper (a long-time advocat of British-French rapprochement and the creation 
of a Western European regional association^^), provided the actual break­
through. Cooper advised Blum during a visit on Boxing Day to seek an 
alliance with Britain. For a short moment Blum wavered, but on New Year's 
Day he sent a personal letter to Attlee suggesting a meeting in London to 
discuss mutual problems, ranging from coal deliveries from the British zone to 
a possible treaty of alliance. The British reacted favourably and from 13 to 16 
January 1947 Blum visited London. In an atmosphere of socialist brotherhood 
(as Young puts it) old differences suddenly seemed unimportant. Bevin 
expressed his willingness to increase British coal exports to France and to 
support French attempts to create firm controls on Germany. In return, Blum 
publicly agreed to negotiate a treaty of alliance, ignoring the previous French 
policy of seeking hard concessions on Germany in return for such a treaty. 

After his return to Paris Blum resigned. The newly-elected president, 
the socialist Vincent Auriol, designated on 18 January fellow socialist Paul 
Ramadier as his successor. Ramadier headed a new coalition government of 
communists, socialists and christian democrats in which Bidault returned to 
office as Foreign Minister. The latter as well as the communists were highly 
critical of the Attlee-Bevin-Blum talks. According to Bidault, Blum had given 
away France's trump card, but given the strong position of the socialists he 
was not in a position to overturn Blum's initiatives. On 25 January he 
therefore informed the British that he was prepared to negotiate; a few days 
later negotiations started in earnest between Sargent and the French 
ambassador in London, Rene Massigli. 

In mid-Febmary British and French exchanged draft treaties. Both had 
based their drafts on their respective anti-German treaties of alliance with the 
Soviet Union. Given the many similarities in these treaties, only one major 
problem surfaced during the actual negotiations. The French draft provided not 
only for mutual assistance in the case of German aggression, but also for joint 

^°. PRO, FO 371/67670, Z 25/25/17G, Sargent to Bevin, 21/12/46 -t- comment Bevin. The 
conclusion of the Treaty of Dunkirk has been the subject of several studies. Cf. Baylis, 'Britain 
and the Dunkirk Treaty', pp. 236-247; Wiebes & Zeeman, 'Het Verdrag van Duinkerken', pp. 
504-512; Greenwood, 'Return to Dunkirk', pp. 49-65; and Young, Britain, France and the Unity 
of Europe, pp. 43-51. The historical evidence is discussed in: Zeeman, 'Britain and the Cold 
War', pp. 343-367. 

19 . See: Charmley, 'Duff Cooper and Western European Union', pp. 53-64; and Young, 
'Duff Cooper and the Paris Embassy', pp. 98-120. 
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action to eliminate any new German menace to world peace.•^^ The Foreign 
Office felt this commitment too vague and far-reaching. It wanted to keep the 
wording of the treaty as strict as possible to the wording of the Anglo-Soviet 
treaty. Again the French had to give in. Mutual assistance remained limited to 
the case of German aggression; all other German threats to peace merely 
bound the parties to consult about joint action. The British Cabinet accepted 
this compromise on 25 February; the French followed three days later. Bevin, 
en route to Moscow for the next CFM-session, and Bidault (seconded by 
Cooper and Massigli) signed the treaty on a cold and wet 4 March 1947 in 
Dunkirk. 

The Treaty of Dunkirk consists of six articles.•^^ In article II, the core 
of the treaty, the parties agree that if one of them should again become 
involved in hostilities with Germany as a consequence either of a German 
attack, agreed action under article I, or as a result of enforcement action taken 
against Germany by the UN Security Council 

"the other High Contracting Party will at once give the High Contracting Party 
so involved in hostilities all the military and other support and assistance in its 
power." 

Articles I (referred to above) and III constitute the compromise. They stipulate 
the obligation of the parties to consult each other with a view to joint action in 
the event of 1) a threat to the security of either of them arising from Germany 
adopting a policy of aggression, German action to facilitate such a policy or 2) 
either party being prejudiced by the failure of Germany to fulfil any obligation 
of an economic nature imposed on her. 

Both Greenwood and Young conclude with regard to the Treaty of 
Dunkirk that it signified the end of a distinct era, lasting from 1944 to 1947, in 
which it had been hoped to build world peace on the cooperation of the Great 
Powers and the UNO. The treaty, directed against German aggression, 
completed the triangular treaty-system between Britain, France and the Soviet 
Union and cemented as such the anti-German alliance.^^ With the benefit of 
hindsight this is undoubtedly correct. At the time, however, the era 
Greenwood and Young are referring to did not seem to be at its end yet. The 
conclusion of the Dunkirk Treaty marked the revival in early 1947 of the inter­
war security-through-bilateralism-trend, likewise marked by the efforts to 
renegotiate the 1942 Anglo-Soviet treaty, British and French intentions to 
widen the network of bilateral treaties to their smaller neighbours on the 

^". British documentation on the negotiations in: PRO, FO 371/67670 and FO 371/67671. 
French documentation (according to Young) in: Archives of the French Foreign Ministry, Paris, 
File Z/Grande Bretagne/37 (23 January-19 March). Also: Cooper, Old Men Forget, pp. 369-
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European continent, and attempts to reforge the pre-war triangular treaty-
system between France, Poland and Czechoslovakia. 

Since the end of the war in Europe, the five bilateral treaties of alliance 
that had been concluded during the war, had only been supplemented by three 
treaties negotiated by Marshall Josip Broz Tito's Yugoslavia.-^^ All eight 
treaties were concluded with one primary aim in mind: to prevent a resurgence 
of German military might in Europe and, in case of renewed German 
aggression, to provide for mutual assistance. These bilateral treaties were 
clearly seen as secondary and subordinate to the obligations entered into under 
the Charter of the UN. The Dunkirk Treaty was consistent with these 
previously concluded treaties and acted as such as a catalyst for other attempts 
along the same track. 

The rejuvination of the 1942 Anglo-Soviet treaty is the most peculiar 
case in point. During a courtesy visit of Fieldmarshal Bernard Montgomery to 
the Soviet Union, Stalin to the surprise of the British proposed to bring the 
five year-old treaty, which in his opinion had been overtaken by events, 'up to 
date'.'^'^ The Foreign Office, after receiving Montgomery's report on his 
visit, was puzzled about the precise intentions of the Soviets. It did not act 
upon Stalin's overture, although Bevin was authorized by the Cabinet to 
negotiate a revision of the treaty. The draft of an Anglo-Soviet treaty identical 
to the Anglo-French treaty-in-the-making was prepared. During the Moscow 
CFM the Soviets renewed their advances and Bevin therefore again asked the 
British Cabinet, from Moscow, authorization to renegotiate a treaty of alliance 
with the Soviet Union "going as far as, but no further than, the Anglo-French 
Treaty. "2^ 

The Cabinet approved his suggestion and in the end of March 
negotiations started in earnest between the British ambassador in Moscow, 
Maurice Peterson, and the Soviet Deputy Foreign Secretary, Andrei 
Vyshinsky. The Soviets tested the British willingness by proposing provisions 
which clearly went beyond those embodied in the Dunkirk Treaty. Bevin 
reacted positively. On 16 April he asked authorization to accept a provision 
obliging the treaty powers to assist each other in the case of aggression by a 
power allied to Germany and the provision obliging the treaty powers not to 
act in a way contrary to the interests of the other party. Before the special 
session of the Cabinet had taken place, Bevin retraced his steps. On 18 April 
he cabled from Moscow that "I have reached the conclusion that it would not 
be safe to go beyond the general scope of the Anglo-French Alliance. "̂ ^ 
Dunkirk was as far as he was prepared to go. 

. See for a full list of bilateral treaties of alliance and/or friendship concluded between 
1942 and 1949: appendix 3. 

. This episode in Anglo-Soviet relations has been somewhat neglected by British authors. 
The only detailed study of the subject is: Knight, 'Labourite Britain', pp. 267-282. 

^^. Cf. Bevin's recapimlation in: PRO, PREM 8/667, Bevin to Attlee, 29/10/47. 

^^. Ibid., Sargent to Attlee, 16/04/47 and Bevin to FO, 18/04/47. 
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Having tested British resolve, Vyshinsky changed tack. He accepted the 
British draft treaty as the basis for discussion and dropped the suggestion to 
include a provision dealing with actions contrary to the interests of the other 
party. At this point the negotiations, which had been taking place intermittently 
in the margin of the CFM-session, were adjourned on 28 May with the ball 
clearly on the British side. Peterson advised the Foreign Office to accept the 
treaty in its revised form. 

His advice reached the Foreign Office at the same time that internal 
studies to enlarge the scope of British treaty commitments in Western Europe 
to Belgium and the Netherlands came to their conclusion. Bevin publicly 
expressed his willingness to conclude such treaties on 4 March at the Brussels 
railway station en route to Moscow: 

"I have just signed a treaty of alliance with France. I hope soon to sign a similar 
one with Belgium and with all our good neighbours in the West. "^' 

During the Moscow CFM action was postponed, but Bevin immediately 
ordered a serious study of the issue after his return home from Moscow and a 
high-level meeting at the Foreign Office on 7 May 1947. During this meeting 
Bevin concluded that 

"just as the Americans were in process of strengthening their relations with the 
Latin American countries and the Russians had brought all their neighbours to 
the West into dieir orbit it was also in our (i.e. British) interest to place our 
relations with our own neighbours on as firm a footing as possible."^* 

Overtures by the smaller Western European countries should no longer be 
discouraged and Bevin ordered the drafting of a cabinet paper after the Chiefs 
of Staff (CoS) had been consulted on the subject. 

A month later, the CoS responded favourably. In their opinion Britain 
only stood to gain from treaties with Belgium and the Netherlands. Such 
treaties could prove the starting point of the establishment of a Western 
European region of defence. Shortly thereafter, on 17 June, the Foreign Office 
completed the draft cabinet paper. It proposed the conclusion of bilateral 
treaties of alliance with both Belgium and the Netherlands along the general 
lines of the Dunkirk Treaty.^^ The British Cabinet now had to decide. 

These British endeavours took place alongside French willingness in 
principle to conclude treaties of alliance with Belgium and the Netherlands; 
readiness to revise its treaty with the Soviet Union; and attempts to revive its 
inter-war treaties with Poland and Czechoslovakia. Discussions on the latter 
issue had been initiated in the spring of 1946 by the Poles who proposed the 

^ ' . PRO, FO 371/67663, Z 2391/2188/4, Declaration by Bevin in Brussels, 05/03/47. Also: 
PRO, FO 371/67724, Z 1308/737/72G, Harvey to Knatchbull Hugessen, 24/02/47. 

^^. Ibid., FO Minute Rumbold, 07/05/47. 

^^. Cf. ibid., Z 5705/737/72G, Stapleton (CoS) to Butler enclosing J.P. (47) 70, 06/06/47 
and Z 5971/737/72G, FO Minute Hogg widi draft cabinet paper and draft treaties, 17/06/47. 
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signature of a Declaration of Friendship between France and Poland along the 
lines of a similar French-Czechoslovakian declaration signed in 1944.^^ 
Negotiations ended in deadlock during the summer, but shortly after assuming 
office in January 1947 Bidault suddenly took a renewed interest. Visits by the 
Czech foreign minister Jan Masaryk and his Polish colleague Zygmunt 
Modzelewski to Paris for the signature of the peace treaties with the former 
enemy states were seized upon by Bidault to reach an agreement. In February 
the conclusion of a French-Czechoslovakian and a French-Polish treaty of 
alliance were made public. 

Having taken this step, Bidault wavered. During his stay in Moscow the 
Quai d'Orsay refrained from any further initiative. Poles and the Czechs 
however acted. First they concluded among themselves a treaty of alliance on 
10 March and shortly thereafter the Poles submitted a draft treaty along the 
lines of the Franco-Soviet treaty of 1944. The Czechs followed suit in April 
presenting a similar draft. Only after Bidault returned from Moscow and 
another month of delay, the French finally submitted their counterproposal to 
the Czechs on 31 May. Modzelewski was told that in the French order of 
priorities the treaty with Czechoslovakia preceded the Polish one. Work on 
drafting the treaties began in earnest in mid-June. 

All these British and French attempts, half-hearted as some of them 
may have been, foundered on the crucial turn to the worst in the East-West 
relationship in the summer of 1947. Shortly after the conclusion of the 
Dunkirk Treaty, the Truman Doctrine inaugurated a new stage in post-war 
international relations. Truman's 12 March declaration of support for the non-
communist nations in the world almost predestined the fate of the fourth 
session of the CFM in Moscow. East and West disagreed in extensive detail on 
the measures to be taken with regard to Germany. The clashes between 
Molotov on the one side and Bevin and George Marshall (Byrnes' successor as 
Secretary of State) on the other forced the French to take sides in the ever­
growing rift. Although the session ended in almost complete deadlock, it did 
not yet signify the end of Great Power cooperation. All participants evaluated 
the session as a first clash over Germany in which positions had been taken up. 
The next CFM-session, to be held in London in November 1947, should prove 
the real test.-̂ ^ 

On the other hand, lines started to get drawn. The French, who had 
tried to mediate in the previous period and to maintain links with both East and 
West, slowly came over to the Anglo-Saxon side. The pro-Western trend in 
French policy, which had been inaugurated by the conclusion of the Dunkirk 
Treaty and had been strengthened by Bidault's performance during the Moscow 
CFM, was crowned in May by the withdrawal of the communists from the 

^^. Cf. Borodziej, 'Polen und Frankreich 1945-1947', pp. 79-111; Young, France, the Cold 
War, pp. 122-125; and Auriol, Journal du Septennat, T. 1, pp. 243-244, 331-332 and 473. 

-I] 

. Cf. for instance: NMFA, Embassy London Secret Archives, Box 31, C8/23, Folder 
Moscow CFM, Michiels van Verduynen to Van Boetzelaer, No. 76, 30/04/47; and HSTL, Naval 
Aide Files, Box 19, Folder Intelligence Reviews May '47, Intelligence Review, No. 63, 
01/05/47. 
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Ramadier government (followed shortly by the dismissal of their Italian 
colleagues from the Italian coalition cabinet). Not for nothing the British CoS 
already underlined in the summer of 1947 in their advice regarding the 
conclusion of treaties of alliance the nature of these alliances as treaties only 
nominally directed against a revival of German aggression.^^ 

The offer of economic assistance by Marshall in his speech on 5 June 
1947 provided in the end the real testing-ground for the future of East-West 
cooperation. Bevin immediately responded to Marshall's speech and ordered 
the draft cabinet paper on treaties with Belgium and the Netherlands to be held 
in abeyance. Despite protests by for instance Harvey, who claimed that the 
Belgians were losing heart, he put all his stakes on the discussions on 
Marshall's offer: "I have great doubts about pressing political issues at a 
moment when I am trying to keep everything on the economic plane. "̂ ^ The 
diplomatic activity resulting from Marshall's speech (the abortive Bevin-
Bidault-Molotov discussions in Paris in June-July, followed by the 16 nations-
conference in July-September also in Paris) temporarily pushed the issue of 
bilateral treaties of assistance to the background. Progress on British treaties 
with Belgium and the Netherlands; the rejuvination of the Anglo-Soviet treaty; 
and France's treaties with Poland and Czechoslovakia all virtually came to a 
standstill. 

Blockbuilding, on the other hand, gained momentum. After his 
unsuccessful conversations in Paris, Molotov negotiated in July-August within 
six weeks six commercial treaties with Bulgaria, Czechoslovakia, Hungary, 
Yugoslavia, Poland and Rumania (the so-called Molotov Plan). At the end of 
September the communist parties of the Eastern European countries, France 
and Italy gathered in Poland at Szlarska Preba for the creation of the 
Communist Information Bureau (Cominform), the new instrument by which 
Moscow would try to influence its satellites. In the following months France 
and Italy experienced the fiercest strikes of the post-war period. On 27 
November 1947, Yugoslavia and Bulgaria concluded a new treaty of alliance, 
the first in a long row of 16 of such treaties which would bring together the 
Eastern European countries in a closely-knit network of bilateral treaties of 
alliance. ̂ ^ 

The West reacted in similar vein. During discussions between Bevin 
and Ramadier in September in London, the former indicated that since lines 
started to get drawn "The time had now come for a return to the political 
plane." The Western countries should start to organize themselves into a 
coherent unit.^^ His suggestion was not immediately acted upon, although in 

"''. Cf. PRO, FO 371/67724, Z 5705/737/72G, Stapleton (CoS) to Butier, 06/06/47 (our 
emphasis). 

•̂ .̂ Ibid., Z 5971/737/72G, Comment Bevin on FO Minute Hogg and Dixon to Harvey, 
25/06/47; and Z 6791/737/72G, Harvey to Sargent, 11/07/47 -I- Comment Bevin. 

. See appendix 4. Cf. Loth, 'Die doppelte Eindammung', pp. 611-631. 

35 
. Cf. Young, Britain, France and the Unity of Europe, pp. 70-71; and Baylis, 'Britain, 

the Brussels Pact', p. 619. 
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the western hemisphere a precedent had been set. On 2 September 1947, 
nineteen American nations signed the Inter-American Treaty of Reciprocal 
Assistance in Rio de Janeiro. The nineteen agreed 

"that an armed attack by any State against an American state shall be considered 
as an attack against all American states and, consequently, each one of the said 
Contracting Parties undertakes to assist in meeting the attack in the exercise of 
the inherent right of individual or collective self-defence recognized by Article 51 
of die Charter of the United Nations. "̂ ^ 

Within two weeks of the signature of the Rio Treaty the influential editor of 
Foreign Affairs. Hamilton Fish Armstrong, and the Canadian Foreign 
Secretary, Louis St. Laurent, proposed the creation of other organizations, 
alongside the UN, for the maintenance of international peace and national 
security.-^^ 

These suggestions fell on fertile ground. At the State Department and 
the Foreign Office plans to this effect were being discussed in earnest, but all 
involved accepted the necessity to wait for the outcome of the fifth session of 
the CFM scheduled to convene in November in London. Before the conference 
opened on 25 November, the treaty negotiations between Britain and the Soviet 
Union on the one hand and between France and Czechoslovakia and Poland on 
the other failed for good. That failure was repeated by Bevin, Bidault, 
Marshall and Molotov during their three week-conference in London. Unable 
to agree on any issue with regard to Germany the foreign ministers adjourned 
sine die on 15 December 1947. Wartime cooperation definitely had come to an 
end. The universalist One World-conception had foundered on the antagonisms 
between the one-time allies. East and West decided to go their separate ways. 
Seventeen months later, in May 1949, the CFM reconvened for the sixth time, 
according to schedule in Paris. Meanwhile the international situation had 
changed fundamentally. The Western nations had used the interim period to 
create two of the longest lasting alliances, the Brussels Treaty and the North 
Atlantic Treaty. 

§ 3.2 Impotence and Frustration. 

§ 3.2.1 The rise and fall of the Roval Question 
The day the Potsdam communique was made public, 2 August 1945, also saw 
the birth of the second Van Acker-cabinet. After their defeat in the Chamber 
regarding the plebiscite on Leopold's return on the throne, the Catholic Party 
refused to rejoin Van Acker's coalition cabinet. They were replaced by liberal-
minded conservatives and christian democrats creating a government again 
more to the left than its predecessor. 

. United Nations Treaty Series, Vol. 21, pp. 93-105. 

. See: Reid, Time of Fear and Hope, pp. 32-33. 
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The advent of Van Acker's second cabinet inaugurated a period of 
instability in Belgian internal affairs which lasted until March 1947. During 
this period of 20 months Belgium was governed by four different left-of-centre 
cabinets, most of the time coalitions of communists, socialists and 
conservatives. The binding element between these three groups was primarily 
of a negative nature, i.e. their determination to force Leopold (who had moved 
to Switzerland in October 1945) to abdicate and to deny the catholics a chance 
to dominate a new government. Whereas socialists and catholics were much 
closer to each other in the economic sphere than for instance the communists 
and conservatives (to state only the most obvious case), between them there 
was the wide (and for the time being unbridgeable) gap of the Royal Question. 
From the fall of 1946 onwards, secret negotiations between the leadership of 
the socialist and catholic parties were conducted, but these proved unsuccessful 
until the communist ministers resigned in March 1947 and catholics and 
socialists were able to agree to disagree regarding the Royal Question. 
Communal strive between the Flemish and Walloon communities, and the 
purging of war criminals and collaborators intensified an already instable 
internal situation. 

The Royal Question being the only really divisive issue between the 
major parties, the Catholic Party ensured its primacy in Belgian internal affairs 
by taking the issue to the electorate in the upcoming, first post-war general 
elections in February 1946. Five major parties participated in these general 
elections. From left to right on the Belgian political spectrum, the Belgian 
Communist Party (Kommunistische Partij Belgie, KPB), the Belgian Socialist 
Party (Belgische Socialistische Partij, BSP; formerly the Belgian Workers 
Party), the Belgian Democratic Union (Union Democratique Beige, UDB), the 
Liberal Party and the Christian People's Party (Christelijke VolksPartij, CVP; 
the rechristened Catholic Party).^^ 

The elections were held on 17 February 1946. The parties at the 
extremes of the political spectrum were most successful in these elections for 
both Chamber of Deputies and Senate. The CVP again became the largest 
party in the Chamber (at 92 gaining 19 seats), lacking one seat in the Senate 
for an overall majority (83 out of 167). At the other side of the political 
spectrum, the KPB made a gain of 14, now occupying 23 seats in the 
Chamber. KPB and BSP combined were as strong in the Chamber as the CVP, 
the BSP commanding 69 seats (a gain of 5 compared to its pre-war 
representation). The Liberal Party and the UDB clearly lost these elections. 
The number of seats occupied by the Liberal Party was cut in half (from 33 to 
17), while the UDB, having two ministerial posts in the Van Acker-cabinet, 
only occupied one seat in the new Chamber.^^ The traditional parties 
regained their pre-war position. Kramer correctly observes that "the disastrous 
electoral failure" of the UDB indicated "how little the war-time experience had 

. Contemporary accounts by leading politicians in: Simpson, 'Belgium in Transition', pp. 
5-25. 

39 
. Cf. appendix 5 (Belgian and Dutch election results 1945-1949). 
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changed the voting behaviour of the population." Restoration prevailed over 
renewal. "̂^ 

The election results presented the country with a stalemate. Neither left 
nor right commanded a majority. Six weeks of political manoeuvring 
(including a six-day cabinet led by Spaak) resulted in a third coalition cabinet 
headed by Van Acker. The conservatives were only won over to another leftist 
government "by increasing his (i.e. Van Acker's) bait to gargantuan proporti­
ons."^^ Their representation in the coalition (6 out of 19 cabinet seats) bore 
no relation at all to their parliamentary strength. It was the price the BSP and 
the KPB had to pay for another anti-Leopold coalition. The binding element in 
the coalition gradually but steadily eroded. The cabinet lacked internal 
cohesion as well as an inspiring leader. Within four months the government 
was brought down in the Senate. Van Acker refused to renegotiate, advocating 
instead talks with the CVP. The BSP-leadership rejected such an approach and 
consequently Camille Huysmans, a BWP-veteran, reconstituted in fact a fourth 
Van Acker-coalition without Van Acker. However, the erosion did not come to 
a halt. Spaak, for instance, was unable to include any senators belonging to the 
governmental parties in his delegation to the UN General Assembly in 
December 1946 because the government would face instantaneous defeat in the 
Senate. The CVP rejected a temporary truce."̂ ^ 

Huysmans's government survived a ministerial crisis in November 
1946, but four months later the curtain fell. Against the background of 
rumours about secret negotiations between Van Acker and CVP-chairman 
August De Schrijver on the one hand and a temporary economic crisis as a 
result of the fierce winter of 1947 on the other, the communist ministers 
resigned on 12 March 1947 after refusing an increase in the price of coal. 
Within a week Spaak (not Van Acker who had been somewhat compromised 
by his secret negotiations with the CVP) presented a 'red-black' coalition to 
parliament. The knowledge that there was no other option facilitated an early 
compromise agreement. 

The departure of the KPB-ministers has been linked to two other 
important events in the same months of 1947. On the one hand, it has been 
linked directly to the Marshall Plan by a number of Belgian historians and 
political scientists.'̂ ^ This link is quite misleading. Communist participation 
in the government ended three months before Marshall held his 

. Kramer, 'Belgian socialism at the liberation', p. 118. Likewise: Witte & Craeybeckx, 
Politieke geschiedenis van Belgie sinds 1830, p. 268. 

'^^. Kramer, 'Belgian socialism at die liberation', p. 134; and PRO, FO 371/59858, Z 
3102/81/4, Knatchbull Hugessen to FO, No. 72, 30/03/46 and Z 3225/81/4, Knatchbull Hugessen 
to Bevin, No. 146, 03/04/46. 

. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 19, Folder UNO I, Van Harinxma to 
Van Boetzelaer, Res. (VI)-9392/2704, 14/10/46. 

. Cf. Luykx, Politieke geschiedenis van Belgie, dl. 2, pp. 441-442; Witte & Craeybeckx, 
Politieke geschiedenis van Belgie sinds 1830, pp. 321 and 333; Witte, 'Tussen restauratie en 
vernieuwing', p. 48. 
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Harvard-speech on the 5th of June. Even if we link their departure to the 
Truman Doctrine ('the other half of the same walnut'), pure chronology would 
presuppose an automic linkage between these two events (12 March: in 
anticipation of Truman's speech the resignation of KPB-ministers) which 
simply is unwarranted. Nevertheless, in 1947 already attempts were made to 
rewrite history. The Dutch ambassador in Brussels, B. Ph. baron van 
Harinxma thoe Slooten, reported in June 1947, after he had had a conversation 
with Spaak, that the latter was disturbed about the present international 
situation adding "It is certainly no coincidence that immediately after the 
Moscow conference the Italian, French and Belgian communists left the 
government."'̂ '* On the other hand, the end to communist presence in the 
Belgian government has been linked to similar developments in France and 
Italy in May 1947. As De Schrijver concludes in a retrospective: "The Belgian 
example to eluninate Communists from the government was followed soon in 
France and Italy. "'̂ ^ Two questions need to be answered in this respect: 1) is 
it possible to compare the situation in the three countries concerned?, and 2) is 
it possible to describe the Belgian experience as an 'example' which was 
followed in France and Italy? 

When we try to compare the Belgian political situation on the one hand 
and the French and Italian on the other, two circumstances must be kept in 
mind. First, communist participation in the French and Italian coalition 
cabinets was based on an electoral support of between 20 and 30% for PCF 
and PCI, whereas the KPB conmianded in 1946 only 13% of the electorate. In 
contrast to the French and Italian situation, in Belgium the BSP was the main 
working-class party and the elimination of the communist presence from the 
government therefore was of a less drastic nature. The new BSP-CVP coalition 
represented nearly 75% of the electorate and commanded 161 out of 202 seats 
in the Chamber. Second, communist participation in the Belgian government 
was closely related to the Royal Question. The CVP had outmanoeuvred itself 
in July 1945 by siding with Leopold. Consequently, as long as the two major 
parties (BSP and CVP) were not willing to compromise on the Royal Question, 
communist participation was essential to any other governmental combination 
to secure a majority in parliament. This was quite a different situation 
compared to the French and Italian political scenes, where christian democrats 
and socialists from 1945 onwards cooperated in coalition cabinets including, 
but not necessarily needing, communists. 

Nevertheless, the participation of communist ministers in the Belgian 
government was also, just like their presence in the French and Italian 
governments, part of the general swing to the left immediately after the war in 
Europe. Therefore, one is entitled to compare the Belgian to the French and 
Italian situations, keeping in mind the differences indicated above, and to ask 
oneself: was this a general trend of getting rid of the communists, to begin 
with in Belgium and followed soon in France and Italy? 

. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 14, Folder France, Van Harinxma to 
Van Boetzelaer, Res. (VI.4e) - 4842/ 1629, 11/06/47. 

45 
. De Schrijver, 'De oprichting en leiding', p. 575. 
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The gradual deterioration in the East-West relationship naturally made 
itself felt in the domestic political scene in the European countries. To state 
otherwise, is to disregard the obvious. Just as the communist parties had 
benefitted from their wartime resistance and the role performed by the Soviet 
Union in the World War II, they now had to bear the brunt in the anti-Soviet 
attacks which were becoming more and more frequent each day. Despite the 
fact that there did not function a Communist International as yet, communist 
parties were identified with the policies executed by Moscow and their 
allegiance to the nation state was increasingly questioned. The KPB was even 
dubbed the 'alien party'.^^ 

The Belgian communists could not look back at a fruitful participation 
in government. Essentially the pre-war economic structures had been rebuilt; 
working-class unity had not been achieved; communist ministers had been 
delegated secondary cabinet posts; and the only really positive achievement 
was the fact that Leopold still had not returned to the throne. Looked upon 
from the party's point of view, continued participation in the government did 
not command itself. 

Therefore, international and internal developments both pointed in the 
same direction and the economic problems in the beginning of 1947 made the 
decision all the more easier. The cold winter of 1947 caused a dramatic 
shortage of especially fuel and coal, but also of foodstuffs. Unemployment rose 
sharply in the first two months of 1947. Total unemployment almost trippled 
between November 1946 and February 1947. For the first time since the end 
of the war, growth of industrial production temporarily came to a halt. 
Differences between conservatives and communists regarding financial policy 
finally came to a head. Huysmans, according to Spaak unable to control his 
ministers^^, was not able to bridge the differences anymore. Finally, on 12 
March the communist ministers refused to accept an increase in the price of 
coal and tendered their resignation. 

Two months later both in France and Italy communist governmental 
participation also came to an end. Giving due regard to specific national 
circumstances, one is more than tempted to describe these events as a general 
trend. Leftist influence on governmental policy was indeed markedly 
diminished and the influence of the deterioration in the relations between East 
and West was significant. To state however that there was a 'Belgian example' 
or 'Belgian model' which was followed soon elsewhere, is only correct in the 
sense that primarily because of motives related to home affairs the KPB, PCF 
and PCI decided within a short timespan to end their governmental 
participation. There is no 'Belgian example' in the sense that Belgium was the 

. Luykx, Politieke geschiedenis van Belgie, dl. 2, p. 199. 

'*̂ . PRO, FO 123/621, No. 124/16/47, unsigned memo, 01/03/47; and No. 124/19/47, 
Harrison to Bevin, No. 109, 08/03/47. 



101 

first 'victim' of a concerted move to eliminate communist presence from 
Western European governments.'*^ 

The crisis created by the communist walk-out, was solved in a very 
short period. Spaak, the compromise figure in the BSP between the left-wing 
representative Huysmans and the right-wing advocate Van Acker^^, started at 
once negotiations with the four major parties and he was able to strike a deal 
between socialists and catholics in the socio-economic and financial fields. The 
conservatives and communists were not able to go along with this agreement 
and therewith declined to take part in the new government. Two issues had to 
be decided upon before the first post-war 'red-black' coalition cabinet could be 
formed. As regards the Royal Question, the parties concerned decided to agree 
to disagree. Both parties stuck to their original positions, i.e. the socialists 
rejected the return of Leopold, while the catholics still favoured a plebiscite. In 
its declaration of policy, the government pledged solemnly to seek a solution 
acceptable to all concerned, but both parties knew this to be a mission impossi­
ble. Consequently, the Royal Question would not be solved until the next 
general election (to be held according to the constitution in 1950) when 
different results might pave the way for a solution one way or the other. The 
second issue, the so-called 'school struggle', was solved likewise. The parties 
concerned decided to honour the status quo, i.e. not to change the existing 
ways of financing public and private schools. Given these compromises the 
party leadership of both BSP and CVP faced considerable opposition within 
their own quarters. Lacking a viable alternative the opposition was easily 
overcome. 

On 20 March 1947 the second post-war cabinet headed by Paul-Henri 
Spaak was sworn in. Besides occupying the post of prime minister, Spaak also 
remained Foreign Minister. Despite their far stronger parliamentary position, 
the CVP accepted the leadership of Spaak, with Gaston Eyskens as his second-
in-command at the ministry of Finance. Cabinet seats were divided evenly 
among the two parties, reflecting the post-war tradition not to relate actual 
parliamentary strength to coalition relations. Colonel Raoul De Fraiteur 
remained at the ministry of Defence, which, combined with Spaak's return, 
provided a strong element of continuity in foreign and security policy. The 
new cabinet presented itself to parliament on 25 March, receiving a vote of 
confidence with a wide margin. Significantly, the communist parliamentarians 
abstained, while those voting against the government all belonged to the 
Liberal Party. 

The arrival of the BSP-CVP coalition started a two year-period of 
relative stability in Belgian internal affairs characterized by the temporary truce 
with regard to the Royal Question. The coalition government enjoyed 

. Cf. the detailed and balanced analyses of Loth, 'Frankreichs Kommunisten', pp. 9-65 and 
Becker, 'Paul Ramadier et I'annee 1947', pp. 221-237. On 12 February 1947 the communist 
ministers resigned from the Luxemburger coalition government because of budgetary cuts. Those 
who want to invoke an 'example' therefore have to speak of the 'Luxemburger example'! 

^^. Internationale Spectator, Vol. 1, No. A.2 (1947), p. 11; and PRO, FO 123/621, No. 
124/22/47, Knatchbull Hugessen to Attlee, No. 140, 27/03/47. 
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especially a peaceful first year. Economically the government still reaped the 
fruits of its favourable position vis-a-vis its European neighbours, although 
economic progress was hampered by the lack of economic growth in Western 
Europe. The economic problems which had brought down the previous 
government, proved to be of a temporary nature and the availability of large 
foreign exchange reserves ensured a steady stream of consumer goods. In 
February 1948 for a short period of time strikes erupted, but acting minister of 
Labour Van Acker dealt quite effectively with this social unrest.̂ *^ Politically 
the former enemies were able to cooperate effectively, but they had to take 
into account extremists on both sides of their parties. The conservative wing of 
the CVP frequently expressed its distrust over socialist dirigist policies, 
whereas the left-wing faction of the BSP repeatedly warned against the royalist 
leanings of the CVP-leadership. Within the coalition, however, cooperation 
flourished. 

§ 3.2.2 Eagerness in frustration 
The governmental instability in the first twenty months after VJ-Day contrasts 
starkly with the stability in the field of security policy. Apart from the fact that 
Spaak remained at the helm of the ministry for Foreign Affairs (and De 
Fraiteur remained his colleague at the Defence ministry), the government never 
deviated from the principles laid down in its memorandum of November 1944: 
priority was given to the rebuilding of Western Europe under British guidance 
and relations with both its northern and southern neighbour were intensified, 
but never to the extent that it might endanger the larger goal. The primacy of 
the UN in world affairs was, reluctantly, accepted as a fact of life, not as a 
Belgian choice. 

The long-delayed ratification process of the UN Charter presents a clear 
indication of the government's true feelings. When the discussions in the 
Chamber finally took place in the end of October 1945, Spaak was attacked for 
this long delay. In response he told the parliamentarians again about the 
dissatisfaction he personally felt regarding certain provisions of the Charter, 
stressing especially the difference made between the big and smaller powers 
and the veto-provisions. He reiterated his well-known belief that the 
preservation of peace rested above all on the continued cooperation of the Big 
Three. Spaak acknowledged that the Belgian delegation had had to accept 
defeat on a number of provisions, making the Charter in its entirety definitely 
not to his liking. Therefore "it would have been illogic and contradictory to 
rush itself before parliament and to ask it to ratify the Charter." Nevertheless, 
the government had signed the Charter and consequently it now asked for its 
ratification. Most parliamentarians shared Spaak's misgivings about the 
dominant role assigned to the permanent members of the Security Council, but 
in the end a large majority of Chamber and Senate voted in favour of ratifica-
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tion. Outside observers could but notice the "unspirited and desultory" 
character of the debate in parliament.^ ̂  Belgium became officially a member 
of the UN on 27 December 1945. 

In the same parliamentary debate Spaak made no secret of his real 
preferences regarding the ways and means to guarantee Belgian security. 
Pressed upon by parliamentarians of the CVP and the KPB, Spaak outlined his 
long held views about regional cooperation.^^ Belgian security, as well as 
economic reconstmction, could only be realized by cooperation with its 
neighbours in the region. Pointing in the military sphere to Article 53 (Chapter 
VIII) of the Charter, Spaak advocated again regional military cooperation 
without creating a 'Western bloc'. The creation of rival blocs in Europe would 
only lead to an intense struggle for the country at which these blocs should be 
aimed at in the first place, i.e. Germany. 

Spaak still considered Britain the linchpin of any Western European 
regional association. Time and again he stressed the need of a prior 
commitment by the British government before any other steps could be taken. 
According to his chief advisor Van Langenhove, closer cooperation in Western 
Europe was an "obvious and unavoidable trend", but Belgian security interests 
demanded first and foremost "to coordinate its defense system with that of the 
British, much more so than with the French. "̂ -̂  This preference for Britain 
over France was shared by most political parties, although differences in 
emphasis ofcourse still existed. The secretary of the KPB, Jean Terfve, 
advocated a more independent line, warning that the army should not end up as 
"an anti-aircraft defense for the Royal Air Force." On the other hand, leaders 
of the CVP propagated the virtues of North Atlantic cooperation, including the 
United States.^^ 

Because of this British orientation, relations with France remained 
tense. French overtures for closer economic, political and military relations 
were turned down constantly. Alleged French support for the Walloon 
separatists was a permanent source of friction. Spaak sent special emissaries to 
the French government, urging restraint in their support for separatist 
movements; he complained about French obtrusiveness to the British, who told 
him his complaints were delivered to the wrong address; and he was 
umesponsive to deliberate French attempts to improve mutual relations.^^ De 
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Fraiteur reportedly was anti-French and one of his first acts in office was to 
open negotiations with the Dutch to speed up military cooperation. The 
government simply refused to reorient Belgium's foreign policy towards its 
large southern neighbour. Spaak told the third Van Acker-government in 
March 1946 in clear terms that his aims had been and still were "(a) alliance 
with Great Britain and (b) action to encourage Great Britain to enter into a 
Western European combine. "̂ ^ 

In order to give effect to this deep-felt urge and to take advantage of 
the change of government in Britain, Spaak took up important discussions with 
the Labour government in the end of November 1945. Having still in mind the 
rebuff they had encountered a year ago, Spaak and Van Langenhove made 
careful preparations for the discussions with their British counterparts.^^ 
Clinging to the proposals that were embodied in the memorandum they had 
presented to Eden more than a year ago, the Belgians again auned at regular 
consultations in the political field, military cooperation in the British zone of 
occupation in Germany and in the technical field, as well as economic 
collaboration. Essentially they aimed at the acceptance by Bevin of what had 
been denied to them by Eden. 

Spaak had his first encounter with his British colleague on 26 
November. At first, Bevin seemed unresponsive to Spaak's requests for closer 
cooperation in the military and political fields. He just suggested conversations 
at the expert level without committing himself in any way. The only time 
Spaak noticed some enthusiasm on Bevin's side was during the discussions on 
the security of Western Europe. Bevin seemed to share Spaak's views 
regarding the need for cooperation at the technical level which could perhaps 
achieve the results of a regional association without a formal pact being 
concluded. However, Spaak had to conclude that "the ideas expressed 
remained rather vague. "̂ ^ 

The question was dealt with more fundamentally in a meeting of Van 
Langenhove and Director of Political Affairs Herve De Gruben with FO 
officials (amongst others Harvey). Pressing the British for definite 
commitments as regards military cooperation. Van Langenhove stressed anew 
the need for the closest possible cooperation in all fields and the desirability of 
a regional pact as foreseen by the UN Charter. The Head of the Western 
Department, Frederick Robert Hoyer Millar, observed afterwards "In fact, 
they would like to be treated almost like members of the British 
Commonwealth." Harvey tried to slow down the Belgians. He presented 
Bevin's conviction not to endanger the future of the United Nations before 
even the first General Assembly (scheduled for January 1946) had taken place 
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and he tried to steer the Belgians again towards cooperation at the technical 
level without a formal treaty.^^ 

Spaak and Bevin met for the second time on 7 December. In the mean 
time financial and military experts had had numerous discussions during which 
the Belgians time and again had urged upon their British interlocutors the need 
for Anglo-Belgian rapprochement. In a memorandum presented to the British 
on the eve of the second meeting, Spaak indefatigably advocated again a 
regional association within the provisions of the UN Charter. Bevin seemed to 
have been won over after the meeting. He agreed with the establishment of 
joint military committees and the extension of the cooperation to France, 
Luxembourg and the Netherlands. He also supported Spaak's suggestion that 
Belgium propose a treaty of friendship to the Soviet Union and that a member 
of the Belgian embassy confer on a weekly basis with FO officials regarding 
issues of mutual concern. ̂ ^ In his report on his conversation Spaak 
concluded with relief that it finally seemed that steps had been made in the 
direction of the execution of the November 1944-memorandum. 

Perhaps the most surprising element of Spaak's proposals to Bevin was 
the search for British approbation of a Belgian-Soviet treaty of friendship. Two 
reasons were advanced for this proposal. First, to counter the inevitable Soviet 
criticism of creating a hostile bloc, the Belgian government envisaged a direct 
approach to the Soviet Union. Thus substance could be given to the claim that 
they did not aim at a regional association directed at the Soviets. On the 
contrary, Belgium considered itself perfectly suited to act as a bridge between 
East and West. An internal memorandum prepared in the ministry of Foreign 
Affairs in the same month Spaak visited London, dealing with the economic 
virtues of Western European cooperation, explicitly argued the advisability of 
this ultimate aim.̂ ^ That Belgian fears in this respect were well-founded, 
was made clear in conversations between the Prince Regent and Soviet 
ambassador Michail Grigorevic Sergueev during Spaak's visit to London. 
Sergueev reproached the Regent that Belgium was creating an anti-Soviet bloc. 
Unofficially, Andre De Staercke, the Prince Regent's secretary, already 
sounded Sergueev about a Belgian-Soviet treaty.^^ 

Second, Spaak could not shut his eyes to the internal relations in 
Belgium and the cohesion of Van Acker's government. The participation of the 

"". PRO, FO 371/48982, Z 13322/188/4, FO Minute Hoyer- Millar, 28/11/45; BMFA, File 
10957 bis. Memo of Conversation, 28/11/45; and Van Langenhove, La Securite de la Belgique, 
pp. 178-181. 

^^. PRO, FO 371/48982, Z 13657/188/4, Memorandum concerning the conversation of 
Spaak and Bevin, 06/12/45; and Z 13657/188/4, Brief Hoyer-Millar, 07/12/45; BMFA, File 10957 
bis Year 1945, Memorandum of Conversation, 07/12/45; and Memorandum of Conversation Bevin 
and Spaak, 08/12/45; Van Langenhove, La Securite de la Belgique, p. 182; Spaak, Combats 
Inacheves, T. 1, p. 164; and DBPO, Ser. I, Vol. V, pp. 459-464. 

. BMFA, File 12646, Conditions and Possibilities for Success of a Western Union, 
7/11/45. 

^^. PRO, FO 123/592, 181/85/45, Knatchbull Hugessen to Harvey, 30/11/45; and 
181/86/45, Knatchbull Hugessen to FO, No. 392, 11/12/45. 



106 

KPB in government made an orientation exclusively directed towards Britain 
impossible. Terfve for instance advised Spaak, while in London, not to trade a 
"few old warships" for a "one way alliance".^^ To some extent, communist 
governmental participation naturally made itself felt in the policies executed. 

However, this influence should not be exaggarated either. Belgian 
attitudes towards the Soviet Union had not changed fundamentally in the 
closing months of 1945. Differences of opinion did exist of course. Marc 
Taymans, a junior official at the ministry of Foreign Affairs, observed that it 
was hard to distinguish between the Soviet policies in Eastern Europe and a 
policy of unperialism. Soviet claims for security against German aggression 
were justified, but the policies they pursued in the Eastern European countries 
did not seem to be justified by a non-existent German threat. Taymans 
therefore advocated the pursuit of a strong international organization; otherwise 
the Soviet Union might be tempted to use its security glacis for westward 
aggression. On the other hand. Van Langenhove, the principal official at the 
ministry, denied the existence of any Soviet territorial ambitions in Western 
Europe. The opposition of the Soviets to a regional association in the region 
was only of a tactical nature. Another official observed that, taking account of 
the present prostrate state of Germany, "the creation of a system of military 
arrangements in Western Europe could but appear to be directed against the 
U.S.S.R."^'^ 

Spaak used the opportunity of his presidency of the first UN General 
Assembly in London to approach the Soviets. His election as president had 
been made against Soviet wishes, but relations remained relatively cordial. In a 
conversation with the leader of the Soviet delegation, Vyshinsky, Spaak 
explained the main lines of his foreign policy, stressing the need for smaller 
nations to seek regional cooperation in order to deal with their economic and 
military problems. Reiterating his aim of building a bridge between East and 
West, Spaak proposed to Vyshinsky a treaty of friendship on the lines of the 
Anglo-Soviet treaty of alliance of 1942. Vyshinsky reacted favourably to this 
suggestion and told Spaak he would report his conversation to Molotov. No 
official reaction, however, reached Spaak from Moscow and the US charge 
Jefferson Patterson noticed that Spaak regarded the Soviets enigmatic and 
difficult to follow in their mental processes.^^ 
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No fixed attitude towards the Soviet Union was formed during 1946. 
Feelings of anxiety, expressed primarily in private, coexisted with the official 
view that the Soviet Union posed no danger to Western Europe. On the other 
hand, Spaak did not close his eyes to the deterioration in East-West relations. 
At the October 1946-congress of the BSP he stressed the dangers of the 
growing fear and incomprehension between Soviets and Anglo-Saxons, but in 
his opinion not all the blame was on one side. Belgium was to be an element 
of comprehension between East and West.̂ ^ 

Apart from the unresponsiveness of the Soviets, Spaak had to face 
another setback in the spring of 1946. Having returned from the General 
Assembly session in London in February, he was told by Knatchbull Hugessen 
in the first week of March that the British, on second thoughts, were not able 
to conduct the talks Bevin seemed to have assented to in December. Bevin 
gave priority to reaching an agreement with France first. Anglo-Belgian staff 
conversations were considered premature and embarrassing vis-a-vis the 
French government. Spaak protested vehemently. Making such conversations 
dependent upon Anglo-French rapprochement was unacceptable. If he had 
proposed to the French what he had proposed to the British, they would not 
have hesitated. The UN Charter opened all kind of possibilities for regional 
cooperation and "There was nothing to conceal and full legal justification for 
action. "̂ ^ The British, however, did not budge. Spaak had to be content, for 
the time being, with a mere palliative: the weekly sessions at the Foreign 
Office to discuss mutual problems. 

Replying to Hoyer Millar, who asked for the Belgian motive to discuss 
military and political matters on a weekly basis, charge d'affaires Gerard A.J. 
Walravens of the Belgian embassy in London neatly summarized Spaak's 
considerations: 

"Owing to the closeness of the relations between Belgium and this country and 
the conviction of the Belgian government that their future was bound up with the 
future of die United Kingdom, the Belgians would very much prefer to look to us 
for help in the matter than to the United States or the French government. "̂ * 

These developments, however, did not discourage Spaak. In the declaration of 
policy of his one-party minority government, Spaak stated on 19 March in 
crystal clear terms his main line of conduct. Belgium would not become part 
of any political bloc aimed at any other member of the United Nations, but it 
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would seek to solve its problems in a regional framework. The only way to 
guarantee her security would be in such a framework and Spaak, contrary to 
his better knowledge and judgement, stated that he expected that military 
arrangements under Article 53 of the Charter would be concluded soon. 
Likewise, economic cooperation with its neighbours also had to be 
intensified.^^ Three months later, defending his budget in the Chamber, he 
gave proof of the continuity in his policy despite governmental changes. 
Responding to charges of the KPB that he was creating a Western bloc, Spaak 
defended his posture eloquently and referred to the numerous agreements 
concluded in the preceding months in Eastern Europe. 

A formal treaty with Britain and other Western European nations was, 
however, out of the question. During 1946, the only tangible expression of 
Anglo-Belgian rapprochement were discussions between officials of the Royal 
and Belgian Air Forces. These, at least, had resulted from the 
November/December 1945-discussions. Spaak therefore decided to devote all 
his energy to the negotiations over the future of Germany, still considered the 
main threat to Belgian security. 

With regard to Germany, Spaak experienced the same problems that 
other governments of smaller European nations encountered: the countries 
having responsibility for Germany's future were unwilling to involve others in 
their deliberations as long as they did not agree among themselves. Spaak and 
his officials seemed to have several means at their disposal to defend their 
claims. First of all, Belgian participation in the military occupation of 
Germany in the British zone forged a special relationship with the British. At 
some point in 1946 Belgian forces totalled up to one third of the occupation 
forces in the British zone and this very tangible contribution provided the 
Belgians with some leverage in London. However, the British did not seem to 
be impressed by this contribution, while the Dutch and especially the French 
even reproached the Belgian government for occupying areas in Germany 
which they deemed essential to its security and economic wellbeing.^^ When 
Spaak told the French about his conversations with Bevin in December and 
about the decision that Belgian troops would occupy Cologne and its environs, 
their reaction was indignant. Cologne was supposed to be theirs and according 
to the French the British decision in favour of Belgian occupation presented a 
political fait accompli in order to lure Belgium away from its southern 
neighbour. 

Other instruments also failed to have any impact on the attitude of the 
Big Four in the discussions on the future of Germany. Belgium participated in 
the Paris reparations conference in the autumn of 1945, but its influence was 
negligible. Brussels was made the seat of the Inter-Allied Reparations 
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Commission, which had to oversee the distribution of reparation shipments, but 
the government was soon to regret its hospitality. The capital was not yet 
equipped to house such an organization, even if the temporary shut-outs of 
electricity, owing to the coal shortage in the winter of 1945, were left out of 
account. 

The government appointed a military liaison mission to the ACC in 
Berlin, but like similar missions appointed by other allied nations, the mission 
hardly made its presence felt. Other diplomatic means were used as well. 
Again, the British were the prime object of Belgian representations. Bevin 
promised Spaak in the spring of 1946 that he would keep him informed as 
regards the future of the Ruhr and Rhine-areas and that he would try to 
associate the smaller Western European countries in the discussions on these 
areas. It proved to be an empty gesture since Belgium was not allowed to 
participate in the first discussions on Germany during the Paris CFM-meetings. 
The only way the government found itself able at least to present its views, 
was by way of memoranda addressed to the Big Four. The first one of such, 
dealing with territorial revindications, was presented in November 1946. 

It must be noticed that throughout his endeavours to become associated 
with the discussions on Germany, Spaak personally remained true to his 
conviction that Belgium, after all, was a small country and therefore had 
limited demands and limited leverage to become involved. Certainly, he 
wanted to become associated with the talks, but as to the actual arrangements 
he told US charge Theodore C. Achilles: 

"he desires fiill working participation at some level however low. He has no 
(repeat no) thought of participation at ministerial level, would like it at deputy 
level, and would be satisfied (though he said he could not admit it publicly) at 
expert level. "^' 

The fact that the government was unable to have its views listened to or to 
influence the policies of the occupying powers, does not reflect any 
indifference on the part of Belgian politicians and officials. On the contrary, 
Germany was in the front of their thinking about Belgium's future. Both in an 
economic and political sense, Germany presented the prime object. 
Economically, Belgium needed German reparations (in kind, especially coal, 
and in human resources, i.e. forced labourers) as well as German economic 
reconstruction. Decisionmaking regarding both objectives was outside the 
Belgian domain and consequently Spaak concentrated on political issues, 
particularly the future of the Ruhr and Rhineland. This region presented the 
crux to the German problem seen from his perspective. A way had to be found 
to reconcile Belgian security needs with its economic well-being. 

The advent of the latter consideration presented a shift in the Belgian 
attitude towards Germany. During the war, the security issue had dominated 
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all thinking, leading to the advocacy of political dismemberment and a harsh 
peace settlement, including extensive territorial readjustments. The economic 
experience since the liberation and the inescapable fact that the Big Four 
intended (at least, so it seemed) to live by the Potsdam agreement, compelled 
Spaak and his colleagues to reorient their policy. Inevitably, for practical as 
well as for ideological reasons, the change in policy was influenced strongly by 
the policies Bevin was aiming at. 

In the course of 1945 and 1946, Spaak's declared policy became the 
international control of the Ruhr basin, including the participation of the Soviet 
Union, and the employment of its resources to the benefit of Western 
European economic reconstruction. German coal was an essential element of 
that reconstruction and the German economy needed some level of economic 
activity to boost exports and shipping. Closely resembling Bevin's 'Western 
Union'-concept, Spaak and his officials opposed any French schemes to turn 
the Ruhr and Rhineland into independent states. Not just for economic reasons, 
as Spaak made clear to US ambassador Alan Kirk on the eve of the Paris 
CFM. Independent Ruhr and Rhineland states would in the end be absorbed 
into the French political and economic orbit and consequently "Belgium would 
become not much more than an enclave in French territory. "̂ ^ 

This fear had been expressed at the end of 1945 when the zonal 
boundaries in Germany had not been fixed definitely and the first rumours 
regarding French designs in the Rhineland became public. Spaak, visiting 
Washington, told the Americans that they were happy to have the French as 
neighbours in the south, "but they are disturbed over the prospect of having 
them in the east, and thus cutting off Belgium from direct access to Germany 
and the countries of Central Europe. "̂ •̂  In contrast, Belgium's prime 
orientation towards Britain comes again strongly to the fore. Discussing the 
future of the Ruhr with De Gruben, the director of the German section in the 
Dutch ministry of Foreign Affairs, W. Huender, asked bluntly if a British 
commitment dominated all other considerations. De Gruben replied unequivo­
cally in the affirmative.̂ ^ 

As a consequence of this changed attitude towards the future of 
Germany, Spaak also reconsidered his attitude towards territorial 
compensation. In conversations with his Dutch colleagues, he started to limit 
his claims and press his interlocutors to limit theirs too. He told Van 
Kleffens's successor Van Boetzelaer in Paris in September that frontier 
readjustments might be necessary, but they might also impede economic 
reconstruction. Therefore, he was prepared to make a stand against both Dutch 
and French clauns, and even against Belgian public opinion if the territorial 
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readjustments proved to be too extensive. He was prepared to sacrifice shared 
policies if needed.̂ ^ Two months later, Spaak needed some prodding by the 
British before he was prepared to state the Belgian case with regard to 
territorial readjustments. Finally, on 14 November 1946 he presented a 
memorandum dealing with some minor readjustments to the Big Four. 
Comparing the claims with those of the Dutch, they could be considered very 
limited indeed: the Belgians clauned all in all 30 square km (including 3850 
inhabitants) along the Belgian-German border (six German enclaves on Belgian 
territory and a railway track).^^ 

Spaak summed up his position with regard to Germany in a 
conversation with Bevin in New York during the UN General Assembly. He 
complained that his government had felt obliged to state its claims because of 
the claims made by its neighbours. Fortunately, Dutch territorial claims had 
been diminished considerably, but their economic claims were still disproporti­
onate. Spaak repeated his support for Bevin's long term policy in Germany and 
"the necessity of eventually integrating German industry into the economy of 
Europe". He confided that his own problems would be mitigated if he would 
know for sure that the claims put forward by other states would not be 
honoured. Bevin immediately responded to Spaak's fishing expedition: 

"if it was proposed to put forward Belgian economic claims on a scale similar to 
those of other countries, the greater would be the chance of rejection for all these 
claims, since the total would be still more disproportionate to the proposed future 
German economy." 

In other words, Spaak could wreck all claims by the Western European powers 
by raising his own. 

This episode could easily be construed into close Anglo-Belgian 
relations. Of course, relations between the two countries and the two foreign 
secretaries were very cordial, but to conclude that the two nations were united 
is to disregard still existing frictions as well as the lack of progress in the 
realization of the aims put forward in the November 1944-memorandum. As to 
the frictions, De Gruben noticed in the end of 1946 that especially the British 
military government in Germany presented difficulties. Low ranking British 
officers, for instance, were accused of favouring German interests over the 
need of the Belgian troops in that country in the execution of a policy which 
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was already aimed at the preservation and reconstitution of German 
resources. ̂ ^ 

On the other hand, De Gruben also noted the growing need for Britain 
to rely on the smaller Western European countries and the actual state of 
integration between British and Belgian military forces. Logically, this had to 
lead to closer political and diplomatic cooperation as well.^^ The balance 
sheet in this respect, however, was far from satisfying. Bevin had made it 
clear in the spring that a formal treaty as well as staff conversations were out 
of the question as long as Anglo-French rapprochement was in abeyance. No 
progress had been made in that field and the only concessions the British had 
made were some informal conversations between officials of the respective Air 
ministries and the continued training and equipment of Belgian troops by the 
British. It was a long way from the goals that had been set in November 1944. 

Consequently, Cooper's activities in bringing about Anglo-French 
rapprochement in the ultimate days of 1946 were warmly welcomed in 
Brussels. The lack thereof had been the prime reason for the lack of progress 
in the strengthening of Anglo-Belgian relations. The three countries concerned 
were caught in a vicious circle which the Belgians had been unable to break. 
Belgium sought first of all an alliance with Britain. Bevin refused to be 
dragged along before an alliance with France had been concluded. The French 
government, in its turn, attached conditions unacceptable to the British to such 
an alliance and tried at the same time to pull Belgium into its orbit. Spaak, 
however, refused any French overtures as long as his cherished Anglo-Belgian 
alliance did not come about. Anglo-French rapprochement offered the only 
way out. 

Eagerly awaiting the outcome of the Anglo-French deliberations in 
early 1947, Germany temporarily gained the upperhand in Belgian minds. 
Since the Big Four had decided that Germany would be their primary item 
during the upcoming Moscow CFM-meeting, the smaller wartime allies were 
invited to present their views to the Council's Deputies in London. On 20 
January 1947 viscount Alain C.G.M.J.M. Obert de Thieusies, the Belgian 
ambassador in London, presented them two memoranda: one outlining the 
position of the Belgian government regarding the policies of the Big Four in 
Germany and the other dealing with additional Belgian claims with regard to 
Germany. Contacts with the Dutch (who were preparing more significant 
claims) had forced the Belgians to formulate these additional claims of an 
economic nature. Spaak told Knatchbull that he would be placed in a difficult 

°. BMFA, File 10958 bis Year 1947, Memo De Gruben, 19/12/46. 
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position if the extensive Dutch claims would be honoured. He himself was still 
against any drastic measures imposed on Germany.̂ *̂  

In the first memorandum, entitled 'Considerations of the Belgian 
government with respect to allied policy in Germany', the government put 
forward its basic position towards Germany: the former enemy should be 
politically federated, but economically united.̂ ^ They opted for a federal 
state. Thus unity would be maintained without creating a strong centralized 
state. Economic unity was thought desirable to enhance the prosperity of 
Germany as well as that of its neighbours. To counter any threats resulting 
from economic unity, continued supervision of the German economy was 
deemed necessary to ensure the peaceful use of its resources. Military 
occupation should be continued also and if the Big Four decided to end the 
occupation, the government proposed the permanent occupation of the 
Rhineland by Germany's neighbours (i.e. the Benelux-countries and France) 
and the United Kingdom. Besides that, an international authority had to be 
created for the Ruhr-basin in which at least the countries already mentioned 
should be represented. 

Essentially, the government tried to steer a middle course between the 
wishes of the Big Four, or more precisely, the French and British demands. 
On the one hand, Spaak supported the permanent occupation of the Rhineland 
as advocated by the French, but on the other backed the British in their 
demand for political federalism without an economic break-up of Germany (for 
instance by a separation of the Ruhr). A revival of the German economy was 
considered essential to Belgian economic recovery and a sine qua non for the 
realization of the economic claims with regard to Germany which were laid 
down in the second memorandum, 'Memorandum of the Belgian government 
concerning Belgian claims on Germany'.^^ These claims were twofold. First 
and foremost, the government demanded reparation deliveries in kind, i.e. the 
delivery of raw materials (like coal, salt and timber) for a forty year-period. 
Secondly, the government claimed the elimination of all barriers to Belgian 
shipping on the Rhine and adjoining rivers. De Gruben defended this position 
before the Deputies on 31 January in London. ̂ ^ 

Belgian clauns were still dictated by a mixture of economic and security 
needs. The government wanted to protect the country from something it had 
experienced twice in three decades, a German invasion, but it realized that to 
contain Germany was not enough. German resources and markets were 
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essential for Western European recovery and therefore, within safe bounds, 
German economic potential had to be exploited for the common good. Spaak's 
continuing doubts about the future course of German policy can be traced in 
his speech to the Chamber of 11 February.^^ He advocated a cautious wait 
and see-approach towards the developments in Germany and championed the 
cause of political federalism. Dismemberment would be in the national interest 
strictly from a security point of view, but "it would encourage in Germany the 
idea that she had to seek unity again." Consequently, the present situation 
based on military occupation and political federalism had to be perpetuated for 
the time being. Spaak saw no reason to conclude rapidly a peace treaty with 
Germany. First, the allies had to know in which direction it was developing 
and perhaps they had to wait decades before they were able to conclude that 
Germany had returned to democracy. Therefore Spaak advised to monitor 
attentively the present situation. 

Germany was still at the heart of his thinking regarding its security. In 
the speech referred to above, Spaak also reiterated his belief that Belgium, one 
of the small nations, needed international cooperation to secure that security 
and for the tune being the Soviet Union should be included. Spaak expressed 
this sentiment also in a public speech on 4 March, just one week before the 
Truman Doctrine. It is worthwhile to quote extensively from this speech, 
because it is a clear expression of Spaak's views at a critical juncture in the 
post-war period. 

Spaak started his speech with a familiar theme: his belief in 
international cooperation and solidarity and the need to be prepared to sacrifice 
national interests for the sake of international peace and prosperity. Despite the 
publicly avowed equality of nations, according to Spaak, international relations 
were governed by "a necessary hierarchy of nations" which was accepted by 
Belgium as long as the Great Powers practiced some restraint in their dealings 
with the smaller ones.̂ ^ He continued: 

"In San Francisco, we have committed a mistake. We all signed a charter. We 
have tried to pretend that we all have, with regard to the principles of democracy 
and freedom, identical conceptions. Well, the world is not united. The truth 
which we must have the nerve to face is that at the moment there are two 
worlds. One in the West, the other influenced by the USSR. The question is to 
know whether these two worlds can live together peacefully. I think one is 
allowed to answer this question in the affirmative. However, there is one 
condition. That is that both West and East practice the virtue of comprehension. 
Both sides have made mistakes. The big sin of the USSR against peace is the 
iron curtain, political, militarily, economically, cultural, an iron curtain which 
can only engender incomprehension, fear and finally war. (...) Russian 
miscomprehension, however, is not without reason. We must never forget that 
the counter-revolutionary armies of 1919 and 1920 came from the West." 

Spaak was not yet prepared to throw down the gauntlet to the USSR. He 
expressed his doubts about future cooperation with the Soviets, but at the same 

. Van Langenhove, La Securite de la Belgique, p. 220. 
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tune pointed to the necessity of international cooperation and the need to take 
into account the Soviet point of view. He told Van Harinxma that he did not 
expect any danger from the Soviet Union as long as its economic situation did 
not improve drastically.^^ This was to be his line of conduct in the first six 
months of 1947, even after the declaration of the Truman Doctrine. In two 
memoranda prepared in January 1947 this basic attitude was reiterated in no 
uncertain terms. 

In the first memorandum, entitled 'Reflections on a Security System 
safeguarding Western Europe', of 9 January, the central issue of security 
against German aggression comes to the fore strongly.^'' Three preliminary 
questions are put forward which are deemed essential to the issue. First, what 
will be the future relationship between Belgium and Germany? Will it continue 
as it is for a longer period or will Germany become an equal partner again (cf. 
Locarno) or will she get the same status as Austria? Second, what will be the 
internal political structure of Germany in the future? Third, must the security 
system be directed at the whole or at a part of Germany? 

Without giving any definite answers to these preliminary questions, in 
the next part of the memorandum six possible courses to follow are listed, 
three within and three outside the UN Charter: 1) collective security based on 
Articles 39 and 51 of the Charter^ ;̂ 2) a regional security organization based 
on Articles 52-54 of the Charter; 3) trusteeship over certain areas ex Articles 
75-85; 4) a regime similar to the Austrian one; 5) a regime similar to the 
Triest one; 6) the Byrnes 40 year-demilitarization treaty. The memorandum 
concludes by pointing in two directions: either to negotiate a regional security 
organization based on the pertinent articles of the Charter, or to search for a 
local statute outside the Charter and based on the best elements of existing 
proposals. ̂ ^ 

Whether the ministry's memorandum was discussed actively is difficult 
to assess, but it is safe to assume that the memorandum was of a stock-taking 
nature in view of the impending CFM-discussions on Germany and the Anglo-
French rapprochement. It is a clear expression of the primarily regional 
approach towards security of the government, in- or outside the Charter; the 
paramount importance of the future relationship with Germany in its security 
considerations; and the ambiguous Belgian attitude towards the UN. The 
memorandum also noticed the paralysis of the Security Council by the veto 
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power and the slowness of its machinery. The government seemed to be 
prepared already to by-pass the United Nations in its search for peace. 

The country which up till then had been considered the sheet anchor of 
Belgian security, Britain, was not mentioned in the memorandum of 9 January, 
but this omission was remedied soon by a second memorandum dated 28 
January. De Gruben presented in 'Our Relations with Great Britain' a balance 
sheet of Anglo-Belgian relations in the past two years.^^ In general, De 
Gruben considered progress in these relations insufficient. At all possible 
levels, political, economic, military or financial, Britain had not been very 
forthcoming to Belgian wishes and demands. Therefore he advised demarches 
at the cabinet level concerning political as well as military affairs. 

At the political level, Belgium had to find out whether the British 
government considered its security interests in Western Europe identical to 
those of Belgium and the Netherlands. If so, Britain had to safeguard their 
political independence and territorial integrity and in return, the Low Countries 
would have to pledge their support and assistance in these objectives. De 
Gruben did not think it necessary to put this understanding in writing. It had to 
be understood "as an implicit, permanent and fundamental alliance based on 
basic common interests" which had to lead to intimate diplomatic cooperation. 
At the military level, De Gruben advised to return to Van Langenhove's 
November 1944-memorandum and to start with those elements which had not 
yet been realized. 

Anglo-Belgian rapprochement had to wait, however, until the 
negotiations between the British and French had been concluded successfully. 
This did not deter De Gruben to broach the subject during his stay in London 
in connection with Germany and the Deputies-meeting. In a conversation with 
Harvey he proposed British participation in the (economic) Tripartite Council 
and military cooperation.̂ ^ Harvey answered rather evasively. The British 
favoured a bilateral rather than a quadrilateral approach and there was no need 
for military cooperation because Germany no longer posed a threat. De Gruben 
left empty handed, although Sargent disagreed with Harvey. The former wrote 
"I rather wish that Sir O. Harvey had been a little more encouraging to Baron 
Gruben." A purely bilateral approach would knock the bottom out of the whole 
conception of a Western group and if Germany did not pose a threat any 
longer, why then did Britain conclude treaties with the USSR and France 
against German aggression? Spaak, however, was unaware of these intra-office 
discussions and decided to wait and see. An Anglo-French agreement was still 
a precondition for any further steps, as he told Kirk on 28 February, the day 
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the news of the impending signature of the Anglo-French alliance was made 
public. 

This was the moment Spaak had been waiting for for a long time. 
Instantaneously he grasped the initiative. Within a few days he held high level 
conversations with Bidault, while visiting Paris, and the ambassadors 
Knatchbull, Van Harinxma, Kirk and Sergueev's successor Aleksej Pavlovic 
Pavlov in Brussels.^^ His plan boiled down to the following basic elements: 
1) he proposed to the British and the French that Belgium should "integrate 
herself" with the Anglo-French alliance, "since an alliance solely with either 
would be unacceptable to Belgian public opinion." While Spaak had changed 
tactics, he now seemed to favour a tripartite agreement in stead of two bilateral 
alliances, he still had a strong preference for the British. De Gruben's deputy, 
Walter Loridan, "characterized Anglo-Belgian relations as analogous to Anglo-
American relations."; 2) he repeated his proposal to the Soviet government to 
conclude a treaty of friendship and alliance, as he told his Western 
interlocutors, "to avoid criticism of developing Western block."; 3) he 
suggested to the Dutch to take the same initiatives, without however creating a 
Belgian-Dutch alliance. Relations were already that close that a formal alliance 
was considered "superfluous". 

In spite of De Gruben's stock-taking, these proposals were launched 
rather off the cuff. Without giving any further thought to the wider 
implications, Spaak in his conversation with Bidault even went so far as to 
suggest the creation of a Franco-Belgian customs union. Having returned to 
Brussels he instructed Baron J.M.P.W. Guillaume, ambassador in Paris, that 
he expected a French initiative in this respect.^^ Van Harinxma on the other 
hand noticed that Spaak did not seem to have been informed about the treaty 
stipulations of the Anglo-French treaty and did not seem to be interested in 
them either. What was at hand was "the psychological moment for a closer 
union of the countries of Western Europe. "̂ ^ 

At first, reactions to his overtures were on the whole encouraging. 
Bidault, Knatchbull, Van Harinxma and Pavlov all responded favourably, but 
just for a very short while. On second thoughts, all governments concerned, 
for different reasons, decided that they had to wait for the outcome of the 
Moscow CFM conference and had to pour cold water on Spaak's activities. 

Despite his remark that he thought that Spaak's initiative "would this 
tune receive approval of his government" and Bevin's utterances at the 
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Brussels railway station, Knatchbull told the Belgian government on 5 March 
that Bevin's words should not be taken literally and he advised De Gruben to 
wait for the Moscow CFM. A suggestion by Sargent to discuss the alliance 
issue with Bidault in Moscow was met by Bevin in the same mood: Moscow 
had priority for the time being. The French also advised the Belgians not to 
rush matters. Despite the general consent expressed by Bidault and French 
desire to strengthen ties with their northern neighbours, the Quai d'Orsay 
reacted even more hesitantly than the British. No action would be taken during 
the Moscow conference and the head of the Political Department, Maurice 
Couve de MurviUe, even stated that "the question was not even being given 
serious study. "̂ ^ 

This common Anglo-French front was greeted by the Dutch. Van 
Boetzelaer was annoyed by Spaak's unilateral initiative and became even more 
upset when he found out that the subject of a customs union had also been 
discussed by Spaak and Bidault. Van Harinxma told Spaak about Van 
Boetzelaer's qualms when Spaak returned from a previously scheduled trip to 
Prague on 12 March to form his new government. Spaak expressed surprise, 
because, as he told Van Harinxma, he was of the opinion that the Dutch also 
favoured closer cooperation in Western Europe and therefore would consider 
Spaak's step a logical one.̂ ^ Van Boetzelaer, however, gave priority to 
Byrnes' demilitarization treaty which fate would be decided in Moscow. 

The Soviets and Americans, to conclude, were non-committal. Pavlov 
seems to have indicated his agreement̂ ,̂ but Moscow had more pressing 
matters on its mind: the CFM-meeting and the impending negotiations on the 
revision of the 1942 Anglo-Soviet treaty. The Americans were kept well 
informed by Spaak and his senior officials, but their only comment to the 
Belgians at the time seemed to have been to express their doubts about the 
advisability of bilateral alliances and their preference to work inside the UN 
Charter. In their contacts with others they expressed themselves more freely: 
the Dutch ambassador in Washington Loudon was told that Spaak's initiatives 
were considered "untimely".̂ ^ The State Department therefore was pleased 
with the British, French and Dutch brakes put on Spaak's diplomatic activity. 
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Spaak had gambled and lost, at least for the time being.̂ ^ The time 
was not ripe for his conceptions yet. The issue of closer political and military 
cooperation in Western Europe had been put in the middle of diplomatic 
activity, but was shelved again within a fortnight. Spaak licked his wounds, 
now also expressed the opinion that one had to wait for the outcome of the 
Moscow conference, but he did not lose hope. Despite his failure he instructed 
De Gruben to study the issue of alliances in detail and to prepare a treaty text. 

De Gruben completed his assignment in the second half of March, 
when he presented two memoranda and a draft treaty (including 
comment).^^^ In his memorandum 'Conclusion of Treaties of Alliance by 
Belgium', De Gruben reformulated some of the principal elements of Belgian 
policy toward alliancemaking (whose desirability per se was not even 
discussed). Referring to the nine treaties of alliance which had already been 
concluded^^^ De Gruben noticed that all were directed at Germany. 

"It is evident that in theory it would be to our advantage to obtain a security 
guarantee against aggression from any country. But this formula would constitute 
an exception which would be interpreted to anticipate a particular case, i.e. the 
USSR. Therefore, we have to conform to the scheme accepted by the other 
states." 

He added that it would be recommendable to include a security guarantee 
against any state joining Germany in its aggressive moves. Did Belgium favour 
a unilateral or a mutual guarantee? De Gruben's answer (echoing wartime 
sentiments) was clear: a unilateral guarantee by the Great Powers was much 
more tempting than a reciprocal one, because it would free Belgium from the 
obligation to assist the Great Powers in their adventures. Again, however, a 
unilateral guarantee would be an exception to the series of bilateral treaties that 
had been concluded thus far and therefore was not to be recommended. 

Taking this into account, De Gruben proposed that treaties of alliance 
with Britain and France had to include an article dealing with mutual assistance 
in the case of German aggression or the threat thereof, making reference to 
Articles 51-53 of the UN Charter, and an article dealing with continuous 
consultation in the economic and political fields. Essentially, De Gruben's 
draft treaty text was a streamlined version of the Dunkirk Treaty. Borrowing 
language from the Articles II and IV of that treaty, in article 1 in De Gruben's 
draft the contracting parties promised each other immediate and all support in 
their power when the other would get engaged in hostilities 1) following armed 
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aggression by Germany or any other nation associated with Germany; 2) 
following enforcement action decided by the Security Council; or 3) following 
measures aimed at the elimination of a potential German threat. In the second 
article the contracting parties pledged themselves to consult constantly on all 
questions affecting their political and economic relations. Separate treaties had 
to be concluded with Britain, France and the Netherlands, and De Gruben 
advised for the moment to wait for the outcome of the negotiations on the 
revision of the 1942 Anglo-Soviet treaty and Byrnes' demilitarization treaty. 
The attitude of the United States should not be considered decisive. Rather 
than to fear US isolationism in the face of Western Europe getting together, 
De Gruben contended that "America might equally well be encouraged to help 
those who helped themselves." (sic)^^^ 

The USSR was mentioned several times in De Gruben's memorandum, 
but not as one of the countries Belgium should align itself with. The reason for 
this can be found in his second memorandum, entitled 'Alliance Project with 
Russia'. In this politically sensitive memorandum De Gruben first recounted 
the history of a Belgian-Soviet alliance, stressing that their proposals in the 
past had been primarily motivated by the desire not to antagonize the USSR. 
Recent changes in "the international climate" (Truman Doctrine and Dunkirk 
Treaty), had made it clear, however, that the Western powers were prepared 
now "to incur the Soviet wrath". 

Seeking justification, De Gruben noticed 1) an excessive imbalance in 
strength between Belgium and the USSR; 2) that Belgium would be the sole 
small Western European power to conclude an alliance with the USSR; 3) that 
no Eastern European power had made any overtures to the West (obviously 
disregarding France's contacts with Poland and Czechoslovakia); 4) that, with 
an alliance, Belgium would be dragged along in a Soviet-German war; and 5) 
that the Belgian geographic situation and smallness logically directed toward 
exclusively regional Western European cooperation. He therefore concluded 
that 

"it seems irrational and inopportune to conclude an alliance with Russia. Our 
approaches in this respect have been of a tactical nature and it should be kept 
that way. Probably our latest soundings will come to nought. We should insist no 
longer." 

The USSR should be notified of the intention of Belgium to conclude treaties 
with Britain and France, adding that a similar treaty had been offered several 
times to them. 

Spaak accepted De Gruben's 'wait and see'-advice and told Kirk on 2 
April that the alliance issue was "relatively dormant" for the time being. He 
was not very satisfied, however, with this passive stance as he made clear in 
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his contacts with the Dutch. ̂ ^̂  After the unsuccessful outcome of the 
Moscow CFM Spaak immediately grasped the initiative again. One week after 
the ending of the conference, Belgian diplomats in London were again 
discussing at the Foreign Office the possibilities of an Anglo-Belgian alliance. 

Meanwhile, De Gruben had finished another important stock-taking 
memorandum, dealing with the fundamentals of Belgian security policy.̂ '̂̂  
This time the desirability of treaties of alliance was put to the test. Three lines 
of conduct were discussed and dismissed as impracticable for Belgium's 
present security needs. Total aloofness, neutrality and non-aggression pacts 
with neighbouring countries were all three discarded as being incompatible 
with existing international relations and Belgian security objectives. The only 
viable option seemed to be to align with one of the Great Powers in the present 
and potential international conflict. Once and for all, Belgium would have to 
abandon the thought of being in the centre of the European balance of power 
(which was at the heart of the Locarno treaty). 

Consequently, treaties of alliance should be concluded, although 
limiting themselves to the situation "when our national interests are at stake, 
for instance aggression or the threat of aggression against our territory." 
According to De Gruben (echoing a recurrent theme in Belgian thinking) an 
unlimited treaty of alliance was not in Belgium's interest, because it might 
entrap it in war when its own national interests, which were limited, were not 
threatened. The only country with whom Belgium had to conclude such an 
unlimited alliance (containing "full and unqualified assistance") was the 
Netherlands. In their relations with the Great Powers, Belgian and Dutch 
obligations were identical. 

De Gruben considered especially an alliance with Britain (more than 
one with France) as "of capital importance". Matters which at the moment 
were taking place in the dark, should therefore be brought out in the open. To 
conclude, De Gruben stated: 

"1) that we should conclude treaties of alliance; 2) that our support should be 
limited to certain eventualities suited to our position; 3) that, if those eventualities 
should arise, our participation will be without any reserve until the achievement 
of the goal we had determined upon." 

The activities of the Belgian embassy in London were therefore founded on 
well-covered grounds. 

Bevin and the Foreign Office, however, played for time because they 
themselves were at that moment reformulating their policy. Spaak lay in wait, 
"chagrined" '̂̂ ,̂ and for the time being directed his and his ministry's 
energy at countering Dutch and British arguments against closer cooperation. 
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Cooperation with the Dutch was now considered essential to future success and 
the Belgian arguments in favour of alliances were directed at the Dutch 
position that US interest in European security should not be lessened by 
bilateral European treaties of alliance. Time and again the Dutch - and the 
British as well - were told that the smaller countries had to cooperate militarily 
with the bigger ones to secure their national interests and that the United States 
would not turn away from Europe because of treaties of alliance.̂ ^^ 

Having thus covered the ground with his future allies and allowed the 
British some time to rethink their policy towards alliances, Spaak prepared a 
fresh diplomatic initiative. Two days before Marshall's celebrated Harvard-
speech, on 3 June, a high-level meeting was organized at the ministry presided 
over by Spaak. Also present were acting secretary general De Romree, De 
Gruben, legal advisor Georges Kaeckenbeeck and Loridan.̂ ^^ Belgium's 
unchanged position with regard to treaties of alliance was reiterated by Spaak 
in clear terms. Treaties of alliance with the Netherlands, Britain and France 
had to be concluded because public opinion would not understand Belgian 
abstention when it had always sought these treaties; because it would be useful 
to clarify Belgium's security position; and because it was imperative to give 
Belgian military efforts a political framework. 

Especially the last point made by Spaak cut ice. Practical military 
cooperation between Belgium and Britain was progressing in a rapid pace. The 
British Military Mission was still supervising the build-up of the army by 
cadres which had had their training in the United Kingdom, while the British 
still supplied all arms to this army. The air force was getting its training in and 
equipment from the British as well and Belgium provided in the spring of 1947 
one-third of the occupation forces in the British zone in Germany.̂ ^^ 
Therefore, at the military level developments were already taking place which 
had no corresponding expression at the political level. 

Spaak advocated during the meeting a treaty text on the lines of the 
Dunkirk Treaty, i.e. on the one hand directed at Germany, "despite the 
especially fictitious character of that provision; it is, in effect, impossible, in 
the present circumstances, to stand out in this case.", and on the other 
bilateral, "for opportunity's sake". Spaak proposed that he would first clear the 
subject with the cabinet. Subsequently, he would approach the Dutch, although 
perhaps preliminary consultations with the British would be advisable. 
Negotiations with the French would go on almost simultaneously, while the 
Americans would be asked directly whether they objected. The Soviets would 
be left in the dark. They had not responded to Spaak's earlier overtures and 
there had been no contact with the Soviet ambassador for some months. Since 

. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 8, File Brussels Pact/Dunkirk, Van 
Harinxma to Van Boetzelaer, Res. (VI.2q) - 4181/1397, 16/05/47; and PRO, FO 371/67646, Z 
3830/50/4, Harrison to Hoyer-Millar, No. 8/27/47, 10/04/47. 

^^^. RCHSW, PG 6, De Gruben Papers, File 71, Examination of die Treaties of Alliance 
Issue, 03/06/47. 

^^^. HSTL, Naval Aide Files, Box 18, Folder Intelligence Reviews, No. 45, 19/12/46. 
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the communists had left the cabinet, the internal pressure to conclude such a 
treaty had also disappeared. A course had been set. Belgium was on the 
threshold of launching a new diplomatic initiative, but for lack of consultation. 
Before Spaak even had the possibility to confer with his cabinet, Marshall 
unknowingly intervened. 

The primary reaction of Belgian governmental officials to the Harvard-
speech was rather lukewarm. De Gruben questioned the importance of the 
ideas expressed by Marshall; statesmen were prone to say such things during 
unofficial meetings. He expressed scepticism as regards the feasibility of 
Marshall's ideas and considered them Utopian. He questioned especially "the 
pooling of European needs". Did Europe include the countries behind 'the iron 
curtain'? If so, De Gruben did not think the scheme practical. If not, the 
Marshall Plan would accentuate the division in Europe which was hardly 
recommendable. Besides, what would be the benefit of the pooling of Belgian 
and Dutch needs with those of, for instance, Italy and Austria? De Gruben 
therefore reacted negatively to a Dutch suggestion to present a joint Benelux-
declaration in Washington, welcoming Marshall's speech and pointing to the 
positive contribution Benelux, and its possible extension, could make to 
European recovery. Spaak supported him at first. 

One week later, Spaak's attitude had changed fundamentally. Realizing 
the opportunities Marshall's plan would have for the Belgian economy, he 
characterized the Harvard-speech as "world shaking". Spaak advocated Soviet 
participation, but not at all costs. If the Soviets tried to sabotage the scheme, 
Spaak favoured going along with practical plans in Western Europe without 
closing the door to Soviet participation. ̂ ^̂  Continued cooperation with the 
Soviet Union still appears to have been high on his agenda and he therefore 
supported the participation of Molotov in the Paris conversations. At the same 
time, the contours of an alternative approach slowly came to the fore: if 
cooperation with the Soviet Union would prove to be unpossible, the fact had 
to be faced to push on with European (or world-wide) cooperation without 
Soviet participation. 

This result was almost inevitable given Spaak's attitude towards the 
pooling of European demands. One of the primary impediments to continued 
growth of the Belgian economy was the bilateral nature of intra-European trade 
and the inconvertibilty of export surpluses in European trade into dollars. 
Belgium was in the process of accumulating foreign currency reserves which it 
was not able to spend. On the other hand, because of the lack of dollars 
Belgium increasingly had to pay its high level of (US) imports from its gold 

. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 32, Folder Marshall Plan 1947, 
Memorandum of conversation with De Gruben, 10/06/47; and Van Harinxma to Van Boetzelaer, 
No. 15, 11/06/47. 

^^". Cf. NA, RG 59, Main Decimal Files '45-'49, Box 5562, 840.00/6-1847, Achilles to 
SecState, No. 968, 18/06/47; and HSTL, Naval Aide Files, Box 21, Folder State Department 
Briefs June-Aug 1947, Summary of Telegrams, 19/06/47 and 30/06/47. 
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reserves. Marshall's stress on the pooling of reserves and demands as well as 
the need for a common European approach were therefore especially welcome 
from a Belgian point of view. The liberalization of intra-European trade and a 
system of flexible multilateral payments might prove a way out for the 
Belgians. Spaak was to stress time and again these elements during the 
negotiations: "Our salvation will be in common or it will not be."^^^ 

Molotov's walk-out in Paris must therefore be evaluated a watershed in 
Spaak's, and therefore Belgian, thinking about the Soviet Union. Apparently 
the Soviets were not prepared to take advantage of the US offer to support 
European economic rehabilitation. In that case, the nations who were prepared 
to accept that offer had to go forward irrespective of the ultmiate consequences 
of such an act. The reorientation in foreign policy, which had been imminent 
since the KPB left the government in March, finally made itself felt. Up till 
this moment, Spaak had advocated a policy of comprehension towards and 
collaboration with the Soviet Union. After the abortive Bevin-Bidault-Molotov 
conversations in the summer of 1947, Spaak opted for a policy of coexistence. 
European cooperation no longer needed to depend on Soviet participation. 
While the Soviets organized Eastern Europe, the Western Europeans had to 
organize themselves likewise, accepting that two different systems were 
developing in Europe which had to coexist. Spaak did not consider the Eastern 
European block-building as posing a threat yet. The creation of the Cominform 
was not considered an important event in his opinion. It merely formalized an 
already existing situation. ̂ ^̂  

Spaak's depreciation of Soviet importance to successful European 
cooperation, was mirrored in a revaluation of Germany in this respect. After 
some initial hesitations, Spaak supported the Dutch in their quest for German 
participation in the Marshall Plan. If Western Europe had to organize itself, 
German participation seemed imperative. One should be careful, however, not 
to overstate the changes in attitude. Fear of a strong Germany did not 
disappear with the revaluation of the importance of Germany to European 
cooperation. The ambiguity in Belgian attitudes towards the Soviet Union, 
cooperation but not at all costs, was subtly mirrored in its attitudes towards 
Germany. George Rendel, successor to Knatchbull Hugessen as British 
ambassador to Belgium, noticed in November 1947: 

"On the one hand, they feel emotionally with the French that the only good 
Germans are dead ones, and, on the other, they know there is no money to be 
made out of dead Germans."'*^ 

. Cf. Smets, La Pensee Europeenne et Atlantique, pp. 107-109; Kindleberger, 'Belgium 
after World War IT, pp. 230-244; and Laurent, 'Beneluxer Economic Diplomacy', pp. 23-28. 

^^^. NAC, RG 25 Series Gl, Ace. 84-85/019, Box 387, FUe 11030-40, Part 1, Montagu 
Pollack to Bevin, No. 436, 23/10/47. 

^ •̂̂ . PRO, FO 371/64470, C 15317/933/18, Rendel to FO, No. 488, 26/11/47. Also: 
Kurgan, 'La Belgique et le relevement economique', pp. 354-356. 
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Balancing fears of Germany against fears of the Soviet Union, the latter 
seemed nevertheless to be gaining the upper-hand. 

In the beginning, the impact that the Marshall Plan would have on the 
alliance making process was unclear. Shortly after the June 3rd-meeting at his 
ministry, Spaak put the issue to his cabinet and prepared consultations with the 
Dutch. He wrote to Guillaume that it was almost unthinkable that in this funda­
mental question Belgian and Dutch policies would differ. ^̂ ^ If there was to 
be a new diplomatic initiative, it had to be a joint Dutch-Belgian effort, 
preferably on the basis of Belgian preparations. Before the end of the month, 
De Gruben produced his latest version of a future Dunkirk-type treaty of 
alliance. ̂ ^̂  Consisting of four articles, this version again closely followed 
the stipulations of the Dunkirk Treaty. The mutual assistance clause was stated 
in clear terms: in case of German aggression, joint activities aimed at climating 
a potential German threat or armed hostilities with Germany as a consequence 
of UN-enforcement action, the parties to the treaty were obliged "to render 
immediately all assistance in their power" to the party under attack. 

The problems during the Marshall Plan conference in Paris and the 
deteriorating East-West relationship finally began to influence Belgian thinking 
about alliances. Apparently not entirely satisfied with his latest draft, De 
Gruben, within a week after completing this version, reformulated his draft 
treaty into a six-article treaty text, adding an article dealing with compulsory 
consultations in case of Germany not fulfilling its economic obligations and 
another dealing with subordination of this treaty to the UN Charter. More 
importantly, he also produced another memorandum of a stocktaking 
nature.^^^ 

Whereas the draft treaty text still referred to assistance in the case of 
German aggression, De Gruben's stocktaking memorandum never mentioned 
Germany or German aggression. Exposing the virtues of contingency planning, 
De Gruben advocated the conclusion of mutual assistance treaties, but at the 
same time warned for complacency. Modem warfare had made the defence of 
a small country like Belgium almost impossible. An attack against Belgium 
would almost certainly mean its occupation by a hostile power. In that case 
'mutual assistance' was hardly worth looking for. De Gruben added: 

"One could ask oneself whether the 210 - or 250 million Europeans if one 
includes the Iberian peninsula, who are living west of the iron curtain ought to be 
exposed to an invasion from the East without organized defence." 

In exchange for their cooperation, Belgium (as well as the Netherlands) had to 
ask for the stationing of troops "in sufficient numbers" in the Rhineland. The 
ambiguity in De Gruben's activities is clear. 

'•^^. BMFA, File 10957 bis Year 1947, Spaak to Guillaume, No. P/452/26/3894, 19/06/47. 

^^^. RCHSW, De Gruben Papers, PG 6, No. 71, Memo De Gruben with attached draft 
treaty, 26/06/47. 

^^^. Ibid., Draft treaty, 02/07/47; and BMFA, File 12237, Conclusion of Treaties of 
Alliance by Belgium, 03/07/47. 
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The same day he completed his memorandum De Gruben ordered the 
embassy in The Hague to assess the Dutch attitude. P. Poswick was received 
favourably by the Head of the Political Affairs division, H.F.L.K. (Hemi) van 
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Vredenburch'^', but in the middle of July a concerted Anglo-French action 
finally dealt a deathblow to Spaak's intentions. He was told both by the British 
and the French that it was an inappropriate moment to start discussions on 
treaties of alliance in view of the Marshall Plan conference. Priority should be 
given to European cooperation in the economic field. As Bevin told his 
officials, everything should be kept 'on the economic plane'.^^^ This time 
Spaak accepted his defeat graciously. He called off any planning about political 
and military alliances and concentrated all his efforts on the economic side of 
Europe's future. When, in the beginning of November, Van Boetzelaer asked 
his opinion about the conclusion of treaties of alliance, Spaak this time with 
unusual cautiousness replied that the time was not ripe yet.̂ ^^ 

To conclude, like Govaerts, that the Belgian government in this period was 
dominated by "some hesitation (...) as to what foreign policy to follow"̂ ^ ,̂ 
is entirely unjustified. Spaak's quest for closer Anglo-Belgian relations is the 
prime example of continuity in Belgian foreign policy in the IMi years after the 
end of the Second World War. Despite the instability in Belgian political life 
(the upheaval over the Royal Question; a general election; and five different 
governments) Spaak's position as Foreign Minister as well as the policies he 
pursued were never questioned seriously. All parties, from left to right, were 
united in their desire for closer cooperation with Britain. In this respect 
reference must of course be made to the fact that foreign policy did not figure 
prominent on the political agenda. Royal Question, the purges and economic 
reconstruction clearly posed more pressing problems. Lack of enthusiasm for 
the UN^̂ ^ and lack of success in having its voice heard in the councils of 
the Big Four must also be brought forward to explain the low priority attached 
to foreign policy issues. 

^^'^. NMFA, DNW archive WEU, 999.1 Box 4 Folder 12, Note, 03/07/47; and RCHSW, 
De Gruben Papers, PG 6, No. 72, Poswick to Spaak, 08/07/47. 

^^^. NMFA, DNW archive WEU, 999.1, Box 4 Folder 12, Minute, 16/07/47; BMFA, File 
10958 bis Year 1947, Obert to Spaak, No. 365, 17/07/47; and PRO, FO 371/67724, 
Z6791/737/72G, Minute Warner, 17/07/47. 

^^^. NMFA, Embassy London Secret Archives, Box 26, File C 8/16(1), Folder Germany, 
Memo of conversation Van Boetzelaer with Spaak on 6 November 1947, 08/11/47. 
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Belgian foreign policy in this period was primarily concerned with 
European issues. Considerations of a worldwide nature hardly affected Spaak's 
line of conduct. Time and again he and his officials at the ministry professed 
that Belgium was just a small country, eager to participate in the discussions 
on the future of Germany (vital to Belgium both from an economic and a 
security point of view), but with rather limited interests. To give two more 
examples: reacting to Churchill's Fulton-speech Loridan simply commented 
that it was just "another Churchillian outburst and (it) was dismissed as such as 
being without great interest for Belgium. "̂ ^̂  and the Truman Doctrine did 
not immediately cause a fundamental reorientation of Belgian foreign policy. 
Britain's attitude, not that of the United States or the Soviet Union, or even the 
growing rift between East and West, was for a long time the prime considera­
tion in foreign policy since Anglo-Belgian cooperation was deemed essential to 
safeguard Belgian interests, militarily and economically. 

In retrospect, Spaak's overtures towards Britain, from the end of 1945 
until the summer of 1947, present a catalogue of failures. He had to content 
himself with empty British gestures and the breakthrough he hoped for twice in 
1947 foundered on developments outside his control. Although the larger 
objective remained unchanged, the creation of a Western European regional 
association, the country which originally had been the object of such an 
association, Germany, receded into the background. Without losing his fear of 
a resurgent Germany, economic considerations effected a revaluation of 
Germany's place in Western Europe. Simultaneously, the deterioration in the 
East-West relationship caused a devaluation of the Soviet Union in terms of 
international cooperation. Despite all the failures, success was now near at 
hand. 

§ 3.3 Reconstruction, renewal and reorientation. 

§ 3.3.1 The vicissitudes of decolonization. 
To the Dutch government the Second World War did not end on VE-Day. 
Whereas its territory in Europe was liberated with the German surrender to the 
allied forces in May 1945, the liberation of the Netherlands East Indies only 
followed four months later after the Japanese capitulation on board USS 
Missouri. Two more weeks later, on 15 September 1945, the first British and 
Dutch troops landed on Java. In the power vacuum of the preceding weeks, 
Indonesian nationalists under the leadership of Sukamo and Mohammed Hatta 
had proclaimed on 17 August the independent Republic of Indonesia and had 
been able to consolidate their hold on large parts of the major islands of the 
Indonesian archipelago. 

How to deal with the Indonesian proclamation of independence was one 
of the two crucial tasks facing the provisional government, which was in office 
since 24 June (the other one being economic reconstruction). In the absence of 

^. WNRC, RG 84, Brussels PF, Confidential Files, Box 19, 800 Political, McMurtrie 
Godley to Patterson, 08/03/46. 
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a democratically elected parliament. Queen Wilhelmina had commissioned 
Willem Schermerhom, leader of the newly-founded Dutch People's Movement 
(Nederlandsche Volksbeweging, NVB), and Willem Drees, one of the leaders 
of the Social Democratic Labour Party (Sociaal-Democratische Arbeiders 
Partij, SDAP), to form such a provisional cabinet.̂ ^^ Schermerhorn and 
Drees established a broad coalition of representatives of the pre-war political 
parties and non-party experts. Although the communists were invited to take 
part, they declined on account of the minor post earmarked for them. The 
Schermerhorn government, which presented itself under the banner of 
'reconstruction and renewal', was the most left-wing government in Dutch 
parliamentary history. 

Of the fifteen ministers in the new coalition, only three had been 
included in Gerbrandy's final government, one of them being Van Kleffens. 
Because of his stature abroad and the numerous allied negotiations in progress 
or about to start, continuity in the field of foreign affairs was considered 
essential. To compensate for his frequent residence abroad (the ministry itself 
only returned to the Netherlands on 20 August 1945) and his lack of 
knowledge of the internal political situation, J.H. van Roijen (a career 
diplomat with social democratic leanings who had been active in the resistance) 
was appointed at the ministry of Foreign Affairs as minister without portfolio. 
His task was to deputize for Van Kleffens in all necessary instances.̂ ^^ 

Van Roijen therefore was a member of the delegation (led by 
Schermerhorn) in the so-called 'Hoge Veluwe'-conference in April 1946, the 
first discussions on governmental level between the government and 
representatives of the (Indonesian) Republican government led by Soetan 
Sjahrir. From September 1945 until this conference the Dutch and the 
Republican nationalists had opposed each other diametrically. The government 
rejected the declaration of independence by what they considered collaborators 
with the Japanese whereas the nationalists were not prepared to accept a return 
of Dutch sovereignty. Because of their inability to land any appreciable 
number of troops before the spring of 1946 and the fact that Japanese forces 
handed over their armaments in large numbers to the nationalist forces, the 
latter were in a considerable advantage in promoting their sovereignty claim. 
The Dutch were dependent upon the British (under whose military command 
the East Indies fell) to bolster theirs. 

The British tried to manoeuvre carefully in this political hornets' nest. 
Their primary task was to restore law and order in the region and to transfer 
official control over the East Indies to the Dutch authorities. In the face of 
heavily armed nationalist troops, and keeping in mind their own difficulties 
with nationalist movements in their colonies, British military commanders 
(backed by the Foreign Office) opened negotiations with the provisional 
Republican government. The Attlee government urged the Dutch to act 

. Cf. Duynstee & Bosmans, Het Kabinet Schermerhorn-Drees, pp. 61-98. 

. This division of labour lasted until 1 March 1946. Because of the election of the 
Netherlands to the UN Security Council, Van Kleffens and Van Roijen switched posts, the former 
becoming the Dutch representative to the Council and the latter Dutch foreign minister. 
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likewise, but this suggestion fell upon deaf ears. Van Kleffens's comments in 
this respect are illustrative for those of the government as a whole. The 
nationalists were considered "gangsters" who "were not ready to govern 
themselves and stand on their own feet". The Netherlands had been let down 
in the months following the Japanese surrender by the inept British attitude; 
"The mere presence of a small number of European soldiers will signify the 
presence of authority and will suffice to establish order. "̂ ^̂  

Apart from the principle involved (the Indies were simply theirs), 
Dutch insistence on the return of their sovereignty over the East Indies was 
based on economic and political motives. From an economic point of view, the 
East Indies were considered an essential element in their economic prosperity. 
Pre-war revenues from the East Indies added up to almost 15% of the Dutch 
GNP and the stmggle for recolonization was therefore fought by some under 
the slogan 'Indie verloren, rampspoed geboren' (Indies lost, catastrophe 
ahead). The economic motive was reinforced by the political one. Van 
Kleffens's middle power-concept was based on continued sovereignty over the 
East Indies. With its colonies in Asia (and the Americas) the Netherlands was 
an economically powerful and densely populated entity; without its colonies 
they would slide back into the ranks of Denmark and the likes.^^^ 

Four factors forced the government and the Republican nationalists to 
the negotiating table. First, the British put considerable pressure on both 
parties to reach a negotiated settlement. Sir Archibald Clark Kerr and Lord 
Miles Killearn acted as mediators. Second, the nationalists had been able to 
consolidate a considerable hold over large parts of the Indonesian archipelago 
and in places occupied by Dutch troops they started a guerrilla war. Third, the 
impracticability to resume regular economic traffic with the Indies seriously 
hampered economic recovery in the Netherlands, apart from the economic 
drain of maintaining an army at the other side of the globe. Fourth, in 
November 1945, Sukarno and Hatta had been replaced by a government 
headed by Sjahrir. The latter proved to be acceptable to the Dutch as a 
negotiating partner. 

Prior to the 'Hoge Veluwe'-talks, the Schermerhom government had 
recognized the right of self-determination of the Indonesian population on the 
condition of an extended transitional period during which the Dutch would 
continue their rule. During the actual conference the nationalists were offered 
de facto authority over Java (the principal island of the archipelago) provided 
they accepted a federative structure for the whole of the East Indies, of which 
the Republic of Indonesia would form only one of the component parts, and a 
Commonwealth-like relationship with the other parts of the kingdom of the 
Netherlands. The Republican delegation demanded de facto authority also over 
Sumatra and a treaty-like arrangement. In the face of the upcoming general 
elections and opposition from the colonial-minded right in the country, the 

. BMFA, File 10965 bis Year 1945, Nemry to Spaak, No. 2-15-PB-318-171, 08/10/45. 

. Baudet/Fennema, Het Nederlands belang bij Indie, pp. 81-107 and § 2.3.2. 
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Dutch negotiators shied away from the ultunate consequences of these 
proposals. The negotiations ended in deadlock.̂ ^^ 

New negotiations had to wait for the outcome of the general elections 
and the formation of the first democratically-elected post-war government. Six 
major parties participated in these general elections. From left to right on the 
political spectrum: the Dutch Communist Party (Communistische Partij 
Nederland, CPN), the Labour Party (Partij van de Arbeid, PvdA; formerly the 
SDAP), the Catholic People's Party (Katholieke Volkspartij, KVP), the 
Freedom Party (Partij van de Vrijheid, PvdV), the Anti-Revolutionary Party 
(Anti-Revolutionaire Partij, ARP) and the Christian-Historic Union (Christe­
lijk-Historische Unie, CHU). 

The general elections were held on 17 May 1946. The unprecedented 
strong parliamentary position of the CPN (commanding 10% of the electorate) 
presented the most spectacular result of the elections, but essentially they 
brought a consolidation of the forces of restoration at the expense of the 
movement for renewal. The KVP consolidated its position as the largest party 
in the Second Chamber, claiming 32 of the 100 seats (a win of 1), whereas the 
PvdA only acquired 29 seats (a loss of 2 compared to the number of seats of 
its pre-war component parts). The CPN tripled its parliamentary strength from 
3 to 10 seats, while the PvdV gained 2 seats at 6. The number of seats 
occupied by the CHU remained unchanged, whereas the other protestant party, 
the ARP, lost 4 seats at 13.^^^ As in Belgium, the political break-through 
had largely failed; the old parties by and large resumed their pre-war position. 

The Netherlands experienced one of the fastest and rather 
uncomplicated formations of a new government in the post-war era.̂ ^^ 
Within six weeks, KVP and PvdA agreed upon a centre-left, so-called 'Roman-
red', two-party coalition supplemented by some non-party technicians. Louis 
J.M. Beel of the KVP became prime minister. Van Kleffens stayed on as 
minister without portfolio with an eye to Dutch membership of the Security 
Council. To the catholics Schermerhorn and Van Roijen were both 
unacceptable as minister of Foreign Affairs; they had been compromised too 
much by the 'Hoge Veluwe'-talks. On the advice of Van Kleffens and Van 
Roijen, another career diplomat, Carel Godfried Willem Hendrik baron van 
Boetzelaer van Oosterhout, was appointed as Van Roijen's successor. 

Van Boetzelaer van Oosterhout, of noble birth, was bom in 1892.̂ *̂̂  
He studied law in Amsterdam and Utrecht and after his graduation in 1921 
entered the diplomatic service. Postings in Bucarest, Washington, Mexico 
City, Brussels and Berlin were crowned in 1940 by his appointment as envoy 
to Egypt. Before he had been able to accept his new job, the German attack on 

. Drooglever, 'Dekolonisatie van Oost- en West-Indie', pp. 421-425; Bank, Katholieken 
en de Indonesische Revolutie, pp. 152-159; and De Jong, Diplomatic of strijd, pp. 51-255. 

^^^. Cf. appendix 5 (Dutch election results 1945-1949). 

^^^. Bogaarts, Het Kabinet-Beel, pp. 49-102. 
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the Netherlands intervened. Van Kleffens ordered him to London and 
subsequently to Washington to assist the ambassador Alex Loudon. He 
returned to the Netherlands in April 1946 to head the Political Affairs section 
at the ministry of Foreign Affairs. Only three months later he became minister. 

Van Boetzelaer accepted his appointment out of duty rather than 
ambition.^^^ He had never been active (nor aspired to be so) in politics. In 
parliament he acted indecisively and manifestly ill at ease. Contemporaries 
stressed his low profile, in- and outside parliament, and he certainly was not 
directing the ministry in the way Van Kleffens had done. Not shying away 
from painful and far-reaching decisions if necessary, he relied heavily on his 
chief advisors (both dominant personalities), his successor at the Political 
Affairs division H.F.L.K. (Henri) van Vredenburch and his principal economic 
advisor H.M. (Hans) Hirschfeld. 

The main task of the Beel government (as it had been of the 
Schermerhom one) was to restore the fabric of society. In its execution of this 
task it showed far less innovatory zeal than its predecessor. Economically, the 
Germans had played havoc with the Netherlands. Large industrial installations, 
machinery, transport-vehicles, trains, etc. had been looted and shipped to 
Germany. Almost the entire Rhinefleet and 50% of the merchant fleet had been 
lost because of the war. About 9% of the cultivated land had been inundated, 
many bridges and more than 400.000 houses had been completely or partly 
destroyed. The harbour installations in Amsterdam and Rotterdam had been 
largely demolished. Public debt had more than quadrupled in the five war 
years. According to a contemporary estimate the damage added up to almost 
30% of the productive capacity.^^^ 

In order to restore the damage and to boost economic recovery, the 
Beel government intensified the dirigist policies initiated by its predecessor. 
Monetary stability had been achieved by the currency reform ordered by the 
minister of Finance Piet Lieftinck. By a further check on wages and prices, a 
fair distribution of goods in short supply, the import of raw materials and the 
necessary means of production, and bilateral trade agreements the government 
tried to rejuvenate their war-torn economy. In the winter of 1946/47 the 
Netherlands, however, faced a financial crisis which threatened the whole 
process of reconstruction. The dollar holdings and the goldstock of the central 
bank were almost exhausted; the deficit on the balance of trade grew 
alarmingly; and given the state of the economy large scale foreign credits were 
almost impossible to raise. Economic recovery was further hampered by two 
circumstances largely outside the authority of the government: the future of the 
East Indies and the economic rehabilitation of Germany. 

The economic importance of the East Indies has already been indicated. 
On the one hand the colony had contributed considerably to the pre-war 
economy of the homeland and on the other hand the deployment of Dutch 
forces at the other side of the globe provided a substantial drain on scarce 

. Corroborated by for instance: Van Vredenburch, Den Haag antwoordt niet, p. 225. 

. See for a survey of the damage: Roof, Restitutie, Reparatie, pp. 121-186; and 
Duynstee & Bosmans, Het Kabinet Schermerhorn-Drees, pp. 14-18. 
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economic resources. Consequently, the resumption of trade and shipping with 
an economically recovered Germany received added significance. Dutch 
influence on the economic future of her neighbour was, however, negligible. 
They were entirely dependent upon the policies executed by the occupying 
powers and possible effects of their policies on the Dutch economy did not 
loome large in the inter-allied deliberations in the ACC. Given this impotence 
with regard to Germany, the Beel government in the summer of 1947 opted for 
a two-fold strategy: with regard to the East Indies it decided to take matters 
into its own hands and with regard to Germany a novel strategy (advocated by 
Hirschfeld) was enacted during the Marshall Plan conference in the summer of 
1947.133 

The government's decision to take matters with regard to the East 
Indies into their own hands would have far-reaching repercussions. After the 
Beel government took office in July 1946, negotiations with the Republicans 
had been reopened. Under the guidance of Lord Killearn a Dutch delegation 
headed by Schermerhorn and the Republicans headed by Sjahrir negotiated a 
cease-fire and a compromise settlement, the so-called Linggadjati agreement, 
initialled on 15 November 1946. Both parties accepted the creation of a new 
federal state, the United States of Indonesia (USI), of which the self-
proclaimed Republic would become one of the component parts. The govern­
ment accepted de facto Republican authority over both Java and Sumatra. The 
Netherlands and the USI would be joined in the Dutch-Indonesian Union under 
the Dutch Crown. 

When the Linggadjati agreement was brought before the parliament, the 
government was only able to secure a majority by accepting a parliamentary 
motion giving an interpretation of the prominence of the Union which was 
clearly at variance with the agreement (let alone the Republican interpretation). 
Negotiations were resumed in early 1947, leading to another compromise 
agreement on 25 March, but in the meantime the relations between the 
Netherlands and the Republic had taken a turn for the worst. The cease-fire 
was not observed; the Republic tried to strengthen its negotiating position by 
acting as a sovereign state, while the Dutch tried to weaken their position in 
the future USI by organizing a number of rival federal states in the 
archipelago. The Linggadjati agreement simply lacked the necessary support 
both in the Netherlands and in the Republic to pave the way for a peaceful 
settlement of the Dutch-Indonesian conflict. Faced by the economic collapse in 
the summer of 1947, the government tried to force its hand by a large scale 
military intervention on 20 July 1947. 

As a result of the intervention (code-named Operation Product) the 
government was able to open up a considerable part of the Indonesian 
archipelago to the world economy. In this sense the military operation was a 
success. On the other hand, the operation also intensified international 
involvement in the conflict between the Dutch and the Republicans. The UN 
Security Council intervened, ordering a cease-fire and the resumption of the 
negotiations under the supervision of a Good Offices Committee (GOC). The 

. See the next paragraph. 
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Dutch were represented in the GOC by Belgium, the Republicans by Australia 
and the United States were chosen as the neutral third. Claims by the govern­
ment that the Indonesian uprising was simply an intemal matter to be dealt 
with by the Dutch and the Dutch alone, were from now on even less credible 
than they had been in the period before the military intervention. In December 
1947 the Dutch and the Republicans resumed their search for a peaceful 
settlement of their conflict under the guidance of the GOC. 

§ 3.3.2 Profile? What profile? 
Given the primacy of the colonial question and the issue of economic 
reconstruction, foreign policy did not figure high on the political agenda in the 
first post-war years. The low profile and 'wait and see' policies by Van 
Kleffens hardly deserved another fate. The innovations that the Schermerhom-
Drees cabinet was trying to carry through in several other sectors did not have 
any appreciable effect on the realm of foreign affairs. Van Kleffens even 
deliberately postponed a fundamental debate on the future of post-war foreign 
policy. Van Boetzelaer, on the other hand, inaugurated a fundamental 
redirection of foreign policy without parliament intervening in any serious 
way. The combination of Van Boetzelaer's lack of communicativeness and 
parliamentary disinterest in foreign policy provided the minister with an 
unusual independence in conducting his affairs. 

The first time parliament was able to express itself on foreign policy 
was during the debate on the ratification of the UN Charter. The debate, which 
coincided with the Belgian parliamentary discussions on the same issue, was as 
uninspired as the Belgian one, on the one hand because the provisional States 
General shared Van Kleffens's scepticism and lack of enthusiasm for the new 
organization and on the other hand because the Foreign Minister aborted any 
attempt to initiate a fiindamental debate about the future direction of Dutch 
foreign policy.^^4 y^u Kleffens considered such a debate neither urgent nor 
desirable. In cabinet as well he and Van Roijen advocated a 'wait and see'-
attitude, postponing a discussion of the issue to a later date. 

Van Kleffens's evasiveness did not pass unopposed. In cabinet ministers 
like Lieftinck and J.M. de Booy (minister of the Navy) advocated closer 
political and economic cooperation with Britain. The former expected thus to 
obtain the necessary credits on more favourable conditions and to enlist British 
support in the Indies, whereas the latter advocated the continuation of the 
wartime cooperation between the British and Dutch Royal Navies (also in view 
of the Indonesian dispute). In parliament the social democrat L.A. Donker 
seriously questioned Van Kleffens's restraint. In his opinion, the changed 
circumstances of the post-war era necessitated a fundamental debate about the 
Dutch future in Western Europe. By pleading the provisional character of the 
incumbent parliament Van Kleffens avoided such a debate, but at the same 
time he also voiced his long-held conviction that it would be most inadvisable 
for a nation like the Netherlands to ally itself with only one great power. In 

. The main topics of the debate are analyzed in: Duynstee & Bosmans, Het Kabinet 
Schermerhorn-Drees, pp. 684-694 and Van Campen, The Quest for Security, pp. 15-22. 
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the end both Second and First Chamber loyally endorsed the 'legal sanctioning 
of an unsatisfactory situation' in the UN Charter (Van Kleffens) on 7, resp. 15 
November 1945. One day later the Netherlands officially joined the UNO. 

Spaak's attempts in the fall of 1945 to involve Britain (and subsequently 
France and the Netherlands) in discussions about closer cooperation, thus to 
give substance to his deepest convictions, contrast sharply with Van Kleffens's 
obsession not to become involved in anything of the kind. A suggestion by Van 
Langenhove in August 1945 to act jointly in this respect was rebuffed 
immediately (Van Kleffens considered such an initiative inopportune and 
ineffective) and similar overtures in the following months befell the same lot. 
Reviewing Belgian-Dutch relations since the end of World War II, Van 
Vredenburch therefore concluded in March 1946 that on the Dutch side little 
had been done to improve relations and that some kind of initiative in this 
respect was needed. He suggested 

"an agreement whereby both Belgium and the Netherlands would bind themselves 
to consult one another before taking any important steps, particularly in the realm 
of foreign affairs." 

His suggestion bore no fruit; it was even considered "Utopian".̂ -̂ ^ On the 
economic side the balance sheet was also negative. Because of the financial 
and economic difficulties in the Netherlands, the coming into force of the 
Benelux customs agreement was temporarily deferred and cooperation in the 
Tripartite Council did not flourish either. ̂ ^̂  The Dutch were clearly afraid 
to become too intimately involved with its southern, continental neighbours 
with Britain on the sidelines. Since relations with the British had become rather 
strained, owing to the developments in the East Indies, the best thing was 
simply to sit still and wait for the inevitable. After all, as Van Roijen told the 
Canadian ambassador, Pierre Dupuy, "geography is stronger than the Big 
Three put together. "̂ ^̂  

The political department of the ministry of Foreign Affairs was not 
satisfied with this passive state of affairs. Van Vredenburch had already 
concluded on the final day of 1945 that the Netherlands only stood to gain 
from actively working towards the customs union with Belgium.̂ ^^ To 
compensate for the economic loss of the East Indies; to keep the Belgians away 
from a bilateral deal with the French; to rebuild army and air force jointly; for 

^^^. Cf. BMFA, File 12237, Memo by Van Langenhove, 14/08/45; NMFA, Embassy 
Brussels Secret Archives, Box 6, Folder Western European Cooperation, Memo by Van 
Harinxma, 08/08/45; and WNRC, RG 84, The Hague PF, Box 10, Folder 710 Belgium-Neth., 
Webb Benton to State Dept., No. 691, 06/03/46. Van Vredenburch, Den Haag antwoordt niet, p. 
230. 
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. Cf. Brouwer, 'Repondre a la politique europeenne fran^aise', pp. 69-74. 

^^^. NAC, RG 25 G 2, Ace. 83-84/268, Box 317, File 7498, Pt. 1, Dupuy to DEA, No. 
186, 19/03/46. 

^^^. NMFA, Departmental Archives, 912.1, Folder 1857, Memo by Van Vredenburch, 
31/12/45. 
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all these reasons Van Vredenburch concluded that the Dutch should leave no 
stone unturned to bring the Benelux agreement to fruition. Although also 
favouring an agreement with Britain, Van Vredenburch assumed that since the 
Dutch only figured at the fourth rank at best in British priorities (behind the 
United States, the Dominions and France, and competing for fourth place with 
Argentina and Umguay) such an agreement was not to be expected in the near 
future. As to France, he ruled out any agreement before one had been 
concluded with Britain: 

"If the Netherlands is forced to choose between France and England, in almost 
any conceivable situation England will have to be chosen by us, if only because 
America emerges behind the United Kingdom, and the interests of the Kingdom 
coincide with those of the Anglo-Saxon powers." 

However, under the regime of Van Kleffens such talk was anathema. He opted 
for a deliberately cautious approach to post-war international relations. The 
reluctant acceptance of the principle of collective security in a universal world 
organization motivated a policy characterized by waiting attentively for the 
start of the United Nations, the evolution in the relationship between the Big 
Four, and the future course of US foreign policy. Latent suspicion of Soviet 
intentions, such a dominant feature of Soviet-Dutch relations in the inter-war 
period, was never far off. Commenting on the failure of the first CFM-meeting 
in London, Van Roijen observed that it was perhaps best that the Western 
powers should learn at an early rather than a later date just where they stood 
vis-a-vis the Soviet Union. ̂ ^̂  He considered the Soviets responsible for the 
fact that the other participants in the CFM seemed to gang up against her. 
Perhaps in the not too distant future the Westem powers would have to form 
some sort of bloc among themselves, conceding the Soviet Union the right to 
manage matters in Eastern Europe as she wished without Western intervention. 
With regard to its security the government still harboured its wartune hopes of 
a US commitment. In February 1946, Van Roijen therefore suggested the US 
government "a preluninary discussion of problems which are of common 
concern to the security of the Netherlands and the United States of America", 
pointing in particular to "military facilities to be mutually granted" and 
"reciprocal use of certain bases." Although the Americans initially reacted in a 
positive way, the actual discussions were postponed indefinitely.^^^ 

Because of the lack of direction regarding post-war security policy in 
general, and the lack of progress in the field of Belgian-Dutch military 
cooperation in particular, the military took the initiative. Referring to Van 
Kleffens's dismissal of talks in the winter of 1944 on the grounds that the 
government at the time was not constitutionally elected, the Chiefs of Staff 

^̂ .̂ Cf. WNRC, RG 84, The Hague PF, Box 5, Folder 700, Memo by Benton, 09/10/45 
and NMFA, Departmental Archives, 912.1, Folder 1857, Memo of meeting, 29/01/46. 

^'^^. Cf. NMFA, Embassy Washington Archives, Box 130, P-1.1/46.1, Memo Van Roijen, 
06/02/46; Memo US Embassy, No. 258, 16/02/46; Loudon to Van Kleffens, No. 4373/1481, 
20/06/46; and HSTL, Naval Aide Files, Box 20, Folder State Dept. Briefs Jan.-May 1946, 
Summary of Telegrams, 08/02/46. 
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after the May-elections advised the new minister of War, A.H.J.L. Fievez, to 
broach the subject anew. Press rumours that discussions were already taking 
place, triggered a sharp reaction by the ministry of Foreign Affairs. In cabinet 
Fievez was only authorized to discuss technical matters with the 
Belgians. ̂ ^̂  In a personal communication Van Boetzelaer warned Fievez 
indeed to restrict the conversations to those matters until the issue of Western 
European security had crystalized. Before that moment closer military 
cooperation and coordination was out of the question. During a visit to 
Brussels from 15 to 17 October 1946 the discussions between Fievez and De 
Fraiteur therefore remained essentially restricted to technical cooperation. ̂ ^̂  

This first attack on Van Boetzelaer's inertion was followed soon by a 
second one. Taking advantage of remarks by Smuts in favour of Western 
European economic cooperation during a visit to the Netherlands in October, 
Lieftinck this time opened the attack in cabinet. He staunchly advocated a 
more positive approach only to be rebuffed. The majority of the cabinet 
considered the time not ripe yet.̂ ^^ His plea was, however, not without 
effect. Van Boetzelaer consulted Michiels van Verduynen in London about the 
expediency of an initiative towards closer Western European (economic and 
political) cooperation. In his letter to Michiels, Van Boetzelaer described the 
lack of mutual trust among the Great Powers as the core of the present 
problems in Europe. Without an unprovement in the East-West relationship, 
there would be no prospect of political detente, economic recovery or a 
solution to the German problem. In Van Boetzelaer's opinion, a Dutch 
initiative at this point in time would be counter-productive. 

Michiels supported Van Boetzelaer's analysis. '̂̂ ^ Germany would 
prove the real testing ground regarding the prospects of continued East-West 
cooperation and an initiative at this moment in time might prove embarrassing. 
The Dutch simply had to wait for the final showdown. According to Michiels, 
if necessary both the United States and Britain would settle for a partitioned 
Germany as the price for peace. A Western European combination would then 
be inevitable. Van Boetzelaer readily accepted Michiels's support. The 
ambassador's evaluation corroborated his own: the future of Germany 
determined the future course of Dutch foreign policy. Since the Netherlands 
were unable to influence the developments in Germany, caution was the right 
approach. 

^^. Cf. DNA, Cabinet Minutes, 2.02.05, Box 388, Minutes, 02/09/46; and NMFA, 
Departmental Archives, 921.2, Folder 792, Military cooperation Belgium-Holland, Sas to 
Kruls, No. 53, 11/07/46; Kruls to Fievez, No. 13708ZG, 31/07/46; and Lewe to Helb, 15/08/46. 

^^^. Ibid., Van Boetzelaer to Fievez, No. 80249-6061GS, 20/09/46 and Memo of 
conversation De Fraiteur-Fievez, 16/10/46. The British concluded after the visit: "It is a pity that 
political considerations make it so difficult for us to take advantage of these circumstances." See: 
PRO, FO 371/59909, Z 9354/9354/4, Bland to Attlee, No, 689, 31/10/46. 

^'^^. See: DNA, Cabinet Minutes, 2.02.05, Box 388, Minutes, 21/10/46. 

^^^. NMFA, Departmental Archives, 913.11, WEU, Box 491, Van Boetzelaer to Michiels 
van Verduynen, No. 93855-6947GS, 31/10/46 and Michiels van Verduynen to Van Boetzelaer, 
No. 8407/1804, 15/11/46. 
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Dutch impotence regarding Germany had already become a source of 
considerable frustration. Van Kleffens even tried to use the veiled Dutch anti-
communism and fear of Soviet intentions to further their interests in connection 
with the future of Germany, after the East Indies the second most important 
foreign policy issue. ̂ ^̂  Commenting on the intended destruction of German 
heavy industry, he advised the Dutch representatives in the Tripartite Council 
and other allied negotiations to emphasize the political consequences of such a 
policy.^'*^ Belgium, France and Britain all stood to gain considerably from a 
security point of view and seemed to be prepared to accept the economic loss. 
The Netherlands, on the other hand, would be ruined economically if Germany 
would be converted into an economic poorhouse. Since the other Western 
European countries seemed to be unimpressed by the economic consequences, 
they were to point to the dangers of further pauperization of the German 
population and, consequently, its susceptibility to communism. 

Van Kleffens's recourse to the 'Red bogey' is a symptom of the 
frustration felt with regard to the decision-making over the future of Germany. 
Like Belgium, theoretically the Dutch government was not without means to 
further its interests. As one of the main victims of German aggression, the 
government presented the Big Four already on 17 August 1945 with a first 
memorandum on Dutch reparations claims so as to secure participation in any 
future negotiations.^'^^ The Netherlands was invited to appoint a military 
liaison mission to the ACC, but apart from some illegal activity to repatriate 
part of the stolen assets of the royal family '̂̂ ,̂ the outcome of the mission's 
activities are hardly worth mentioning. The Netherlands also participated in the 
Paris reparations conference in the autumn of 1945, exacting percentage-wise 
the fifth place among the claimants. However, in the end Germany restituted 
less than 2% of the original Dutch claim. ̂ ^̂  

Furthermore, the Dutch were even incapable of stageing a physical 
presence in Germany. Already during the war plans were developed to share 
an occupation zone with the Belgians. The fact that all available troops were 
destined for the East Indies frustrated this intention.^^^ The Dutch were 
simply not capable to mobilize the necessary troops and even a British offer to 
train extra troops was rejected for financial reasons. Belgian prodding at least 

. The importance attached to Germany can be measured to some extent from the creation 
of a special German Division in the ministry of Foreign Affairs. 

^^^. NMFA, Embassy Paris Archives, Box 13, B7, Folder Dutch Foreign Policy, Van 
Kleffens to Boissevain, No. 13872 /950, 24/10/45. 

. Memorandum is printed in: Van Campen, The Quest for Security, pp. 205-218. 

148 
. Cf. Mulder, Wiebes en Zeeman, 'Operatic Juliana', pp. 1-2 and p. 6. 

149 
. Cf. Duynstee & Bosmans, Het Kabinet Schermerhorn-Drees, pp. 695-700. 

^^^. Ibid., pp. 700-703; and BMFA, File 12237, Memo by Van Langenhove, 14/08/45; File 
10957 bis Year 1945, De Romree to Spaak, No. 452/26/0-6824, 22/09/45; and NMFA, Embassy 
London Secret Archives, Box 40, File C 8/77, Folder Ruhr and Rhine, Schimmelpenninck to 
Michiels van Verduynen, 30/01/46. 



138 

to start discussions about a common approach raised unexpected difficulties. 
Belgian claims for their occupation zone (partly along the Dutch-German 
border in Limburg) sparked fears about the encirclement of the southern edge 
of the Netherlands similar to Belgian fears about encirclement by France. 
Given the Dutch indecision and inability to deliver the necessary goods, i.e. 
troops, the British went ahead with the Belgians. In cabinet, Van Roijen 
especially continued to emphasize the importance of a physical presence in 
Germany, but given the financial difficulties the government was facing and 
the priority of sending troops to the East Indies, the Netherlands never 
participated in the occupation of Germany. The question was shelved by the 
Beel government. 

In view of this catalogue of failures (although partly self-imposed) Van 
Kleffens's frustration is understandable. However, the 'Red bogey'-approach 
did not pay off either and consequently the government contented itself with 
presenting the occupying powers with one memorandum after another and 
discussing the annexation of German territory. The latter issue had been 
initiated by Van Kleffens as compensation for the large sections of the 
Netherlands inundated by the Germans in 1944. The Schermerhorn-Drees 
government was divided over the issue (the social democrats opposing 
annexation) and consequently the cabinet launched a public discussion. In the 
final months of 1945 the issue was hotly debated in the media and by specially 
organized committees, but there was no clear majority either pro or con 
annexation. ̂ ^̂  

Given this unfixed attitude of public opinion and the resistance put up 
by Britain and the United States against large scale annexation, the cabinet 
wavered. Van Kleffens remained in favour, suggesting in September 1945 the 
annexation of 10.500 square km (roughly one-third of the Netherlands!) 
including one and half million Germans who were to be expelled within three 
years after the annexation. ̂ ^̂  The majority of the government, supported by 
the committee specifically created to study the issue, opposed such a large 
scale extension of Dutch territory, advocating instead border corrections and 
Dutch administration over German economic resources. The issue was referred 
to the special committee headed by the social democrat Koos Vorrink for a 
final proposal. 

Annexation had lost much of its force in the beginning of 1946 until the 
committee presented its final report in May. Under the guise of border 
adjustments, the committee recommended annexations of German territory 
which added up to half of Van Kleffens's September 1945-demands. Mostly 
for economic reasons, the Schermerhom-Drees cabinet in its final days 
endorsed the recommendations of the committee. The Netherlands were to be 
enlarged by nearly 5.000 square km (15% of its existing territory) inhabited by 

. Cf. Duynstee & Bosmans, Het Kabinet Schermerhorn-Drees, pp. 703-707 and 
Schaper, '"Wij widen zelfs niet"', pp. 261-266. 
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700.000 Germans. ̂ ^̂  Opposition was voiced prunarily by the social 
democrats, who questioned the ability of the Germans involved to assimilate. 

Initially, the Beel government endorsed the conclusion of their 
predecessors, although shortly after their installation the ambassador in Paris, 
A.W.L. Tjarda van Starkenborgh Stachouwer, commenting on the CFM-
meeting in Paris, already advised strongly against annexation. If the 
government would persist in its present position, it might end up on the French 
side opposing the United States and Britain in the economic reconstruction of 
Germany. Reinforced by the changed US attitude towards Germany, as 
expressed by Byrnes in Stuttgart, Van Boetzelaer became the chief opponent in 
cabinet to large scale border adjustments.̂ "̂* After intense discussions in 
cabinet the final territorial demands were further scaled down to 1.750 square 
km (inhabited by 120.000 Germans) whereas the economic demands were 
considerably increased. These clauns were officially presented in a 
memorandum to the Big Four on 5 November 1946.̂ ^^ They contrasted 
starkly with the Belgian claims and only the French government openly 
supported them. 

The November 1946-memorandum on territorial readjustments was still 
firmly grounded on the two principal elements in Dutch thinking regarding 
Germany: security against a resurgent Germany and German reparations to 
compensate for the economic damage. However, reparations deliveries had 
been disappointing and the growing realization that German economic revival 
was of paramount importance to Dutch economic rehabilitation necessitated an 
alternative approach. In two other memoranda on Germany, prepared with a 
view to the upcoming Moscow CFM meeting in March 1947 and the London 
Deputies meeting in January 1947, such an alternative approach was put to the 
test. The cabinet created in October 1946 a special interdepartmental 
committee on Germany headed by Van Vredenburch, with Hirschfeld as one of 
its chief advisors, in order to draft these memoranda. The suggestions of the 
committee-Van Vredenburch were discussed in cabinet in the first week of 
1947 and subsequently led to the 'Memorandum on Allied Policy with regard 
to Germany', dated 14 January 1947, and the supplementary 'Memorandum 
with regard to the Demarcation of the Future Netherlands-German Frontier and 
Related Problems', dated 25 January 1947.̂ ^^ Both memoranda were 
presented to the Deputies-meeting in London on 28 January by a delegation 
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consisting of Van Vredenburch, Hirschfeld en A. Th. Lamping, a diplomat 
who had served as secretary to the committee-Van Vredenburch. 

The principal object of Dutch foreign policy with regard to Germany 
was, as the first memorandum stipulated in the introduction, 

"the creation of adequate guarantees to ensure peace and security, and the 
creation of the prerequisites for the recovery of the national economy and the 
recovery of the prosperity of Germany in so far as this is essential to European 
and world prosperity." 

The former objective was to be realized by the implementation of the Byrnes 
40-year demilitarization-treaty within the framework of the UN Charter-articles 
on regional organizations. Great power cooperation was considered essential in 
this respect, but other neighbouring states like Belgium, the Netherlands, 
Denmark, Poland and Czechoslovakia should also be enabled to partake in 
such a European security system. 

With regard to Germany itself, the government shared the Belgian 
conception of a politically federated, but economically united state. Dutch 
security and economic interests to some extent clashed. Therefore: "parallel to 
a reasonable degree of recovery of German economy, the decentralization of 
the political structure and the deconcentration of economic power is aimed at." 
If decentralization, deconcentration, demilitarization and disarmament were 
carried through consistently, special measures for the Ruhr-Rhine regions 
which differed completely from the general project would be unnecessary. A 
separate regime for the industries in the region, strict sanctions if the regime 
were infringed and Allied occupation of a certain number of strategic points 
would then suffice. German recovery should be part of and be embedded in 
general economic cooperation in Europe. 

Like the Belgians, the government tried to occupy a middle position 
between the Big Four. But, whereas the Belgian government in some respects 
supported the French, the Dutch remained primarily loyal to the Anglo-Saxon 
side. As a consequence of the recognition that economic recovery was linked 
inextricably to German prosperity, the government was forced to choose a line 
of conduct that would secure the economic goal within as safe a framework as 
possible. The Byrnes Treaty seemed the best way out, even though up till then 
Byrnes' suggestion had not been received very favourably and the prospects of 
continued Great Power coperation seemed to grow more dim every CFM-
meeting. At least the treaty would be discussed at the forthcoming conference 
in Moscow. 

Economic considerations clearly dominated Dutch thinking. The wider 
security aspects were discussed more extensively in an internal memorandum 
prepared by Lamping with an eye to the official memorandum of January 
1947.̂ ^^ According to Lamping, Dutch security interests were best served 
by treating Germany as one entity and promoting the common goal of East and 

. NMFA, Departmental Archives, 912.13, File Border corrections. Memo Lamping, 
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West to prevent renewed German aggression. In his opinion a Westem 
European group or bloc, as a counterweight to a similar grouping dominated 
by the Soviet Union, would be counter-productive. It would mean the 
permanent division of Germany, which was not in the political and economic 
interests of the Netherlands; the end of the system of collective security; and 
the rebuilding of western Germany as a bulwark against communism at the 
expense of the smaller Westem European nations. Moreover, a Western 
European bloc would be too weak in the face of aggression and the continent 
would be overrun before British and US aid had arrived. Therefore, the future 
of Germany should be treated as a common problem of East and West to be 
treated within a European framework, making use of Byrnes' offer and based 
on the continued cooperation of the Great Powers. The German question rather 
than the deterioration in the East-West relationship was still considered the 
main security problem. ̂ ^̂  

The Bymes Treaty had become the sheet anchor of Dutch security 
policy. Through the conclusion of the forty year treaty, and Dutch participation 
in its creation, the government expected finally to become involved in the 
discussions on the future of Germany. Given her sponsorship of the proposal, 
the United States would be permanently involved in Europe if the treaty 
proposal was brought to fmition. Participation of the Soviet Union was 
considered essential in order to facilitate the reconstruction of the German 
economy within safe bounds. Finally, the system of collective security would 
receive a considerable boost by the creation of a treaty whose aims were 
specifically couched within the terms of the UN Charter. 

The Dutch reaction to the creation of the Dunkirk Treaty, and 
especially to Spaak's subsequent initiatives, clearly show that Lamping's ideas 
were shared by Van Boetzelaer. The latter was first informed about Spaak's 
unilateral initiative on 1 March by ambassador Van Harinxma. Cabinet was 
informed right away, but in the absence of any clear indications of what Spaak 
was specifically up to no decisions were taken. Three days later, on the day of 
the signature of the Dunkirk Treaty, Van Harinxma reported more 
extensively.^^^ He claimed also to have been surprised by Spaak's moves, 
which had been made in "a quite spontaneous way" without much consultation, 
but he conceded that this might indeed be the right psychological moment. Van 
Harinxma therefore advised Van Boetzelaer to follow Spaak's initiatives, 
advocating that the government, as the Belgian government had already done, 
would also offer a Dunkirk-type treaty to the Soviets. 

Van Boetzelaer ignored Van Harinxma's advice. In a sharp reply to 
Van Harinxma he expressed regret that Spaak had not consulted him before 

. Cf. Schaper, 'The Security Policy of the Netherlands', p. 96. Hirschfeld expressed 
similar views. See: ibid., pp. 99-100. 

^^^. NMFA, DNW-archive WEU, 999.1, Box 4, Folder 12, Van Harinxma to Van 
Boetzelaer, No. 7, 01/03/47 and Brussels Embassy Secret Archives, Box 8, Folder Brussels & 
Dunkirk Treaties, Van Harinxma to Van Boetzelaer, No. Res. VI.2d-2088, 04/03/47. Also: 
WNRC, RG 84, Brussels PF, Confidential Files, Box 23, Folder 710 Alliances, Kirk to 
SecState, No. 328, 04/03/47. 
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speaking out.^^° He had no intention to take any steps with either the 
British or the French government in order to bring about the kind of treaties 
that Spaak was proposing. That would be contrary to the declared policy of the 
government not to enter into any long term arrangements as long as the 
attitude of the US government towards a European security system was unclear 
and Van Boetzelaer drew his ambassador's attention specifically to the 
paragraphs on the Bymes Treaty in the January 1947-memorandum. In view of 
Van Harinxma's initial positive reaction to Spaak, he advised him to refrain 
from any new demarche in this matter. 

Van Boetzelaer immediately tried to neutralize Van Harinxma's positive 
reaction to Spaak's ideas, which had been communicated to Washington by the 
US embassy in Brussels. Van Vredenburch informed the Americans that, apart 
from his "personal distaste" for bilateral treaties, the government still preferred 
an all-encompassing demilitarization treaty signed by all powers concemed and 
felt "that no network of alliances without participation USA could be really 
useful or effective." They considered the Belgian initiatives a disturbing rather 
than a consolidating element in the present international situation. Van 
Boetzelaer was not prepared to follow in Spaak's footsteps and the government 
intended for the moment to wait and see. If Spaak would broach the issue 
officially, their reply would be 

"politely non-committal and to effect Dutch not (repeat not) desirous do anything 
for the moment, preferring await outcome Moscow talks, especially in respect 
proposed four power treaty." 

Van Boetzelaer even instructed Loudon in Washington to inform the US 
government of their rejection of "pactomania".̂ *̂ ^ 

The attitude of the government was primarily determined by that of the 
US government. Van Vredenburch told the Americans in no uncertain terms 
that the Dutch were "reluctant" to act without knowing their opinion, although 
they were undoubtedly obliged to reexamine that position if the United States 
stayed aloof so as not "to be left out in the cold". Since the security of 
Western Europe was considered indissolubly connected with US participation, 
Van Boetzelaer preferred the obligations under the UN Charter and a Four 
Power (Bymes) Treaty over bilateral Dunkirk-type treaties. In his opinion, 
treaties with Britain and France only commended themselves from an economic 
point of view; from the military point of view they had no significance. The 

. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 8, Folder Brussels & Dunkirk 
Treaties, Van Boetzelaer to Van Harinxma, No. 10, 06/03/47. 

^^^. NMFA, Embassy Washington Archives, Box 130, Folder P-1.8/40.3, Van Boetzelaer 
to Loudon, No. 78, 07/03/47; NA, RG 59, Confidential Files '45-'49, Box C-282, 751.55/3-647, 
Hornbeck to SecState, 06/03/47; and WNRC, RG 84, Brussels PF, Confidential Files, Box 23, 
710 Alliances, Benton to Achilles, No. 11, 09/03/47. 
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Netherlands should be careful not to tie itself to Britain and France for a 
period of 50 years against a currently non-existing German threat. ̂ ^̂  

Spaak therefore had to be stopped. Bolstered by communications from 
Washington that the State Department considered their attitude "clear and 
sensible" (and Spaak's initiatives "untimely") and the reserve expressed by the 
British and French governments ̂ ^̂ , Van Boetzelaer instmcted Van 
Harinxma to inform Spaak of their misgivings about not being informed 
beforehand; about mmours being spread about a projected Franco-Belgian 
customs union; and about Spaak's apparent lack of attention for the larger 
issues involved. Van Boetzelaer's pique can also be measured from the fact 
that he cancelled a projected visit to Brussels. ^̂ ^ 

Spaak expressed surprise over Van Boetzelaer's touchiness. He 
expected him to favour closer cooperation in Europe to the same extent as the 
Belgians and that he would therefore consider his initiatives as logical steps 
towards that common goal. However, given the attitude of the other countries 
concemed such steps were not be needed anymore.̂ ^^ Van Harinxma tried 
to mend the cracks in the Belgian-Dutch relationship. He defended Spaak 
against charges of acting behind the back of Van Boetzelaer and favouring a 
customs union with France before the Benelux agreement had entered into 
force. On the contrary, according to Van Harinxma, in the Tripartite Council 
the Belgians were the staunchest supporters of the Dutch in keeping the French 
at bay. He therefore expressed regret that Van Boetzelaer had cancelled his 
visit to Brussels. On the other hand, he also considered the latter's suggestion 
that De Gruben should come to The Hague for consultations untimely. ̂ °° 

After the flurry of diplomatic activity following the signature of the 
Dunkirk Treaty had died down, the foreign ministry took stock. In a cabinet 
paper Van Vredenburch's division concluded that despite the conclusion of the 
Dunkirk Treaty and Spaak's overtures, the priorities in Dutch security policy 
still remained unchanged. ̂ ^̂  Collective security under the UN Charter and 

^^^. NMFA, DNW-archive WEU, 999.1, Box 4, Folder 12, Van Boetzelaer to Michiels 
van Verduynen, with enclosure. No. DPZ 22289-1628, 10/03/47. 

^^^. Cf. NMFA, Embassy Washington Archives, Box 130, P-1.8/40.3, Loudon to Van 
Boetzelaer, No. 106, 14/03/47. 

^^^. NMFA, DNW-archive WEU, 999.1, Box 4, Folder 12, Van Boetzelaer to Van 
Harinxma, No. 23279-1695GS, 12/03/47; and BMFA, File 10965 bis Year 1947, Nemry to De 
Gruben, No. 332/891, 15/03/47. The fall of the Belgian government may also have contributed to 
Van Boetzelaer's decision not to visit Brussels. 

. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 3, Part I, 1944-48, Van Harinxma to 
Van Boetzelaer, Res. III.2-2355/775, 12/03/47. 

^^^. Cf. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 8, Folder Brussels & Dunkirk 
Treaties, Van Harinxma to Van Boetzelaer, Res. (VI.2d)-2524, 17/03/47; Van Boetzelaer to Van 
Harinxma, No. 11, 18/03/47; and Van Harinxma to Van Boetzelaer, Res. (VI.2d)-2650/877, 
20/03/47. 

^^^. NMFA, DNW-archive WEU, 999.1, Box 4, Folder 12, Memo on the French-British 
treaty of 28 February (sic) 1947, DPZ 26170/1935GS, 16/03/47. 
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the projected Byrnes (demilitarization) Treaty held preference over a system of 
bilateral treaties; a comprehensive settlement clearly held preference over 
piecemeal solutions. Spaak's initiatives further had to be evaluated against the 
background of British reluctance to do anything that might divert US interest in 
Europe and the continuity in French security policy, i.e. to create a network of 
bilateral treaties of alliance against potential German aggression. Both France 
and Britain clearly wanted to improve cooperation among the countries in 
Western Europe, but for different reasons. France expected to act as 
mouthpiece for the smaller Westem European countries, preferably for both 
Belgium and the Netherlands, if need be just for Belgium, to enhance its 
position vis-a-vis Britain. "Brussels is never entirely insensitive to this lure of 
the Parisian Siren." Britain, on the other hand, always had the larger issue of 
US involvement on its mind. The "un-British" haste surrounding the 
conclusion of the Dunkirk Treaty showed that for the British government Wes­
tern Europe was "to be or not to be". In itself this trend should be welcomed, 
but for the present moment the government should wait for the outcome of the 
Moscow CFM meeting and try to capitalize upon the favourable reception of 
their attitude in the previous weeks. On 31 March the cabinet approved this 
line of conduct. ̂ ^̂  

Initially the failure to reach agreement on the Bymes Treaty during the 
Moscow CFM did not produce any immediate reaction in The Hague. Just like 
the previous summer a projected visit by Fievez, this time to meet his 
colleague A.V. Alexander in London, triggered a new discussion. Fievez 
proposed to Van Boetzelaer to discuss the future defence of Western Europe in 
London and more precisely, the contribution Britain was prepared to make to 
military cooperation which was more or less dictated by geography. A senior 
official at the War Department, Colonel M.R.H. Calmeyer, had already 
informed the British military attache in The Hague about the purpose of the 
visit. Van Boetzelaer knmediately contacted Michiels van Verduynen in 
London for advice.̂ ^^ 

Michiels uttered surprise and astonishment. He reminded Van 
Boetzelaer of a recent conversation he and Tjarda van Starkenborgh 
Stachouwer had held with Fievez and his Navy colleague, J.J.A. Schagen van 
Leeuwen, in which the conclusion had been that the present international 
situation was too fluid to decide on a specific course of action with regard to 
Dutch security policy.̂ ^^ Fievez now proposed to take action in this 
respect. Michiels questioned both the constitutionality of Fievez' proposal, 
which according to him belonged to the domain of the Foreign Minister and at 
least required full discussion in cabinet, and the expediency of an initiative. 
Despite the Moscow CFM-failure, East and West were still on speaking terms. 
Michiels proposed to restrict Fievez' joumey to a courtesy call or to cancel the 

^°°. DNA, Cabinet Minutes, 2.02.05, Box 389, Minutes, 31/03/47. 

^^^. NMFA, Embassy London Secret Archives, Box 35, C 8/41, Folder Fievez, Van 
Boetzelaer to Michiels van Verduynen, 23/05/47 and 24/05/47. 
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visit if he really intended to broach the subject of military cooperation. Only 
after the projected CFM meeting in November, whether it would be successful 
or a total failure, would the time be ripe for such an approach. 

Van Boetzelaer discussed Michiels's letter with Fievez. The latter 
explained that the British invitation dated back to November 1946 and had 
recently been renewed. He stressed the necessity to discuss the future of 
Western European military cooperation in view of the military requirements of 
the Netherlands in Europe. Van Boetzelaer and Fievez agreed to bring the 
issue before the full cabinet and to invite Michiels to take part in the 
discussions. Four days after Marshall's Harvard speech the cabinet debated the 
issue. Van Boetzelaer and Michiels (who was not present) lost the argument. 
Fievez was authorized to discuss the issue in London since the majority of the 
cabinet preferred a rebuff over continued uncertainty. Van Boetzelaer informed 
his ambassador in London about the outcome. Michiels was disappointed, but 
was told privately by Harvey that in the present intemational situation 
Alexander was not authorized to make any commitment regarding the issues 
proposed by Fievez and Calmeyer.̂ ^^ 

During the same cabinet meeting the government discussed Marshall's 
speech. Van Boetzelaer informed his colleagues that the State Department 
would welcome a positive response. Cabinet authorized him and Van Kleffens 
(the newly appointed ambassador to the United States) to confer with Belgium 
and Luxembourg with a view to a joint response. The Dutch immediately 
contacted De Gmben who reacted in a negative way. De Gruben considered 
their draft of a joint Benelux declaration overly positive regarding the ideas 
expressed by Marshall and questioned the advisability of the extension of the 
Benelux framework to realize Marshall's aims.̂ ^^ Nevertheless, after 
Spaak's change of mind the Belgians joined them on 17 June in welcoming 
Marshall's initiative in official demarches in Washington. 

The Dutch reaction was understandable, especially from an economic 
point of view. Economic recovery still depended upon Western European 
recovery, including the reestablishment of the trading relationship with 
Germany, and US dollars. Since the end of the war, the economy had only 
slowly adjusted itself to peace-time conditions. Thanks to large-scale loans by 
the United States, economic reconstmction had been given a feeble start but in 
the course of 1946 economic growth came to a halt. The Netherlands was 
unable to export the necessary goods to pay for its imports. The deficit on the 
balance of payments was rising steadily; foreign currency reserves and gold-
stocks steadily crumbled away; foreign credits proved harder to get; exports 
from the East Indies were still impossible; and in the meantune the 
Netherlands was sending an army of over 100.000 men to the other side of the 

. Cf. ibid., Michiels van Verduynen to Van Boetzelaer, 04/06/47; Van Boetzelaer to 
Michiels van Verduynen, No. 94, 10/06/47; and DNA, Cabinet Minutes, 2.02.05, Box 389, 
Minutes, 09/06/47. 
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globe. Lieftinck had already predicted to his colleagues in cabinet in Febmary 
1947 a severe liquidity crisis by mid-year. ̂ ^̂  

With regard to the situation in the East Indies, the cabinet, under strong 
pressure by Lieftinck, decided to force the issue by a military intervention. 
Operation Product started on 20 July. With regard to its dollar deficit, the 
government immediately seized upon Marshall's initiative. Hirschfeld observed 
that the Marshall plan should take care of the rehabilitation of intra-European 
trade relations, the recovery of the German economy and the opening up of 
Eastern Europe. If the Soviet Union would abort such an all-European 
solution, Hirschfeld advocated a similar approach confined to Western Europe 
including the reintegration of the three western occupation zones of Germany 
in the Western European economy.̂ ^^ 

As in the Belgian case, the abortive Bevin-Bidault-Molotov 
conversations in the end of June in Paris must therefore be considered the 
watershed in post-war Dutch foreign, economic and security policy. 
Immediately after the breakdown of the conversations. Van Vredenburch 
informed the Belgian embassy in The Hague that if Europe continued to drift 
towards a permanent division, as seemed to be the case, the Dutch were now 
prepared to accept the consequences.̂ ^^ In his opinion, the Netherlands 
would support from now on the creation of bilateral treaties and would be 
prepared to act jointly with Belgium in this matter, "hand in hand". 

Dutch timing was bad. Bevin and Bidault were trying to keep 
everything 'on the economic plane' and the issue of (bilateral) treaties of 
alliance was kept in abeyance. During his visit to London, Fievez discussed the 
matter with Alexander, who even led hkn to believe that the British were 
already discussing the issue with the Belgians, but afterwards Michiels van 
Verduynen was told by the Foreign Office that the time was not ripe.̂ ^^ 
Shortly thereafter, Spaak was told in no uncertain terms, both by the British 
and by the French, to forget his pet project for the time being and concentrate 
on the 16 nations-conference in Paris on the Marshall Plan. The cabinet 
therefore decided to let the matter rest. A projected visit by Van Vredenburch 
to Bmssels to discuss the issue to the full with his colleague De Gmben was 
cancelled. 

Meanwhile Spaak and Van Boetzelaer had reached a common policy 
with regard to the projected conference in Paris. In a clear effort to strengthen 
their negotiating position, the Benelux countries decided to act with one 
delegation, formally headed by Spaak. Hirschfeld would act as his deputy and 

. Bogaarts, Het Kabinet-Beel, pp. 1056-1081; and Griffiths, 'Economic Reconstruction 
Policy', pp. 26-28. 

^ '̂*. Cf. Schram, 'Nederland en het Marshall Plan', p. 206. 

^^^. Cf. NMFA, DNW-archive WEU, 999.1, Box 4, Folder 12, Minute Van Vredenburch, 
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do the actual negotiations (he was chosen in the five member-Executive 
Committee of the Paris conference). In the weeks preceding the conference the 
Benelux countries hammered out a joint position paper. Leaning heavily on the 
memoranda presented to the Big Four in the previous spring, Belgium and the 
Netherlands opted for convertibility in order to promote intra-European trade 
and the mobilization of German economic resources to the benefit of the 
Westem European economies.^^^ Although regarding both objectives they 
were not entirely successful, the Benelux delegation played a prominent part in 
the Paris conference. Benelux cooperation received a considerable boost. 

Given the Soviet refusal to accept the Marshall offer on other than their 
own terms, Dutch (and Belgian) advocacy of the integration of (West-) 
Germany in the larger Western European economy inevitably contributed to 
the division of Europe in two opposing camps; a division the government had 
tried to avoid ever since the end of the war. The primacy of Big Four-
cooperation in order to preserve German (economic) unity gave way to short 
term Dutch interests in the reintegration of at least the western part of 
Germany in the Westem European economy. Simultaneously, the Soviet Union 
began to replace Germany as the most likely threat to Dutch security. As Van 
Starkenborgh explained to his Belgian colleague Guillaume, given the comple­
mentary nature of the German and Dutch economies a pro-German policy was 
imperative, and Belgium and the Netherlands had to adjust themselves to this 
Soviet rather than the German threat. ̂ ^̂  

In the fall of 1947, the consequences of this reorientation started to 
make themselves felt in the field of security policy. Early November, Van 
Boetzelaer for the first time in the post-war era took the initiative in suggesting 
to Spaak the conclusion of treaties of alliance with Britain and France. Spaak, 
having already been rebuffed twice in the previous months, suggested to wait 
for the outcome of the London CFM meeting. After discussing the same issue 
with his Belgian colleague Obert de Thieusies, Michiels van Verduynen (who 
thus far had opposed any initiative) proposed to widen the scope of Benelux 
cooperation to the military sphere and to conclude a defensive alliance. Such 
an agreement might lessen the problems Fievez was confronting with regard to 
the Dutch military build-up. Van Boetzelaer concurred, the more so since 
closer cooperation with Belgium might diminish the pressure of the French on 
the Belgian government.^^^ Fievez reacted enthusiastically, but no progress 
was made before the end of the year. 

The change in attitude towards the Soviet Union is also apparent in an 
influential memorandum prepared by the counsellor of the embassy in 

. Cf. Bogaarts, Het Kabinet-Beel, pp. 1106-1111 and Schram, 'Nederland en het 
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Washington, J.G. de Beus, in November. In the light of developments of the 
previous months, De Beus presented a sobering analysis of the actual state of 
East-West relations and the consequences for Dutch foreign policy. In his 
opinion, war between the Soviet Union and the United States was now almost 
inevitable, although not within the next few years. He expected the United 
States to be victorious in this stmggle for world supremacy, given its seapower 
and the support by the British Empire and the Christian world. In this 
situation, Dutch foreign policy should be aimed at bridging the differences 
between East and West (although the Netherlands was hardly in a position to 
influence the course of events), at cementing the cooperation in Benelux and 
assessing the willingness of the Anglo-Saxon powers to give political and 
military guarantees in return for Belgian and Dutch allegiance. After all, 
echoing Van Kleffens's wartime ideas, it was in the interest of the Anglo-
Saxon powers to have a safe "bulwark on the continent". If the Anglo-Saxons 
were not prepared to extend the necessary guarantees, De Beus advised against 
a policy which would bring the Low Countries a priori in the Westem 
camp.̂ ^^ 

In public, however. Van Boetzelaer still clung to the cautious line 
adopted since he assumed office. Facing heavy criticism in parliament because 
of his passive attitude regarding closer European cooperation, he emphasized 
the urgency not to act in any way contrary to the overriding objective of 
universal international cooperation. Besides, given its colonial interests it was 
not in their interest to be confined to a European bloc. The government only 
supported a restricted form of cooperation, with clearly defined objectives, and 
preferably of an economic nature. ̂ ^̂  On the other hand, Van Boetzelaer 
also showed that he did not tum a blind eye on the deterioration of the East-
West relationship: 

"If the division of Germany into East and West were, against all hope, to 
become more or less definitive, this would induce the Government to reassess its 
European policy from scratch." 

The failure of the London CFM did just that. 

A critic observed in 1947 that "Dutch foreign policy is conditioned by distant 
events rather than by domestic objectives. "̂ ^̂  Instead of presenting these 
determinants as forces of different weight, for a proper understanding of Dutch 
foreign policy in the immediate post-war years it is necessary to consider them 
as incentives that were working in the same direction, permanently reinforcing 
one another. Security policy in the period August 1945 until December 1947 
was the tailpiece of economic reconstmction policy at home (centring around 

°". NMFA, Departmental Archives, 912.10, Box 201, Folder 1810, Memo by J.G. de 
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the future of Germany) and Dutch colonial policy in Asia (looking for the 
reestablishment of sovereignty in the East Indies). 

During the duumvirate Van Kleffens-Van Roijen uncertainty and 
passivity reigned. Disillusioned by the failure to bring his wartime scheme to 
fmition and the reality of the United Nations, Van Kleffens could not but base 
Dutch security policy on the universalist. One World-conception. After all. Big 
Four cooperation in Germany was considered essential in realizing Dutch 
(economic) aims and as a consequence of the British role in the Indonesian 
conflict closer cooperation in Western Europe did not commend itself either. 
To wait and see, both for the evolution of the East-West relationship and for 
the development of the United Nations, presented itself as "not a bad interim 
solution. "̂ -̂̂  Lack of interest in parliament and the predominance of the 
decolonization-issue only reinforced this situation. 

In retrospect, the duumvirate must be considered a transitional period in 
Dutch foreign policy. Initially, Van Boetzelaer persevered in the policies of his 
predecessors, adding a sincere belief in the workings of the United Nations so 
conspicuously absent with Van Kleffens. He has been described as the man 
who came and went without leaving any imprint. However, given his role in 
the fundamental reorientation of foreign policy in 1947 (ably guided by Van 
Vredenburch and Hirschfeld) this conclusion is unwarranted. During his 
tenure, Germany became a potential ally rather than a former enemy; the 
Soviet Union a distant foe rather than a much-needed friend; and Westem 
European cooperation a desirable goal rather than an unwelcome French ploy. 
As a consequence of the reorientation, Dutch security policy entered a venue 
thusfar considered incompatible with its middle power-pretentions. In this 
sense a gap opened up between its security policy (more and more exclusively 
oriented towards developments in Europe) and its colonial policy. On the other 
hand, as developments in early 1948 will show, the reorientation also made it 
possible to persevere in policies which increasingly became outmoded. 

§ 3.4 Searching for common ground. 
In the introduction to this chapter we already referred to the documentary 
nature of the paragraph on Belgium as one explanation for the difference in 
attention paid to the two countries concemed. The more important explanation 
for this difference is of course the discrepancy in the policies pursued. For 
most of the period here under review, Spaak's active pursuit of a Western 
European regional entente under British guidance contrasts starkly with the 
passive Dutch 'wait and see'-attitude towards the issue of security in Western 
Europe. Marshall's offer in June 1947, precipitating the division of Europe in 
two opposing blocs, inaugurated a process of temporary convergence of 
Belgian and Dutch foreign policy to be effected to the full in the spring of 
1948. 

Shortly before the conclusion of the Dunkirk Treaty, on 27 Febmary 
1947, the Intelligence Division of the US War Department observed with 

. Schaper, 'The Security Policy of the Netherlands', p. 91. 
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regard to the prospects of closer military cooperation between Belgium and the 
Netherlands: 

"Before the riddle of the Low Countries' future can be solved, several pertinent 
questions must be answered, such as: (1) the future status of Germany; (2) the 
direction being taken by the Soviet Union; (3) the extent to which the United 
States remains interested in European affairs; and (4) the future role of Great 
Britain in Europe."̂ *"* 

Whereas in the Belgian case considerations (2) and (4) were uppermost in the 
minds of Spaak and his officials, in The Hague considerations (1) and (3) 
reigned supreme. 

As regards Belgium, during the entire period, as far as foreign policy is 
concerned, continuity prevailed. Despite all the cabinet changes and internal 
instability created by the Royal Question, Spaak remained at the helm at the 
ministry of Foreign Affairs. Unopposed in cabinet, almost unopposed in 
parliament, he was able to continue to direct the course of Belgian foreign 
policy as he had done during the London exile. His war-time collaborator and 
principal advisor. Van Langenhove, left the ministry in 1947 to become 
Belgian representative to the UN Security Council, but his successor De 
Gmben continued to support the policies pursued since the beginning of 1944. 

To list the main elements again: Belgium considered itself a country 
with limited interests, primarily confined to Western Europe; these interests 
(political, economic and military) could best be furthered by the creation of a 
regional Western European association, consisting of Britain, France, Belgium, 
the Netherlands and Luxembourg, within the framework provided by the UN 
Charter; Britain rather than France (or the Netherlands) was the linchpin in 
such an association; until the summer of 1947 Germany was considered the 
main threat to Belgian security to be contained by the regional association. The 
Soviet Union only started to replace Germany as a potential threat after its 
refusal of the Marshall offer, without, however, causing a reformulation of the 
fundamentals of Belgian security policy. These were considered appropriate to 
counter not just a nearby German, but also such a distant Soviet threat. 

As regards the Netherlands, there is less continuity and more change. 
Superficially, continuity seems paramount. Van Boetzelaer persisted in the 
'wait and see'-policies of Van Kleffens. The ministry did not conduct the kind 
of preparatory studies as De Gmben did (especially in 1947). But there is more 
to it. Van Kleffens in his final year as Foreign Minister directed the ministry 
as he had done during the war. Under his and Van Roijen's conduct 
acquiescence in the system of collective security overshadowed an underlying 
preference for a US commitment. The advent of Van Boetzelaer inaugurated 
some important changes. At the ministry the role of the official advisors (Van 
Vredenburch, Hirschfeld, Michiels van Verduynen) markedly increased.̂ ^^ 
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Collective security as embodied by the United Nations received a new impetus. 
Late 1946 Van Boetzelaer accepted the Byrnes Treaty with open arms as the 
answer to all Dutch objectives: a US commitment to the security of Europe, 
Dutch involvement in the solution of the German question and continued Soviet 
participation in the system of collective security. The subsequent failure of the 
Bymes Treaty and Marshall's offer necessitated a second reversal of policy. 
Van Boetzelaer's brand of 'wait and see' therefore differed considerably from 
Van Kleffens's. 

Despite the changes in course, most of the underlying assumptions of 
Dutch foreign policy did not change. The Netherlands continued to consider 
itself a country with worldwide interests. These could be furthered best in a 
political and economic Atlantic community. If a more lunited association was 
to be created, then the participation of Britain was essential to counter French 
hegemonial aspirations. Until late 1946 Germany was considered the main 
threat to Dutch security to be contained by the United Nations jointly, but 
from this moment on the economic features of the German question gained the 
upperhand over the security considerations. The USSR's changed status after 
its refusal of the Marshall offer partly caused the reversal in policy referred to 
above. ̂ ^̂  

Belgium's self-image as a country with limited interests formed the 
basis under its preference for regional associations. All its post-war problems 
were of a European nature. Unlike the Netherlands (or Britain and France), 
Belgium was not confronted by a colonial uprising or nationalist movements in 
the Congo and colonial considerations hardly made their influence felt. For a 
long time the government tried to become involved in the discussions regarding 
Germany simply by asking to be heard. Given its war experience she 
considered itself entitled to such a position. The cautiousness is symptomatic 
for a continuing fear, also expressed during the war, namely to become 
entrapped in the policies of the Great Powers by becoming too closely 
involved. As De Gmben concluded in one of his studies in the spring of 1947: 
the optimum solution to Belgian security needs would be a unilateral 
guarantee. Thus it would never become involved in hostilities through the 
actions of other powers. 

Two exceptions to this general attitude need to be explained: Spaak's 
presidency of the first UN General Assembly session in January 1946 and 
Belgium's quest for a Belgian-Soviet treaty of alliance. The attitude of the 
Belgian government towards the universalist UNO has already been sketched in 
the previous chapter. Building a roof without a solid foundation was not 
considered pmdent statesmanship. Belgian disbelief in the potential of the 
United Nations is evidenced in the ratification debates on the Charter in late 
1945. Spaak's presidency of the General Assembly is therefore somewhat 
surprising considering the indifference shown in the preceding period. It must 
be borne in mind, however, that Spaak did not actively seek the presidency; 
his election was the result of block-voting by the Latin American countries 
against the desired Soviet candidate. Lie. It did not change his attitude towards 

. Cf. ibid., pp. 387-388. 
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the organization or the principle of collective security itself. His experiences in 
London early 1946 merely reinforced his conviction that regional problems 
should be dealt with by the appropriate institutions, i.e. regional associations. 

Belgian proposals for a Belgian-Soviet treaty are more difficult to 
explain. The impetus to suggest such a treaty in the first place was of a 
negative nature: to counter Soviet criticism that Belgium was creating an anti-
Soviet bloc by pursuing a Westem European regional association and to show 
Belgian independence vis-a-vis Britain. Subsequently, other factors came into 
play. Spaak considered the projected treaty a token of his genuine desire to 
collaborate with the Soviet Union on a friendly basis. The offer to the Soviet 
Union demonstrated to the KPB, until March 1947 represented in the 
government, that Belgium did not pursue an orientation exclusively directed to 
the West. Finally, Spaak's initiative provided him with a yardstick to assess 
Soviet willingness to cooperate with the West. The offer was never motivated 
by one single factor, but in the course of time the relative weight of the four 
factors varied. Whereas in the early months of 1946 the desire to promote 
Belgian-Soviet rapprochement was Spaak's prime motivation to table the issue, 
in the summer of 1947 the offer was more of a tactical nature. However, even 
if the Soviets had called Spaak's bluff at that particular time, in all probability 
Spaak would have signed such a treaty. 

Spaak's final offer, in March 1947, formed part of his full-fledged 
initiative in the face of the upcoming signature of the Dunkirk Treaty. From 
the Belgian angle the treaty signified the beginning of a new era. Spaak 
therefore seized upon this break-through in Anglo-French relations to table his 
pet project. Psychologically the moment seemed right, but his initiative 
foundered on British and French unwillingness to act before the Moscow CFM 
and the lack of Dutch support. ̂ ^̂  Spaak showed flexibility in the means to 
realize his goal (switching from the integration of Belgium in the Dunkirk 
Treaty to separate bilateral treaties "for opportunity's sake"), but the goal itself 
remained unchanged: a Western European regional association under British 
guidance. His reluctance in November 1947 to retable the issue can only be 
explained by the previous rebuffs in March and July and the uncertainty over 
the future course of the East-West relationship. Witte's claim that Spaak was 
only able to pursue his cherished association after the KPB left the government 
is simply not home out by the facts.̂ ^^ 

The Dutch government never seriously considered an altemative 
solution such as the creation of a regional Westem European association a 
viable option. Their interests in Asia and the Americas simply prevented an 
orientation exclusively to Europe; cooperation with Belgium and France 
without British participation (other than the very lunited and fairly meaningless 

. According to Stengers all Spaak's efforts in 1947 were frustrated by the Dutch. In fact 
this is only correct for the March-episode and does not apply to the events in June-July. Cf. 
Stengers, 'Paul-Henri Spaak', p. 126. 

188 
. Cf. Witte, 'Tussen restauratie en vernieuwing', p. 49. Also: Loth, 'Die Schwache-

Situation Italiens, Belgiens und der Niederlande', p. 258 and 'Die westeuropaischen Regierungen 
und der Anstoss durch Marshall', p. 509. 
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cooperation in the Tripartite Council) was considered unthinkable; and even in 
relations with Belgium the government displayed extreme restraint. On 
numerous occasions Belgian initiatives to strengthen ties were turned down 
because of fear of French influence in Bmssels. These fears must be 
considered unfounded. Although being responsive to French overtures to 
discuss the issue of closer cooperation, Spaak never seriously considered a 
bilateral agreement with France without concluding at the same time a similar 
one with the Netherlands and, more importantly, Britain. Instead of bolstering 
Spaak's efforts to keep France at bay, Dutch evasiveness regarding the alliance 
issue only threatened to give actual shape to their fears. 

The majority of publications dealing with this period picture Spaak as 
the willing instmment of US capitalism. Coolsaet, who rightly considers 1947 
a cmcial year in Belgian foreign policy, posits: 

"Tempted by the Marshall Plan, within a few months Belgium traded London for 
Washington, revised its opinion on Germany and became the principal ally of the 
United States." 

Depraetere and Dierickx describe Spaak as "an outstanding agent of US 
interests"; "a loyal champion of US policies." George even claims that "Spaak 
was in favour of Belgium joining an Atlantic alliance as early as August 
1945 ".189 

On the one hand, these claims seem to be coloured too much by 
hindsight and on the other, they are needlessly imprecise. George's thesis is 
the easiest to disclaim. As is documented in this, and the previous, chapter, 
Spaak never suggested the creation of an association including the United 
States in the period here under review. Spaak's Atlanticism is more difficult to 
assess. Of course he welcomed the Marshall Plan offer; of course he 
participated in the elaboration of the European Recovery Program; of course 
he positively acknowledged the renewed interest of the United States in 
Europe. But this attitude did not change his underlying faith in the primacy of 
cooperation in Western Europe under British, not US, guidance. Spaak's brand 
of Atlanticism consisted of a partnership between the United States and a 
Westem European regional association; a dumbbell-like relationship of, 
preferably, equal partners. His advocacy of US support for Westem European 
economic reconstmction should not be equated with an invitation to take over 
Europe. Western Europe had to take care of its own business; then the United 
States might be prepared 'to help those who were prepared to help 
themselves'. Spaak clearly acknowledged the need of US assistance, especially 
after Marshall's offer and Molotov's walk-out in Paris. The Soviet Union now 
definitely replaced Germany as the most likely threat to Belgian (and Westem 
European) security; not in the sense that a Soviet military move against 
Western European was expected, but in the sense that the Soviet Union might 
take advantage of the instability in Europe to further its cause. 

. Coolsaet, Buitenlandse Zaken, p. 123; Depraetere & Dierickx, De Koude Oorlog in 
Belgie, p. 45; and George, 'PaulHenri Spaak', p. 58. Also: Van Eenoo, 'Van neutraliteit naar 
Europese integratie', p. 371. 
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Given the attitude of the US government towards the United Nations 
and the need for Soviet cooperation to realize Dutch economic objectives in 
Germany, there was no possibility to pursue openly the Dutch objective of a 
US commitment. Until the summer of 1947, security policy was therefore 
reactive rather than active, traditional rather than innovative. Van Kleffens 
refused to take any initiative, despite the advice of his senior advisors to 
strengthen ties with especially Belgium. He persevered in his reluctant 
acceptance of the universalist system of collective security. Perhaps he even 
considered Dutch membership of the first Security Council a belated 
recognition of its middle power-pretensions. Van Roijen's only initiative in the 
spring of 1946 was significant. His approach to the Americans to discuss the 
bases-issue was untimely, perhaps only motivated by colonial problems, but 
also a clear expression of a strong undercurrent in Dutch security policy. 

Despite his first reversal of policy at the end of 1946, Van Boetzelaer 
co-fmstrated Spaak's attempt to break through the stalemate in March 1947. At 
moments when he seemed to be prepared to take a more positive approach, 
Michiels van Verduynen's advice against Dutch initiatives carried the day. 
Until the summer of 1947, the German question rather than the deterioration in 
the East-West relationship was considered the main security problem. In this 
sense the Marshall plan offer must also be considered an important tuming-
point in Dutch foreign policy.̂ ^^ Up till then all three ministers concemed 
refused to take action on a more limited, regional scale until the Americans 
spoke out, whereas the Belgians intended to act in Western Europe in the 
expectation that the United States would only be prepared to help those who 
were prepared to help themselves. The Marshall Plan ended the deadlock in 
foreign policy. 

Significantly, the military twice tried to force their hand. Lacking any 
direction by the ministry of Foreign Affairs and given the state of 
unpreparedness of Dutch defencei^i, in 1946 and 1947 they initiated 
discussions with their Belgian and British colleagues to remedy this situation. 
Twice they encountered opposition by Van Boetzelaer (prompted especially by 
Michiels). In 1946 he was able to prevent discussions with Belgium of issues 
which went beyond those of a purely technical nature, but a year later he lost 
the argument in cabinet. Fievez was authorized to discuss in London such 
farreaching questions as a treaty of alliance with Britain. However, as Bevin 
was trying to keep 'everything on the economic plane', these discussions came 
to nought. In the changed circumstances of fall 1947 even Van Boetzelaer and 
Michiels van Verduynen now were prepared to discuss specifics and to take the 
initiative themselves. 

. Cf. Schaper, 'Het Nederlandse veiligheidsbeleid', p. 291 and Schaper, 'The Security 
Policy of the Netherlands', p. 131. 

191 
. US intelligence agencies concluded in 1947: "All its real strength has been concentrated 

in Indonesia, and the units left at home could do little more than offer a token resistance to any 
invader at the present time." See: HSTL, Naval Aide Files, Box 18, Folder Intelligence Reviews 
February 1947, No. 54, 27/02/47. Also: ibid., Box 19, No. 67, 29/05/47. 
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Also noting the contrast between Spaak's activism and Dutch restraint 
regarding the issue of security policy, Schaper claims that in Belgian foreign 
policy security question "were traditionally given much attention", whereas in 
Dutch foreign policy economic problems prevailed. ̂ ^̂  Setting aside such a 
difficult concept as 'tradition', the contrast is relatively easy to explain taking 
mto account the experiences of the interwar years and the different situations 
faced by the Belgian and Dutch governments. Economic considerations 
weighted more heavily on the Dutch side because of the desperate economic 
situation in the Netherlands. Belgium on the other hand was an island of 
economic success surrounded by a European sea of distress. In the Dutch case 
security policy constituted the upshot of its economic reconstmction and 
colonial policies; in Belgium security policy constituted an integral element of 
Belgian foreign and economic policy. Dutch economic and security policy only 
started to converge in the latter part of 1947, its colonial policy remaining for 
the time being an unsolved anomaly. 

Again the ebb and flow in Benelux cooperation can be taken as an 
indicator of developments in Belgian and Dutch security policy. Immediately 
after the war the Belgian government tried to intensify Benelux cooperation to 
other fields than economics. The Dutch government balked. Owing to its 
severe economic and financial problems, the coming into force of the 
September 1944-agreement was deferred and the Belgian suggestions for 
intensification of the cooperation were most of the time turned down. The 
military were only authorized to discuss technical matters. To some extent the 
Netherlands and Belgium cooperated with regard to Germany: they 
synchronized their efforts in 1946 to become involved in the discussions on the 
future of their eastern neighbour. Spaak's unilateral initiative in March 1947, 
however, foundered, amongst other things, on the lack of Dutch support. The 
break-through in Benelux (political) cooperation was effected, as so many other 
issues, by George Marshall's offer of June 1947. Realizing the opportunities of 
large scale US financial assistance, Belgium and the Netherlands joined hands, 
combining the Belgian goal of convertibility and the Dutch goal of the 
mobilization of Germany in the Western European economy. Their joint action 
during the Marshall Plan conference in Paris was a (partial) success, to be 
repeated in the field of security policy after the London CFM meeting. 

. Cf. Schaper, 'Het Nederlandse veiligheidsbeleid', p. 284 and Schaper, 'The Security 
Policy of the Netherlands', p. 103. 
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CHAPTER 4 

WARTIME DREAMS COME TRUE 

(January - March 1948) 

In the aftemoon of 22 January 1948, Ernest Bevin rose to open a two-day 
debate on foreign affairs in the House of Commons. "We are", he said, 

"at a critical moment in the organisation of the post-war world, and the decisions 
we now take will be vital to the future peace of the world. What I have to put 
before the House first is the factual background against which these decisions 
must now be taken."' 

Bevin subsequently presented a bleak picture of East-West relations. Reviewing 
recent developments in Eastern Europe, Greece and Germany, he concluded 
that it had been impossible to reach agreement with the Soviet Union, 
primarily owing to Soviet intransigence and obstmction. Given this situation 
Bevin believed "the time (to be) ripe for the consolidation of Westem 
Europe.", continuing: 

"The time has come to think of ways and means of developing our relations with 
the Benelux countries, to begin talks with these countries in close concord with 
our French ally. Yesterday our representadves in Brussels, the Hague, and 
Luxembourg were instructed to propose such talks. 1 hope treaties will be signed 
with the Benelux countries making, with our treaty with France, an important 
nucleus in Western Europe." 

Winding up his speech, Bevin stressed that the proposed union in Westem 
Europe had to be based on the basic freedoms and ethical principles the West 
was standing for. "If we are to have an organism in the West it must be a 
spiritual union." Two months later, on 17 March 1948, Bevin and his 
colleagues of France and the Benelux countries signed the Treaty of Economic, 
Social, and Cultural Collaboration and Collective Self-Defence, better known 
as the Bmssels Treaty. 

. Keesing's Contemporary Archives, 24-31 January 1948, pp. 9061-9062. 
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In his memoirs Spaak praises Bevin highly for his speech. He considers 
it an historic one; one of those rare moments in history that statesmen throw 
caution to the wind, disregard the advice of their over-cautious civil servants 
and decide to strike out on their own.^ However, memoirs, and the opinions 
expressed therein, are always a source to be handled with care and this 
commentary by Spaak is no exception to that mle. In this case he could not 
have been more widely off the mark, because Bevin's speech was based on 
extensive preparation by his Foreign Office staff which had started shortly 
after the collapse of the London CFM-meeting and Bevin's off the cuff 
observations about 'the spiritual federation of the west' in conversations with 
Marshall and Bidault on 17 December 1947. 

Bevin's Westem Union-speech embodied essentially a two-track 
strategy: in the first place the creation of a nucleus of cooperation in Westem 
Europe (consisting of Britain, France, Belgium, the Netherlands and 
Luxembourg) with US and Dominion backing, and in the second place the 
much wider goal to tie the United States (and Canada) closer to the economic 
and military future of Westem Europe. It inaugurated two months of intense 
diplomatic activity of Britain in Westem Europe on the one hand and in the 
United States and Canada on the other. Whereas the latter track, and all that it 
entails, will be discussed in the next chapter, in this chapter we concentrate on 
the developments in Western Europe. 

The events leading up to the Bmssels Treaty can be divided into four 
stages. The first stage consists of the planning at the Foreign Office prior to 
Bevin's 22 January-speech. During this stage, Britain's foreign policy goals 
were redefined. In the second stage the British tried to harmonize their policies 
with the French, while Belgium and the Netherlands drafted their response to 
Bevin's initiative. This stage ends with the exchange of the Benelux position-
paper on the one hand and the Anglo-French proposals on the other on 19 
Febmary. In the third stage two negotiating-positions emerge as the Benelux 
states on the one hand and the British and French on the other, both formulate 
a draft treaty text prior to the start of the actual negotiations on 4 March in 
Bmssels. These negotiations, lasting from 4 until 15 March and culminating in 
the signature of the treaty two days later, constitute the fourth phase of the 
process initiated by Bevin.^ 

Within the framework imposed by these four stages, we analyse in § 
4.1 the policy formulation (primarily) in Britain and in France. What were the 
motives underlying Bevin's speech? In what way did he anticipate to realize his 
goals and what role did he have in mind for the Benelux countries? In the next 
paragraph, § 4.2, we analyse the reactions of the Belgian and Dutch 
governments. What effect did Bevin's speech have on their foreign policy? 
What goals did they set themselves in the negotiations that were to follow and 
why did they decide to act with one negotiatingteam? Subsequently, we 
examine in § 4.3 the preparations of the two parties, the Benelux countries on 

. Spaak, Combats Inacheves, T. 1, pp. 252-253. 

. Cf. Varsori's six stage-framework: Varsori, 'The First Stage of Negotiations', p. 23. 
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the one hand and the British and French on the other, for the negotiations in 
Bmssels. In § 4.4 we discuss in some detail the actual negotiations of the 
Bmssels Treaty. Finally the actual treaty text and a final balance sheet are 
presented in §§ 4.5 and 4.6. 

§ 4.1 Foreign Office planning prior to Bevin's speech. 
On 25 November 1947, the day the London CFM-meeting opened, Bevin 
promised the British cabinet a major review of foreign policy if the CFM 
failed.'* Despite the fact that he was taken by surprise by Marshall's decision 
to adjoum sine die three weeks later, Bevin immediately started to implement 
his promise after 15 December. During conversations with Marshall and 
Bidault, Bevin unfolded visions of a new centre of force in the West. To be 
sure, he did not present his US and French colleagues with clear cut plans, but 
he pictured the contours of a new balance of power in Europe and his sketches 
envisioned a new, active British foreign policy in Western Europe. 

Bevin first met Bidault on 17 December. Discussing the breakdown of 
the CFM, Bevin concluded that the time was ripe "to come to some sort of 
federation in Western Europe whether of a formal or informal character. (...) 
The Americans must be brought in." Bidault concurred, suggesting the 
coordination of Anglo-French-US military policy, and, after returning to Paris, 
received authorization by his cabinet to develop the idea in cooperation with 
the British.^ Later that day, Bevin met Marshall and in this conversation he 
lifted a litfle more of the veil covering his ideas. According to Bevin 

"The issue (...) was where the power was going to rest. His own idea was that 
we must devise some western democratic system comprising the Americans, 
ourselves, France, Italy, etc., and of course the Dominions. This would not be a 
formal alliance but an understanding backed by power, money and resolute 
action. It would be a sort of spiritual federation of the west."^ 

Marshall remained non-committal, but during a conversation with the Canadian 
High Commissioner Norman Robertson at the end of the day, Bevin at least 
received Canadian support for his new venture. 

Marshall was impressed by Bevin's ideas, but also puzzled by their 
general vagueness. Therefore, before he returned to Washington he sent John 
Hickerson, Director of the Office of European Affairs at the State Department, 
to the Foreign Office for a clarification of Bevin's suggestions. Hickerson was 
told by the Foreign Office that Bevin's mind was working in the direction of 

. Young, Britain, France and the Unity of Europe, p. 77. 

^. PRO, FO 371/67674, Z 11010/25/17G, Memo of conversation Bevin-Bidault, 17/12/47; 
and Auriol, Journal du Septennat, T. I, p. 638. 

^. Cf. FRUS 1947, Vol. 11, p. 815; FRUS 1948, Vol. Ill, pp. 1-2; and PRO, FO 
371/67674, Z 11009/25/17G, Memo of conversation Bevin-Marshall, 17/12/47. This conversation 
is generally considered the origin of the North Atlantic treaty. Cf. Reid, Time of Fear and Hope, 
pp. 36-38; Henderson, The Birth of NATO, pp. 1-2 and Cook, Forging the Alliance, pp. 108-
111. 
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two security arrangements, "one a small tight circle including a treaty 
engagement between the U.K., the Benelux countries and France. Surrounding 
that, a larger circle with somewhat lesser commitments but still commitments 
in treaty form bringing in the U.S. and Canada also."^ This idea of two 
concentric circles, or as we will call it: of a two-track strategy, was to 
dominate British foreign policy in the months to come. 

The principal Foreign Office official considering the issue was Under-
Secretary of State Gladwyn Jebb.^ Already before the CFM-failure he had 
been discussing with officials of the Canadian Department of External Affairs 
the possibilities of a new security arrangement, following the suggestions by 
Louis St. Laurent and Hamilton Fish Armstrong. Now Jebb was charged with 
putting Bevin's thinking on paper so that the British cabinet would be able to 
express itself. This was no easy job given the vagueness of the ideas expressed 
by Bevin and the multitude of possibilities presenting themselves to the British. 
Despite these facts Bevin was able to present the cabinet with a number of 
papers for its first meeting in 1948, prepared by Jebb and others over 
Christmas and New Year, the most important of them entitled 'The First Aim 
of British Foreign Policy'.^ In this paper the general thoughts embodied in his 
Westem Union-speech are spelled out for the first time. 

In order to strengthen the West in the face of the threat posed by the 
Soviet Union (which he considered to be not military, but primarily economic, 
political and spiritual), Bevin advocated the organization and consolidation of 
the ethical and spiritual forces of Westem civilization of which he considered 
the British "the chief protagonists". This could only be done "by creating some 
form of union in Westem Europe, whether of a formal or informal character, 
backed by the Americas and the Dominions." If possible Scandinavia, the Low 
Countries, France, Portugal, Italy and Greece should be members of this 
union, and, as soon as circumstances would permit, also Spain and Germany 
"without whom no Western system can be complete." Reflecting the 
uncertainty about the precise form of the union, Bevin professed that the new 
system "need not take the shape of a formal alliance, though we have an 
alliance with France and may conclude one with other countries." His ultimate 
goal was visionary and grandiose: 

"Provided we can organise a Western European system such as I have oudined 
above, backed by the power and resources of the Commonwealth and of the 
Americas, it should be possible to develop our own power and influence to equal 
that of the United States of America or to the Soviet Union." 

. Hickerson as quoted by Reid, Time of Fear and Hope, p. 37. Cf. also Cook, Forging the 
Alliance, pp. 110-111 and Kaplan, The United States and NATO, pp. 50-51. 

. See for his personal recollections: Gladwyn, The Memoirs of Lord Gladwyn, pp. 209-
216; and 'Review of "Time of Fear and Hope"', pp. 248-261. 

9 
. The others were entitled 'Policy in Germany', 'Review of Soviet Policy' and 'Future 

Foreign Publicity Policy'. All in: PRO, CAB 129/23. General discussion of these papers in: 
Bullock, Ernest Bevin, pp. 513-517. 
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Bevin's paper thus combined two closely related objectives. On the one hand 
he proposed to create a new 'system', consisting of the Westem European 
states bordering the Atlantic Ocean, still leaving unclear the precise method to 
create that system: formal alliances or other arrangements. On the other, he 
contemplated to enroll the assistance of the Americas (i.e. the United States) 
and the Dominions (primarily Canada) to support his Western European 
system. These two objectives presupposed two different, but interrelated, 
policies: negotiations with the Western European democracies and negotiations 
with the North American partners.̂ *^ Progress in the one field was not totally 
dependent upon, but in any case subject to, influence from progress in the 
other field. 

Bevin's proposals were quickly sanctioned by the cabinet on 8 
January. ̂ ^ Doubts were only expressed as to the wisdom of including 
Portugal, but Bevin considered Portuguese participation essential "because of 
her colonial possessions in Africa." Referring to his ultimate goal, he 
reiterated the Third Force idea embodied in his paper: "It would be necessary 
to mobilise the resources of Africa in support of any Western European Union 
(...) this would form a bloc which, both in population and productive capacity, 
could stand on an equality with the westem hemisphere and Soviet bloc." In 
fact, if not in name an Eurafrican alliance of the old colonial powers.^^ 
Nobody in cabinet seems to have questioned the underlying ambivalence in his 
proposals: aiming for a Third Force, but at the same time seeking support 
from the United States and the Dominions. 

Authorized by the cabinet Bevin now prepared for his speech in the 
Commons and his negotiations with his continental neighbours. Taking 
advantage of a suggestion by Bidault already made before Christmas, he 
instructed his ambassador in Paris, Oliver Harvey (successor to Duff Cooper), 
to propose in Paris the joint offer of treaties of alliances to all three Benelux 
countries. ^̂  Harvey was received on 14 January by Bidault and the next day 
by the Secretary-General of the Quai d'Orsay Jean Chauvel. Both welcomed 
the suggestions of Bevin, stressing the need to march together especially with 
regard to Germany, but were a little taken aback by Bevin's proposition to 
inform the Benelux governments already on 21 January, on the eve of his 
speech in the Commons. The French government intended to discuss the 
extension of the Franco-Italian customs union agreement (to be signed shortly) 
with the Benelux governments and economic cooperation seemed to be 

. As mentioned in the introduction, the negotiations with the Americans and Canadians will 
be discussed in chapter 5. Cross references will be made when necessary. 

^^ See: PRO, CAB 128/12, CM. (48) 2, 08/01/48. 

12 
. This is not the place to discuss Bevin's Western Union ideas extensively, although their 

importance can hardly be exaggerated. For a general discussion: Melissen & Zeeman, 'Britain and 
Western Europe', pp. 81-95; and, very stimulating, Kent & Young, 'British Policy Overseas', pp. 
41-61. 

^^. Cf. PRO, FO 371/73045, Z 273/273/72G, Instructions for Harvey, 13/01/48 and Z 
353/273/72G, Memo by Bevin, 12/01/48. 
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conspicuously absent in Bevin's suggestions. Pressed by Bevin, Bidault 
accepted the proposal that the Benelux governments be informed on 21 
January. However, at the same time he decided to approach the same govem-
ments to sound them out on the possibility of France joining Benelux, only to 
be met with a sharp rebuff. Bevin's drive thus created an inauspicious 
atmosphere in Anglo-French relations, the French fearing to be manoeuvred in 
the position of "the brilliant second".^^ 

French feelings that Bevin was snatching the initiative from them were 
not wholly unfounded. Already during the abortive London CFM-meeting 
Bidault had raised the issue of military cooperation with Bevin. Authorized by 
Bidault and prime minister Robert Schuman, General Pierre Billotte, France's 
military representative at the UN, undertook early 1948 top secret discussions 
in New York with his British and US opposite numbers. Generals William 
Morgan and Matthew Ridgway. As a further consequence of Bidault's 
suggestion to coordinate military policy, the French Chief of Staff, General 
Georges Revers, visited his British colleague, Field-Marshal Bernard 
Montgomery, on 23 January 1948 in London. Montgomery's self-assured 
lecturing of Revers on the state of the French army was another manifestation 
of the new-found British self-assurance and drive at the expense of the 
French. ̂ ^ 

§ 4.2 Benelux reactions and position papers. 
That the failure of the CFM-meeting opened up new possibilities was not lost 
upon Spaak. According to the Belgian prune minister, the East-West split was 
for the time being unbridgeable. Collaboration being impossible, he hoped that 
coexistence would be feasible. The division of Germany seemed inevitable and 
Spaak told the US charge d'affaires Hugh Millard that "Although present not 
propitious for even most discrete discussion (of) military aspects, such thoughts 
had occurred to him. "̂ ^ He advocated an active policy regarding closer 
cooperation in Western Europe stressing the need for a British and US lead. 
Trying to activate the British, Spaak brought in the French bogey. He told 
Rendel that the French always approached the issue of closer cooperation 
"from far too purely French an angle (...) any approach they made to Belgium 
was more likely to be concemed with the protection of short-term French 
interests than of the peace of Europe as a whole." In Spaak's opinion only a 

. Vaisse, 'L'Echec d'une Europe', pp. 374-375. 

^^. BMFA, File 12648, Aide Memoire French Embassy Brussels, 16/01/48 and NMFA, 
Embassy Paris Secret Archives, Box 14, Folder Five Power Treaty I, Van Boetzelaer to 
Starkenborgh, No. 916/200GA, 19/01/48. Cf. also Vaisse, 'L'Echec d'une Europe', p. 373 and 
Guillen, 'Le Projet d'Union Economique', pp. 143-149. 

^^. Cf. Young, France, the Cold War, pp. 172, 177 and 180-182; Dockrill, 'British 
Attitudes Towards France', pp. 60-63; and Bagnato, 'France and the Origins of the Adantic Pact', 
pp. 79-85. 

^^. WNRC, RG 84, Brussels PF, Confidential Files, Box 25, 711.9, Millard to SecState, 
No. 1995, 17/12/47; and PRO, FO 371/72921, Z 136/118/4, Rendel to Sargent, No. 184/5/47, 
27/12/47 and FO 371/67669, Z 10969/10969/4G, Rendel to FO, No. 527, 18/12/47. 
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real integration of the continental Westem European defences with that of the 
Anglo-Saxon democracies would stand the test of a major crisis and in this 
respect he expected the Anglo-Saxons to take the lead.̂ ^ 

Spaak, unaware of Bevin's initiatives in London and the planning taking 
place at the Foreign Office, voiced his displeasure over the lack of guidance in 
a number of conversations in the first week of 1948. His exasperation over 
Britain's unwillingness to commit itself reached a new peak. Britain seemed to 
try to save itself and itself only, tending thereby to isolate itself from Europe. 
More than in the past, Spaak began to look to the United States for policy 
guidance, but even Washington was leaving the Westem Europeans in the dark 
as to the consequences it attached to the CFM-failure.^^ 

In The Hague the consequences of the CFM-failure were debated on the 
basis of a paper by one of the junior officials of the ministry, B.E. Quarles 
van Ufford.'̂ ^ Quarles summarized the intemational developments since the 
conclusion of the Treaty of Dunkirk. In his opinion, almost all of the 
objections against the conclusion of treaties with neighbouring countries, 
presented to and approved by cabinet in March, had disappeared. The Moscow 
and London CFMs had failed; the Bymes Treaty was a dead letter; the US 
government had unquestionably shown its interest in the future of Westem 
Europe through Tmman Doctrine and Marshall Plan; the United Nations were 
still impotent; and the American states had given an example by creating the 
Inter-American Treaty of Rio de Janeiro. According to Quarles, these 
developments necessitated an end to the Dutch 'wait and see'-policy. 

If the Netherlands and the other Westem European countries still 
wanted to exert some influence in world politics, then closer Westem 
European political and economic cooperation was inescapable. In Quarles' 
opinion the need to keep in step with the Belgians; the inability of small armies 
to defend their territory; the growing regional cooperation in Western Europe; 
and the need to convince the United States that Western Europe was doing its 
share all pointed in that direction. The Soviet government might feel offended, 
but should be convinced that the cooperation was not directed against her: 
"Cooperation with Russia (sic) must be pursued continuously, in order to avoid 
the danger that Russia feels itself isolated." The US government should be told 
that the cooperation did not mean a lack of interest in US participation. On the 
contrary, US approval was an essential precondition. As to the proper form of 
the future cooperation, Quarles was quite outspoken. Both Britain and France 
should be part of the new formation. Thus the Netherlands would not end up 

. Ibid. Also: NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 34, Folder Germany '46-
'47, Van Harinxma to Van Boetzelaer, No. Res (VI.lb)-197/63, 07/01/48. 

^^. NA, RG 59, Confidential Files '45-'49, Box C-38, 711.55/1-948, Millard to SecState, 
No. 13, 09/01/48. 

^^. NMFA, DNW archive WEU, 999.1, Box 4, Folder 12, Memorandum by Q(uarles van 
Ufford), 22/12/47. 
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being "the sloop in the wake of the (British or French) battleship."^' The 
cooperation should be both economic and military-defensive and given this 
dual goal a regional arrangement, like the Rio Treaty, was clearly preferable to 
a Dunkirk-type treaty. Remarkably, the need to show Westem European 
resolve and unity rather than fear for imminent Soviet aggression characterized 
Quarles' attitude; he even stressed the need for continued cooperation with the 
Soviet Union. 

Commenting on Quarles' paper, the acting Head of the Political 
Department at the ministry, H.N. (Han) Boon, observed that it all boiled down 
to the question whether the Western powers still had any hope to cooperate 
with the Soviet Union. According to Boon, the US government seemed to have 
given up all hope, whereas the British and French still wavered. In that 
situation a Dutch initiative was impossible given the fact that "we are a 
country in Europe and as a part of Benelux we cannot play solely the US 
card." He advocated a discussion with the Belgians to coordinate policies, thus 
strengthening the Benelux position vis-a-vis the greater powers (also with 
regard to the German question). Boon professed not to believe in cooperation 
with the Soviet Union. On the other hand, he did not expect any aggressive 
designs by the Soviet Union provided that economic rehabilitation in Western 
Europe really got underway. In order to prevent the Belgian government to act 
precipitately like they had done the previous March, the ministry decided to 
contact the Belgians to keep them abreast of Dutch thinking.̂ ^ 

With that object in mind. Boon's predecessor A.W.C. baron Bentinck 
van Schoonheten met De Gmben and Loridan in Bmssels on 9 January.̂ -' 
With regard to technical military cooperation the Dutch and Belgian officials 
were of one mind. What had been achieved in the past two years should be 
intensified in order to bolster the common defensive posture and to reinforce 
the Dutch-Belgian stand vis-a-vis the greater powers in future negotiations 
about a larger defensive system. Such a larger system was considered vital by 
both, although with regard to the choice of prospective partners a significant 
and old difference occurred. Whereas De Gmben and Loridan primarily were 
thinking of Britain and France, Bentinck proposed these two countries and the 
United States as well. However, he seriously doubted the willingness of the 
United States at that moment to conunit itself in any way. De Gmben, on the 
other hand, contrasted French willingness with British intransigence. Perhaps 
the CFM-failure would bring a change in London. The meeting decided to 
push forward with the technical cooperation in preparation of things to come. 

Ambassadors George Rendel's and Nevile Bland's notification of 
Bevin's Western Union-speech on the eve of 22 January thus led to different 

. Cf. the identical wording in the memoirs of Quarles' tutor: Van Kleffens, Belevenissen II, 
p. 104. 

^^. NMFA, DNW archive WEU, 999.1, Box 4, Folder 12, Comment Boon, undated and 
Memorandum by Acting Head DPZ, 05/01/48. Cf. Kersten, 'In de ban van de bondgenoot', pp. 
108-112. 

^^ BMFA, File 12071, Year 1948, Dutch-Belgian Military Cooperation by W. Loridan, 
09/01/48. 
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reactions in Bmssels and The Hague. Given his criticism of the lack of British 
direction, the notification came as a most welcome surprise to the Belgian 
prime minister. Spaak's primary public reaction was therefore as enthusiastic 
as it had been after Bevin's remarks at the Bmssels railway station in March 
1947, but this time his enthusiasm was not in vain. He immediately broached 
consultations with his Dutch and Luxembourg colleagues to discuss Bevin's 
proposals. Britain finally seemed to have taken the lead he had been asking for 
for over five years. ̂ "̂  Intemally Spaak, however, also voiced his 
disappointment over Bevin's approach. He considered the extension of the 
Dunkirk-system outdated given the changes in the intemational relations 
between East and West. As he told US ambassador Kirk: such an extension 
was meaningless unless it was meant as a screen behind which to consider 
defences against the Soviet Union. Moreover, any defence arrangement in 
Western Europe without US participation was without practical value and 
therefore, if he acceded to Bevin's proposal in its present form, he would 
deceive the Belgian people.^^ 

Unlike Spaak, Van Boetzelaer did not embrace Bevin's plans in public. 
He did not want to msh things and accept outright the British proposals. Van 
Boetzelaer agreed, however, with his Belgian colleague that a prompt reaction 
was needed and therefore the Benelux states decided to use an already 
scheduled meeting of prime ministers and foreign secretaries in Luxembourg to 
discuss Bevin's proposals and to decide upon a common approach. In 
preparation of that meeting De Gmben in Bmssels and Boon in The Hague 
formulated their countries' initial position with regard to Western Union.^^ In 
their reactions both countries took a similar stance with regard to 1) the 
desirability of an extension of the Dunkirk system; 2) the question whether to 
conclude separate bilateral treaties or one multilateral treaty; 3) the possible 
role of (Western) Germany as a potential enemy or a future collaborator; 4) 
the scope of the projected cooperation; and 5) the need to involve the colonial 
possessions in the future collaboration (primarily from an economic point of 
view). 

De Gmben welcomed Bevin's initiative as the new element which had 
to be taken account of.̂ ^ The consolidation of Westem Europe, without US 
participation, was in the offing. Objections by the Soviet Union were not to be 
feared any longer because "the die had been cast". However, the extension of 
the Dunkirk Treaty system had to be rejected, because it was directed against 
Germany and it would create an unfounded sense of security. Therefore De 

. See: Spaak, Combats Inacheves, T. 1, pp. 253-255; Stengers, 'Paul-Henri Spaak', pp. 
126-132; and Wiebes & Zeeman, 'Nederland, Belgie en de sovjet-dreiging', pp. 474-475. 

^\ FRUS 1948, Vol. HI, pp. 6-7. 

. Spaak's public endorsement in: Smets, La Pensee Europeenne et Atlantique, pp. 113-
114; and Van Boetzelaer's lukewarm reaction in: NMFA, DNW archive WEU, 999.1, Box 4, 
Folder 12, Van Boetzelaer to Michiels van Verduynen, No. 21, 26/01/48. 

. BMFA, File 12237, Memorandum prepared for the Luxembourger meeting by De 
Gruben, 28/01/48. 
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Gmben advocated a regional treaty based on Article 52 of the UN Charter. To 
be effective, to have substance and to have practical value, it had to be a 
political, military and economic arrangement. With regard to Germany, De 
Gruben considered the time not ripe, yet, to push the new policy to its logical 
conclusion, but it was necessary to reconsider policy towards Germany and at 
least to insist on Benelux participation in future policy planning with regard to 
the one-time enemy. The question whether the Benelux countries would have 
to take the initiative with regard to Bevin's proposals was left unanswered. 

Boon, in his survey of the background to Bevin's speech, rehashed the 
changes in the intemational setting since Spaak's untunely actions in March 
1947 28 Closely following Quarles' observations, he noticed that the Bymes 
Treaty had failed to materialize; Tmman Doctrine and Marshall Plan had 
ushered in a new era of US commitments to Westem Europe; the United 
Nations was powerless and the American nations had allied themselves in the 
Rio Pact. In the face of the threat from the East the Westem European 
countries now had to take the initiative. Neither uncertainty about the attitude 
of the US government nor the loss of the freedom to act unilaterally should 
prevent them to act at this moment. The Benelux countries should, however, 
see to it that they acted jointly, that they would be invited for the talks about 
the future of Germany, and that the Treaty of Dunkirk as a point of departure 
should be abandoned. Any system to confront a Soviet military adventure 
should treat Germany not as an adversary, but as a future economic, financial 
and military collaborator.^^ According to Boon, Bevin's proposals presented 
also opportunities with regard to the overseas dependencies. They could be 
mobilized to bolster the economic recovery in Western Europe and perhaps 
Britain and France would be more forthcoming in their attitude towards the 
Indonesian dispute (for instance, the lifting of the arms embargo).^^ 

Given the many similarities in the position papers of the two countries, 
it was relatively easy to reach a common position during the Luxembourg 
meeting. The last differences were settled in a preparatory meeting of 
Hirschfeld, Boon, De Gmben and Loridan on 29 January.-^^ Spaak, Van 
Boetzelaer and Joseph Bech (the Foreign Minister of Luxembourg), meeting 
two days later, agreed upon a joint approach, a joint delegation during the 
negotiations (to strengthen their negotiating position) and to opt for a regional 

. Feelings ran high in this respect. Michiels van Verduynen even accused the Belgians of 
"snobbery" when it came down to alliances. See: NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, 
Box 34, Folder Germany '47-'51, Michiels van Verduynen to Van Boetzelaer, No. 24, 27/01/48. 

29 
. This was the pet subject of the principal architect of Dutch policy vis-a-vis Germany, 

Hirschfeld, who aided Boon in the preparation of his paper. For his influence on Dutch policy in 
the late fourties and early fifties: Wielenga, West-Duitsland: partner uit noodzaak, pp. 84-88. 

30 
NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 39, Folder Bevin Plan, Memo 

Directie DPZ, 27/01/48. Also: NAC, RG 25 Ser. Gl, Ace. 84-85/019, Box 387, File 11030-40, 
Part 1, Dupuy to St. Laurent, No. 33, 29/01/48. Cf. Schaper, 'Van afzijdigheid naar 
bondgenootschappelijkheid', pp. 333-334. 

31 
. BMFA, File 12237, Minutes of the meeting held in Luxemburg on 29 January 1948, not 

dated. 
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treaty based on the pertinent articles of the UN Charter. They concluded that, 
because of their geographical location, the Benelux states were in an exposed 
position. The mutual assistance pledge should therefore be very strict, but on 
the other hand also clearly defined to prevent being dragged into a conflict. A 
consultative council might prove useful in that respect. Opinions differed as to 
the advisability to offer die Soviet Union an alliance treaty, the Luxembourgers 
and the Belgians being in favour and the Dutch opposing.-̂ ^ Given the fact 
that the British and French were asking the Benelux countries to join them, 
they were in a position to sit back, wait for their proposals and condition their 
participation on Anglo-French concessions with regard to key elements. This 
tactics was only accepted as a means to become involved in the future 
negotiations of the Westem Three on Germany. In order to forestall a situation 
in which the Benelux countries would be confronted by Dunkirk-type treaties 
on a take-it-or-leave-it basis, the three foreign secretaries decided to negotiate 
a joint counter-proposal based on the agreed principles. Not only the British 
and French, but also the Americans were thus informed. '̂' 

In the next two weeks, Belgian and Dutch officials hammered out an 
agreed position paper. Based on De Gmben's paperwork of the previous 
summer, Bevin's sketchy ideas as communicated on 21 January, and the 
conclusions of the Luxembourg meetings, agreement was easily reached on 13 
Febmary. In nine points the Benelux countries laid down the principles which 
were to guide them during the negotiations regarding Bevin's proposed 
Westem Union. ̂ "̂  

In their position paper the Benelux states heartily welcomed the British 
and French proposals of which Bevin had become the porte parole. They were 
prepared to face the challenge posed by these proposals, but jointly. The 
Benelux countries proposed to negotiate with one delegation, consisting of 
representatives of all three countries, and the negotiations had to aim for one 
treaty signed by all five countries concemed. The Treaty of Dunkirk was 
considered "an insufficient basis" to realise the goals Bevin had alluded to, 
since that treaty did not correspond any longer to the changed intemational 
situation. In their opinion, a regional organization of Westem Europe based on 
the relevant articles of the UN Charter would be more suited to attain the goals 
that had been set. More specifically. Articles 51, 52 and 53 of the Charter 
should be the basis for the regional organization. Under these articles the 
signatories to the treaty would be able not just to "guarantee peace and security 

^^. Cf. Ibid., Unsigned memorandum, 01/02/48 and DNA, H.N. Boon Papers, 2.21.183, 
Folder 100, Diary, 31/01/48. 

33 
. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 39, Folder Plan Bevin, Van Harinxma 

to Van Boetzelaer, No. 4, 03/02/48 and WNRC, RG 84, Brussels PF, Confidential Files, Box 
38, 710 WESP, Memorandum of Conversation Kirk, 02/02/48. Cf. also Auriol, Journal du 
Septennat, T. II, p. 66. 

•̂  . See; BMFA, File 12237, Memorandum by the Direction Generale de la Politique, 02/48; 
and NMFA, Embassy London Secret Archives, Box 24, Folder C 8/5, Note Benelux, undated 
and DNW archive WEU, 999.1, Box 4, Folder 12, Note Benelux, undated. Also: Stengers, 'La 
genese du premier organisme europeen', pp. 147-154. 
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within the organization, but also the security of the organization vis-a-vis the 
outside world." 

Acknowledging the fact that the Anglo-French proposals contained 
goals which were relatively easy to attain and others which were of a more 
long term nature, the Benelux countries proposed to proceed step by step. As a 
first step they considered a political agreement consisting of a mutual 
assistance guarantee. Citing the relevant clause of the Rio Treaty, the Benelux 
countries preferred mutual assistance, automatically and promptly, in case of 
one of the parties of the organization being the object of an armed attack from 
whatever quarters. Likewise, a return to an aggressive policy of Germany or 
any other nations acting directly or indirectly in concert with Germany, would 
invoke mutual assistance. Any other situation endangering in any way the 
security of Western Europe should lead to consultations in order to act 
together. Suitable consultation mechanisms should therefore be created. 

A political agreement without military and economic agreements was 
considered insufficient by the Benelux states. A military agreement, which 
should be studied by the Chiefs of Staffs of the countries concerned, would 
give substance to the political agreement, whereas an economic agreement was 
considered essential to cement the relations between the countries concerned. 
As an ultimate goal the Benelux countries even proposed "a comprehensive 
economic and customs union". Although such a union would not be attainable 
in the near future, in the meantime everything possible should be done to give 
the regional organization a solid economic base. At the distinct wish of the 
Dutch government, the Benelux governments declared that the overseas 
dependencies should be involved in the economic cooperation.-'̂  Added to 
the paper was one important caveat: if the Benelux countries were not to be 
associated with future policy regarding Germany, they considered any political 
(and consequently also any military or economic) agreement unthinkable. 

The Benelux preference for a multilateral treaty was partly instigated, 
and in any case constantly cultivated, by the Americans. In their regular 
contacts with Belgian and Dutch foreign ministry officials, US diplomats, 
instmcted by Hickerson's department, eloquently publicized the virtues of the 
1947 Treaty of Rio de Janeiro. Especially Spaak was the object of numerous 
demarches in this respect.-'̂  The US suggestion neatly filled in with Benelux 
demands to create something more substantial than an amorphous conglomerate 
of bilateral treaties of alliance and to give the projected Western Union a solid 
base, not just militarily but also politically and economically. The Americans, 
at least, were satisfied that their suggestions did not fall upon deaf ears. After 

. NMFA, Embassy Brussels Secret Archives, Box 39, Folder Bevin Plan, Second 
Resume of Developments since 22 January, 19/02/48. Although not stressing the issue as firmly as 
the Dutch, Spaak heartily agreed widi them. Cf. NAC, RG 25 A 12, Box 2097, File AR 69/4, 
Vol. 1, Canada House to DEA, No. 146, 13/02/48 and BMFA, File 12237, Participation of Africa 
in the Establishment of the Western European Community, 24/02/48. 

^^. Cf. for instance: NA, RG 59, Confidential Files '45-'49, Box C-38, 711.55/1-948, 
Millard to SecState, 09/01/48; and WNRC, RG 84, Brussels PF, Confidential Files, Box 38, 710 
WESP, Millard to SecState, No. 107, 16/01/48 and Millard to Kirk, 03/02/48. 
























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































